
Napa Valley Transportation Authority
625 Burnell Street

Napa, CA 94559

NVTA Board of Directors

     ******************************************COVID-19 SPECIAL NOTICE*****************************************

PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES FOR PARTICIPATING VIA PHONE/VIDEO CONFERENCING

Consistent with California Assembly Bill 361 and Government Code Section 54953, due to the 

COVID-19 State of Emergency and the recommendations for physical distancing, the Napa Valley 

Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board meeting will be held remotely via Zoom and in person at the 
JoAnn Busenbark Boardroom located at 625 Burnell Street, Napa CA. Members of the public may observe 

and participate in the meeting from home or in person. The public is invited to participate telephonically or 

electronically via the methods below:

1) To join the meeting via Zoom video conference from your PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone or Android: go to

https://zoom.us/join and enter meeting ID 997 5007 2830

2) To join the Zoom meeting by phone: dial 1-669-900-6833, enter meeting ID: 997 5007 2830 If asked

for the participant ID or code, press #.

3) Watch live on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCrpjLcW9uRmA0EE6w-eKZyw?

app=desktop

Public Comments:  Members of the public may comment on matters within the subject matter of 

the Board’s jurisdiction that are not on the meeting agenda during the general public comment item at 

the beginning of the meeting.  Comments related to a specific item on the agenda must be reserved until 

the time the agenda item is considered and the Chair invites public comment. (Members of the public 

are welcome to address the Board, however, under the Brown Act Board members may not 

deliberate or take action on items not on the agenda, and generally may only listen.)

Instructions for submitting a Public Comment are on the next page.

Agenda - Final

Wednesday, July 20, 2022 
1:00 PM

Meeting is being held remote via Zoom and in person at 
625 Burnell Street, Napa CA 94559



Members of the public may submit a public comment in writing by emailing info@nvta .ca.gov by 10:00 

a.m. on the day of the meeting with PUBLIC COMMENT as the subject line (for comments related to an 

agenda item, please include the item number). All written comments should be 350 words or less, which 

corresponds to approximately 3 minutes or less of speaking time. Public comments emailed to 

info@nvta.ca.gov after 10 a.m. the day of the meeting will be entered into the record but not read out 

loud.  If authors of the written correspondence would like to speak, they are free to do so and should

raise their hand and the Chair will call upon them at the appropriate time.

1. To comment during a virtual meeting (Zoom), click the “Raise Your Hand” button (click on the 

“Participants” tab) to request to speak when Public Comment is being taken on the Agenda item.  You 

must unmute yourself when it is your turn to make your comment for up to 3 minutes.  After the allotted 

time, you will then be re-muted.  Instructions for how to “Raise Your Hand” is available at 

https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/205566129-Raise-Hand-In-Webinar.

2. To comment by phone, press “*9” to request to speak when Public Comment is being taken on the 

Agenda item.  You must unmute yourself by pressing “*6” when it is your turn to make your comment, 

for up to 3 minutes.  After the allotted time, you will be re-muted.

I n s t r u c t i o n s  o n  h o w  t o  j o i n  a  v i d e o  c o n f e r e n c e  a r e  a v a i l a b l e  a t : 

https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362193-Joining-a-Meeting

Ins t ruc t ions  on  how to  jo in  a  meet ing  by  phone a re  ava i lab le  a t : 

https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362663-Joining-a-meeting-by-phone

Note: The methods of observing, listening, or providing public comment to the meeting may be altered 

due to technical difficulties or the meeting may be cancelled, if needed.    

All materials relating to an agenda item for an open session of a regular meeting of the NVTA Board of 

Directors are posted on the NVTA website 72 hours prior to the meeting at : 

https://nctpa.legistar.com/Calendar.aspx  or by emailing  info@nvta.ca.gov to request a copy of the 

agenda. 

Materials distributed to the members of the Board present at the meeting will be available for public 

inspection after the meeting. Availability of materials related to agenda items for public inspection does 

not include materials which are exempt from public disclosure under Government Code sections 6253.5, 

6254, 6254.3, 6254.7, 6254.15, 6254.16, or 6254.22.

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA): This Agenda shall be made available upon request in alternate 

formats to persons with a disability.  Persons requesting a disability -related modification or 

accommodation should contact Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary, at (707) 259-8633 during 

regular business hours, at least 48 hours prior to the time of the meeting.

Note: Where times are indicated for agenda items, they are approximate and intended as estimates 

only, and may be shorter or longer as needed.

Acceso y el Titulo VI: La NVTA puede proveer asistencia/facilitar la comunicación a las personas 

discapacitadas y los individuos con conocimiento limitado del ingl és quienes quieran dirigirse a la 

Autoridad.  Para solicitar asistencia, por favor llame al número (707) 259-8633.  Requerimos que solicite 

asistencia con tres días hábiles de anticipación para poderle proveer asistencia.

Ang Accessibility at Title VI: Ang NVTA ay nagkakaloob ng mga serbisyo/akomodasyon kung hilingin 

ang mga ito, ng mga taong may kapansanan at mga indibiduwal na may limitadong kaalaman sa wikang 

Ingles, na nais na matugunan ang mga bagay-bagay na may kinalaman sa NVTA Board.  Para sa mga 

tulong sa akomodasyon o pagsasalin-wika, mangyari lang tumawag sa (707) 259-8633.  Kakailanganin 

namin ng paunang abiso na tatlong araw na may pasok sa trabaho para matugunan ang inyong 

kahilingan.



July 20, 2022NVTA Board of Directors Agenda - Final

1. Call to Order

2. Roll Call

3. Adoption of the Agenda

4. Public Comment

5. Chairperson’s, Board Members’, Metropolitan Transportation Commissioner's,

and Association of Bay Area Governments Update

6. Executive Director's Update

Note: Where times are indicated for the agenda items, they are approximate and intended as estimates 

only and may be shorter or longer as needed.

7. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

7.1 AB 361 Requirements for Remote Public Meetings (Osman Mufti) 
(Pages 10-15)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve 

Resolution 22-20 making findings and declaring it intent to continue remote 

teleconference meetings in accordance with Government Code section 

54953(e) due to the Governor’s COVID-19 State of Emergency 

Proclamation. 

Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

7.2 Meeting Minutes of June 15, 2022 (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 16-19)

Board action will approve the minutes of June 15, 2022 regular meeting.Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Draft MinutesAttachments:

Page 3 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2022

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4f3f079d-4ca0-4988-ad83-1a8bca32d1da.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=464b80fb-5061-4727-90bf-5a9c60bdb7a0.pdf


July 20, 2022NVTA Board of Directors Agenda - Final

7.3 Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Program (Antonio 

Onorato) (Pages 20-58)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) board approve 

Resolution 22-21 adopting the Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) 

Program as it relates to transit services.  

Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

7.4 Revised Policies, Practices, and Procedures Manual: Personnel 

(Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 59-215) 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve eight 

additional hours of personal leave to NVTA Personnel Policies Manual: 

Personnel in lieu of adding the new Juneteenth federal holiday.

Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

7.5 Revised Resolution No. 20-15 Recertifying Napa Valley 

Transportation Authority's Public Transit Agency Safety Plan 

(PTASP) (Danielle Schmitz) (Pages 216-247)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve 

Revised Resolution No, 20-15 recertifying the NVTA Public Transit Agency 

Safety Plan (PTASP).   

Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

7.6 Amendment 1 to Bear Electrical Solutions Agreement 21-15 for an 

Additional Electric Vehicle Charger Installation at 720 Jackson 

Street (Rebecca Schenck) (Pages 248-252)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve 

Amendment 1 to Agreement 21-15 with Bear Electrical Solutions, Inc. in an 

amount not to exceed $17,250. 

Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

Page 4 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2022

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2926fe2c-5745-4aad-82ca-4a15c97e6c9b.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=51281fc4-e13f-46cb-a6a8-925feb5d0950.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=214a7d57-4697-413b-aa6a-b196b30b0438.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c0753761-f36e-4fe1-9cd9-bb8e4fbfc529.pdf


July 20, 2022NVTA Board of Directors Agenda - Final

7.7 Amendment 4 to Proterra Inc. Contract for Paint Costs for the 

New Proterra Electric buses (Antonio Onorato) (Pages 253-258)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve 

Amendment 4 to Purchase Order 21-2002 with Proterra, Inc. in an amount 

not to exceed $26,000, and authorize the Executive Director to execute the 

Amendment when details upon finalizing the terms. 

Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

7.8 Paratransit Coordinating Council (PCC) Member Appointments 

(Kathy Alexander) (Pages 259-269)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve the 

appointment of Jeannie Smith and Ellen Sweigert to the Paratransit 

Coordinating Council (PCC).

Recommendation:

1:25 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

8.  REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS

8.1 Motion to 1) Introduce Ordinance 2022-01 of the Napa Valley 

Transportation Authority Regulating Parking, Camping, and 

Smoking at Transit Facilities and Parking Areas, by title only, and 

waive reading of the full ordinance and 2) Approve the 

designation for the Executive Director to prepare a summary of 

Ordinance 2022-01 to be published in a newspaper in Napa 

County (Rebecca Schenck) (Pages 270-288) 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board conduct a first 

reading and notice its intent to Adopt Ordinance 2022-01, which is a 

revision to Ordinance 2013-01, regulating parking, camping, and smoking 

at transit facilities and parking areas.

Recommendation:

1:45 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

Page 5 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2022

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4654def4-eac1-47bb-9063-834ef672ce79.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5c3c07b9-8e00-40b3-bf78-bbeddd2c3515.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3c5fcd7e-1a16-41a5-97f5-f9f999c22e97.pdf


July 20, 2022NVTA Board of Directors Agenda - Final

8.2 One Bay Area Grant (OBAG) Cycle 3 Project List (Alberto 

Esqueda) (Pages 289-375)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority Board approve the One Bay 

Area Grant (OBAG) Cycle 3 project list and submit the projects to the 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission.  

Recommendation:

2:00 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

8.3 Amendment #1 to Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. 

Jones & Sons, Inc for Construction of the Imola Park and Ride 

Project (Alberto Esqueda) (Pages 376-379)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the 

Executive Director, or designee to execute and make minor modifications 

to Amendment #1 Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. Jones & 

Sons, Inc. for additional funds not to exceed $55,000 to complete 

construction of the Imola Express Bus Improvements Project. 

Recommendation:

2:15 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

8.4 Imola Park and Ride Project Electrification (Alberto Esqueda) 
(Pages 380-382)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the 

Executive Director, or designee to enter into an agreement and make 

minor modifications as necessary with an electrical contractor(s), to be 

determined,  and Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) for electrification of the 

Imola Park & Ride in amount not to exceed $170,000 which will include 

electrical infrastructure to bring adequate power to the site, purchase and 

installation of electric vehicle charging stations.

Recommendation:

2:30 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

8.5 Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program (Kate Miller) (Pages 

383-402) 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve 

Resolution 22-22 endorsing the Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program. 

Recommendation:

2:45 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

Page 6 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2022

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0348204e-ae2f-4a04-8095-1c053d8b28fc.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=127ca2da-0399-4b76-8105-9b983f5d9df0.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d8aa8aae-6548-4f58-845d-3235023bd741.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e1ab3299-43df-4270-8bb5-2d947d46b254.pdf


July 20, 2022NVTA Board of Directors Agenda - Final

8.6 Federal and State Legislative Update (Kate Miller) (Pages 403-426)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board receive the 

Federal Legislative update prepared by K&L Gates and Platinum Advisors 

and the State Legislative update prepared by Platinum Advisors.

Recommendation:

3:00 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

9.  FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

10.  ADJOURNMENT

10.1  Approval of Next Regular Meeting Date of September 21, 2022 and Adjournment

I hereby certify that the agenda for the above stated meeting was posted at a location freely

accessible to members of the public at the NVTA Offices, 625 Burnell Street, Napa, CA by

5:00 p.m. by Friday, July 15.

____________________________________

Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary

Page 7 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2022

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c4a5e9e4-09ac-4ea0-a7c4-d15c2379303e.pdf


Glossary of Acronyms 

Latest Revision: 01/22 

AB 32 Global Warming Solutions Act 
ABAG Association of Bay Area Governments 

ACFR Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

ADA American with Disabilities Act 

APA American Planning Association 

ATAC Active Transportation Advisory Committee 
ATP Active Transportation Program 
BAAQMD Bay Area Air Quality Management District 

BAB  Build America Bureau 

BART Bay Area Rapid Transit District 

BATA Bay Area Toll Authority 

BIL Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (IIJA) 

BRT Bus Rapid Transit 

CAC Citizen Advisory Committee 
CAP Climate Action Plan  
CAPTI Climate Action Plan for Transportation 

Infrastructure  
Caltrans California Department of Transportation 

CASA Committee to House the Bay Area 

CBTP Community Based Transportation Plan 

CEQA California Environmental Quality Act 

CIP Capital Investment Program 

CMA Congestion Management Agency 

CMAQ Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality 
Improvement Program 

CMP Congestion Management Program 

CalSTA California State Transportation Agency 

CTA California Transit Association 
CTP Countywide Transportation Plan  
CTC California Transportation Commission 

CY Calendar Year 

DAA Design Alternative Analyst 

DBB Design-Bid-Build 

DBE Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 

DBF Design-Build-Finance 

DBFOM Design-Build-Finance-Operate-Maintain 

DED Draft Environmental Document  

EIR Environmental Impact Report 

EJ Environmental Justice 

EPC Equity Priority Communities  

ETID Electronic Transit Information Displays 

FAS Federal Aid Secondary  
FAST Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act 

FHWA Federal Highway Administration 

FTA Federal Transit Administration 

FY Fiscal Year 

GHG Greenhouse Gas 

GGRF Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund 
GTFS General Transit Feed Specification 

HBP Highway Bridge Program  

HBRR Highway Bridge Replacement and 
Rehabilitation Program  

HIP Housing Incentive Program 

HOT High Occupancy Toll 

HOV High Occupancy Vehicle 

HR3 High Risk Rural Roads  
HSIP Highway Safety Improvement Program  
HTF  Highway Trust Fund  
HUTA Highway Users Tax Account 

HVIP  Hybrid & Zero-Emission Truck and Bus 
Voucher Incentive Program 

IFB Invitation for Bid 

ITIP State Interregional Transportation 
Improvement Program 

ITOC Independent Taxpayer Oversight Committee 

IS/MND Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration 
JARC Job Access and Reverse Commute  
LCTOP Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 

LIFT Low-Income Flexible Transportation 

LOS Level of Service 

LS&R Local Streets & Roads 

LTF  Local Transportation Fund  

MaaS Mobility as a Service 

MAP 21 Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st 
Century Act 

MPO Metropolitan Planning Organization 

MTC Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

MTS Metropolitan Transportation System 

ND Negative Declaration   

NEPA National Environmental Policy Act 

NOAH Natural Occurring Affordable Housing  
NOC Notice of Completion 

NOD Notice of Determination 



Glossary of Acronyms 

Latest Revision: 01/22 

NOP Notice of Preparation 

NVTA Napa Valley Transportation Authority 

NVTA-TA Napa Valley Transportation Authority-Tax 
Agency 

OBAG One Bay Area Grant  

PA&ED Project Approval Environmental Document 

P3 or PPP Public-Private Partnership 

PCC Paratransit Coordination Council 
PCI Pavement Condition Index 

PCA Priority Conservation Area 

PDA Priority Development Areas 

PID Project Initiation Document  
PIR Project Initiation Report 

PMS Pavement Management System  
Prop. 42 Statewide Initiative that requires a portion of 

gasoline sales tax revenues be designated to 
transportation purposes 

PSE Plans, Specifications and Estimates 

PSR Project Study Report 

PTA Public Transportation Account  

RACC Regional Agency Coordinating Committee 

RAISE Rebuilding American Infrastructure with 
Sustainability and Equity 

RFP Request for Proposal 

RFQ Request for Qualifications 

RHNA Regional Housing Needs Allocation  
RM 2 Regional Measure 2 Bridge Toll 

RM 3 Regional Measure 3 Bridge Toll 

RMRP Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation 
Program 

ROW (R/W) Right of Way  

RTEP Regional Transit Expansion Program 

RTIP Regional Transportation Improvement 
Program 

RTP Regional Transportation Plan 

SAFE Service Authority for Freeways and 
Expressways 

SAFETEA-LU Safe, Accountable, Flexible, and Efficient 
Transportation Equity Act-A Legacy for Users 

SB 375 Sustainable Communities and Climate 
Protection Act 2008 

SB 1 The Road Repair and Accountability Act of 
2017 

SCS Sustainable Community Strategy 

SHA State Highway Account 

SHOPP State Highway Operation and Protection 
Program  

SNTDM Solano Napa Travel Demand Model  

SR State Route 

SRTS Safe Routes to School 

SOV Single-Occupant Vehicle 

STA State Transit Assistance 

STIC Small Transit Intensive Cities 

STIP State Transportation Improvement Program 

STP Surface Transportation Program 

TAC Technical Advisory Committee 
TCM Transportation Control Measure 

TCRP Traffic Congestion Relief Program 

TDA Transportation Development Act 

TDM Transportation Demand Management 
 Transportation Demand Model 

TE Transportation Enhancement  

TEA Transportation Enhancement Activities 

TEA 21 Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century 

TFCA Transportation Fund for Clean Air 

TIP Transportation Improvement Program 

TIFIA Transportation Infrastructure Finance and 
Innovation Act  

TIRCP Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program 

TLC Transportation for Livable Communities 

TLU Transportation and Land Use 

TMP Traffic Management Plan 

TMS Transportation Management System 

TNC Transportation Network Companies 

TOAH Transit Oriented Affordable Housing  
TOC Transit Oriented Communities 

TOD Transit-Oriented Development 

TOS Transportation Operations Systems 

TPA Transit Priority Area  
TPI Transit Performance Initiative 

TPP Transit Priority Project Areas 

VHD Vehicle Hours of Delay 

VMT Vehicle Miles Traveled 



 
Draft     July 2022 

NVTA- Caltrans Report 
 

    ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

PIR (Project Initiation Report)  PSR (Project Study Report) DED (Draft Environmental Document)  
PAED (Project Approval/ Environmental Document)   PSE (Plans, Specifications, and Estimate)  
RWC (Right of Way Certification) RTL (Ready to List)   CCA (Construction Contract Acceptance)      
ADV (Advertise Contract)  BO (Bid Open)   AWD (Award Contract) 
 

1 of 5 

PROJECT INITIATION REPORT 
 

EA 4AC80  (Completed in June 2021)   

Pavement Rehab; NAPA 29 PM 0.0/7.0 in American Canyon & County of Napa 

Scope: Pavement rehabilitation 

 

EA 4AC90  (Completed in June 2021)   

Safety; Various Locations in County of Napa 

Scope: Install/ Upgrade Horizontal Alignment Warning Signs 

 

EA 4Q010  

PSR/PDS: NAPA 29 PM 0.6/R2.5 in City of American Canyon 

Scope: Multi-Modal Corridor Improvements 

 

EA 2Q510  

Pavement Rehab; NAPA 29 PM 42.1/48.6 in County of Napa 

Scope: Pavement rehabilitation 

 

EA 0Q800  

Major Damage ; NAPA 121 PM 6.9/12.1 in County of Napa 

Scope: Permanent Restoration; Inject grout at sinkhole and install drainage 

 

EA 2W370  

Major Damage ; NAPA 29 PM 42.57 in County of Napa 

Scope: Replace failed netting with new netting, remove debris, and install additional erosion control. 

 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL 

 

EA 4AA30        

Storm Damage; NAPA 128 PM 12.5 in County of Napa 

Scope: Storm Damage Restoration – Install Soil Nail Wall 

Cost Estimate: $5.3 M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 10/2024   PS&E: 11/2025 RWC: 12/2025  RTL: 01/2026 

 
 

 

EA 0Q830  

Storm Damage; NAPA 29 PM 46.1 in County of Napa 

Scope: Construct CIDH segmented pile wall at slipout 

Cost Estimate: $1.3M Construction Capital 

Schedule: DED: 12/2021 PAED: 04/2022    PS&E: 08/2023 RWC:10/2023  RTL: 11/2023 

 

 

EA 1Q620 Pavement Rehab; NAPA 121 PM 4.47/10.7 in City of Napa 

Scope: Pavement repair. 

Cost Estimate: $23.9M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 06/2022  PS&E: 6/2023    RWC: 7/2023 RTL: 8/2023   

 



 
Draft     July 2022 

NVTA- Caltrans Report 
 

    ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

PIR (Project Initiation Report)  PSR (Project Study Report) DED (Draft Environmental Document)  
PAED (Project Approval/ Environmental Document)   PSE (Plans, Specifications, and Estimate)  
RWC (Right of Way Certification) RTL (Ready to List)   CCA (Construction Contract Acceptance)      
ADV (Advertise Contract)  BO (Bid Open)   AWD (Award Contract) 
 

2 of 5 

EA 4J820  

Tulucay Creek Bridge Replacement; NAPA 121 PM 5.9 in City of Napa 

Scope: Bridge Replacement 

Cost Estimate: $15.6M Construction Capital 

Schedule: DED: 06/2022 PAED: 12/2022  PS&E: 04/2024 RWC: 05/2024  RTL: 05/2024  

 

EA 0J890  

5-Way Intersection; NAPA 121-PM 7.3 in City of Napa 

Scope: Intersection Improvement 

Cost Estimate: $7.4M Construction Capital ($1.9M SHOPP Contribution) 

Schedule: On-hold until securing additional local funds and completing a coop agreement. 

 

EA 0Q790   

Storm Damage; NAPA 121 PM 13.37/20.73 (5 locations) in County of Napa 

Scope: Construct RSP at five slipout locations. 

Cost Estimate: $4.3M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 11/2022  PS&E: 03/2024  RWC: 05/2024   RTL: 06/2024 

 

EA 4J830  

Hopper Slough Creek; NAPA 128 PM 5.1 in County of Napa 

Scope: Bridge Replacement 

Cost Estimate: $7.9M Construction Capital 

Schedule: DED: 03/18/2022 PAED: 06/2022  PS&E: 03/2024 RWC: 04/2024 RTL: 05/2024 

 

 

 

DESIGN 

 
EA 3Q760  

Rumble Strips; NAPA 29, 121 & 128 Various Locations in County of Napa 

Scope: Construct rumble strips at seven locations. 

Cost Estimate: $3.3M Construction Capital 

Schedule:   PAED: 12/31/2021  PS&E: 10/2022 RWC: 10/2022  RTL: 11/2022 

 

EA 0Q820  

Storm Damage; NAPA 29 PM 11.6/13.0 in City of Napa 

Scope: Repair Culvert and stabilize the roadway. 

Cost Estimate: $13.4M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 09/10/2021 PS&E: 8/2023  RWC: 11/2023  RTL: 11/2023 CCA:  10/2025 

 

 

EA 2Q610   

Pavement Rehab; NAPA 29 PM R7.3/13.5 in County of Napa 

Scope: Pavement rehabilitation. 

Cost Estimate: $23.3M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 04/2022   PS&E: 11/2023 RWC: 02/2024  RTL: 03/2024 

 

 

 



 
Draft     July 2022 

NVTA- Caltrans Report 
 

    ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

PIR (Project Initiation Report)  PSR (Project Study Report) DED (Draft Environmental Document)  
PAED (Project Approval/ Environmental Document)   PSE (Plans, Specifications, and Estimate)  
RWC (Right of Way Certification) RTL (Ready to List)   CCA (Construction Contract Acceptance)      
ADV (Advertise Contract)  BO (Bid Open)   AWD (Award Contract) 
 

3 of 5 

 

EA 0Q690  

Storm Damage; NAPA 12 PM 2.1/2.6 in County of Napa 

Scope: Construct Rock Slope Protection (RSP) to prevent further slope washout and pavement repair 

Cost Estimate: $1.2M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 12/1/20  PS&E: 06/2022 RWC: 06/2022  RTL: 06/2022 CCA: 12/2024 

 

EA 4J410  

Drainage Improvement; NAPA 29 PM 1.7/5.1 in City of American Canyon 

Scope: Rehabilitate Culverts 

Cost Estimate: $3.3M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 2/4/20  PSE: 11/2021 RWC:8/2022 RTL: 9/2022 CCA: 09/2026    

 
EA 4Q000  

Construction of Class I Bicycle and Pedestrian under crossing; NAPA 29-PM 11.7 in County of Napa 

Scope: Construction of Class I Bicycle and Pedestrian facility beneath SR-29; 

Cost Estimate: $1,261K Construction Capital  

Schedule: PAED: 06/2/15  PSE: 06/2022 RWC: 06/2022 RTL: 06/2022 CCA: 12/2022 

 

EA 0K630  

Bridge Rails; NAPA 29 PM 16.48/19.04 in County of Napa 

Scope: Upgrade / Replace Bridge Rails 

Cost Estimate: $7.1M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 10/22/20    PS&E: 7/2022  RWC: 10/2022  RTL: 12/2022  CCA: 12/2024 

 

EA 2J88U  

Garnett Creek, Garnett Branch and No-Name Creek:  NAPA 29-PM 38.9 / 42.9 in County of Napa 

Scope: Sub-structure rehabilitation and 3 bridges scour mitigation  

Cost Estimate: $5.26M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 2/1/19  PSE: 10/2022  RWC: 11/2022 RTL: 12/2022 CCA: 02/2024 

 

EA 4G21A  

Env. Mitigation at Huichica Creek; NAPA 121-PM 0.75 in County of Napa  

Scope: Environmental mitigation, monitoring and report at Huichica Creek 

Cost Estimate: $1.0M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 4/9/18  PS&E: 03/2023 RWC: 04/2023 RTL: 05/2023 CCA: 12/2028 

 

EA 1G43A  

Env. Mitigation at Conn Creek; NAPA 128 PM R7.4 on Silverado Trail in County of Napa 

Scope: Environmental mitigation, monitoring and report at Conn Creek  

Cost Estimate: $0.2M Construction Capital  

Schedule: PAED: 10/5/15  PS&E: 6/28/21 RWC: 08/10/2021 RTL: 08/23/2021   CCA: 12/2023 

 

EA 4G84A  

Capell Creek Bridge Env Mitigation; NAPA 128-PM 20.2 in County of Napa 

Scope: Environmental Permit Mitigation & Plant Establishment to Bridge Replacement 

Cost Estimate: $0.5M Construction Capital 

Schedule:  PAED: 6/16/16 PS&E: 4/26/22 RWC: 04/28/22  RTL: 05/23/2022  CCA: 03/2027 

 



 
Draft     July 2022 

NVTA- Caltrans Report 
 

    ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

PIR (Project Initiation Report)  PSR (Project Study Report) DED (Draft Environmental Document)  
PAED (Project Approval/ Environmental Document)   PSE (Plans, Specifications, and Estimate)  
RWC (Right of Way Certification) RTL (Ready to List)   CCA (Construction Contract Acceptance)      
ADV (Advertise Contract)  BO (Bid Open)   AWD (Award Contract) 
 

4 of 5 

EA 4J990  

Storm Water Quality Improvement; NAPA 29 PM 33.13 in County of Napa 

Scope: Improve water quality and fish passage 

Cost Estimate: $6.9M Construction Capital 

Schedule: DED: 12/2/20 PAED: 06/2021    PS&E: 02/2023 RWC: 03/2023  RTL: 04/2023 

 

EA 0Q810  

Storm Damage; NAPA 121 PM 16.0/16.1 in County of Napa 

Scope: Repair pavement, replace drainage systems and upgrade guardrail. 

Cost Estimate: $1.3M Construction Capital 

Schedule:   PAED: 02/02/2022  PS&E: 03/2023 RWC: 05/2023  RTL: 06/2023  

 

 

CONSTRUCTION 

 
EA 28120 

Soscol Junction Improvement; NAPA 29 PM 5.0/7.1 and NAPA 221 PM 0.0/0.7 in County of Napa  

Scope: Construct New Interchange at SR 221/29/12 

Cost Estimate: $47.5M Construction Capital 

Schedule:  PAED: 2/13/20  PSE: 08/26/21 RWC: 08/25/21 RTL: 08/26/21 CCA: 12/2025 

 

EA  2Q260  

Napa Valley Vine Trail; NAPA 29-PM 33.4/37.9 in County of Napa 

Scope: Construct Class 1 Multiuse Path 

Cost Estimate: $6.1M Construction Capital 

Schedule: DED: 6/17/20 PAED: 01/15/21  PS&E: 12/10/2021 RWC: 12/10/2021     RTL: 12/10/2021 

AWD: 5/2022 (Ghilotti Construction Company) 

 

EA 0K000  

ADA Compliance; NAPA 29 PM 0.23/14.6 in County of Napa 

Scope: Upgrade Pedestrian Facilities 

Cost Estimate: $2.1M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 7/1/19     PS&E: 07/21 RWC: 09/2021 RTL: 09/2021  CCA: 07/2023 

 

EA 4J300  

Pavement Preservation; NAPA 29-PM 29.3/36.9 From York Creek Bridge to Junction Route 128 in Calistoga 

Scope: Roadway/ Pavement preservation (CAPM) 

Cost Estimate: $9.7M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 6/30/20     PS&E: 5/18/21 RWC: 5/24/21  RTL: 6/11/21 CCA: 11/2022 

 

EA 2J100  

Construct Roundabouts; NAPA 29-PM 11.36 in City of Napa 

Scope: Cooperative Project to construct a roundabout at northbound First St. Interchange. 

Cost Estimate: $3.8M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 7/18/16 RTL: 5/4/18 AWD:2/27/19 (O.C. Jones & Sons, Inc) CCA: 05/11/2021 

 



 
Draft     July 2022 

NVTA- Caltrans Report 
 

    ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

PIR (Project Initiation Report)  PSR (Project Study Report) DED (Draft Environmental Document)  
PAED (Project Approval/ Environmental Document)   PSE (Plans, Specifications, and Estimate)  
RWC (Right of Way Certification) RTL (Ready to List)   CCA (Construction Contract Acceptance)      
ADV (Advertise Contract)  BO (Bid Open)   AWD (Award Contract) 
 

5 of 5 

 

EA 3G64A    
Env. Mitigation & Plant Establishment at Napa River Bridge; NAPA 29 PM 37.0 in City of Calistoga 

Scope: Environmental mitigation at Napa River Bridge 

Cost Estimate: $0.5M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 2/9/15 RTL: 5/29/19 AWD: 5/28/20 (Hanford Applied )  CCA: 06/2024 

 

 

EA 4G210   

Widen Roadway at Huichica Creek; NAPA 121-PM 0.75 in County of Napa  

Scope: Remove existing triple box culverts and replace with a new single span bridge 

Cost Estimate: $8.7M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 4/9/18 RTL: 12/8/20 AWD: 5/19/21 (Gordon Ball Inc)  CCA: 03/2024 
 

EA 4J210  

Capell Creek Bridge; NAPA 121-PM 18.59 in County of Napa 

Scope: Sub-structure rehabilitation and bridge scour mitigation 

Cost Estimate: $1.4M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 7/24/17 RTL: 5/18/20  AWD: 11/2/20 (Ghilotti Const. Inc) CCA: 12/2021 

 

EA 2J570  

Capell Creek Storm Damage Repair; NAPA 121-PM 20.5/20.7 in County of Napa 

Scope: Embankment stabilization and culvert repair 

Cost Estimate: $1.48M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 7/24/17 RTL: 6/29/18 AWD: 11/19/18 (Granite Rock Co.) CCA: 04/18/2022 

 

EA 1G430  

Conn Creek Bridge Scour Mitigation; NAPA 128 PM R7.4 on Silverado Trail in County of Napa 

Scope: Replace Bridge at Conn Creek  

Cost Estimate: $7.1M Construction Capital  

Schedule: PAED: 10/5/15 RTL: 6/29/18 AWD:3/29/19 (Ghilotti Construction) CCA: 03/02/2022 

 

EA 4G840     

Capell Creek Bridge; NAPA 128-PM 20.2 in County of Napa 

Scope: Bridge Replacement 

Cost Estimate: $12.1M Construction Capital 

Schedule: PAED: 6/16/16 RTL: 6/29/18 AWD: 02/19/19 (Gordon Ball Inc.)  CCA: 03/2023 

 
ACTION ITEMS: 

 

 



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.1 

Continued From: June 15, 2022 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

AB 361 Requirements for Remote Public Meetings 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution 22-20 
making findings and declaring its intent to continue remote teleconference meetings in 
accordance with Government Code section 54953(e) due to the Governor’s COVID-19 
State of Emergency Proclamation.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

AB 361 allows local legislative bodies to hold remote meetings during a proclaimed state 
of emergency, if state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures that 
warrant holding meetings remotely.   

In response to improving conditions, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-11-22 
on June 17, 2022, which lifted many of the provisions related to the emergency while 
maintaining certain measures to support the ongoing response and recovery effort. 
Although a portion of the emergency provisions have been lifted the Governor’s March 4, 
2020 State of Emergency Proclamation as it related to the COVID-19 pandemic remains 
active. 

NVTA staff is monitoring the status of the Governor’s state of emergency proclamation, 
state and local orders related to social distancing, and health and safety conditions related 
to COVID-19, and confirm that said conditions continue to exist that warrant “hybrid” 
meetings to allow members of the Board and public to attend either in person or remotely. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

10



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.1 

Continued From: June 15, 2022 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:  Board of Directors 
FROM:   Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Laura Sanderlin, Office Manager/Board Secretary 

(707) 259-8633 / Email: lsanderlin@nvta.ca.gov

SUBJECT: AB 361 Requirements for Remote Public Meetings 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution 22-20 
making findings and declaring its intent to continue remote teleconference meetings in 
accordance with Government Code section 54953(e) due to the Governor’s COVID-19 
State of Emergency Proclamation.  

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 

None  

BACKGROUND 

AB 361 allows local legislative bodies to hold remote meetings during a proclaimed state 
of emergency, if state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures that 
warrant holding meetings remotely.   

If the Board desires to continue to meet utilizing the relaxed teleconference meeting rules, 
AB 361 requires an ongoing finding every 30 days that the Board has reconsider the 
circumstances of the state of emergency and that the emergency continues to impact the 
ability to “meet safely in person,” or that state or local officials continue to recommend 
measures to promote social distancing.   Gov. Code § 54953(e)(3). 

On September 27, 2021, the Napa County Executive Officer and Public Health Officer 
issued a recommendation that all public boards and commissions that wish to continue 
meeting remotely to help minimize the spread and transmission of COVID-19 be 
permitted to do so.  This Local Order expired June 30, 2022, however, the operative 
Cal/OSHA regulations cited therein, 8 CCR 3205(c)(5)(D), remain in full force and effect 
and state in pertinent part as follows: “the fact that particles containing the virus can travel 
more than six feet, especially indoors, so physical distancing, face coverings, increased 

11

mailto:lsanderlin@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority  Agenda Item 7.1 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

ventilation indoors, and respiratory protection decrease the spread of COVID-19 but are 
most effective when used in combination.”   

In response to improving conditions, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-11-22 
on June 17, 2022, which lifted many of the provisions related to the emergency while 
maintaining certain measures to support the ongoing response and recovery effort. 
Although a portion of the emergency provisions have been lifted the Governor’s March 4. 
2020 State of Emergency Proclamation as it related to the COVID-19 pandemic remains 
active. 

NVTA staff is monitoring the status of the Governor’s state of emergency proclamation, 
state and local orders related to social distancing, and health and safety conditions related 
to COVID-19, and confirm that said conditions continue to exist that warrant “hybrid” 
meetings to allow members of the Board and public to attend either in person or remotely. 
COVID cases are decreasing, and regulations are relaxing; however, there remains local 
and state recommendations for social distancing and remote meeting attendance and all 
are encouraged to isolate when not feeling well.   Hybrid meetings allow for these 
precautions to be implemented.   

Hybrid meetings are one of the least disruptive methods the Board can utilize to protect 
against the ongoing threat of COVID-19 transmission. COVID-19 spreads easily and 
quickly through airborne droplets. While face coverings, testing, and ventilating indoor 
spaces can reduce transmission, they cannot eliminate the threat. Conducting hybrid 
meetings allows attendees to fully participate in each meeting without requiring that they 
gather in the same indoor space. Further, it allows members of the public, staff, and 
members of the Board to participate in meetings even if they have been exposed to 
COVID-19 or are experiencing symptoms of COVID-19. 

Staff recommends the Board extend the time during which it may continue to meet by 
teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of section 54953 
of the Brown Act. 

ALTERNATIVES 

The Board could decide not to approve Resolution 22-20 which would put the NVTA 
Board of Director’s meeting out of government compliance.  

ATTACHMENT(S) 

1) Resolution 22-20

12



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.1 

July 20, 2022 

RESOLUTION No. 22-20 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

MAKING FINDINGS REAUTHORIZING REMOTE TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS 
AND DECLARING ITS INTENT TO CONTINUE MEETING IN HYBRID FORMAT TO 

ALLOW ATTENDANCE IN PERSON OR REMOTELY PURSUANT TO 
GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54953  

WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is committed to 
preserving and nurturing public access and participation in meetings of the Board;  

WHEREAS, all legislative body meetings of NVTA are open and public, as required by 
the Ralph M. Brown Act (Cal. Gov. Code 54950 – 54963), so that any member of the 
public may attend, participate, and observe the Commission conduct its business; and 

WHEREAS, Governor Newsom signed AB 361, amending the Brown Act, including 
Government Code section 54953(e), which makes provisions for remote teleconferencing 
participation in meetings by members of a legislative body, without compliance with the 
requirements of Government Code section 54953(b)(3), subject to the existence of certain 
conditions; and 

WHEREAS, a required condition of AB 361 is that a state of emergency is declared by 
the Governor pursuant to Government Code section 8625, proclaiming the existence of 
conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property within the 
state caused by conditions as described in Government Code section 8558; and  

WHEREAS, such conditions now exist in the State, specifically, the Governor of the 
State of California proclaimed a state of emergency on March 4, 2020, related to the 
threat of COVID-19, which remains partially in effect ; and 

WHEREAS, 8 CCR 3205(c)(5)(D) of the Cal/OSHA regulations state: “the fact that 
particles containing the virus can travel more than six feet, especially indoors, so physical 
distancing, face coverings, increased ventilation indoors, and respiratory protection 
decrease the spread of COVID-19 but are most effective when used in combination”; and 

WHEREAS, the hybrid meeting model allows each individual attendee of the meeting 
to assess his or her own risk, and the risk they may pose to others, based on vaccination 
status, health conditions, age, or any other factor which may dissuade a person from 
attending an in-person meeting; and  

WHEREAS, the hybrid meeting model also provides those that wish to attend meetings 
in-person the ability to do so; and 

13



Resolution No. 22-20 
Page 2 of 3 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors does hereby find that COVID-19 continues to 
directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person, and the Governor’s 
state of emergency proclamation, and state Cal/OSHA regulations related to social 
distancing remain in effect and remote meetings continue to provide health and safety 
benefits.   

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE NAPA VALLEY 
TRANSPORTATION BOARD DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND ORDER 
AS FOLLOWS:    

1. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are incorporated into this
Resolution by this reference. 

2. The Board hereby finds that it has considered the state of the emergency and that
meeting in person for meetings of all NVTA related legislative bodies subject to the Ralph 
M. Brown Act would present imminent risks to the health and safety of attendees.

3.  Holding hybrid meetings will reduce the possibility of COVID-19 transmission during
meetings by allowing those who are at risk or potentially suffering COVID-19 symptoms 
to participate in meetings without physically attending. 

4. Staff is hereby directed to take all actions necessary to carry out the intent and
purpose of this Resolution including, conducting open and public meetings of the Board 
and all NVTA legislative bodies in accordance with Government Code section 54953, 
subdivision (e) and other applicable provisions of the Brown Act for hybrid meetings. 

5. NVTA shall hold their meetings in hybrid format offering attendees both in-person
and videoconference/teleconference access. Any public comment period during any such 
meeting shall be taken in the same form and fashion from in-person and remote 
attendees. If at any time during any such meeting the ability to broadcast the meeting and 
accept public comments from remote attendees through videoconference/teleconference 
is disrupted, the body holding the meeting shall recess until the disruption is resolved or 
continue the meeting to a later date when videoconference/teleconference participation 
can be restored. 

6. Staff is further directed to continue to monitor the health and safety conditions related
to COVID-19, the status of the Governor’s state of emergency, the state regulations 
related to social distancing, and the local orders related to health and safety, and present 
to the Board at its next regularly scheduled meeting the related information and 
recommendations for hybrid meetings pursuant to the provisions of paragraph 
Government Code section 54953, subdivision (e)(3), and to consider extending the time 
during which the Commission may continue to meet by teleconference without 
compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of section 54953. 

14



Resolution No. 22-20 
Page 3 of 3 

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED by 
the Board of Directors of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, at a regular meeting 
held on July 20, 2022, by the following vote: 

_______________________ 
Liz Alessio, NVTA Chair  Ayes: 

      Nays: 

Absent: 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________ 
Osman Mufti, NVTA Legal Counsel 

15



Page 1 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 6/21/2022 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
625 Burnell Street 
Napa, CA 94559 

Meeting Minutes 
NVTA Board of Directors 

JoAnn Busenbark Board Room 
Wednesday, June 15, 2022 1:00 PM 

1. Call to Order

Vice Chair Alessio called the meeting to order at 1:18pm. 

2. Roll Call

Roll call was confirmed at the preceding NVTA-TA meeting with two absences. 

3. Adoption of the Agenda

Motion MOVED by GARCIA, SECONDED by KRAUS to APPROVE ADOPTION of the agenda. 
Motion carried by the following roll call vote: 

Aye: 21 -  Garcia, Dohring, Joseph, Dunbar, Ramos, Ellsworth, Alessio, Kraus, 
Sedgley, and Tagliaboschi 

Absent: 3 -  Canning, and Pedroza 

4. Public Comment

Public comment was made by Kara Vernor, Napa County Bicycle Coalition and Justin Hole, 
Napa resident. 

5. Chairperson’s, Board Member’s, Metropolitan Transportation
Commissioner's, and Association of Bay Area Governments Update
 

MTC Update 
-Executive Director Miller provided update of recent MTC activities

ABAG Update 
-Director Ramos provided update of recent and upcoming ABAG activities

6. Director's Update

Executive Director Miller reported: 
-Soscol Junction Groundbreaking on June 22
-NVTA Staff participation in May month of movement
-2021 NVTA Annual Report distribution

7. PRESENTATIONS

7.1 Vine Trail Presentation (Shawn Casey-White)  

16



Page 1 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 6/21/2022 

Director Dunbar inquired about local matching fund requirements. 

7.2 Project Update (Danielle Schmitz & Rebecca Schenck) 
 

8. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

Motion MOVED by DOHRING, SECONDED by GARCIA TO APPROVE Consent Items 8.1-8.9 with 
request for legal review of Item 8.9. Motion moved by the following roll call vote: 

Aye: 21 -  Garcia, Dohring, Joseph, Dunbar, Ramos, Ellsworth, Alessio, Kraus, 
Sedgley, and Tagliaboschi 

Absent: 3 -  Canning, and Pedroza 

8.2 Meeting Minutes of May 18, 2022 (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 12-15)  
Attachments: Draft Minutes 

8.3 AB 361 Requirements for Remote Public Meetings (Osman Mufti) (Pages 16-21)  
Attachments: Staff Report 

8.1 Meeting Minutes of May 9, 2022 (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 10-11)  
Attachments: Draft Minutes 

8.5 Resolution 22-19 Authorizing the Executive Director to Execute Amendment 1 to the  
Cooperative Agreement 04-2749 between the State of California Department of  
Transportation (Caltrans) and the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) for the 
Napa Valley Vine Trail Calistoga to St. Helena Project (Rebecca Schenck) (Pages  
30-41)

Attachments: Staff Report

8.6 Agreement No. 17-15 with Kimley Horn and Associates for Architectural and 
Engineering Design Services to include Environmental, Survey, and Design Services for 
Driveway Expansion; Communications Systems Design; and Additional Budget for Engineering 
Services during Construction for the Vine Bus Maintenance Facility (Kate Miller) (Pages 42-49) 

Attachments: Staff Report 

8.7 Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Assessment Services (Rebecca Schenck) 
(Pages 50-79) 

Attachments: Staff Report 

8.8 Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC) Member Appointments (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 
80-92)

Attachments: Staff Report

8.9 Professional Services Agreement No. 22-C23 with Universal Building Services (Laura 
Sanderlin) (Pages 93-115) 

17

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cc7a2c8e%1e2350%1e44ae%1e9cf5%1e668fdcd01997.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=301209d5%1e9d0d%1e43c4%1ea58c%1e4c42fd0329b1.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3e785f90%1e11b7%1e418e%1eb8cf%1e73541b6fd0be.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0455e210%1eb748%1e4efb%1ea284%1e4c86de438c4a.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e55b90d8%1e7eef%1e49c7%1e839b%1ebaea2e6da901.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=022772b0%1e9fcc%1e4a1b%1e959e%1e7a69c481aa9c.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=da9bf2f7%1e59b9%1e4b78%1eb5df%1ec7f94662d9b6.pdf


Page 1 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 6/21/2022 

Attachments: Staff Report 

8.4 Amendment #5 to Project Work Order No. E-14 to NVTA Agreement No. 18-21 with 
GHD Inc. for Professional Engineering Services for the Soscol Junction Project (Danielle 
Schmitz) (Pages 22-29) 

Attachments: Staff Report 

9. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS

9.1 Nomination, Discussion, and Election of Chair and Vice Chair for Fiscal Year (FY) 
2022-23 (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 116-117) 

Attachments: Staff Report 

Director Dunbar reported the nominations of Director Alessio and Director Joseph as Chair and 
Vice Chair, respectively.  

Motion MOVED by GARCIA, SECONDED by KRAUS to APPROVE the elected Chair and Vice Chair 
for NVTA Fiscal Year 2022-23. Motion carried by the following roll call vote: 

Aye: 16 -  Garcia, Dohring, Joseph, Dunbar, Ramos, Ellsworth, Alessio, Kraus, and 
Tagliaboschi 

Absent: 8 -  Canning, Pedroza, and Sedgley 

9.2 Fiscal Year 2022-23 Salary Ranges for Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) 
Job Classifications (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 118-126) 

Attachments: Staff Report 

Motion MOVED by KRAUS, SECONDED by JOSEPH to APPROVE Item 9.2. Motion carried by the 
following roll call vote: 

Aye: 21 -  Garcia, Dohring, Joseph, Dunbar, Ramos, Ellsworth, Alessio, Kraus, 
Sedgley, and Tagliaboschi 

Absent: 3 -  Canning, and Pedroza 

9.3 Federal and State Legislative Update (Kate Miller) (Pages 127-152)  
Attachments: Staff Report 

Information Only/No Action Taken 

Director Ellsworth inquired about surplus allocation information to be brought to the next 
scheduled meeting. 

10. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

None 

11. ADJOURNMENT

Vice Chair adjourned the meeting at 2:31pm. 

11.1  Approval of Next Regular Meeting Date of July 20, 2022 and Adjournment 

18

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=47439361%1e8779%1e4c19%1e9820%1eedd9e573e9f5.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5b4e3697%1e742e%1e4f6f%1eb451%1ec63d88765000.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a7c5ecea%1e0212%1e412b%1e99da%1e81254dd9d417.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=248cc60c%1eeeb6%1e4e47%1e8c81%1ea613eb925d17.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0777b254%1efef3%1e4f8c%1e93b0%1efbec2dd1f76d.pdf


Page 1 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 6/21/2022 

____________________________________ 
Laura M. Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 

19



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested: APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Program 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) board approve Resolution 22-21 
adopting the Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Program (Attachment 1).  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requires that all transit properties with fifty (50) 
or more employees have an equal employment opportunity (EEO) policy.  The last EEO 
Program update was in 2018.  NVTA is required to submit an updated EEO Program to 
the FTA at this time.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

No. While there is no cost associated with developing the EEO Program FTA and other 
federal funding may be delayed or denied if not submitted as required. 

20



 

July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested: APPROVE 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Letter 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Antonio Onorato, Program Manager - Finance 

(707) 259-8779 / Email: aonorato@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Program 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) board approve Resolution 22-21 
adopting the Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Program (Attachment 1) as it relates 
to transit services.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
The FTA requires agencies that receive federal funding to submit an updated EEO 
Program every four years for review and approval as part of federal funding requirements. 
In the past, the agency has used Transdev’s EEO Policies for the transit operation which 
were validated through FTA triennial reviews. The purpose of this policy is to establish an 
equal employment opportunity program for NVTA employees and the agency’s 
contractors regardless of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, age, disability, religion, 
marital status, sexual preference or veteran status or any other class as prohibited by 
federal and/or state law. Adopting the EEO program ensures consistency and provides 
transparency and accountability with the public.   
 
The goal of NVTA’s EEO Program is to achieve a workforce that is represented in all 
occupational areas consistent with the percentage of females and minorities in the area 
workforce. The EEO Program examines data gathered from Transdev’s current workforce 
statistics, recruitment and hiring efforts and identifies groups in each EEO occupational 
category that may be underutilized, and establishes employment goals for the next EEO  

21

mailto:aonorato@nvta.ca.gov


NVTA Agenda Letter                    Wednesday July 20, 2022 
Agenda Item 7.3 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 
Program cycle. The EEO Program also examines accomplishments in recruiting and 
hiring, training and development, and employee disciplinary actions taken over a four year 
cycle in support of efforts to achieve equity and fairness in employment practices in the 
workplace. 
 
Placement goals provided will be used as a guide for hiring and promotional activity during 
the EEO Program time frame. NVTA will continue striving to meet the goals as stated in 
the 2022 through 2025 EEO Program by emphasizing equal employment opportunities in 
all advertising and recruitment efforts, as well as in promotional opportunities. 
Additionally, data will be used as a guide for providing ongoing development and training 
opportunities for NVTA’s and Transdev’s workforce. 
 
Oversight of the EEO Program is the responsibility of the Executive Director. 
Administration and implementation, which includes dissemination, understanding and 
enforcement of the EEO Program is the responsibility of the EEO Compliance Officer. 
The Compliance Officer is also responsible for updating EEO policies as needed, 
monitoring compliance with the affirmative action plan, goals, providing training, and 
implementing programs that promote NVTA’s diversity, equal employment opportunities 
and affirmative action policies for employees and third party contractors for public transit 
services. 
 
All applicants for employment and employees have the right to file complaints alleging 
discrimination with NVTA’s EEO Compliance Officer. Any employee who contends that 
he/she has been subjected to unlawful discrimination, harassment or retaliation in 
violation of federal or state law, may use the internal complaint procedure set forth in the 
Harassment-Free Workplace policy. Employees can raise concerns and make reports 
without fear of reprisal. Anyone found to be engaging in any unlawful discrimination will 
be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal from employment. 
 
The updated EEO Program is attached for Board review. Once the Board approves the 
EEO Program, it will be submitted to the FTA for review.   
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
As an FTA grantee, NVTA is required to have an adopted EEO Program.  Non-compliance 
could result in funding delays or denials. 
 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 3: Use taxpayer dollars efficiently.   
 
The goal of the EEO Program is to achieve equity in NVTA and third-party contractor work 
places to ensure equal opportunity in all occupational areas for all employees with 
particular emphasis on protected groups.  These policies not only promote the wellbeing 

22



NVTA Agenda Letter                    Wednesday July 20, 2022 
Agenda Item 7.3 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 
of the workforce, they improve morale, promote productivity, and ensure that NVTA is 
eligible to receive federal and state revenues.   
 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 
 (1) Resolution 22-21 
 

23



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.3 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

RESOLUTION No. 22-21 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

ADOPTING THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY PROGRAM  
(EEO PROGRAM) FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022 THROUGH FISCAL YEAR 2025 

 
WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is designated the 

countywide transportation planning agency responsible for Highway, Streets and Roads, 
transit planning and programming, public transit, capital development, and project 
delivery within Napa County, and 

 
WHEREAS, the NVTA Board of Directors may take all actions necessary for the 

proper administration of the affairs of the NVTA; and 
 
 WHEREAS, NVTA is an agency that receives federal funds and is required to 

submit an updated Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEO Program) every four years 
to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA); and 

   
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors desires to adopt the EEO Program, effective 

July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2025; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the NVTA Board of Directors hereby 
adopts the EEO Program of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority as set forth in 
“Exhibit A” to this Resolution. Passed and Adopted the 20th day of July 2022.  
 
 
______________________ 
Liz Alessio, NVTA Chair               Ayes: 
 
 
 
                Nays: 
 
 
                      Absent: 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
APPROVED: 
 
____________________________________ 
Osman Mufti, NVTA Legal Counsel 

24



Exhibit "A"

25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.4 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Revised Policies, Practices, and Procedures Manual: Personnel 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve eight additional 
hours of personal leave to NVTA Personnel Policies Manual: Personnel (Attachment 1) 
in lieu of adding the new Juneteenth federal holiday.   

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On June 18, 2021, President Biden officially proclaimed June 19, 2021, as Juneteenth 
Day of Observance, and signed the Juneteenth National Independence Day Act into 
law. In lieu of adding another federal holiday to the personnel policies list of observed 
holidays, staff is requesting the equivalent of eight hours of paid personal leave. This 
proposal acknowledges that Vine public transit services provide regular and or abridged 
services on many federal holidays and some or all agency staff must work on these 
days.  This is standard practice for public transit providers.   The policy would be 
effective immediately upon Board approval.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

Eight hours of paid time off will be added to an employee’s personal leave balance. The 
leave is not compensatory if it is unused by the end of the calendar year.  

59



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.4 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Laura Sanderlin – Board Secretary 

(707) 259-8633 / Email: lsanderlin@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Revised Policies, Practices, and Procedures Manual: Personnel 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve eight additional 
hours of personal leave to NVTA Personnel Policies Manual: Personnel (Attachment 1) 
in lieu of adding the new Juneteenth federal holiday. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
President Biden signed S. 475 into law on June 18, 2021 making Juneteenth a federal 
holiday. Staff is requesting no changes to the list of federally recognized holidays 
observed by the Agency, but instead provide eight (8) additional personal leave hours 
each calendar year. Personal leave has no cash value and must be used during the 
calendar year in which is it received or it is forfeited after December 31 each year. 
Providing additional leave time in lieu of closing the agency on Juneteenth recognizes 
that the agency provides public transit services which frequently operates on federal 
holidays and many employees must be available to work on those days. This is standard 
practice for public transit providers.  
 
A modification of NVTA Personnel Policy Manual is proposed to align it with the other 
benefits offered by NVTA. The proposed policy would go into effective on the day of Board 
approval. The revision to the Personnel Policies and Procedure Manual makes the 
following changes: 
 
1. Section 7.1.3 Personal Leave 

Increases the annual personal leave from 48 hours to 56 hours. 

60

mailto:lsanderlin@nvta.ca.gov
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lUjBhwFcQ4U
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lUjBhwFcQ4U


Napa Valley Transportation Authority             Agenda Item 7.4 
July 20, 2022 

Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Board could deny the staff request and the agency could keep the current policies 
intact.  Member jurisdictions have already provided additional time off to employees to 
honor the Juneteenth holiday. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Not applicable.  
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
(1) Personnel Policy (clean version) 
(2) Personnel Policy (redlined version) 

 

61



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.4 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Board Approved 07/15/2020 

 
 

 
 
Page 
FIN 9.01 
 
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................... 7 

Section 1.1. Overview of Personnel Policies ............................................................... 7 
1.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................... 7 
1.1.2 Construction and Limitations ...................................................................... 7 
1.1.3 Implementation of the Policies ................................................................... 7 

CHAPTER 2 EMPLOYMENT STATUS .......................................................................... 8 
Section 2.1. Definitions ................................................................................................ 8 
Section 2.2. Hiring Process ....................................................................................... 10 

2.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 10 
2.2.2 Personnel Request .................................................................................. 10 
2.2.3 Employee Selection ................................................................................. 10 
2.2.4 Placing Employee on the Payroll ............................................................. 11 

Section 2.3. New Employee Orientation .................................................................... 12 
2.3.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 12 
2.3.2 Content of Orientation .............................................................................. 12 

Section 2.4. Probationary Period ............................................................................... 13 
2.4.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 13 
2.4.2 Duration of Probationary Period ............................................................... 13 
2.4.3 Termination of Probationary Period ......................................................... 13 
2.4.4 Rejection of Probationer Following Promotion ......................................... 13 
2.4.5 Effect of Leaves of Absence on Probationary Period ............................... 13 

Section 2.5. Job Classification ................................................................................... 13 
Section 2.6. Job Descriptions .................................................................................... 14 
Section 2.7. Assignment and Transfer ....................................................................... 14 

2.7.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 14 
2.7.2 Temporary Assignments .......................................................................... 14 

Section 2.8. Promotion .............................................................................................. 14 
2.8.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 14 
2.8.2 Application Procedure .............................................................................. 15 
2.8.3 Criteria for Selection ................................................................................ 15 
2.8.4 Probationary Period ................................................................................. 15 
2.8.5 Procedure When Employee Does Not Pass Probation ............................ 15 

Section 2.9. Anti-Nepotism Policy and Non-Fraternization Policy .............................. 16 
2.9.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 16 
2.9.2 Relatives, Spouses or Domestic Partners in Same Department, Work Area 

or Facility ................................................................................................. 16 
2.9.3 Application of the Policy ........................................................................... 16 

Section 2.10. Performance Evaluation ....................................................................... 17 
Section 2.11. Resignation .......................................................................................... 18 

PERSONNEL 

NVTA 
POLICIES, PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL 

62



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[ii] 

Section 2.12. Layoff ................................................................................................... 18 
2.12.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 18 
2.12.2 Layoff Order ............................................................................................. 19 
2.12.3 Notice ....................................................................................................... 19 
2.12.4 Reinstatement from Layoff ....................................................................... 19 
2.12.5 Benefits .................................................................................................... 19 

Section 2.13. Personnel Files .................................................................................... 19 
2.13.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 19 
2.13.2 Employee Responsibility to Ensure Accuracy of Personnel Records ...... 19 
2.13.3 Duty to Provide Accurate Information ...................................................... 20 
2.13.4 Access to Personnel Files ........................................................................ 20 

CHAPTER 3 HOURS OF WORK AND COMPENSATION ........................................... 21 
Section 3.1. Work Schedules ..................................................................................... 21 

3.1.1 Work Schedules ....................................................................................... 21 
3.1.2 Standard Work Schedule ......................................................................... 21 
3.1.3 Standard Work Week ............................................................................... 21 
3.1.4 Flex Time ................................................................................................. 21 

Section 3.2. Meal and Rest Breaks............................................................................ 21 
3.2.1 Meal Breaks ............................................................................................. 21 
3.2.2 Rest Periods ............................................................................................ 21 
3.2.3 Meal and Rest Breaks May Not Be Combined or Postponed .................. 22 

Section 3.3. Compensation ........................................................................................ 22 
3.3.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 22 
3.3.2 Wage Rates ............................................................................................. 22 
3.3.3 Pay Schedule ........................................................................................... 23 
3.3.4 Payroll Deductions ................................................................................... 23 
3.3.5 Updating Payroll Information .................................................................... 23 

Section 3.4. Timekeeping .......................................................................................... 23 
3.4.1 Employees ............................................................................................... 23 
3.4.2 Consequences of Falsifying Time Records .............................................. 24 

Section 3.5. Overtime ................................................................................................ 24 
3.5.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 24 
3.5.2 Exclusion from Policy ............................................................................... 24 

CHAPTER 4 STANDARDS OF CONDUCTS ............................................................... 26 
Section 4.1. Equal Employment Opportunity ............................................................. 26 

4.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 26 
4.1.2 Employee, Supervisor and Management Responsibilities ....................... 26 

Section 4.2. Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy .................................................. 26 
4.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 26 
4.2.2 Definitions ................................................................................................ 27 
4.2.3 Zero Tolerance ........................................................................................ 28 
4.2.4 Complaint and Investigation Procedure ................................................... 28 
4.2.5 Prohibition on Retaliation ......................................................................... 29 
4.2.6 Prevention ................................................................................................ 30 

Section 4.3. Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule ....................................................... 30 
Section 4.4. Reasonable Accommodation ................................................................. 30 

63



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[iii] 

4.4.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 30 
4.4.2 Conditions Covered By This Policy .......................................................... 30 
4.4.3 Examples of Reasonable Accommodation .............................................. 31 
4.4.4 Requests for Reasonable Accommodation .............................................. 31 
4.4.5 Medical Information ................................................................................. 32 
4.4.6 The Interactive Process ........................................................................... 32 
4.4.7 Miscellaneous Guidelines ........................................................................ 33 

Section 4.5. Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene ....................................................... 33 
4.5.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 33 
4.5.2 Guidelines on Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene .................................. 33 

Section 4.6. Attendance and Punctuality ................................................................... 34 
4.6.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 34 
4.6.2 Reporting Requirements .......................................................................... 34 
4.6.3 Discipline ................................................................................................. 34 

Section 4.7. Secondary Employment ......................................................................... 35 
4.7.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 35 
4.7.2 Notification and Approval ......................................................................... 35 

Section 4.8. Causes for Discipline ............................................................................. 35 
4.8.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 35 
4.8.2 Standards of Conduct .............................................................................. 36 

Section 4.9. Discipline ............................................................................................... 37 
4.9.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 37 
4.9.2 Progressive Discipline.............................................................................. 37 
4.9.3 Administrative Leave................................................................................ 37 
4.9.4 Procedures for Disciplinary Action of a Permanent Employee ................. 38 

CHAPTER 5 HEALTH AND SAFETY ON THE JOB .................................................... 40 
Section 5.1. Job Safety .............................................................................................. 40 

5.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 40 
5.1.2 Employee Responsibility .......................................................................... 40 
5.1.3 Injury Reporting ....................................................................................... 40 

Section 5.2. Workplace Violence Prevention ............................................................. 40 
5.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 40 
5.2.2 Employee Responsibilities ....................................................................... 40 
5.2.3 Conduct Prohibited By This Policy ........................................................... 40 
5.2.4 Reporting Procedure ................................................................................ 41 
5.2.5 Corrective Actions .................................................................................... 41 

Section 5.3. Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace ......................................................... 42 
5.3.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 42 
5.3.2 Definitions ................................................................................................ 42 
5.3.3 Pre-Employment Drug and Alcohol Screening ......................................... 43 
5.3.4 Prohibition on Possession, Use, Sale or Transport of Alcohol or Drugs .. 43 
5.3.5 Reasonable Suspicion Testing ................................................................ 44 
5.3.6 Search or Inspection of Agency Property for Illegal Drugs or Alcohol ...... 44 
5.3.7 Disciplinary Action ................................................................................... 45 
5.3.8 Drug and Alcohol Assistance Programs................................................... 45 

Section 5.4. Fitness for Duty ...................................................................................... 45 

64



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[iv] 

5.4.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 45 
5.4.2 Employee Responsibility .......................................................................... 45 
5.4.3 Pre-Employment Medical Examinations .................................................. 45 
5.4.4 Post-Employment Fitness for Duty Examinations .................................... 46 
5.4.5 Confidentiality of Examination Records ................................................... 47 

Section 5.5. Driving .................................................................................................... 47 
5.5.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 47 
5.5.2 Driver’s License Requirements ................................................................ 47 
5.5.3 Good Driving Record ............................................................................... 48 
5.5.4 Compliance with Traffic Laws .................................................................. 49 
5.5.5 Use of Seatbelts ...................................................................................... 49 

Section 5.6. Smoking ................................................................................................. 49 
CHAPTER 6 EQUIPMENT AND PROPERTY .............................................................. 50 

Section 6.1. Use and Care of Agency Property ......................................................... 50 
6.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 50 
6.1.2 Damage or Loss of Agency Equipment.................................................... 50 
6.1.3 Key/Access Card Distribution .................................................................. 50 
6.1.4 Personal Use of Agency Property ............................................................ 50 
6.1.5 Personal Tools or Property ...................................................................... 50 
6.1.6 Agency Access to Property ...................................................................... 50 
6.1.7 Entry onto Private Property ...................................................................... 51 
6.1.8 Purchasing ............................................................................................... 51 

Section 6.2. Phones, Computers, and Other Electronic Equipment .......................... 51 
6.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 51 
6.2.2 Phone Usage for Personal Reasons ........................................................ 51 
6.2.3 Internet Usage ......................................................................................... 51 
6.2.4 Decorum of Communications ................................................................... 52 
6.2.5 Installation or Duplication of Software ...................................................... 52 
6.2.6 Discipline ................................................................................................. 52 

Section 6.3. Agency Vehicles .................................................................................... 52 
Section 6.4. Employee Purchase Program ................................................................ 54 

6.4.1 Mobile Device .......................................................................................... 54 
CHAPTER 7 TIME OFF AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE ................................................ 56 

Section 7.1. Holidays ................................................................................................. 56 
7.1.1 Eligible Employees .................................................................................. 56 
7.1.2 Recognized Holidays ............................................................................... 56 
7.1.3 Personal Leave ........................................................................................ 56 
7.1.4 Board Ordered Holiday ............................................................................ 57 
7.1.5 Holidays Occurring During Unpaid Leave ................................................ 57 
7.1.6 Working on Holidays ................................................................................ 57 

Section 7.2. Vacation ................................................................................................. 57 
7.2.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 57 
7.2.2 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 57 
7.2.3 Accrual ..................................................................................................... 57 
7.2.4 Scheduling ............................................................................................... 60 
7.2.5 Termination or Retirement from Agency .................................................. 60 

65



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[v] 

Section 7.3. Sick Leave ............................................................................................. 61 
7.3.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 61 
7.3.2 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 61 
7.3.3 Accrual ..................................................................................................... 61 
7.3.4 Conversion of Vacation to Sick Leave ..................................................... 61 
7.3.6 Employee Notice and Communication ..................................................... 61 

Section 7.4. Workers’ Compensation Leave .............................................................. 62 
7.4.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 62 
7.4.2 Sick or Vacation Leave Supplementation ................................................ 62 
7.4.3 Accrual of Benefits during Leave ............................................................. 62 

Section 7.5. Pregnancy Leave ................................................................................... 62 
7.5.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 62 
7.5.2 Covered Employees ................................................................................ 62 
7.5.3 Leave Rights ............................................................................................ 63 
7.5.4 Pay and Benefits ...................................................................................... 63 
7.5.5 Employee Notice Obligations ................................................................... 63 
7.5.6 Medical Certification................................................................................. 63 
7.5.7 Other Forms of Pregnancy-Related Disability Accommodation ............... 63 

Section 7.6. Family and Medical Care Leave Act ...................................................... 64 
7.6.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 64 
7.6.2 Definitions ................................................................................................ 64 
7.6.3 Family and/or Medical Care Leave .......................................................... 65 
7.6.4 Status of Prior Policies ............................................................................. 69 

Section 7.7. Funeral and Bereavement Leave ........................................................... 69 
7.7.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 69 
7.7.2 Conditions of Leave ................................................................................. 69 

Section 7.8. Jury Duty and Witness Leave ................................................................ 70 
7.8.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 70 
7.8.2 Jury Duty Leave ....................................................................................... 70 
7.8.3 Witness Duty ............................................................................................ 70 
7.8.4 Overtime Exempt Employees .................................................................. 71 

Section 7.9. Military Leave ......................................................................................... 71 
7.9.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 71 
7.9.2 Leave of Absence .................................................................................... 71 
7.9.3 Employee Notice Requirements .............................................................. 71 
7.9.4 Pay and Benefits While On Leave ........................................................... 71 
7.9.5 Reinstatement .......................................................................................... 72 

Section 7.10. Leaves of Absence without Pay–Accrual of Vacation and Sick Leave . 72 
Section 7.11. Outside Employment............................................................................ 72 

CHAPTER 8 BENEFITS ............................................................................................... 74 
Section 8.1. Insurance ............................................................................................... 74 

8.1.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 74 
8.1.2 Terms of Coverage .................................................................................. 74 
8.1.3 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 74 
8.1.4 Medical, Dental and Vision Coverage ...................................................... 74 
8.1.5 Life Insurance Coverage .......................................................................... 75 

66



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[vi] 

Section 8.2. Retirement ............................................................................................. 75 
8.2.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 75 
8.2.2 Plan Overview .......................................................................................... 75 
8.2.3 Contributions ............................................................................................ 76 

Section 8.3. Education, Membership and Professional Affiliation Fees ..................... 76 
8.3.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 76 
8.3.2 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 76 
8.3.3 Education Fees ........................................................................................ 76 
8.3.4 Membership and Professional Affiliations Fees ....................................... 77 

67



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[7] 

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION 
 
Section 1.1. Overview of Personnel Policies 

1.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The following employment policies, procedures and rules for the administration of 
employer/employee relations will be referred to as these “Personnel Policies and 
Procedures.”  These Personnel Policies and Procedures are for the guidance of 
the management and supervisory staff and for employees of the Agency and their 
employee organizations. 
1.1.2 Construction and Limitations 
The Personnel Policies and Procedures shall be subject to the following limitations, 
conditions, constructions and interpretations: 
A. The Agency reserves the right to rescind, revise or supplement the 

Personnel Policies and Procedures at any time and from time to time. 
B. The Personnel Policies and Procedures do not constitute a contract with 

any employee. 
C. Employees who are appointed and serve “At Will” have the right to terminate 

employment with NVTA at any time, with or without advance notice and with 
or without cause.  NVTA, as the employer, likewise has the right to terminate 
the employment of an At Will employee at any time, with or without advance 
notice and with or without cause.  No one in the Agency other than the 
appointing authority, e.g. either the NVTA Board of Directors or Executive 
Director, may alter that At Will arrangement, or enter into an agreement for 
employment for a specified period of time, or make any agreement contrary 
to this provision.  To the extent any Personnel Policies and Procedures set 
forth in this document are contrary to or inconsistent with the At Will status 
of an employee, such policies and/or procedures shall not apply to such 
employee. 

D. These Personnel Policies and Procedures supersede and replace any 
earlier policies, rules, regulations, handbooks, manuals, guidelines and 
practices relating to employment with the Agency.   

E. In the event any section or provision of this manual is declared invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction or is contradictory to any federal or state law 
or regulation, the remaining provisions shall not be invalidated and shall 
remain in full force and effect. 

1.1.3 Implementation of the Policies  
The Executive Director is responsible for developing and amending the 
administrative procedures that provide the steps and guidelines for carrying out 
the policies contained in this document.  Administrative procedures, which could 
significantly affect employees or financially impact the NVTA, will be referred to the 
NVTA Board for approval.   

68



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[8] 

CHAPTER 2 EMPLOYMENT STATUS 
 
Section 2.1. Definitions 
For the purposes of these rules the following definitions shall apply: 
Agency:  Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
Applicant:  A person who has made a formal request on a prescribed form in order to 
qualify for Agency employment. 
Appointment:  The offer to a person, and his/her acceptance of a position in accordance 
with the provision of these rules. 
At Will:  An employment relationship which either party (employer or employee) has the 
right to terminate at any time, with or without prior notice and with or without cause.  This 
arrangement is called “employment At Will”.  An At Will employee serves at the pleasure 
of the appointing authority (in the case of the Executive Director, the appointing authority 
is the NVTA Board of Directors; in the case of all other At Will employees, the appointing 
authority is the Executive Director, unless otherwise appointed by the NVTA Board of 
Directors).  An At Will employee is not afforded probationary or permanent employee 
status.  At Will employment status is defined as follows: 

a. At Will employees include the Executive Director.   
b. Part time limited term, temporary, and special status hires separate from a 

regular, full-time, or part-time permanent staff member and dependent on specific 
hiring conditions. 

Board:  The NVTA Board of Directors Members. 
Candidate:  Any applicant who has been admitted to an examination. 
Compensation:  Any salary, wage or other emolument paid to an employee for 
performing the duties of a position. 
Continuous Employment:  Employment uninterrupted from the date of appointment, 
except for authorized absence. 
Demotion:  A change from a position in one class to a position in a lower class. 
Discharge:  The termination of employment of an employee for disciplinary purposes. 
ED:  Executive Director 
Eligibility List: A list of names of candidates who have been qualified for a specific job. 
Employee: Any person who occupies a position in the Agency service and receives 
compensation for services performed for the Agency. 
Employee Representative:  An individual who appears on behalf of the employee. 
Examination:  A test or group of tests to determine the fitness and relative ability of 
persons seeking employment or promotion. 
Exempt Employee:  An employee who is not subject to the overtime provisions of the 
federal Fair Labor Standards Act. 

69



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[9] 

Grievance:  A complaint of an alleged violation of a rule or regulation upon which he/she 
desires official action to be taken. 
Layoff:  An actual separation from Agency service, an involuntary permanent reduction 
in work hours, or a demotion in lieu of layoff.   
Leave-of-Absence:  Permitted absence from duty for a specified period of time. 
Minimum Qualifications:  Standards of education and experience, knowledge, skills and 
abilities, and personal and physical characteristics as are prescribed in the class 
specifications. 
Position:  A group of current duties and responsibilities assigned or delegated by 
competent authority requiring the full-time or part-time employment of one person. 
Permanent:  The status of an employee who is lawfully retained in his/her position after 
the completion of the probationary period as provided in these rules. 
Probationary:  The status of an employee who has been certified and appointed as a 
probationary employee in accordance to these rules.  Probationary status constitutes a 
trial period of six (6) months full employment and is to be considered part of the selection 
process.  Employees receiving a promotion are also subject to a probationary period of 
six months.  A probationary employee may be separated by the Agency from employment 
service at any time during the probationary period without right of appeal or hearing.  
Employees may also be subject to a performance related probationary period if an 
employee performance is not meeting the job requirements of a position regardless of 
how long that person has been employed by the agency. The length of the probationary 
period is at the discretion of the supervisor and/or the executive director. 
Promotion:  Changing from a position in one class to a vacant position in a higher class 
with a higher salary range without a break in service. 
Re-employment Eligibility Lists:  Lists established as a result of laying off probationary 
or permanent employees. 
Regular Position:  A budgeted position. 
Resignation:  Separation of an employee made at the request of the employee. 
Salary Merit Increase:  An increase in salary within the salary range prescribed for the 
class, based upon performance during the first six months of employment, unless initially 
appointed above the minimum step, and annual adjustments thereafter (based on the 
Performance Evaluation) until attainment of the top step of the salary range. 
Separation:  Any termination of employment. 
State:  The State of California. 
Status:  The condition of an employee's appointment, such as part-time, At Will, or 
probationary, permanent, or temporary. 
Suspension:  An enforced leave of absence without pay for disciplinary purposes. 
Temporary:  "Temporary" is the status of those persons employed for a temporary period 
(limited term) to perform a specific task, job or assignment.  Such employees are not 
entitled to holiday pay and shall not earn vacation, personal or sick leave.  In addition 

70



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[10] 

temporary employees shall not be eligible for salary merit increases nor entitled to 
participate in the Agency’s retirement program.  Temporary employees serve At Will. 
Termination:  Ending the employment of an employee by the agency. 
Transfer:  A change from one position to another in the same or similar class without any 
break in service.  Such change in classes must have the same salary range and similar 
qualifications. 
Vacancy or Vacant Position:  Any unfilled allocated position in the Agency.  A position 
shall be deemed vacant when it is not filled by an employee in the class to which the 
position has been allocated. 
Year:  A twelve (12) month period unless otherwise designated. 
Section 2.2. Hiring Process  

2.2.1 Statement of Policy 
This process sets forth procedures to follow when filling position vacancies other 
than the Executive Director.  A vacancy occurs when a job opening will be filled by 
adding staff or by replacing an employee by either hiring an employee from outside 
the Agency or by transfer of an existing employee.   
2.2.2 Personnel Request 

A. Initiation 
A request for personnel will be initiated by the Executive Director when a vacancy 
is to be filled.   
2.2.3 Employee Selection 

A. Job Vacancy Posted 
Job vacancies will be posted on appropriate Agency bulletin board for the purpose 
of informing existing employees who may wish to submit an application.   

B. Advertising 
The Executive Director may advertise the job vacancy and, if necessary, list the 
vacancy with the California Employment Development Department.  Temporary 
and/or part-time openings may be listed with the local colleges, or other 
appropriate educational institutions.  

C. Employment Application 
All applicants, internal and external, will be required to complete an employment 
application for each vacancy applied.  Employment applications are available in 
the Agency’s Human Resources office and on the NVTA web page.  

D. Screening Applicants 
The Human Resources department shall submit appropriate screening criteria and 
interview questions to the ED for approval.  The ED will screen the applications to 
identify those that meet the criteria.  

71



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[11] 

E. Interviewing 
The ED, or his/her designee, and an additional panel of interviewers if appropriate, 
will interview employees and applicants that have been selected from the 
screening process.  Interviewers not able to fairly assess the applicant due to a 
personal relationship or other reason will be disqualified from participating on the 
panel. 

F. Documenting the Interview 
During or immediately after each interview, each interviewer shall complete the 
Interview Rating Sheet which is provided to assist in arriving at a final decision.  
Appropriate numerical values representing the degree of each evaluation factor, 
based on the interview, job-related experiences or skills, or other pertinent criteria 
depicting the candidate’s qualifications, shall be entered on the Interview Rating 
Sheet form.  The order of qualified candidates shall be from the highest to the 
lowest total point value. 

G. Selection 
The decision concerning which candidate to select rests with the ED.   

H. Notification. 
Once the decision to hire or promote has been approved, it will be the responsibility 
of the Human Resources department to notify the prospective employee of his/her 
acceptance (pending any required background check) and the unsuccessful 
applicants of their rejection. 
2.2.4 Placing Employee on the Payroll 

A. Duties of the Executive Director or Designee: 
1. The prospective employee will be given a conditional offer of 

employment conditioned upon the successful completion of a 
background check.    

2. A background check may be conducted.  If the prospective employee 
passes this part of the screening process, he or she may be required 
to take a medical exam   

3. Upon successful completion of the background check and medical 
exam, the following steps will be taken: 
(a) The ED will send an offer letter to the prospective employee, 
which must be signed and returned. 
(b) A start date is coordinated with the Human Resources 
department. 
(c) The prospective employee will be given an orientation interview 
covering the information identified in Section 2.3.2 of these Policies 
and Procedures.   

72



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[12] 

Section 2.3. New Employee Orientation  
2.3.1 Statement of Policy 
All new employees will participate in a new employee orientation meeting with 
representatives from Agency administration and the employee’s Supervisor.   
2.3.2 Content of Orientation 
The subjects that should be covered during such orientation, as applicable, include 
the following: 

A. Information to Be Covered By Administration 
• Job description 
• Workplace harassment policies/training 
• Personnel Policies and Procedures 
• Personnel records and files 
• The probationary period and extension (applicable to rehires, 

promotions, and transfers, as well as for new hires (other than At 
Will hires). 

• Wages and salaries 
• Performance evaluation 
• Safety 
• Employee communications and office decorum 
• General working conditions 
• Organizational chart 

B. Information to Be Covered Regarding Benefits: 
• Group insurance programs 
• Employee’s retirement and deferred compensation plans 
• Workers’ Compensation medical and disability coverage 
• Payroll forms such as W-4, automatic deposits, etc. 

C. Information to Be Covered By Human Resources 
When the employee reports to work, the Human Resources department will review 
with the employee the general employment conditions, as applicable, including but 
not limited to:   

• Introduction to fellow workers  
• Organization and purpose of the Agency 
• Attendance 
• Safety 
• Other related policies and procedures applicable to the employee 

When the employee reports to work, the Department Head will review with the 
employee the general employment conditions, as applicable, including but not 
limited to: 

• Specific job duties, training and performance standards 
• Employee assignments 

73



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[13] 

Section 2.4. Probationary Period 
2.4.1 Statement of Policy 
The probationary period is the final and most important phase of the selection 
process and is used for assessing the performance, ability, conduct and fit of the 
employee in the position to which appointed.  During the probationary period the 
employee may be separated by the Agency at any time and for any reason, with 
or without cause.   
All appointments to full-time and part-time positions, other than At Will 
appointments, are subject to the provisions of Section 2.4 and serving a 
probationary period.   
2.4.2 Duration of Probationary Period  
A probationary period shall be for six (6) months for all employees, and shall begin 
on the first date of employment or promotion.  An employee shall not attain regular 
full-time status in the new position until he or she has completed a probationary 
period of six (6) months continuous service in that position.  
The term “continuous service” as used in this section means a period of six (6) 
months of work uninterrupted by a leave of absence.  Where such interruptions 
occur, the Agency may extend the probationary period. 
2.4.3 Termination of Probationary Period 
Permanent status of the probationary employee shall begin after receipt of a 
positive evaluation no sooner than the end of the probationary period. 
A probationary employee may be separated by the Agency from service at any 
time during the probationary period without right of appeal or hearing. 
2.4.4 Rejection of Probationer Following Promotion 
For any employee who fails to satisfactorily complete the probationary period 
following a promotion, the provisions of Section 2.8.5, Procedure When Employee 
Does Not Pass Probation, shall apply. 
2.4.5 Effect of Leaves of Absence on Probationary Period 
An employee who is on leave of absence without pay during his/her probationary 
period may have the probationary period extended by his/her supervisor.  The 
extension may be up to the amount of time of the leave without pay.  The Agency 
shall notify the employee of the extension in writing prior to the end of the 
probationary period as provided in Section 2.4.2. 

Section 2.5. Job Classification 
It is recognized that the creation and/or redesign of job classifications for all 
Employees, including the establishment of duties and the qualifications required 
therefore, are exclusive functions of Agency management. 
All positions are evaluated according to necessity, relative skills required to do the 
work, and in some case, the market.  Positions that are similar in type of work, 
level of difficulty and level of responsibility are grouped together in the same class.  

74



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[14] 

All positions in the same class are treated alike in such matters as salary and 
minimum qualifications. 
The Executive Director and Human Resources will periodically review the work 
performed by employees to determine whether they are appropriately classified.  If 
the duties of a position are found to have changed substantially, or the need for 
maintaining the position is at issue, the supervisor may recommend that the 
position be re-evaluated, reclassified, or abolished.  Similarly, job descriptions will 
be prepared for any new positions which will be evaluated and classified according 
to their relative worth. 

Section 2.6. Job Descriptions 
Job descriptions define essential and other duties that an employee is required to 
perform in each classification as a condition of continued employment.  They are 
not intended to limit the work which may be performed since other tasks may be 
assigned that are similar in nature or as needed. 
Full job descriptions and salary ranges are available for review on the Agency H 
drive in the following location;  

Section 2.7. Assignment and Transfer 
2.7.1 Statement of Policy 
While it is management’s intent to schedule work and assign personnel in such a 
manner as to achieve maximum utilization of the respective employee’s abilities, 
and while it is management’s intent to encourage an employee’s progression 
upward in the same line of work, it is recognized that conditions which affect 
Agency’s operations will require flexibility in work assignments to permit cross-
training and to stabilize the workload among departments. It is therefore also 
recognized that as conditions require, management will assign, and Management 
Employees and Non-Management Employees will perform, duties which may not 
be within the usual scope of classification responsibilities. 
2.7.2 Temporary Assignments 
If an employee is temporarily assigned to the full duties and responsibilities of a 
higher classification, he /she will be paid a higher rate for the entire period when 
working in the higher wage classification.  If assigned to a lower wage 
classification, the employee will not earn less than he or /she would normally earn 
in a pay period in his/her regular classification. 
A temporary job classification assessment form must be submitted to and 
approved by the Executive Director in advance. 

Section 2.8. Promotion 
2.8.1 Statement of Policy 
It is the intent of the Agency that vacancies shall be filled by internal promotion of 
qualified Agency employees when feasible. 

75



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[15] 

2.8.2 Application Procedure 
When the Agency intends to fill a job opening, a notice of such opening listing 
essential qualifications and functions of the job shall be placed on appropriate 
Agency bulletin board.  Employees shall have five (5) working days to apply for the 
position from the date of posting.  All interested employees must file an application 
to be considered for the open position.  In the event that no employees apply or 
are qualified for the position, the Agency may seek other applicants.  The five (5) 
day in-house posting period may be reduced or waived when management is faced 
with emergency circumstances. 
2.8.3 Criteria for Selection 

A. Minimum Qualifications 
To be considered a qualified applicant for any opening, an applicant must possess 
the minimum qualifications established for the position and, if applicable, pass any 
physical examination or drug and alcohol test that may be required as a conditional 
offer of employment. 

B. Other Qualifications 
The employee’s qualifications will also be assessed in accordance with the 
priorities listed below: 

• Test score, if test is given 
• Related experience 
• Ability to progress in position 
• Documented performance 
• Oral interview 
• Experience and performance in previous Agency employment; and 
• If all else is equal, upon length of employment with the Agency. 

2.8.4 Probationary Period 
Employees promoted to another position within the Agency shall serve a 
probationary period in the new position for the purpose of allowing the Agency to 
assess the employee’s performance, ability, conduct and fit in the new position as 
provided in Section 2.4.2. 
2.8.5 Procedure When Employee Does Not Pass Probation 
If the employee is unsuccessful in the new position, the following procedure will 
apply: 

A. If a Vacancy Exists 
The employee will be returned to his or her former position provided a vacancy still 
exists. 

B. If a Vacancy Does Not Exist in the Former Position 
1. The employee will be afforded the opportunity to compete in a 

vacancy for another position for which the Agency determines he or 
she is qualified. 

76



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[16] 

2. If no other vacancy exists, or if the employee is unsuccessful in the 
bidding process for a vacant position, the employee may be laid off.  Layoff; 
however, for a period of one year following layoff, the employee will be 
eligible to be rehired in the first available opening for which he or she is 
determined to be qualified. 

Section 2.9. Anti-Nepotism Policy and Non-Fraternization Policy 
2.9.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency’s policy is to hire, promote and transfer employees on the basis of 
individual merit and to avoid any hint of favoritism, conflict of interest or 
discrimination in making such decisions.  The employment of relatives, spouses or 
domestic partners is regarded as a potential violation of this policy.  Even if 
favoritism, an actual conflict of interest, or discrimination is not shown, the 
existence of the situation may precipitate an appearance of unfairness or conflict 
of interest. 
2.9.2 Relatives, Spouses or Domestic Partners in Same Department, Work 
Area or Facility 
An employee’s relatives, spouses or registered domestic partners (as defined 
under state law) may only be employed within the same work area, department or 
Agency facility when the following criteria are met: 

1. Such employment does not adversely affect safety, morale, security, 
internal financial control, or supervision and the individuals involved 
do not work in direct supervision of each other. 

2. An employee neither initiates nor participates in making institutional 
recommendations or decisions which would directly affect 
employment status of their spouse, registered domestic partner or 
relative(s).  These recommendations/decisions include, but are not 
limited to, selection, appointment, retention, tenure, work 
assignments, promotion, demotion or salary. 

The Agency may prohibit assignment or reassign employees if, in its sole 
discretion, it finds that any of the above criteria are not met. 
2.9.3 Application of the Policy 

1. "Relatives” refer to persons related by blood or marriage, or any 
relative residing in the immediate household of the employee 
(including, but not limited to: wife, husband, parent, child, 
grandparent, brother, sister, in-laws, aunt, uncle, step relatives). 

2. This policy also applies to persons who are registered domestic 
partners as defined under state law. 

2.9.4 Marriage or Registered Domestic Partnership Arising Between 
Employees While Employed 
1. Should two employees marry or form a registered domestic 

partnership while both are employed by the Agency, they may 

77



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[17] 

continue their employment in the same jobs provided that the criteria 
set forth in Section 2.9.2 are met. 

2. If the criteria are not met, one of the employees in the marriage, or 
registered domestic partnership, must change jobs, work locations 
or leave the Agency.  The couple will make a decision within thirty 
(30) days of the marriage or partnership, as to which of the two of 
them will change positions.  If this decision is not made within 30 
days, based upon its business needs, the Agency reserves the right 
to determine which employee will be transferred or whose 
employment will be terminated based upon the operational interests 
and needs of the Agency. 

2.9.5 Non-Fraternization 
In order to promote the efficient operation of the Agency and its business and to 
avoid misunderstandings, complaints of favoritism, other problems of supervision, 
security and morale, and possible claims of sexual harassment – managers and 
supervisors are forbidden from dating or pursuing romantic or sexual relationships 
with employees whom they supervise, directly or indirectly.  Employees who violate 
this provision will be subject to discipline, up to and including discharge. 

Section 2.10. Performance Evaluation 
An employee serving a six (6) month probationary period shall receive evaluations 
from their immediate supervisor at the end of three (3) months and also prior to the 
completion of the employee's probationary period.  If the employee’s performance 
review at the end of the three month period is at “Does Not Exhibit”, then that 
employee shall not pass probation.  If an employee has more than two areas of 
“Building Competencies” in specific categories, such employee will have an interim 
review at four months from hire.  Failure to reach an overall “Fully Exhibits” rating 
for management employees or “Meets Standards” rating for non-management 
employees, by the six month review will be considered as failing probation.  An 
employee may be released from employment upon failing probation or at the 
discretion of the Executive Director an employee failing to reach an overall “Fully 
Exhibits” rating for management employees or “Meets Standards” rating for non-
management employees at the end of their six-month probation review may have 
their probation period extended to up to three (3) months.  .  
Evaluations for permanent employees shall be completed annually. 
Such evaluations shall be on forms and under procedures prescribed by the 
Executive Director. 
Salary movement through a pay grade will be based on performance which is 
reviewed on an annual basis on the employee’s anniversary date. 
Pay grade ranges are approximately 20% from beginning step to the top of the pay 
grade.  An employee may receive an increase within their pay grade based upon 
their performance and NVTA Board allocation of a salary pool.  Once an employee 
reaches the top of their pay grade they will still be subject to annual performance 
reviews. 

78



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[18] 

The pay grades will be adjusted annually and indexed to the average of County of 
Napa, Sonoma County Transportation Authority, and Solano County 
Transportation Authority increases for a given year or Bay Area Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) for all labor within Napa County, whichever is greater. 
The results of the performance evaluation shall be taken into account in the 
following ways: 

1. A discretionary leave of absence will be granted only to an employee 
whose last evaluation was at least satisfactory. 

2. The general record of service as well as specific and immediate 
disciplinary charges will be taken into account when disciplinary 
action against an employee is proposed and the discipline, if any, is 
assessed. 

3. Merit salary increases will be determined by the Executive Director 
and can be awarded only to those employees whose current overall 
evaluation is at least “Fully Exhibits” or above for management 
positions, and at least a “Meets Standards” or above for non-
management positions. 

4. If a non-probationary employee is at “Does Not Exhibit or Building 
Competencies” in two or more specific areas, or receives an overall 
rating of “Does Not Exhibit” that employee will be evaluated again 
within three months.  Continued failure to meet performance 
expectations will lead to further disciplinary action up to and including 
discharge. 

Section 2.11. Resignation 
Any employee, other than the Executive Director or At Will employees, wishing to 
leave service in good standing shall file with the Agency a signed written 
resignation giving at least two weeks’ notice of his/her intention to leave the 
service, unless the Agency consents to an earlier separation.   
The written resignation shall be forwarded to the Executive Director.  The 
Executive Director may request an exit interview with the separating employee. 
Any employee who leaves service without so filing a written resignation shall have 
such fact entered in his/her service record and may, by action of the Executive 
Director, be denied employment opportunities with the Agency in the future. 

Section 2.12. Layoff 
2.12.1 Statement of Policy 
When it is necessary to reduce the working staff of the Agency for lack of work or 
lack of funds or for other causes outside of the worker’s control, the Agency shall 
determine the classes of positions in which the reduction is to be made and the 
number of positions to be affected, except that this Section 2.12 shall not apply to 
At Will employees.  Reduction in staff within the designated classes of positions 
shall occur in the following order: 

79



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[19] 

1. Employees who have temporary status. 
2. Employees who are probationary. 
3. Part-time regular employees. 
4. Full-time regular employees. 

2.12.2 Layoff Order 
The Agency shall determine the employees to be laid off within a class of positions 
on the basis of an employee’s performance and/or special qualifications needed 
by the Agency. 
2.12.3 Notice 
The Agency will give employees notice of any reduction in staff at least two weeks 
prior to the effective date. 
2.12.4 Reinstatement from Layoff  
Full-time employees who are laid off will be given the right of first refusal in filling 
future vacancies in the position from which he/she was laid off for a period of one 
year. 
2.12.5 Benefits 
During periods of lay off, health care coverage remains available if premiums are 
paid by the employee in accordance with carrier regulations and limitations and 
COBRA/Cal-COBRA laws as applicable.  Such benefit will be available for a period 
of time consistent with COBRA/Cal-COBRA. 

Section 2.13. Personnel Files 
2.13.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency maintains personnel files on all employees.  The files contain 
confidential information such as job applications, resumes, documentation of 
performance, salary changes, benefit elections and other employment records. 
2.13.2 Employee Responsibility to Ensure Accuracy of Personnel Records 
The accuracy of personnel records is essential for the proper handling of many 
items of great importance to employees, including the emergency notification of 
family, income tax deductions, insurance coverage, and other fringe benefits from 
the Agency.  It is the employee’s responsibility to keep the Agency updated on 
personal information so that the Agency may effectively handle those programs 
and tasks which are for the employee’s benefit.  
In order that the Agency may keep complete and current records, it is mandatory 
that the employee notify the Agency office immediately whenever there is a change 
in the employee’s following information: 

1. Address 
2. Telephone Number (Note: As a condition of employment, it is 

necessary that the employee present a telephone number where 

80



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[20] 

he/she can be reached by his/her Supervisor directly without having 
to go through other parties.) 

3. Person to notify in the event of an emergency. 
4. Name, through marriage or otherwise. 
5. Marital status 
6. Number of dependents 
7. Insurance beneficiary 
8. Military Status 
9. Driver’s license number and date of expiration when a condition of 

employment. 
2.13.3 Duty to Provide Accurate Information 
Any misrepresentations, falsifications, or material omissions by an employee on 
his or employment documents may result in disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment.   
2.13.4 Access to Personnel Files 
An employee may request to review his or her personnel file by submitting a written 
request twenty-four hours in advance to the Executive Director or designee.  If an 
employee disagrees with any item contained in his or her personnel file, the 
employee may add a document containing his or her version of the disputed item. 
 

81



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[21] 

CHAPTER 3 HOURS OF WORK AND COMPENSATION 
 
Section 3.1. Work Schedules 

3.1.1 Work Schedules 
New employees will be advised of their work schedules when they commence 
employment with the Agency.  From time to time, it may be necessary for the 
Agency to change employee work schedules.  Employees are expected to 
cooperate with these changes and are expected to arrange their personal 
schedules to comply with their assigned work hours.  
3.1.2 Standard Work Schedule 
The standard work schedule is forty (40) hours.  The core work hours are 9:00 a.m. 
to 4:00 p.m. with at least 30 minutes for lunch.  The standard hours and/or days of 
a standard work schedule may be altered upon request by the supervisor and with 
approval of the Executive Director.  ALTERNATE WORK SCHEDULES (9-80’s 
AND 4-10’s) may be authorized by the Executive Director and approval of such will 
be placed in the employees personnel file. 
3.1.3 Standard Work Week 
The Standard workweek is a seven-day period beginning at 12:00 a.m. on 
Saturday and ending at 11:59 p.m. on Friday.   
3.1.4 Flex Time 
“Flex time” occurs where an employee varies his or her regularly scheduled start 
or end time.  It is confined to a normal work week as defined above.   
Flex time for employees is subject to prior approval by the employee’s supervisor 
and the Executive Director.  Prior written approval from employee’s supervisor and 
the Executive Director shall be obtained no later than the conclusion of the 
previous work shift.  
Management and Supervisory employees are expected to be on duty at the times 
they can most efficiently discharge those tasks relative to supervising their 
employees and interacting with other Agency personnel and members of the 
public.  If this is at a time other than normal business hours they can notify the 
Executive Director and have their normal duty hours changed to so reflect. 

Section 3.2. Meal and Rest Breaks  
3.2.1 Meal Breaks 
Employees shall take an unpaid 30 or 60 minute meal break.  Such meal break 
shall be scheduled at approximately mid-way through the workday. 
3.2.2 Rest Periods 
Employees are permitted one 15-minute rest period for each four (4) hour work 
period.  These breaks shall be scheduled about midway through each four (4) hour 
period. 

82



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[22] 

3.2.3 Meal and Rest Breaks May Not Be Combined or Postponed 
Rest and meal periods are provided so the employees may rest, obtain 
nourishment and rejuvenate during the workday.  Employees may not combine 
rest periods or add them to meal breaks.  Nor may employees postpone their rest 
or meal periods to the end of the workday in order to leave earlier.    

Section 3.3. Compensation 
3.3.1 Statement of Policy 
As a public entity, the Agency is committed to rendering the highest level of service 
possible at a fair and reasonable cost.  The Agency’s ability to achieve this 
objective is affected by a number of factors, one of which is the quality performance 
of Agency employees.  In order to attract and retain highly competent employees, 
promote continuous superior performance, and give full recognition to Agency 
financial constraints, the following criteria will be considered in establishing 
employee compensation: 

1. The impact of compensation on the cost of services, financial 
position of the Agency, and overall operational cost. 

2. Compensation paid for similar work in other public and private 
organizations. 

3. The relative value of individual employee’s services to the success 
of the Agency. 

4. The general and specific performance of employees. 
5. Status of the labor force, economic conditions, recruitment and 

retention experience, and other factors influencing the maintenance 
of a stable and efficient work force. 

The Executive Director or their designee shall develop an annual Salary and 
Benefits package for submission to the Board each year.  The schedule shall set 
forth the positions approved by the Board, together with proposed salary ranges 
and employee benefits, for the upcoming fiscal year beginning July 1.  Salary 
ranges and employee benefits are to be reviewed and considered by the Board for 
adjustment for each fiscal year as part of the budget adoption. 
3.3.2 Wage Rates 
Employees will be paid within the salary range established for their job 
classification.  A list of job classifications and applicable salary rates is maintained 
in the Agency’s business office. 
From time to time, salary rates may be adjusted to reflect inflation, deflation or 
other cost of living changes.  The Bay Area Consumer Price Index, and/or the 
average of salary adjustments for Napa County, Sonoma County Transportation 
Authority, and Solano County Transportation Authority as published at the time of 
the Executive Director’s development of the recommended annual Salary and 
Benefits package shall be referred to in considering the possible adjustment of 
salary rates.  Nothing herein shall constitute an implied or specific agreement by 

83



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[23] 

Agency to grant cost of living increases or as to the amount of any such increase.  
The purpose of this provision is to provide a framework for the development of the 
annual Salary and Benefits package that is subject to review and approval by the 
Board. 
3.3.3 Pay Schedule 
Wages will be paid on a bi-weekly basis.  Wages will be paid within fourteen (14) 
calendar days following the end of the pay period.  If paid by check in lieu of direct 
deposit, such paychecks not picked up by 4:00 p.m. on payday will be mailed. 
3.3.4 Payroll Deductions 
An employee’s earnings and payroll deductions are shown on a check stub with 
the employee’s paycheck.  The check stub should be examined and retained for 
personal records. 
The Agency will make the following deductions from an employee’s earnings: 

A. Mandatory Deductions 
1. Federal Income Tax (Withhold Tax) 
2. State Income Tax 
3. State Disability Insurance (S.D.I.) 
4. Garnishments/Wage Attachments  
B. Employee Authorized Deductions 
1. Employee deferred compensation contributions 
2. Medical and dental insurance contributions 
3. Jury duty payments to an employee who was provided paid time off 

for jury service 
4. Other Deductions Agreed Upon in Writing by the Employee and 

permitted by law. 
3.3.5 Updating Payroll Information 
During the course of employment, changes affecting payroll status will probably 
occur from time to time.  Examples are changes in marital status, name change 
due to marriage, changes in number of dependents and changes required to adjust 
an excessive or insufficient tax withholding situation.  Questions concerning these 
changes should be directed to the Human Resources department.  

Section 3.4. Timekeeping 
3.4.1 Employees  

A. Time Sheet 
Each employee is responsible for preparing an individual time sheet weekly.  The 
employee should accurately record regular and authorized overtime hours worked 

84



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[24] 

and leave usages.  Time sheets must also show all of the following for each job 
performed during the week: 

1. Work locations such as lateral name or improvement Agency 
number. 

2. Job or task number. 
B. Submission of Time Sheets 

Each employee must electronically submit his or her time card, verifying its 
accuracy, and have the time sheet reviewed and approved by his/her supervisor.  
Employees are expected to submit their time sheets promptly as directed by the 
Executive Director, or his/her Designee.  
3.4.2 Consequences of Falsifying Time Records 
Falsification of time sheets, recording time for another or signing the timesheet of 
another will result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge.  

Section 3.5. Overtime 
3.5.1 Statement of Policy 
From time to time, overtime work may be necessary to complete a work 
assignment or tend to the public’s needs.  Overtime must be required by and 
authorized by the Executive Director.  All employees will be expected to work 
overtime under specific circumstances which shall be defined by the Executive 
Director.  Refusal to work, after requested to do so under those circumstances, will 
be grounds for disciplinary action. 
3.5.2 Exclusion from Policy 
For purposes of determining entitlement to overtime pay under the federal Fair 
Labor Standards Act (FLSA), employees will be either classified as exempt or non-
exempt based upon the nature of their duties.  Exempt employees, such as 
management positions, are not entitled to overtime pay.   
3.5.3 Overtime Pay 
An employee who works overtime shall be compensated at a rate of one and one 
half (1 ½) time the employee’s standard hourly rate in cash or compensatory time 
off.  Employees may elect to be compensated in cash or compensatory time off for 
any overtime worked and must make the election on the time card for the pay 
period in which it was worked. 
Unless otherwise provided below, overtime is defined as any time actually worked 
in excess of forty (40) hours in an employee’s standard workweek.  For employees 
on an alternate work schedule (including four (4)-ten (10) and nine (9)-eighty (80) 
schedules), overtime is defined as any time actually worked in excess of an 
employee’s standard work day in a consecutive twenty-four (24) hour period or 
forty (40) hours in an employee’s standard workweek.   
An employee who works more than the normal number of workdays during a 
normal workweek based on their assigned work schedule shall receive overtime 

85



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[25] 

compensation provided that the employee was not absent from work for more than 
one normal work day in that workweek due to vacation, compensatory time, 
holiday, sick leave, any other paid leave or a combination thereof. 

 
Overtime pay must be approved in advanced by employee’s supervisor and the 
Executive Director prior to performing the work. 

 

86



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[26] 

CHAPTER 4 STANDARDS OF CONDUCTS 
 
Section 4.1. Equal Employment Opportunity 

4.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The Napa Valley Transportation Authority is an equal opportunity employer.  The 
Agency does not discriminate against qualified applicants or employees with 
respect to any terms or conditions of employment based on an applicant’s or 
employee’s race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, physical disability, 
mental disability, medical condition, marital status, domestic partner status, sex 
(including pregnancy, childbirth and related medical conditions), gender (including 
gender identity), age (over 40), sexual orientation, political affiliation, veteran’s 
status, or any other characteristic protected by federal, state or local law.   
The Agency subscribes to all federal and state laws that are intended to protect 
the right and opportunity of all persons to seek, obtain and hold employment 
without discrimination or abridgment because of the foregoing characteristics.   
4.1.2 Employee, Supervisor and Management Responsibilities 
All employees are charged with the responsibility of furthering equal employment 
opportunity by identifying and reporting incidents of discrimination.  Agency 
managers and supervisors are further required to ensure that principles of equal 
employment opportunity and non-discrimination are followed with regard to 
recruitment, hiring, placement, promotion, transfer, demotion, layoff, termination, 
pay and other forms of compensation, training and general treatment of employees 
during employment.    
In any instance where an employee believes that this policy has been violated, that 
employee is encouraged to consult with the Agency's Executive Director, or if the 
alleged violator is the Executive Director, the Chair of the Board with the assurance 
that no reprisals (retaliation) or otherwise adverse action will be taken against the 
employee.  

Section 4.2. Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy 
4.2.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency is committed to providing a work environment free from harassment 
and discrimination as defined by this policy.  Agency policy prohibits discrimination, 
sexual harassment and harassment because of race, color, national origin, 
ancestry, religion, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, marital 
status, domestic partner status, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth and related 
medical conditions), gender (including gender identity), age (over 40), sexual 
orientation, political affiliation, veteran’s status, or any other characteristic 
protected by federal and state law.  All such harassment and discrimination is 
prohibited.  Persons protected from harassment and discrimination under this 
policy includes job applicants, employees and independent contractors.  
Applicants, employees or independent contractors are protected from harassment 
that is perpetrated by Agency officials, managers, supervisors, employees, and by 

87



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[27] 

non-employees when the harassment occurs in the course of Agency work.  
Employees who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination.   
4.2.2 Definitions 

A. “Discrimination” 
For purposes of this policy, discrimination may occur by either: 
1. Treating members of a protected class less favorably because of 

their membership in that class.  The protected groups are based 
upon race, age, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, physical or 
mental disability, medical condition, marital status, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender or self-identified gender. 
a) “Sex” is defined as including, but not limited to pregnancy, 

childbirth, or medical conditions related to such pregnancy, as 
well as one’s gender (see California Government Code, 
section 12926(p)). 

b) “Gender” is defined as including a person’s sex, gender 
identity and gender related appearance and behavior whether 
or not stereotypically associated with the person’s assigned 
sex at birth (see California Penal Code, section 422.56). 

2. Having a policy or practice that has a disproportionately adverse 
impact on protect class members. 

B. “Harassment” 
Conduct which constitutes harassment in violation of this policy includes, 
but is not limited to: 
1. Making or using derogatory comments, slurs, jokes or epithets which 

are related to an individual’s race, religion, gender, self-identified 
gender, sex, or is of a sexual nature, or are based on any other 
identified protected category, as set forth in section 4.2.2.A.1. above, 
or are otherwise deemed inappropriate. 

2, Assaulting, touching, impeding or blocking movement, making 
derogatory gestures, or any physical interference with normal work 
movement which is motivated or related to an individual’s protected 
status as set forth in section 4.2.2.A.1, above. 

3. Displaying derogatory posters, letters, poems, graffiti, cartoons or 
drawings that involve or relate to an individual’s protected status as 
set forth in section 4.2.2.A.1, above. 

4. Sexual harassment as defined in section 4.2.2.C, below. 
5. Retaliation against an employee, or person who provides services to 

NVTA pursuant to a contract or other covered individual who: 

88



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[28] 

a) Files or responds to a bona fide complaint of harassment or 
discrimination; or 

b) Acts as a witness or otherwise cooperates in the investigation 
of a harassment or discrimination complaint; or 

c) Serves as an investigator in processing complaints of 
harassment or discrimination. 

C. Sexual Harassment” 
1. For purpose of this policy, sexual harassment is any behavior that 

includes unwelcome sexual advances and other verbal or physical 
conduct of a sexual nature when: 
a) Submission to, or rejection of, such conduct is used as the 

basis for employment decisions that influence or affect an 
individual’s career (such as promotions, salary, employment 
conditions or other aspects of a career development); or 

b) Such conduct unreasonably interferes with an individual’s job 
performance; 

c) Creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive work 
environment. 

2. All of the conduct described in 4.2.2.B. (1)-(3), above, when it is of a 
sexual nature; or 

3. Deliberate, repeated or unwelcome sexual advances, offering 
employment benefits in exchange for sexual favors or making or 
threatening reprisals after a negative response to sexual advances. 

Sexual harassment can occur between employees of the opposite or same sex.  It 
is prohibited for males to sexually harass females or other males, and for females 
to sexually harass males or other females.  
4.2.3 Zero Tolerance 
The Agency maintains a zero tolerance stance regarding violations of this policy.  
This means that serious cases of employee harassment, discrimination or 
retaliation related to a complaint made pursuant to this policy will lead to 
recommendations for immediate dismissal by the Executive Director. 
Conduct of the nature prohibited by this policy will be considered misconduct and 
will subject an offending employee to disciplinary action even if the conduct does 
not rise to the level of legally actionable harassment, discrimination or retaliation.   
4.2.4 Complaint and Investigation Procedure 
Employees and contractors should not wait until a situation becomes severe or 
pervasive or impairs their work performance before reporting harassment or 
discrimination.  The Agency’s goal is to prevent harassment and, if it does occur, 
to stop it at the earliest opportunity. 

89



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[29] 

If the employee believes that he/she has been harassed or discriminated under 
this policy, or if the employee believes he/she has witnessed harassment or 
discrimination, the employee should inform his/her supervisor, Human Resources, 
or the Executive Director of the Agency as soon as possible after the incident.  The 
complaint should include details of the incident or incidents, names of the 
individuals involved and names of any witnesses.  Supervisors or management 
employees who are aware or have been notified of any alleged incident of 
harassment or discrimination must immediately refer all such complaints or reports 
to Human Resources and to the Executive Director.   
If the Executive Director is the harasser, the employee can report the 
harassment/discrimination to the chairman of the Board of Directors. 
If the employee does not feel comfortable reporting the incident to his/her 
supervisor, Human Resources or the Executive Director, he/she may report the 
incident to any other supervisory or management employee, or the chair of the 
Board of Directors. 
Whenever the Agency is made aware of a complaint or report of 
harassment/discrimination under this policy, the Agency will conduct an 
immediate, thorough and objective investigation of the situation.  Cooperation with 
such investigations is required of all employees.  
If the Agency determines that harassment/discrimination prohibited by this policy 
has occurred, effective remedial action will be taken in accordance with the 
circumstances involved.  Any employee determined by the Agency to have 
engaged in prohibited harassment/discrimination will be subject to appropriate 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
In addition to the foregoing methods of complaint, an applicant, employee or 
contractor may choose to file a harassment/discrimination complaint with the 
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing at http://www.dfeh.ca.gov 
or the federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission at 
http://www.eeoc.gov/.   
4.2.5 Prohibition on Retaliation 
The Agency strictly prohibits retaliation against any applicant, employee or 
contractor who complains of harassment or discrimination or participates in any 
manner in an investigation into workplace harassment/discrimination.  Examples 
of retaliation prohibited by this policy include the following: 

• Disciplining a complainant or rejecting a complainant for employment 
because it is believed the allegation of harassment is untrue or the 
allegation of harassment/discrimination is not supported by 
subsequent findings of an investigation; 

• Subjecting complainants or witnesses to materially adverse 
employment decisions because of their participation in a workplace 
harassment/discrimination complaint or investigation; 

90

http://www.dfeh.ca.gov/
http://www.eeoc.gov/


 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[30] 

• Ostracizing or demonstrating hostility to a complainant or witnesses 
because of their participation in a workplace 
harassment/discrimination complaint or investigation. 

If the Agency finds that any employee, including a supervisor or manager, has 
engaged in retaliation, he or she shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including discharge.   
4.2.6 Prevention 
Prevention is the best method for avoiding harassment, discrimination and 
retaliation.  Supervisory and managerial employees are charged with the 
responsibility of taking steps to prevent harassment/discrimination and retaliation 
from occurring in the workplace.  Failure to take appropriate action to prevent 
and/or correct harassment/discrimination or retaliation shall be deemed a violation 
of this policy and shall subject the offender to disciplinary action up to and including 
discharge.  If the Executive Director is the harasser, the employee can report the 
harassment/discrimination to the Chair of the Board of Directors who will 
investigate the complaint in the same manner that the Executive Director would 
investigate complaints filed by other employees.  If the employee does not feel 
comfortable reporting the incident to his/her supervisor, or the Executive Director, 
he/she may report the incident to any other supervisory, management employee 
or Human Resources.  

Section 4.3. Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule  
It is the Agency’s philosophy and practice to treat one another with respect and courtesy.   
Employees who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination.   
Section 4.4. Reasonable Accommodation 

4.4.1 Statement of Policy 
In furtherance of the Agency’s policy to provide equal employment opportunity, the 
Agency will provide reasonable accommodation to allow people with physical or 
mental disabilities to apply for employment and perform their jobs.   
4.4.2 Conditions Covered By This Policy 

A. Disability 
The term “disability” means: 

1. A physical or mental disorder or condition that limits one or more of 
the major life activities of such individual; or 

2. A record of disorder or condition; or 
3. Being regarded as having such a disorder or condition. 
B. Conditions Excluded 

Individuals who currently use drugs illegally are not protected by the disability laws 
and do not have rights to reasonable accommodation.  This includes people who 

91



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[31] 

use prescription drugs illegally.  However, persons who no longer use drugs 
illegally and have either successfully completed a supervised drug rehabilitation 
program, or are currently participating in a supervised rehabilitation program, or 
desire to voluntarily enter and participate in such a program do have protection as 
provided under applicable disability laws. 
4.4.3 Examples of Reasonable Accommodation 
Each request for an accommodation will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  
Reasonable accommodation may include: 

• Making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to 
and usable by individuals with disabilities; 

• Job restructuring or modified work schedules;  

• Acquisition or modification of equipment or devices; 

• The provision of qualified readers or interpreters;  

• Appropriate adjustment or modifications of examinations, training 
materials or policies; and/or 

• Reassignment to a vacant position.  
4.4.4 Requests for Reasonable Accommodation 
To request reasonable accommodation under this policy, an applicant or employee 
must submit a written statement to the Human Resource Department which 
indicates the general nature of the physical or mental disability and identifies his 
or her abilities and functional limitations with respect to the job limitations of the c 
disability.  The statement should also request reasonable accommodation 
because of the limitation(s) caused by the disability.  The applicant or employee 
shall assist the Agency in determining if and what reasonable accommodation 
might be provided by identifying: 

1. Any special methods, skills or procedures which would enable him 
or her to perform tasks or functions that he or she otherwise might 
not be able to perform because of his or her disability; 

2. The potential accommodations the Agency might make that would 
enable him or her to perform the essential functions of the job, 
properly and safely, including special equipment, changes in the 
physical layout of the job or other accommodation; and  

3. Any equipment aids or services that the applicant or employee is 
willing to provide and utilize that the Agency is not required to 
provide.   

If the applicant or employee requires secretarial or other assistance in preparing 
the request due to his or her disability, such assistance will be provided upon 
request. 

92



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[32] 

4.4.5 Medical Information 
An applicant or employee who identifies himself or herself as having a disability 
and who requests reasonable accommodation will be required to provide 
documentation, including medical documentation, sufficient to establish the 
existence of the   physical or mental disorder or condition, the limitations caused 
by the condition, and the need for accommodation. 
Any information obtained regarding the medical condition of the applicant or 
employee will be collected and maintained on separate forms, in separate medical 
files, and treated as a confidential record.  Such confidential information may be 
released as follows: 

1. To inform the supervisors and managers of the disabled employee 
regarding any restrictions on the work or duties of the employee or 
accommodations necessary; 

2. To inform first aid and safety personnel, when appropriate, if the 
disability may require emergency treatment; 

3. To respond to requests from governmental officials investigating 
compliance with the disability laws; and 

4. To workers’ compensation offices and second injury funds as 
required by law or for insurance purposes under certain conditions 
for those who establish, sponsor or administer health or life 
insurance benefit plans. 

4.4.6 The Interactive Process 
The Interactive Process can begin in a number of ways.  However, unless the 
disability or the need for accommodation is obvious, it is the responsibility of the 
employee to inform the supervisor or the Human Resource Department that an 
accommodation is needed in order to perform the essential job functions.  
However, the duty to provide a reasonable accommodation may arise even when 
no request is made, e.g., when the supervisor, Executive Director, or Human 
Resources becomes aware of the disability, whether or not there is a request by 
the employee for a reasonable accommodation.   Once the need for reasonable 
accommodation is known, the Agency, by and through the employee’s supervisor, 
or Executive Director, and Human Resources department, will engage in the 
Interactive Process, which includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Review of the essential functions of the position; 
2. Engagement in an interactive dialogue with the employee to 

ascertain the precise job related limitations imposed by the 
employee’s disability and how those limitation would be overcome 
with reasonable accommodation; 

3. In consultation with the employee, identification of the potential 
reasonable accommodations and assess the effectiveness each 
would have in enabling the employee to perform the essential 
functions of the position; 

93



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[33] 

4. Consideration of the preference of the employee to be 
accommodated regarding an alternative employment reassignment; 
and 

5. Selection and implementation of the reasonable accommodation 
most appropriate for the Agency in collaboration with the employee’s 
input. 

4.4.7 Miscellaneous Guidelines  
1. Reasonable accommodation does not negate requirements for good 

job performance, successful completion of assigned training, 
adherence to generally accepted standards of behavior and 
adherence to supervisory instructions. 

2. An employee with a disability who is reassigned to a vacant, lower 
classified position as an accommodation will receive the lower salary 
of that position. 

3. If the essential job functions and/or duties of a position occupied by 
an employee with a disability are expanded, revised or modified, the 
conditions and procedures stated shall apply to any evaluation of the 
employee’s ability to perform the essential functions of the changed, 
revised or modified position and the Agency’s determination whether 
reasonable accommodation can be provided. 

4. An employee who has a question regarding the application of the 
policy and procedure should contact the Executive Director. 

Section 4.5. Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene  
4.5.1 Statement of Policy 
Agency employees often come into contact with the public, which judges the 
quality of the Agency service by the appearance and behavior of its employees 
and has the right to expect appropriate clothing, neat appearance, good manners, 
and service.  Therefore, Agency employees will be expected to adhere to the 
following guidelines.  
4.5.2 Guidelines on Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene 

1. All employees are expected to exercise good hygiene and be well 
groomed. 

2. All employees having long hair or wearing a moustache or beard 
must keep them clean, trimmed, combed, and otherwise groomed so 
as not to interfere with worker safety.  Those employees who 
normally do not wear a beard or moustache and who normally shave 
must keep themselves clean shaven. 

3. Employees must dress in a manner that is professional, functional, 
and affords them safety from unnecessary risk of injury.  Office 
employees should not wear shorts, sweat pants, tank tops, shabby 
denims, or suggestive or inappropriate clothing. 

94



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[34] 

4. When, on occasion, employees have to deal with discourteous 
persons, it is especially important for them to maintain their friendly 
attitude.  Continuing courtesy on the part of employees will do much 
to promote an excellent relationship between the Agency and the 
community. 

Section 4.6. Attendance and Punctuality  
4.6.1 Statement of Policy 
In order to offer high quality service, the Agency’s operations must be appropriately 
staffed.  Absenteeism and tardiness cause undue burdens on co-workers and 
impede the service the Agency provides to the community.  Therefore, regular 
attendance and punctuality are job requirements for all employees of the Agency. 
4.6.2 Reporting Requirements 

1. Employees are expected to report to work on time and ready for duty 
at the time prescribed.   

2. Employees may not leave work without prior supervisory approval 
during working hours or prior to the end of a scheduled work time.   

3. Employees who foresee the need to be absent, tardy or leave early 
from work should notify their supervisor/Department Head, Human 
Resources, the Administrative Assistant and the Executive Director 
of the anticipated absence as far in advance as practicable and 
obtain approval for such absence.   

4. An employee who will be absent or late to work must notify their 
supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, the Administrative 
Assistant and Executive Director prior to the start of the employee’s 
shift.  This process must be repeated daily unless the employee is 
on an approved leave of absence.  An employee must keep their 
supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, and Executive 
Director informed of when he or she plans to return to work.  An 
employee who does not return to work from a leave of absence on 
the approved date shall be deemed absent without leave (AWOL) 
and shall be subject to automatic resignation. 

5. An employee who is physically unable to provide notice of an 
absence prior to the start of the employee’s work day must provide 
notice as soon as practicably possible. 

6. Absences, including tardiness, must be accurately reported on time 
sheets in 15 minute increments.  Employees who are tardy will not 
be paid for the time they are absent. 

4.6.3 Discipline 
Failure to provide a supervisor with advance notice of an absence or late arrival 
for work, frequent or prolonged absenteeism or tardiness, or falsification of time 
records may result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge. 

95



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[35] 

Employee absences which are protected by law (e.g., military leave, workers 
compensation leave, family medical leave, “kin care” leave, pregnancy disability 
and other approved disability leaves, witness or jury duty leave, voting leave, court 
appearances for crime victims, and leave for certain school activities) will not be 
counted in determining whether the employee is meeting job requirements for 
attendance. 

Section 4.7. Secondary Employment  
4.7.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency expects its employees to devote full attention to their Agency 
responsibilities during regularly scheduled work hours.  The Agency will not 
tolerate any secondary employment, which interferes in any way with the 
performance of duties for the Agency including, but not limited to, the following: 

1. Actual conflict in hours of employment; 
2. Being tired or unfit for duty because of outside employment;  
3. Where the secondary employment creates an actual or apparent 

conflict of interest in regard to Agency employment. 
4.7.2 Notification and Approval 
Employees must notify the Agency of all secondary employment.  Any employee 
who engages in after or before hours work at a secondary job must accomplish the 
following: 

1. Receive the written permission of the Executive Director prior to 
accepting secondary employment.  In the case of the Executive 
Director, he/she must receive authorization from the Board of 
Directors; 

2. When requested by the Executive Director, obtain from the 
secondary employer a waiver of liability for the Agency; 

3. It is incumbent on the employee to make it clear to the secondary 
employer that he, the employee, is not performing any duties as a 
representative of NVTA; 

4. Once approval is granted by the Executive Director, immediately 
notify the ED if the secondary employment poses an actual or 
potential conflict with regards to the employee’s Agency 
employment. 

Section 4.8. Causes for Discipline 
4.8.1 Statement of Policy 
The purpose of this policy is to establish standards of conduct and work 
performance for employees that are consistent with the efficient and effective 
delivery of public services.  When conduct or job performance does not meet these 
standards, the Agency will endeavor to provide employees with a reasonable 
opportunity to correct the deficiency in the Agency’s sole judgment.   

96



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[36] 

4.8.2 Standards of Conduct 
The standards set forth below are intended to provide employees with notice of 
what is expected of them and provide examples that may lead to disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge.  This list is not meant to be exhaustive or all 
inclusive, but rather it is a set of examples of unacceptable behavior for which 
disciplinary action could result 

1. Poor performance; unsatisfactory work quality or quantity; 
2. Neglect of duty, including sleeping on the job; 
3. Insubordination;   
4. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness; 
5. Unexcused absences, failing to properly report absences, or leaving 

work early without permission; 
6. Failure to keep supervisor aware of employee’s whereabouts during 

duty time when availability may be required;  
7. Misuse of or damage to Agency tools, vehicles, equipment or other 

property;  
8. Moving violations or accidents in an Agency vehicle;  
9. Violation of safety rules or practices;  
10. Falsifying, altering or making a material omission on employment, 

medical, financial, payroll, timekeeping, or other Agency records;  
11. Performing non-Agency work during work hours;  
12. Dishonesty; 
13. Special treatment or favoritism of one customer over another; 
14. Use, possession, sale or being under the influence of alcoholic 

beverages or illegal drugs during work hours or on Agency premises 
(including vehicles) or other violation of the drug and alcohol policy; 

15. Violation of the anti-harassment or discrimination policies; 
16. Fighting, engaging in violent or threatening behavior or other conduct 

in violation of the Agency’s workplace violence policy; 
17. Discourteous treatment of the public or other employees, as defined 

by the Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule (Section 4.3); 
18. Conviction of a crime that reflects unfitness for the employee’s 

position or unfitness to work around the Agency’s employees, 
property or the public;  

19. Other failure of good behavior during or outside of duty hours which 
is of such a nature that it causes discredit to the Agency and his or 
her employment; and  

97



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[37] 

20. Other violation of Agency policies or rules. 
Section 4.9. Discipline 

4.9.1 Statement of Policy 
The purpose of this policy is to establish procedures for the discipline of 
employees; except Section 4.8 shall not apply to At Will or temporary employees.  
When the job performance or the conduct of a probationary or permanent 
employee falls below standards set by the Agency, including the Standards of 
Conduct set forth in Section 4.7, then depending on the severity of the misconduct 
or performance problem, the Agency may take disciplinary action, up to and 
including discharge. 
4.9.2 Progressive Discipline 
The Agency will endeavor to afford the employee with an opportunity to improve 
when dealing with performance or conduct problems.  Different types of discipline 
may be utilized as determined appropriate in the sole discretion of the Agency and 
discipline need not adhere to a sequential order of progressive discipline.  Types 
of discipline may include: verbal or written warnings, written reprimands, 
suspension without pay, demotion and discharge. 

A. Suspension without Pay 
For more severe violations or continued, uncorrected performance or misconduct 
problems, an employee may be suspended without pay.  Where suspension 
without pay is recommended for a permanent employee, the employee will have 
the right to a Skelly meeting and a post-disciplinary appeal. 

B. Demotion 
The Agency may impose a demotion to a position having a lower salary range for 
disciplinary purposes.  A disciplinary demotion may be utilized for continued, 
uncorrected performance deficiencies.  Where demotion is recommended for a 
permanent employee, the employee will have the right to a Skelly meeting and a 
post-disciplinary appeal. 

C. Discharge 
Discharge will be considered for severe violations, failure to respond appropriately 
to prior performance improvement plans, and/or multiple disciplinary infractions in 
a short period of time.  Where misconduct is   severe and egregious, immediate 
discharge may be imposed.    Where discharge has been recommended for a 
permanent employee, the employee will have the right to a Skelly meeting and a 
post-disciplinary appeal.  The discharge will be documented in the personnel file. 
4.9.3 Administrative Leave 
In cases involving alleged severe employee misconduct, or where the presence of 
the employee may interfere with the investigation into the employee’s alleged 
misconduct, or where the interests of public or workplace health and safety or the 
Agency’s business operations may be jeopardized by the employee’s presence, 
the Executive Director may place the employee on paid administrative leave 

98



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[38] 

pending an investigation into the circumstances.  During such administrative leave, 
the employee will be required to be available by telephone to the Agency during 
regular business hours and to promptly respond to requests for information by the 
Agency.  The employee should not enter Agency premises during administrative 
leave without permission by the Executive Director. 
4.9.4 Procedures for Disciplinary Action of a Permanent Employee 
Where discipline of a permanent employee involves disciplinary actions that result 
in loss of salary or change in employment status (such as suspension without pay 
or demotion or discharge), the following provisions shall apply: 

A. Notice of Proposed Discipline 
The employee’s supervisor shall inform the employee in writing of the proposed 
disciplinary action, which shall not be effective until at least five days from the date 
the notice of proposed action is served on the employee.  This notice shall include 
a copy of the charges and the reasons for the proposed disciplinary action.  This 
notice shall also include a copy of all relevant documents upon which the proposed 
disciplinary action is based. The notice shall advise the employee of his/her right 
to respond to the proposed action either in writing or to hold a meeting to respond 
(Skelly meeting).  Notice may be served on the employee by either U.S. mail or 
personal delivery.  Notice by U.S. mail shall be deemed served five days after 
deposit with the U.S. postal service.    

B. Skelly Meeting 
The employee may request a meeting to respond to the proposed disciplinary 
action.  The meeting shall be held with the appropriate manager.  Following the 
meeting or employee’s written response, the ED or manager shall determine 
whether to proceed, modify, or set aside the proposed disciplinary action. 

C. Notice of Discipline 
The employee shall be informed in writing of the final disciplinary action.  A copy 
of the Notice of Discipline shall be placed in the employee’s personnel file.  This 
notice shall include a copy of the charges, the reasons for disciplinary action, and 
provide the effective date of the action.  This notice shall also include a copy of all 
relevant documents upon which the disciplinary action is based.  The notice shall 
advise the employee of his/her right to appeal the disciplinary action.  Notice may 
be served on the employee by either U.S. mail or personal delivery.  Notice by U.S. 
mail shall be deemed served five days after the date of deposit with the U.S. postal 
service.   

D. Right to Appeal 
Within five days of service of the Notice of Disciplinary Action, a permanent 
employee may request to appeal the disciplinary action in writing to the ED.  An 
employee may only appeal a disciplinary action that results in loss of salary or 
change in employment status.  The ED, or ED’s designee, shall serve as the 
hearing officer for the disciplinary appeal.  The hearing officer shall make findings 
based upon the written statement of the charges and upon information presented 

99



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[39] 

at the hearing, both oral and in writing.  The hearing officer shall determine whether 
there is just cause for the discipline and whether the discipline is appropriate.  The 
hearing officer may approve, modify, or withdraw the disciplinary action.  The 
hearing officer shall notify the manager of his/her determination in writing.  The 
hearing officer’s decision is final and binding. 

 

100



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[40] 

CHAPTER 5 HEALTH AND SAFETY ON THE JOB 
 
Section 5.1. Job Safety 

5.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The Board of Directors desires to maintain a safe place of employment for Agency 
employees, and to that end Agency management will make all reasonable 
provisions necessary for the safety of employees in the performance of their work. 
5.1.2 Employee Responsibility 
It is the obligation of employees to become familiar with the provisions of the 
Agency Safety Manual and the Illness and Injury Prevention Program and to work 
accordingly.  Further, employees are required to report to their supervisor all 
unsafe conditions encountered during the course of their work.   
5.1.3 Injury Reporting 

Prompt Reporting 
All employees of the Agency are covered by Workers Compensation Insurance 
and any injury or disability arising out of and in the course and scope of 
employment, however slight, shall be reported by the injured employee to the 
Executive Director and Human Resources as promptly as possible following its 
occurrence. 

Section 5.2. Workplace Violence Prevention 
5.2.1 Statement of Policy 
The Napa Valley Transportation Authority is committed to the safety and security 
of its employees, customers, and visitors to its workplace.  The Agency has a policy 
of zero tolerance for violence in the workplace.  To prevent workplace violence, 
the Agency will address behavior that suggests a propensity for violence even prior 
to any violent behavior occurring. 
5.2.2 Employee Responsibilities 
The Agency expects its employees to employ civility and mutual respect for all 
persons encountered in the course of Agency business including co-workers, 
customers, and visitors.  Any employees who engage in violent or threatening 
behavior in the workplace will be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge.   
5.2.3 Conduct Prohibited By This Policy 
“Violence,” “violent behavior” and “threatening behavior” includes, but is not limited 
to the following conduct: 

• Fighting, shoving, pushing, choking, inflicting physical harm on 
another person, or other battery or assault.      

• Intimidating, menacing, harassing or stalking another person. 

101



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[41] 

• Making verbal threats to physically harm another person or persons, 
whether joking or not. 

• Possession of any weapon or firearm on Agency premises, during 
work hours, or while conducting Agency business. 

• Intentionally damaging the property of another.  

• Other behavior that suggests a propensity towards violence including 
belligerent speech, yelling, excessive arguing or swearing, offensive 
or threatening gestures, or a demonstrated pattern of refusal to follow 
policies and procedures. 

The Agency will not tolerate these behaviors by its own employees or by third 
persons when such behavior is directed at Agency employees in the course of their 
work.  
5.2.4 Reporting Procedure 
Everyone has the responsibility to prevent violence in the workplace.  Employees 
are encouraged to report any incident that may be a violation of this policy to an 
Agency manager or supervisor as follows:   

A. Emergencies 
Where an injury has occurred or it appears to an employee that there is an 
immediate danger of injury, the employee should call 911 immediately for help.  
Personal safety is the first priority.  The employee should inform his or her 
supervisor, Human Resources or the Executive Director as soon as possible.   

B. Non-Emergencies 
In all other cases where an employee is aware of any conduct that violates this 
policy, the employee should immediately report it to his or her supervisor, Human 
Resources or the Executive Director. 
5.2.5 Corrective Actions 
All reports of workplace violence will be taken seriously and dealt with promptly.  
Any person who engages in violent or threatening behavior shall be subject to 
removal from the premises as quickly as safety permits, pending the outcome of 
an investigation.  Employees who violate this policy will be subject to firm 
disciplinary action, up to and including discharge.  In appropriate cases, the 
Agency may also seek temporary protective or restraining orders to keep offending 
individuals away from Agency facilities or employees. 
The Agency will not tolerate retaliation or intimidation against any employee who 
makes a report of workplace violence or participates in an investigation of such a 
complaint.  

102



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[42] 

Section 5.3. Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace 
5.3.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency has a vital interest and obligation in maintaining safe, healthful and 
efficient working conditions for its employees and in supplying products and 
services safely to customers.  Employee possession of and/or being under the 
influence of drugs or alcohol on the job are inconsistent with these interests and 
obligations.  This policy and procedure establishes the rules, rights and obligations 
of all employees and Agency contractors regarding the use, possession, sale, or 
transport of alcohol and drugs on Agency property or while conducting Agency 
business.   
5.3.2 Definitions 

A. Legal Drug 
A legal drug includes prescribed drugs and over the counter drugs, which have 
been, under US law, legally obtained and are being used for the purpose for which 
they have been prescribed or manufactured. 

B. Illegal Drug 
An illegal drug includes any drugs and drug synthetics which have not been legally 
prescribed or obtained, such as: stimulants, depressants, hallucinogens, narcotics, 
volatile substances, and any substance by which its nature alters normal physical 
or mental functions. 

C. Under the Influence 
For purposes of this policy and procedure, “under the influence” means that the 
employee is affected by a drug or alcohol or combination of both in any detectable 
manner.  The symptoms of influence are not confined to those consistent with 
misbehavior, or to obvious impairment of physical or mental ability such as slurred 
speech or difficulty in maintaining balance.  A determination of influence can be 
established by a professional medical opinion, a scientifically valid test, and in 
some cases such as alcohol, by management opinion. 

D. Agency Property 
Agency Property includes lands owned, leased or upon which the Agency has a 
right-of-way, buildings, facilities, vehicles, equipment, parking lots, and company 
owned property used by employees such as lockers, desks, cabinets, etc. 

E. Reasonable Suspicion 
Reasonable suspicion is a belief based on objective and documented facts or 
evidence sufficient to lead a reasonable, prudent person to suspect that an 
employee is under the influence of alcohol or drugs so that the employee’s ability 
to perform the duties of the job is impaired, or so that the employee’s ability to 
perform his/her job safely is reduced. 

103



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[43] 

5.3.3 Pre-Employment Drug and Alcohol Screening 
The Agency may maintain a pre-employment drug and alcohol screening practice 
designed to prevent the hiring of persons who use illegal drugs, or who use legal 
drugs or alcohol to the extent that safe job performance would be impaired on 
safety sensitive positions. 

A. Notification to Prospective Employees 
Prospective employees will be notified of the Agency’s drug and alcohol policy and 
pre-employment alcohol and drug screening test prior to an offer of employment 
and, usually, at the time they are interviewed for a position.   

B. Time of Test 
Finalists for Agency employment will receive a conditional offer of employment that 
may be contingent upon passing an alcohol and drug screening test and any 
physical examination requirement for the position being sought.  The drug and 
alcohol screening test will be administered by a medical laboratory qualified to 
administer such test. 

C. Consent to Test 
Upon receipt of a conditional offer, the prospective employee must consent to the 
drug and alcohol screening test and must sign an Authorization for Release of 
Physical Examination Results, permitting the test results to be released to the 
Agency.   

D. Disqualification from Employment 
A candidate for Agency employment shall be disqualified from further 
consideration for employment upon any of the following occurrences: 

1. Refusal to consent to a drug and alcohol screening test or refusal to 
authorize the release of the results to the Agency.   

2. A positive test for illegal drugs or alcohol.   
3. A positive test for legal drugs which, after medical consultation, the 

Agency determines will impair the candidate’s ability to safely 
perform the job in question or will jeopardize the well-being of others.   

5.3.4 Prohibition on Possession, Use, Sale or Transport of Alcohol or Drugs 
A. Illegal Drugs and Alcohol 

Having possession of, manufacturing, distributing, using, being under the influence 
of, selling, or transporting illegal drugs or alcohol by any employee while on the 
job, on Agency property, or while conducting Agency business is prohibited.  
Reporting to work under the influence of illegal drugs or alcohol is also prohibited. 

B. Notification of Criminal Drug Conviction 
Any employee who is convicted of or pleads guilty or no contest to a drug-related 
crime occurring in the workplace must immediately report such conviction or plea 
to the Executive Director. 

104



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[44] 

C. Legal Drugs 
The use of or being under the influence of any legally obtained drug by any 
employee while on the job, on Agency property, or while conducting Agency 
business is prohibited to the extent that such use or influence may affect the safety 
of the employee, co-workers, the public, the employee’s job performance, or the 
safe and efficient operation of the Agency.  An employee may continue to work 
even though under the influence of a legal drug if the employee’s supervisor has 
determined, after consulting with the Executive Director and the employee’s doctor 
that the employee can work safely.  Otherwise, the employee may be required to 
take a leave of absence or comply with other appropriate action determined by 
management. 

D. Notification 
An employee must notify his/her supervisor before commencing work when taking 
any medication or drug, prescription or nonprescription, which may interfere with 
safe and effective performance of duties and/or the operation of Agency 
equipment. 
5.3.5 Reasonable Suspicion Testing 
When a supervisor/manager has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is under 
the influence of drugs or alcohol, the employee may be directed to take a drug and 
alcohol test.  The facts and circumstances of the supervisor’s/managers 
reasonable suspicion shall be documented in writing and provided to the 
employee.  The Executive Director must approve the employee’s referral for a drug 
and alcohol test. 

A. Conduct of Test 
All drug or alcohol tests shall be conducted by a reputable laboratory of the 
Agency’s choice.    

B. Valid Prescriptions 
An employee shall have the right to provide, within 24 hours of the drug or alcohol 
test, a valid prescription for any medication or drug which may be identified during 
the test.  The prescription must be in the employee’s name and be prescribed by 
a licensed physician prior to the drug or alcohol test. 

C. Refusal to Take Test 
An employee who refuses to submit to a drug and alcohol test that has been 
approved by the Executive Director, shall be relieved from duty without pay, and if 
intoxicated or physically or mentally impaired, be taken to his/her place of 
residence.  Refusal to take a test under this policy will subject the employee 
disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. 
5.3.6 Search or Inspection of Agency Property for Illegal Drugs or Alcohol 
Employees have no expectation of privacy in Agency-owned equipment, including 
desks and cabinets.  The Executive Director may search or authorize the search 
of desks and cabinets. The Executive Director may authorize the search or 

105



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[45] 

inspection of Agency-owned lockers for illegal drugs or alcohol whenever there is 
reasonable suspicion.    
5.3.7 Disciplinary Action 
Violations of the provisions of this policy and procedure will result in disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge. 
5.3.8 Drug and Alcohol Assistance Programs 

A. Voluntary Assistance 
The Agency encourages employees to voluntarily seek outside assistance for drug 
or alcohol abuse problems prior to the need for Agency action. Employees are 
invited to use the Employee Assistance Program (EAP) contracted by the Agency.  
Administration also maintains a list of approved drug and alcohol abuse agencies 
and facilities, and a request may be made to the Executive Director for assistance.  
Such requests will be held in strict confidence to protect the rights, privileges, 
benefits, and family of the employee.  An employee’s decision to seek assistance 
from an outside rehabilitation agency or facility will not be used as the basis for 
disciplinary action. 

B. Seeking Assistance After Alcohol or Drug Related Misconduct 
It is the responsibility of an employee to seek assistance before drug and alcohol 
problems lead to disciplinary action.  Once a violation of this policy occurs, 
subsequently entering into a rehabilitation program will not necessarily lessen 
disciplinary action and may, in fact, have no bearing on the determination of 
appropriate disciplinary action. 

Section 5.4. Fitness for Duty 
5.4.1 Statement of Policy 
In furtherance of the Agency’s goal to maintain a safe, healthful and productive 
environment, all employees reporting for work and during times when they are paid 
subject to call shall be fit for duty.  “Fit for duty” means the ability to perform all 
required physical and mental tasks associated with the employee’s job duties to a 
satisfactory level and without endangering self, others, or property. 
5.4.2 Employee Responsibility 
No employee shall report to work while unfit or remain on the job after becoming 
unfit (for any reason) to perform his/her job duties.  Failure of an employee to 
comply with this requirement may result in disciplinary action, up to and including 
discharge. 
5.4.3 Pre-Employment Medical Examinations 
The Executive Director may identify job classifications within the Agency that will 
require a pre-employment medical examination.  Finalists for these positions will 
receive a conditional offer of employment that is contingent upon the candidate 
successfully passing a pre-employment medical examination and drug and alcohol 
test.  The purpose of the pre-employment medical examination is to determine if 

106



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[46] 

the candidate is fit to perform the duties of the job for which he or she is being 
considered.   

A. Notice 
All employment applicants for these positions will be informed of the medical and 
drug/alcohol testing requirements prior to receiving the conditional job offer.  
Usually, notice will be given in the job announcement and during the interview 
process. 

B. Consent 
Finalists who receive a conditional offer of employment will be asked to sign a 
consent form confirming their voluntary participation in these tests as a prerequisite 
to consideration for employment.  A candidate who refuses to submit to any or all 
of these tests will not be considered for employment for the position for which 
he/she has applied. 

C. Examination 
All examinations will be performed by or at the direction of a physician designated 
by the Agency. The attending physician will determine if the candidate for 
employment is capable of performing all duties of the job as required by the job 
description and physical requirements checklist. 

D. Examination Results 
A candidate who is deemed unfit or unable to perform the duties of the job as a 
result of the medical examination will be informed of the results of the examination. 
The candidate may provide medical evidence that he/she is physically fit and able 
to perform the duties of the job, which will be considered before a final 
determination is made. 
5.4.4 Post-Employment Fitness for Duty Examinations 
If a supervisor/manager has a reasonable cause to believe that an employee is 
physically or mentally unfit to perform the duties of his/her job, the 
supervisor/manager may recommend that the employee to submit to a fitness-for-
duty examination.  The Executive Director shall have the authority to approve the 
recommendation. 

A. Reasonable Cause 
Reasonable cause means that the supervisor/manager believes that the 
employee’s ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or that the 
employee’s ability to perform his or her job duties safely is reduced, and that the 
supervisor’s belief is based upon observations or evidence that has been 
documented. 

B. Examination 
Any such examination will be performed by or at the direction of a physician 
designated by the Agency.  The attending physician will determine if the employee 

107



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[47] 

is capable of performing all duties of the job as required by the job description and 
physical requirements checklist. 

C. Examination Results 
If the examining physician determines that the employee is fit for duty, the 
employee shall be released to return to work.  If the examining physician 
determines that the employee is not fit for duty, the physician shall notify both the 
employee and the Executive Director.  The employee will not be permitted to return 
to work until he/she is released by the physician.  One or more subsequent fitness-
for-duty examinations may be required in order to determine that the employee is 
fit to return to work. 
5.4.5 Confidentiality of Examination Records 
All documentation of pre-employment and fitness for duty medical examinations 
will be maintained in confidential and secure medical files, separate from applicant 
hiring files and separate from employee personnel files.   

Section 5.5. Driving 
5.5.1 Statement of Policy 
Observation of the law and safe driving practices shall be the top priority of all 
employees assigned to drive an Agency vehicle or who operate a personal vehicle 
in the performance of Agency business.   
5.5.2 Driver’s License Requirements 
All employees who operate an Agency vehicle, or who operate a personal vehicle 
in the performance of Agency business, must possess and carry a valid, current 
California Driver’s License of the proper class (and endorsements) for the vehicle 
operated.   

A. Employee Responsibilities 
1. Employees are responsible for maintaining a valid, current California 

driver’s license of the proper class and endorsements before 
operating an Agency vehicle or driving a personal vehicle on Agency 
business.  Any employee who operates an Agency vehicle or a 
personal vehicle in the performance of Agency business without a 
valid, current California Driver’s License will be subject to disciplinary 
action up to and including discharge. 

2. Employees who drive Agency vehicles or drive a personal vehicle on 
Agency business must notify their supervisor immediately in writing 
when their driver’s license has expired or been suspended or 
revoked.   

B.  Agency Responsibilities 
1. Managers shall notify the Executive Director when they have 

notification that an employee’s driver’s license has expired or been 
suspended or revoked. 

108



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[48] 

2. The Executive Director shall not allow an employee with an expired, 
suspended or revoked driver’s license to operate an Agency vehicle 
or a personal vehicle on Agency business. 

3. It is the responsibility of Human Resources Manager to see that all 
employees are properly licensed for any vehicles they are to drive on 
Agency business. 

C. Effect of Failure to Maintain Valid, Current Driver’s License 
Where the employee’s applicable written job description requires 
driving an Agency vehicle or a personal vehicle on Agency business, 
and an employee fails to maintain a valid, current California Driver’s 
License, the employee will be disqualified from such employment 
and terminated. 

D. Reasonable Accommodation of Disabled Employees and 
Applicants 
Where driving is a requirement for a particular position, an applicant 
or employee who does not possess a valid, current California Driver’s 
License because of a disability may be eligible for reasonable 
accommodation.  For example, if driving is a non-essential function 
of a particular position, the driving function may be reassigned as a 
reasonable accommodation for the disabled worker or applicant.  If 
driving is an essential function of the employee’s position, other 
accommodation such as reassignment to a different position may be 
feasible.  Each situation will be addressed on a case by case basis.  
Requests for reasonable accommodation should be addressed to 
the Executive Director. 

E. DMV Automatic Pull Notice 
For employees who drive an Agency vehicle or who drive a personal 
vehicle on Agency business, the Agency may obtain periodic reports 
from the Department of Motor Vehicles that reflect actions and 
activities on an employee’s driver’s license record.  These reports 
will be forwarded to the employee and his or her manager for review 
and “initialing off” that it is true and accurate by both the manager 
and the employee.  Afterwards, the Pull Notice is placed in the 
employee’s personnel file. 

5.5.3 Good Driving Record 
Every employee authorized to drive an Agency vehicle or drive a personal vehicle 
while on Agency business must maintain an overall driving record that does not 
have an adverse influence on the Agency’s insurance rates or otherwise create an 
unacceptable liability risk to the Agency.  The Agency may at the time of 
employment, or from time to time thereafter, obtain a copy of an employee’s driving 
record to assess the employee’s suitability to drive.    

109



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[49] 

5.5.4 Compliance with Traffic Laws 
Employees driving Agency vehicles or driving personal vehicles while on Agency 
business must be familiar with and obey the State Vehicle Code.  Such drivers 
must also obey local traffic rules, traffic control signs, posted speed limits and 
parking restrictions.  Failure to do so will subject the employee to disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge.   
5.5.5 Use of Seatbelts 
Seatbelts shall be worn by all occupants of Agency vehicles and by employees 
operating personal vehicles while on Agency business.  The use of seatbelts is the 
law. 

Section 5.6. Smoking 
In keeping with the Agency’s intent to provide a safe and healthful work 
environment and in compliance with state and local law, smoking in enclosed 
Agency facilities or vehicles is strictly prohibited.  Smoking is allowed only on 
authorized breaks and lunch breaks, and only outside of work facilities so as not 
to disrupt Agency operations. 
 

110



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[50] 

CHAPTER 6 EQUIPMENT AND PROPERTY 
 
Section 6.1. Use and Care of Agency Property 

6.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency provides its employees with the use of tools, equipment, property and 
facilities that are necessary for the performance of their work.  Employees are 
expected to exercise care in the use of Agency property and to use such property 
only for authorized Agency business.  Misuse or negligence in the care of Agency 
property may result in disciplinary action.  Agency property issued to an employee 
must be returned at the time an employee terminates employment or when the 
employee’s supervisor requests its return.   
6.1.2 Damage or Loss of Agency Equipment 
Employees must promptly report to their supervisor all damage to or loss of Agency 
equipment.  Lost or broken tools, equipment and other gear will be replaced by the 
Agency, but excessive loss or breakage will result in the employee being subject 
to disciplinary action. 
6.1.3 Key/Access Card Distribution 
Keys/Access Cards to Agency locks are issued only to employees and other 
authorized individuals.  Each key/Access Card is numbered and issued by the 
Agency office to a specific individual.  Exchanging keys/Access Card, giving 
keys/Access Cards out, or copying keys/Access Cards is expressly prohibited and 
may lead to disciplinary action. 
6.1.4 Personal Use of Agency Property 
Agency tools, vehicles, equipment and facilities are provided for use on Agency 
business only.  Personal use of Agency property is prohibited.  Employees are 
prohibited from displaying personal property for sale on Agency premises or 
property.   
6.1.5 Personal Tools or Property 
The Agency will provide all tools and equipment reasonably required to perform 
the assigned work.  The use of an employee’s personal tools, vehicle or other 
equipment is not required and will be permitted only in unusual circumstances.   
To deter theft or damage to personal property, employees are discouraged from 
bringing any personal property into the workplace and should not leave any 
personal belongings of value in the workplace.  The Agency assumes no 
responsibility for loss or damage to the personal property of an employee. 
6.1.6 Agency Access to Property 
The Agency retains full title and control, including the right of inspection, over 
equipment, property and facilities provided for employee use.  Employee privacy 
rights do not extend to work-related conduct or the use of Agency facilities, Agency 
owned equipment or property.  All offices, work areas, desks, file cabinets, files, 
computers, data storage devices remain the property of the Agency.  Therefore, 

111



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[51] 

any agent or representative of the Agency can inspect these items or areas at any 
time, with or without prior notice.  
6.1.7 Entry onto Private Property 
All employees shall make a diligent attempt to contact property owners prior to 
entry upon private property when performing maintenance and repair tasks.  Each 
employee is responsible for immediately reporting to the Agency office any 
damage to private property, buildings, trees, crops, fences, pipelines or other 
damage caused as a result of Agency work or operations or the use of Agency 
equipment. 
6.1.8 Purchasing 
All purchasing of materials and services must adhere to the Agency’s standard 
practice. 

Section 6.2. Phones, Computers, and Other Electronic Equipment 
6.2.1 Statement of Policy 
The phone, voicemail and computer systems are Agency property.  Agency 
phones, radios, computers and other electronic equipment (copiers, fax machines, 
PDAs (e.g. Blackberry or other Personal Data Assistant device), etc.) should be 
used for Agency business purposes only.  The Agency reserves the right, in its 
sole discretion, to access these systems, including employee voicemail, e-mail and 
data stored on computers, at any time.  Any personal or personally confidential 
activities should be conducted at home on personal equipment, not at work.  
This Policy is also intended to notify employees that all Agency Information 
Systems and their contents are not confidential or private.  That is, all data, 
including any that is stored electronically or printed as a document, is subject to 
audit, review, disclosure, and discovery.  Such data may be subject to 
disclosure pursuant to the Public Records Act (California Government Code 
Section 6250 et. seq.).  Therefore, there is no expectation of privacy in the 
use of the Agency’s Information Systems.  
The Agency reserves the right to access and monitor employee use of the 
Agency’s Information Systems as well as any stored information created or 
received by employees with the Agency’s Information Systems.  The reservation 
of this right is to ensure that the Agency’s Information Systems are used securely 
and appropriately in an ethical and lawful manner.    
6.2.2 Phone Usage for Personal Reasons 
While it is understood that the use of the Agency’s telephones for personal reasons 
is occasionally necessary, this privilege must not be abused.  Such conversations 
should be limited to exigent situations and must be kept brief.  Personal toll calls 
are not to be charged to the Agency.   
6.2.3 Internet Usage 
Access to the Internet is provided for the benefit of the Agency and its employees 
in the performance of their work.  It allows employees to connect to information 

112



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[52] 

resources around the world.  Employees are responsible for seeing that the 
Internet is used in a productive, work-related manner. 
The Internet shall not be used for personal gain, solicitation of non-Agency 
business, or advancement of individual views.  Employees may not use Agency-
provided Internet service to access sexually explicit or other material that would 
run afoul of the Agency’s anti-harassment policy, nor to access gambling or 
gaming sites, or similarly inappropriate information. 
Personal usage of the Internet must be kept to a minimum and during employee 
break or lunch time. 
6.2.4 Decorum of Communications 
Employees must conduct themselves professionally and in a businesslike manner 
when using Agency telephones, radios, voicemail, or e-mail systems.  Employees 
are prohibited from using Agency telephones, radios, voicemail or e-mail systems 
in any way that is disruptive or offensive to others including, but not limited to, 
transmitting information derogatory of other employees, sexually explicit 
information, racial or ethnic slurs, or anything else that may be construed as 
harassment or disparaging of others.  No messages shall be transmitted under an 
assumed name.  Users may not attempt to obscure the origin of any message. 
6.2.5 Installation or Duplication of Software 
Employees may not add or install personal software programs on Agency 
computers.  Further, the Agency prohibits illegal duplication of software and its 
related documentation.  Employees may only use software contained on Agency 
computers according to the Agency’s software licensing agreement.  
6.2.6 Discipline 
Violations of any aspect of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including discharge.   

Section 6.3. Agency Vehicles 
6.3.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency may provide employees with use of Agency-owned vehicles for 
performance of their duties.  Observation of safe driving practices shall be the top 
priority of all persons assigned an Agency vehicle, as well as proper care of Agency 
equipment. 
6.3.2 Operator Qualifications 
Every driver of an Agency vehicle must have a valid and current California driver's 
license for the type of Agency vehicle driven and must be authorized by the 
applicable Agency management employee to drive an Agency vehicle.  
Every authorized Agency driver must maintain an overall driving record that does not 
have an adverse influence on the Agency's insurance rates or otherwise create an 
unacceptable liability risk to the Agency.  Conviction for driving under the influence, 
careless or reckless driving, or any similar moving offense of parallel gravity, whether 

113



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[53] 

or not in an Agency vehicle and whether or not on duty, may be the basis of 
termination of status as authorized driver. 
6.3.3 Compliance with Law 
All drivers must comply with all applicable motor vehicle laws when driving an Agency 
vehicle.  Failure to do so will subject the employee to disciplinary action, up to and 
including discharge. 
6.3.4 Vehicle Categories 
For purposes of this policy, each Agency vehicle shall be placed in one of the 
following categories: 
6.3.5 Limitations on Use of Vehicles 
The following rules shall apply to the use of all Agency vehicles: 

A. Agency vehicles shall only be used for official Agency business. When 
an employee uses an Agency vehicle in any other manner, that 
employee shall be deemed to be not on official Agency business. 

B. Agency vehicles shall only be driven by employees or officers of the 
Agency.  With the approval of the Executive Director, Agency vehicles 
may be used by non-employees, such as consultants or independent 
contractors, when it is determined to be in the best interest of the 
Agency. 

C. Agency vehicles shall not be used to transport large personal items, 
such as sports equipment or animals, or for private towing or hauling 
of personal belongings or property of others. 

D. Seat belts shall be worn by all occupants while riding in or operating 
Agency vehicles.  The use of seat belts is the law.  

E. The use of cellular phones and electronic devices are prohibited while 
driving Agency owned vehicle(s). 

F. No Agency vehicle shall be used to push-start another vehicle. 
G. Pets, waterfowl, poultry, fish, reptiles, etc. are not permitted in Agency 

vehicles, nor are firearms of any type. 
H. All Agency personnel are required to keep their assigned Agency 

vehicles in a clean and safe operating condition at all times.  No 
modifications, changes, additions, addition of any accessory, custom 
part or the removal of any factory or Agency item on any Agency 
vehicle shall be permitted without the express approval of the 
Executive Director.  

I. Each driver of an Agency vehicle will be responsible for calling any 
needed repairs or adjustments on his or her vehicle to the attention of 
the Executive Director.  Each driver will be responsible for verifying that 
his or her vehicle has proper and functioning brakes, lights, windshield 
wipers, etc. 

114



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[54] 

J. All Agency personnel are required to report damage and defective 
Agency equipment as soon as possible after detection to ensure that 
damaged items or potentially damaged items are repaired and that 
service schedules are not exceeded. 

K. Each employee will be responsible for immediately reporting to their 
supervisor/Department Head or to the Executive Director any accident 
in which he or she is involved as a driver of an Agency vehicle.  The 
employee will further prepare a detailed report of the accident, which 
report is to be submitted directly to the Executive Director or designee. 
This includes any accidents will on company duty in a private vehicle. 

L. Excessive acceleration and other showings of vehicular power 
occurring on Agency premises or on private or public property when in 
an Agency vehicle and the same occurring on Agency premises, 
whether in a personal vehicle or in an Agency vehicle, is not permitted. 

M. All Agency personnel shall "lock" and "secure" Agency vehicles when 
left unattended. 

N. Agency personnel involved in auto accidents should not volunteer 
information or admit liability, but merely respond as necessary to 
uniformed officers. They should request that their Supervisor, or the 
Human Resources Manager to notify police or call for medical 
assistance at the scene when necessary. 

O. Authorized Passengers: 
1. Adults on Agency business are permitted to ride in Agency 

vehicles, but only to the extent that seat belts are available. 
2. Any individual who is not participating in agency business, 

including family members, friends and all children are not 
permitted in Agency Pool Vehicles. 

3. All Agency personnel are prohibited from picking up hitchhikers 
in Agency Vehicles or while on Agency business. 

P. When driving an Agency vehicle, stopping and entering any bar or 
liquor store is prohibited. Transporting alcoholic beverages at any time 
in an Agency vehicle is prohibited. 

Section 6.4. Employee Purchase Program 
6.4.1 Mobile Device 

A. Purpose & Reimbursement 
NVTA will reimburse managers and exempt employees for up to $1,000 plus tax 
for the purchase of a mobile device or tablet to encourage the proficiency of its 
management and exempt employees and for interfacing with Granicus or like 
software to access and maintain Board and advisory committee packets.   If the 
employee chooses a device under $1,000, NVTA will only reimburse employee up 

115



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[55] 

to the purchase amount.  If over the device exceeds a $1,000 cost, employees are 
responsible for the difference. 
NVTA will not reimburse employees for costs of data plans, additional software, 
extra equipment, extra warranties or other peripheral equipment.  Purchases other 
than the mobile device are the responsibility of the employee.  It is up to the 
employee to pay for repairs should the device be damaged or replaced should the 
device be stolen or lost within a three year period. 
Mobile devices are eligible to be replaced on a three-year cycle from the date of 
purchase.  This is done to ensure that systems used for daily business are up-to-
date and under warranty.  

B. Device Ownership/Program Limitations 
Mobile devices are the personal property of the employees.  Employees can 
choose any device that accommodates the interface of Board Packets.  . 
IRS rules may consider the reimbursement as income and subject to income taxes.  
Any additional taxes are the responsibility of the employee. 
Business conducted on private devices is subject to the Public Records Act. To 
separate personal and business items, you should have an NVTA folder so that a 
search of the entire device would not be necessary to isolate personal documents 
from public documents or correspondence. 
  

116



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[56] 

CHAPTER 7 TIME OFF AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 
Section 7.1. Holidays 

7.1.1 Eligible Employees 
Full-time Agency employees are eligible for paid holidays as described herein,  
7.1.2 Recognized Holidays 
Eligible employees are entitled to the following eight (8) holidays off with pay when 
they fall on a work day in the basic workweek: 
January 1 (New Year’s Day) 
The last Monday in May (Memorial Day) 
July 4 (Independence Day) 
The first Monday in September (Labor Day) 
The fourth Thursday in November (Thanksgiving Day) 
The day following Thanksgiving Day 
December 24 (Winter Holiday) 
December 25 (Winter Holiday) 
(1) When a recognized holiday falls on a Saturday, the day immediately 

preceding shall be deemed to be the paid holiday.  When a recognized 
holiday falls on a Sunday, the next day shall be deemed to be the paid 
holiday.  If December 24 falls on a weekend, it will be observed the 
preceding Friday.  If December 25 falls on a weekend, it will be observed 
the following Monday. 

(2) Permanent part-time employees shall receive the same number of holidays 
as regular, full time employees and on a pro-rata basis, proportional to full-
time employment 

Holidays will be paid at eight (8) hour increments. 
7.1.3 Personal Leave 
Eligible employees shall also receive fifty-six (56) hours of personal leave each 
calendar year which may be used for personal reasons.  Personal leave has no 
cash value and must be used during the calendar year in which it is received or it 
is deemed forfeited.  Those hired after the calendar year begins will receive a pro 
rata share of personal leave time based on the number of pay periods remaining 
in the calendar year. 
Permanent part-time employees shall receive personal leave on a pro-rata basis, 
proportional to full-time employment. 

117



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[57] 

7.1.4 Board Ordered Holiday 
The Board of Directors may from time to time declare additional paid holidays or 
half-day holidays at their sole discretion, and the granting of any such holiday shall 
not constitute a precedent for continued granting of such holiday or holidays. 
7.1.5 Holidays Occurring During Unpaid Leave 
Employees will not receive holiday pay for holidays that occur during an unpaid 
leave of absence from the Agency, or when the employee is on unpaid leave either 
the work day before the recognized holiday or the work day after the recognized 
holiday.   
7.1.6 Working on Holidays  
Eligible employees may be scheduled to work on holidays, in which event, an 
FLSA non-exempt employee will be compensated at the overtime rate of pay for 
all time worked on such days, in addition to receiving eight hours of holiday pay.  
Standby shall not be construed as time worked.    
FLSA exempt management employees who are scheduled to work on a holiday 
first must obtain prior written approval from the Executive Director in order to be 
eligible for flex-time or compensatory time-off for hours worked.  Any approved 
flex-time must be taken in full-day increments.  Standby shall not be construed as 
time worked. 

Section 7.2. Vacation 
7.2.1 Purpose 
NVTA provides vacation to eligible employees for the purpose of rest, relaxation 
and reinvigoration.   
7.2.2 Eligibility 
Full-time employees are eligible to receive vacation benefits.  Vacation begins to 
accrue from the date of hire.  A probationary employee may begin to take vacation 
after the first six (6) months of an employee’s probationary period.  
7.2.3 Accrual 

A. Accrual Rates 
Every permanent, full-time employee shall accrue vacation leave, in accordance 
with the permitted maximums as provided in the schedule below.  An employee 
shall not accrue vacation in excess of the permitted maximums.  The Executive 
Director shall give employees a reasonable opportunity to utilize such vacation 
within the year so as not to exceed the maximum accrual vacation leave accruals.   

Years of Continuous 
Agency Service 

Hours of Vacation 
Accrued/ Pay Period 

Maximum Accrual for 
Years of Continuous 
Service 

Date of Hire through Year 3 3.8 hours 240 maximum hours 
Year 4 through 9 4.8 hours 300 maximum hours 

118



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[58] 

Year 10 through 14 6.2 hours 400 maximum hours 
Year 15 through 19 7.2 hours 400 maximum hours 
Year 20 through 29 8 hours 400 maximum hours 
Year 30 or more 9 hours 400 maximum hours 

 
1. An employee’s new vacation accrual rate will be effective on the first 

day of the pay period following the anniversary date of the year 
referenced in the above schedule. 

2. Each employee may, with approval of the Executive Director, take 
vacation privileges as earned and in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 7.2 

3. No person shall be permitted to work for compensation for the 
Agency in any capacity during the time of his/her paid vacation from 
Agency service. 

4. Vacation leave does not accrue during periods of unpaid leave from 
the Agency or when an employee is on short or long-term disability, 
unless an employee is on worker’s compensation leave, in which 
case, vacation continues to accrue. 

5. Each employee has right to receive compensation at the Employee’s 
current hourly rate for up to eighty (80) hours per year of unused 
vacation so long as forty (40) hours of vacation were actually used 
during the calendar year. 

Permanent part-time employees shall accrue vacation leave on a pro-rata basis, 
proportional to full-time employment. 
Non-Management Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) exempt employees will 
receive an additional 40 hours of non-accrual leave each calendar year. 

B. Management Employees 
Management Employees of the Agency shall receive the following: 

1. Eighty (80) hours of management leave credited at the beginning of 
each calendar year.  The right to surrender up to sixty (60) hours of 
management leave each year and be paid for same in cash at their 
current hourly rate; provided, however, that a minimum of forty (40) 
hours of vacation leave must be used during the calendar year in 
which the surrender of management leave occurs before the finance 
department is authorized to process the surrender request. 

2. Accrual of vacation leave at the rate of 4.8 hours per pay period, or 
accrual of vacation leave at the rate determined in accordance with 
Section 7.2.3.A, or accrual of vacation leave at the Employee’s 
current vacation leave accrual rate, whichever is higher.  This 
vacation leave accrual rate will be effective on the date of the 
appointment, reclassification, or promotion. 

119



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[59] 

3. In the case of Management Employees who were not employed by 
the Agency at the time of their appointment, but were previously 
employed by a city, county, special district, state or federal 
government agency, the vacation accrual rate shall be the rate of 
vacation leave approved by the Executive Director; providing, 
however, this rate shall not exceed the rate of vacation leave accrual 
the Employee enjoyed at the Employee’s last place of public 
employment, or the rate of vacation leave accrual the Employee 
would be entitled to had all prior public agency service of the 
Employee been with the Agency, whichever is higher; and further 
provided that in no event shall this rate of accrual exceed the 
maximum rate the Agency provides to Management Employees.  
Work performed for a public agency as a consultant or independent 
contractor rather than as an employee, shall not be taken into 
account by the Executive Director in approving a vacation leave 
accrual rate exceeding the .06 hours per each full hour worked up to 
the maximum of eighty (80) hours per pay period. 

4. The right to accumulate a maximum of 600 hours of vacation leave; 
the Employee may not earn any further vacation time while accrued, 
unused vacation remains at this maximum. 

  

120



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[60] 

7.2.4 Scheduling 
A. Notice 

Vacation shall be scheduled with the employees supervisor and the Executive 
Director, with due regard for the wishes of the employee and with particular regard 
for the needs of the Agency.   
Vacations of four (4) consecutive days or more, must be scheduled a minimum of 
two weeks before the date of departure.  Vacations of three (3) consecutive days 
or less must be scheduled at least two (2) working days before departure.  Under 
special circumstances, the Executive Director may waive these notice 
requirements.  
All vacation requests shall be submitted in writing on the designated Agency form. 

B. Intervening Holidays 
A holiday falling within a vacation shall not be counted as a day of vacation.  

C. Intervening Illness or Injury 
Employees becoming sick or injured while on vacation leave shall be entitled to 
change their vacation status to sick leave with a doctor’s verification that the 
employee would have been unable to work due to the illness or injury.  Employees 
must follow the sick leave procedures described in these Policies and Procedures. 
7.2.5 Termination or Retirement from Agency 
Accrued but unused vacation at the time of an employee’s termination or 
retirement shall be administered as follows: 

A. Termination 
If an employee terminates employment with the Agency, voluntarily or involuntarily, 
and has accrued and unused vacation, he or she shall be paid for each day 
recorded in Agency records. 

B. Retirement 
An employee who retires and has accrued and unused vacation may elect either 
of the following options: 

1. Continue to work until the date of retirement and be paid for accrued 
and unused vacation; or 

2. Discontinue working and take accrued and unused vacation time that 
would extend from last day worked up to the date of retirement. 

If option (2) is selected, deductions from vacation pay will be the same as if the 
employee is actually on the job and health care coverage will continue to be 
provided under various group programs through the exhaustion of vacation time. 

121



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[61] 

Section 7.3. Sick Leave 
7.3.1 Purpose 
The Agency provides paid sick leave in order to prevent a loss of earnings that 
may be caused by illness or injury.  Paid sick leave is not intended to provide 
additional paid time off for reasons unrelated to injury or illness.   
7.3.2 Eligibility 
Employees are eligible for paid sick leave.  Sick leave begins to accrue from the 
first day of employment.  Employees who have worked for six (6) months in 
continuous employment are eligible to use accrued sick leave. 
7.3.3 Accrual 
Each employee shall accrue 3.8 hours of sick leave for each full eighty (80) hour 
pay period.  There is no limit to the amount of sick leave an employee can accrue.  
Sick leave does not accrue during periods of unpaid leave from the Agency or 
when an employee is on short or long-term disability status, unless an employee 
is on worker’s compensation leave, in which case, sick leave continues to accrue. 
No sick leave shall be paid prior to it being accrued. 
Sick leave accrued and unused is forfeited upon termination of employment.  For 
vested employees, accrued and unused sick leave balances can be use to credit 
retirement health benefits per the agency contract with CalPERS. 
Permanent part-time employees shall accrue sick leave on a pro-rata basis, 
proportional to full-time employment. 
7.3.4 Conversion of Vacation to Sick Leave 
Employees becoming sick or injured while on vacation leave shall be entitled to 
change their vacation status to sick leave with a doctor’s verification that the 
employee would have been unable to work due to the illness or injury.  Employees 
must follow the sick leave procedures described in these Policies. 
7.3.6 Employee Notice and Communication 
An employee shall contact his or her supervisor prior to the employee’s starting 
time each day when absent due to illness or injury.  Employees must follow this 
procedure every day of illness or injury, except in the case of a pre-approved leave 
of absence.  
Where an employee is absent for more than three (3) consecutive days, the 
employee will be required to submit a doctor’s statement (1) verifying that an illness 
or injury prevented the employee from working, and (2) certifying that the employee 
is fit and able to return to work.  Employees are required to submit a doctor’s 
statement consistent with (1) and (2) above if an employee has a regularly 
scheduled absence for medical reasons.  Management may also require a doctor’s 
slip verifying the absence for a shorter period of time where a question of abuse of 
sick leave arises. 

122



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[62] 

Employees on an approved leave of absence who do not return on their scheduled 
return date and who have failed, in advance of the return date, to obtain an agreed 
extension of leave from their supervisor or the Executive Director, will be 
considered to have voluntarily abandoned employment and subject to separation 
from Agency employment. 

Section 7.4. Workers’ Compensation Leave 
7.4.1 Purpose 
Agency employees are eligible for benefits under the Worker’s Compensation 
Laws of the State of California for injury or illness arising out of or in the course 
and scope of employment.  Where such injury or illness necessitates an 
employee’s absence from work, an employee shall remain on paid status as 
provided herein. 
7.4.2 Sick or Vacation Leave Supplementation 
When an employee is off work due to an industrial injury, accrued sick leave or 
vacation pay may be paid for the first three (3) days.  Thereafter payments made 
by Worker’s Compensation may be supplemented up to base wage entitlement of 
that employee to the extent that accumulated sick leave is available and, when 
authorized by the employee, vacation days. 
7.4.3 Accrual of Benefits during Leave 
During the time an employee is on “paid status” while absent from work by reason 
of injury or illness covered by Worker’s Compensation, he or she shall continue to 
accrue all benefits.  For the purposes of this section, “paid status” shall include that 
period of time during which the Agency coordinates benefits; i.e., that period of 
time during which sick leave and vacation days are used to supplement employee 
earnings.  
If worker’s compensation leave is converted to long term disability leave, once 
vacation and sick leave balances are depleted, health, dental, vision, and life 
insurance premiums will be paid entirely by the employee.  In addition, while the 
employee is on long term disability status, vacation, holidays, and sick leave 
accruals will no longer accrue. 

Section 7.5. Pregnancy Leave 
7.5.1 Purpose 
In an effort to further equal employment opportunity for women, employees who 
become disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions may be 
entitled to job-protected leave or other reasonable accommodation as provided by 
California’s Pregnancy Leave Law. 
7.5.2 Covered Employees 
An employee is disabled from working due to pregnancy, childbirth or a related 
medical condition in the following circumstances: 

• Inability to work at all because of pregnancy or childbirth 

123



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[63] 

• Inability to perform one or more essential functions of the employee’s 
job without undue risk to the female, the successful completion of the 
pregnancy, or other persons 

• Suffering from severe morning sickness 

• Needing to attend pre-natal care appointments 
7.5.3 Leave Rights 
A covered employee is entitled to up to four months of leave during any period in 
which the employee is actually disabled.  Such leave may be taken in a single 
block of time or on an intermittent basis or reduced leave schedule.  This leave is 
in addition to, and does not run concurrent with, any leave the employee may be 
eligible for under the Family Medical Leave Act and California Family Rights Act. 
At the conclusion of an approved pregnancy disability leave, the employee will be 
restored to her original position or a comparable position in accordance with law.   
7.5.4 Pay and Benefits 
Pregnancy disability leave under this policy is unpaid.  However, a covered 
employee may use accrued sick or vacation leave or other accrued time off to 
cover absences caused by a pregnancy-related disability.   
Leave taken under this policy does not constitute a break in service for the 
employee.  
7.5.5 Employee Notice Obligations 
Whenever the need for leave is foreseeable, a covered employee must give the 
Agency thirty (30) days advance notice of the need for leave.  Covered employees 
should make reasonable efforts to schedule any necessary medical treatment so 
as not to disrupt the operations of the Agency.  The Agency may deny leave where 
such notice is not provided.   
When the need for leave is not foreseeable, covered employees must provide 
notice of the need for leave as soon as practicable.   
7.5.6 Medical Certification 
An employee requesting such leave will be required to provide a medical 
certification from her health care provider verifying the disability, the date it 
commenced, and its probable duration. 
Upon return to work, the employee will be required to provide a return-to-work 
certificate from her health care provider stating that she is able to resume the duties 
of her position.    
7.5.7 Other Forms of Pregnancy-Related Disability Accommodation 
An employee disabled by a pregnancy-related condition may also be eligible for a 
temporary transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position or other form of 
accommodation.  Requests for accommodation should be directed to the 
employee’s Supervisor or the Executive Director. 

124



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[64] 

Section 7.6. Family and Medical Care Leave Act 
7.6.1 Statement of Policy 
This policy describes the circumstances and conditions under which an employee 
may take family care and medical leave as provided under the Federal Family and 
Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") and the California Family Rights Act ("CFRA").  This 
policy is meant to be read together with the FMLA (29 U.S.C. 2601 et seq.) and 
the CFRA (Government Code Section 12945.2) and the regulations adopted to 
implement them, all as they are now written or may hereafter be amended.  This 
policy is separate and distinct from any other leave policies or procedures.  The 
benefits accorded by these separate policies shall not be combined or otherwise 
construed as one policy. 
7.6.2 Definitions 

A. "Family and Medical Care Leave" means leave, whether paid or 
unpaid, taken by an employee on account of: 

1. The birth of a child of the employee. 
2. The adoption or foster care placement of a child by the employee. 
3. The serious health condition of a child, parent or spouse of the 

employee. 
4. The serious health condition of the employee which makes the 

employee unable to perform the duties of the employee's position. 
B. "Child" means a biological, adopted or foster child, a stepchild, a 

legal ward or child of a person in loco parentis who is either under 18 
years of age or a dependent adult.  A dependent adult is a person 
who is over 18 years of age and is incapable of self-care because of 
a mental or physical disability. 

C. "Health Care Provider" means a person holding a physician's 
and/or surgeon's certificate or an osteopathic physician's and/or 
surgeon's certificate who directly treats or supervises the treatment 
of the serious health condition, or any other person determined to be 
capable of providing health care services under the FMLA/CFRA. 

D. "Parent" means a biological, foster or adoptive parent, a stepparent 
or legal guardian, or other person who stood in loco parentis to the 
employee when the employee was a child.  Parent does not include 
a parent-in-law.  

E. "Serious Health Condition" means an illness, injury, impairment or 
physical or mental condition which involves either: 

1.  Inpatient care in a hospital, hospice or residential health care facility; 
or 

2.  Continuing treatment or supervision by a health care provider of 
more than three consecutive days; or 

125



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[65] 

3.  Continuing treatment or supervision by a health care provider for a 
chronic or long-term health condition that is incurable or so serious 
that if not treated would likely result in an incapacity for more than 
three consecutive days. 

F. "Spouse" means a partner in marriage as defined in Family Code 
Section 300. It does not include unmarried persons living together, 
but does include persons who are legally married who do not live 
together. For the purposes of this policy, spouse is further defined as 
a registered domestic partner as specified in California Family Code 
Section 297. 

G.  "Employment in the Same or Equivalent Position" means 
employment in a position that has the same or equivalent duties and 
pay that can be performed at the same or similar geographic location 
as the position held prior to the leave. 

7.6.3 Family and/or Medical Care Leave 
Except as hereafter provided, any employee with at least 12 months of service with 
the Agency, who has at least 1250 hours of service during the previous 12-month 
period, may take up to 12 weeks of family care and medical leave during a 12-
month period with a guarantee made at the time leave is granted that the employee 
will be able to return to the same or equivalent position. 

A. For this purpose, "12 month period" means the 12 months 
immediately preceding the date an employee takes family care and 
medical leave. 

B. Pregnancy disability leave taken by an employee will not be 
considered when counting the amount of leave an employee may 
take pursuant to this policy. 

C. While on leave under this policy, an employee will continue to be 
covered by the Agency’s group health insurance to the same extent 
that coverage is provided while the employee is working. 

D. If an employee fails to return to work after the designated period of 
leave or when the leave entitlement has been exhausted or expires, 
the Agency shall have the right to recover its share of health plan 
premiums for the entire leave period, unless the employee does not 
return because of the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious 
health condition of the employee or his/her family member which 
would entitle the employee to leave under this policy, or because of 
circumstances beyond the employee's control.  

E. Leave under this policy may be granted on an intermittent basis (i.e., 
leaves taken in separate blocks of time due to a single qualifying 
reason) or a reduced work schedule to accommodate an employee 
qualifying for leave under this policy.  An employee may take leave 
under this policy on an intermittent basis for his/her own serious 

126



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[66] 

health condition or for the serious health condition of a qualifying 
family member when it is shown to be medically necessary.  

F. Conditions for use of Family/Medical Care Leave: 
1. Notice of Leave.  If the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee 

must provide the Agency with reasonable advance notice.  For this 
purpose, "reasonable advance notice" means thirty (30) days' written 
notice, if practicable. 

2. Scheduling Leave.  If the need for leave is foreseeable due to a 
planned medical treatment or supervision, the employee must make 
a reasonable effort to schedule it to avoid disruption of Agency 
operations. 

3. Medical Certification for Family Care Leave.  A request for leave to 
care for a child, spouse or parent who has a serious health condition 
must be supported by a certificate of a health care provider which 
includes all of the following: 
a) The date on which the health condition commenced; 
b) A statement as to whether a serious health condition of a 

family member exists: 
i. However, the employee need not (but may, at the 

employee's option) identify the serious health condition 
involved (i.e., diagnosis). 

ii. Failure to disclose the nature of the serious health 
condition may give the Agency reason to doubt the 
validity of the certification. 

c) The probable duration of the condition; 
d) An estimate of the time the employee needs to care for the 

individual; 
e) A statement that the condition requires family participation to 

provide care during the period of treatment or supervision of 
the individual requiring care. 

4. Medical Certification for Employee's Own Serious Health 
Condition.  A request for leave for an employee's own serious 
health condition must be supported by a certificate of a health 
care provider which includes all of the following: 

a) The date on which the serious health condition commenced; 
b) A statement as to whether the employee is unable to perform 

the essential functions of his or her normal position: 
i. However, the employee need not (but may, at the 

employee's option) identify the serious health condition 
involved (i.e., diagnosis). 

127



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[67] 

ii. Failure to disclose the nature of the serious health 
condition, may give the Agency reason to doubt the 
validity of the certification. 

c) The probable duration of the condition. 
5. Use of Accrued Leave: 
a) Vacation/Comp Time: An employee who takes family/medical 

care leave must use all of their accrued compensatory time 
off, if any, and then and all of their accrued vacation in excess 
of 80 hours. 

b) Sick Leave:  An employee who takes family/medical care 
leave may only use accrued sick leave as provided in the 
applicable under California law. 

G. Limits on Family and Medical Care Leave 
The Agency may refuse to allow family and medical care leave if: 
1.  The employee fails to furnish the Agency adequate medical 

documentation which satisfies the requirements under this policy or 
the FMLA or CFRA. 

2. If both parents of a child are employed by the Agency, the Agency 
may limit the family care leave for the birth, adoption or foster care 
placement of their child to a combined total leave of twelve (12) 
weeks in a 12-month period. 

H. Challenge to Medical Certification 
1. When the Agency doubts the validity of a medical certification 

submitted by an employee, it may require the employee to obtain at 
Agency expense the opinion of a second health care provider 
designated and approved by the Agency regarding any of the 
information in the original certification.  Such second health care 
provider may not be one employed by the Agency on a regular basis. 

2. If the opinion of the second health care provider differs from the first, 
the Agency may require the employee to obtain  at Agency expense,  
the opinion of a third health care provider, designated or approved 
jointly by the Agency and the employee, concerning the information 
in the original certification. The opinion of the third health care 
provider will be final and binding on the Agency and the employee.  

I. Employee's Obligation to Periodically Report on His/Her 
Condition 
An employee on family or medical care leave may be required to 
periodically report on his or her status and intent to return to work.  
This will avoid any delay to reinstatement when the employee is 
ready to return to work. 
 

128



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[68] 

J. Status of Employee Benefits While On Leave 
1.  Status of Employee.  An employee on family/medical care leave 

retains employee status, and the leave does not constitute a break 
in service for purposes of longevity, seniority, or any employee 
benefit plan.  For purposes of layoff, recall, promotion, job 
assignment, and seniority related benefits, an employee who returns 
from leave will have no less seniority than the employee had when 
the leave commenced. 

2.  Health Insurance.  Except as hereafter provided, during 
family/medical care leave, the Agency will continue to offer the 
employee, and pay its share of the premium for, health insurance for 
up to twelve (12) weeks at the same level and under the same terms 
and conditions as coverage was provided while the employee was 
actually working for the Agency; provided that, if an employee fails 
to return from leave for reasons other than the continuation, 
recurrence, or onset of the employee's own serious health condition 
or other circumstances beyond the employee's control, the Agency 
may recover the premiums paid by the Agency on behalf of the 
employee. 

3.  Other Benefits. During family/medical care leave, an employee will 
continue to be entitled to participate in employee health plans for any 
period during which coverage is not provided as required in Section 
7.6.3.J.2 above, employee benefit plans, including life, short-term or 
long-term disability or accident insurance, pension and retirement 
plans, and supplemental unemployment benefit plans to the same 
extent and under the same conditions as apply to an unpaid leave 
taken for any other purpose. 

K. Return from Family and/or Medical Care Leave 
1. The Agency may deny reinstatement of an employee from family and 

medical leave to the same or equivalent position where: 
a) The employee refuses to return on the date agreed upon; or 
b)  As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave 

was due to the employee's own serious health condition which 
made the employee unable to perform his/her job, the 
employee must obtain and present a fitness-for-duty 
certification from the health care provider that the employee is 
able to resume work.  Failure to provide such certification will 
result in denial of reinstatement; or 

c) The same or equivalent position has been eliminated for 
legitimate business reasons unrelated to the employee's 
family/medical care leave, in which case the employee will 
have the rights accorded in the layoff provision of the 
applicable   Agency policy. 

129



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[69] 

2. Reinstatement of Key Employees:  The Agency may deny 
reinstatement of an employee from family and/or medical care leave 
to the same or equivalent position where: 
a) The employee is among the highest paid 10% of the Agency's 

salaried employees; and, 
b) Reinstatement would cause the Agency serious and grievous 

economic harm; and, 
c) The employee was notified at the outset of leave that 

reinstatement could be denied. 
7.6.4 Status of Prior Policies 
This policy supersedes and replaces all other policies on the same subject.  The 
Agency reserves the right to amend this policy whenever it is appropriate to 
conform to state and federal laws, rules and regulations. 

Section 7.7. Funeral and Bereavement Leave 
7.7.1 Purpose  
The Agency provides bereavement leave for its employees in the event of a death 
in the employee’s family in order to handle family affairs and attend the funeral.  
7.7.2 Conditions of Leave 

A. Amount 
An employee may take up to five days of sick leave (one of which shall be the date 
of the funeral) for the purpose of making necessary arrangements and attending 
the funeral. 
An additional limited amount of time off to attend funeral services outside the State 
of California may be authorized with pay under special circumstances.  The 
Executive Director is vested with full discretion to evaluate the circumstances and 
make the determination. 
Attendance at funerals requiring absences of more than five days may be charged 
to accrued vacation or personal leave accounts. 

B. Covered Family Members 
Leave shall be afforded under this policy for the death of the employee’s spouse, 
registered domestic partner, child, parent, parents-in-law, step-parents, sibling, 
step-siblings, and grandparents. 

C. Deceased Employees 
In deference to the memory of a deceased colleague, a limited amount of time off 
to attend funeral services may be authorized with pay under special 
circumstances.  The Executive Director is vested with full discretion to evaluate the 
circumstances and make the determination. 

130



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[70] 

Section 7.8. Jury Duty and Witness Leave 
7.8.1 Purpose 
The Agency encourages its employees to perform their civic duty to serve on a jury 
panel or as a subpoenaed witness and provides leave for such purposes as 
described herein.   
7.8.2 Jury Duty Leave 

A. Full-time and Seasonal Employees 
Time off without loss of pay of up to four (4) weeks shall be granted to full-time 
employees called for jury duty.  Such employees who are required to serve on jury 
duty shall be paid the difference between their regular pay and the amount of the 
jury fee received for such duty.  For the purpose of this calculation, the jury fee 
does not include any mileage allowance.  Should jury duty extend beyond four (4) 
weeks, the employee will receive unpaid leave for the duration of the jury service.  
The employee may elect to use accrued vacation, compensatory time off, personal 
leave, or floating holiday leave to cover the remainder of the jury service. 

B. Part-Time and Temporary Employees 
Part-time and temporary employees will be granted time off without pay for jury 
duty service.  These employees may elect to use accrued vacation, compensatory 
time off, personal leave, or floating holiday leave to cover the jury service. 

C. Notice Requirements 
All employees are required to provide their supervisor with reasonable advance 
notice of jury duty.  Employees must provide their supervisor with a copy of their 
jury summons prior to the commencement of jury duty leave.   

D. Return to Work 
All employees released from jury duty prior to the end of a scheduled work day 
must report back to work within one (1) hour after being released from jury duty, 
unless there is less than two (2) hours remaining in the employee’s work day at 
the time of release. 
7.8.3 Witness Duty 
All employees will be allowed time off without pay to appear in court as a witness 
pursuant to a valid subpoena or other court order.  The employee must provide his 
or her supervisor with reasonable advance notice of the witness duty.  Further, the 
employee is required to provide his or her supervisor with a copy of the subpoena 
or court order requiring the employee’s attendance.  The employee may elect to 
use accrued vacation or floating holiday time to cover the time away from work.  
All employees who are subpoenaed by court to appear in their capacity and scope 
as a representative of the Agency shall be allowed time off with pay for such 
witness duty. 

131



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[71] 

7.8.4 Overtime Exempt Employees 
Overtime exempt employees who work any portion of the week in which they also 
serve on jury duty or as a witness will receive their full salary for that week. 

Section 7.9. Military Leave 
7.9.1 Purpose 
The Agency provides appropriate military leaves of absence, benefits and 
reinstatement rights to members of the military consistent with the provisions of 
the California Military and Veterans Code and the federal Uniformed Services 
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act.   
7.9.2 Leave of Absence 
Any Agency employee who is a member of the United States armed forces, the 
National Guard, the Naval Militia or the reserve corps is entitled to an unpaid 
leave(s) of absence for ordered military duty including active military training, 
inactive duty training, encampment or exercises. 
7.9.3 Employee Notice Requirements 
Employees must provide advance written or verbal notice of the need for military 
leave unless to do so is impossible or unreasonable.  Generally, an employee 
should present their service papers to their supervisor as soon as they receive 
them.  Employees should use their best efforts to arrange inactive duty or annual 
trainings at a time that is mutually convenient to the employee and the Agency. 
7.9.4 Pay and Benefits While On Leave 

A. Pay 
Where the employee has been employed by the Agency for at least one year prior 
to the start of the leave, the first 30 calendar days of military leave will be paid.  No 
minimum length of service is required to receive 60 calendar days of pay for a 
member of the National Guard who is called to active duty during a declared 
emergency.  Paid military leave shall not exceed 30 calendar days in any fiscal 
year. 
After the first 30 calendar days, military leave will be unpaid.  Any employee may, 
at his or her option, elect to use accrued vacation or floating holiday time to cover 
periods of unpaid military leave.   

B. Health Care Coverage 
For leaves with duration of 30 days or less, the Agency will continue the 
employee’s health care coverage on the same terms as if the employee was 
working.   
For leaves longer than 30 days, the employee may be eligible to continue health 
care coverage for self and dependents at the employee’s own expense for up to 
24 months.  Employees returning from leave longer than 30 days will be restored 
to health care coverage upon their return to work without a waiting period.    

132



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[72] 

C. Seniority 
Any employee who takes military leave retains his or her original seniority date and 
all other seniority-based benefits as if continuously employed.  
Employees on military leaves will not accrue any vacation or sick leave during 
periods of unpaid military leave. 
Time spent on military leave will be counted as time worked for purposes of 
determining eligibility for family and medical leave. 
7.9.5 Reinstatement  
The Agency will adhere to the applicable federal or state law that is most beneficial 
to the employee in determining reinstatement rights. 
Generally, employees must provide timely notice of their intent to return to work 
after military service.  An employee returning from military leave will be reinstated 
to employment in the position he or she would have held had there been no 
interruption for military service, if qualified.  If reasonable efforts to so qualify the 
employee fail, he or she will be returned to the position held at the beginning of the 
leave, if qualified. 
Reinstatement may be denied if the employee receives a dishonorable or other 
disqualifying discharge, fails to timely request reemployment, or the Agency’s 
circumstances have so changed to make reemployment impossible or 
unreasonable. 

Section 7.10. Leaves of Absence without Pay–Accrual of Vacation and Sick Leave 
An employee taking leave without pay shall earn vacation leave and sick leave during the 
week in which the leave of absence occurs according to the following weekly schedule.  
Such vacation leave and sick leave shall be calculated to the nearest tenths as shown in 
the chart below: 
 

HOURS OF LWOP PERCENTAGE OF ACCRUAL 
2 – 3.9 90 
4 – 7.9 80 
8 – 11.9 70 

12 – 15.9 60 
16 – 19.9 50 
20 – 23.9 40 
24 – 27.9 30 
28 – 31.9 20 
32 – 35.9 10 
36 – 40.0 0 

 
Section 7.11. Outside Employment 

The Agency forbids employees on a leave of absence, other than military leave, 
from holding outside employment during such leave.  Employees who violate this 

133



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[73] 

policy will forfeit any leave of absence and will be deemed to have voluntarily 
terminated their employment and separated from the Agency. 
 

134



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[74] 

CHAPTER 8 BENEFITS 
 
Section 8.1. Insurance 

8.1.1 Purpose 
The Agency will provide all eligible employees and their dependents access to 
group health insurance programs including medical, dental and vision and life 
insurance. 
8.1.2 Terms of Coverage 
The amount and type of coverage, as well as the percentage of Agency 
contribution, is subject to change from time to time depending on changes in 
applicable premiums.  
Information describing coverage is available from the Agency Human Resourced 
department upon request.  If there is a conflict between the language used here 
and the language contained in the group plan documents, the plan documents will 
prevail. 
8.1.3 Eligibility 
Full-time and part-time permanent employees are eligible for medical, dental, 
vision and life insurance coverages.  The effective date for these coverage’s is the 
first of any month following thirty (30) days of continuous service, except for 
medical which is effective the first of the month following the employee’s hire date.  
Employees returning from layoff shall have full benefits made available to them on 
the first of the month following their return to work, without waiting the otherwise 
mandatory “waiting period.” 
8.1.4 Medical, Dental and Vision Coverage 

A. Payment of Premiums 
Presently the Agency pays 96% of the premium for Medical and 100% of the 
premium Dental for eligible full-time permanent employees during periods of 
regular pay status (including paid time off and paid leave).  The agency pays 100% 
of benefits for full-time permanent employees with no dependents.  The Vision 
premium is paid for by the Employee.  The Agency does not pay insurance 
premiums for employees on an unpaid leave of absence or whose hours fall below 
the required minimum for eligibility of at least fifty (50) paid hours per pay period, 
unless specifically provided in another Agency policy such as the family and 
medical leave policy.  Employees can elect to waive coverage providing that they 
can show they are covered by health insurance elsewhere. 
The monthly premiums for permanent part-time employees shall be paid on a pro-
rata basis proportional to full-time employment. 

B. Long Term Disability 
As used herein, “long-term disability” means the status reached when an eligible 
employee has, during any consecutive 12 month period, been unable to work or 

135



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[75] 

perform the duties for which employed for 90 calendar days during that period, 
because of his or her own ill health or physical or mental disability. 
Upon entering long-term disability status, an employee may petition the Board of 
Directors for use of accrued vacation or sick leave sufficient to pay premiums as 
set by the Agency for continuation of health, dental and vision coverage.  Granting 
or denial of such petition shall be at the sole discretion of the Board based on their 
evaluation of the circumstances in each case.  A granting in one case shall not be 
construed to have set a precedent when reviewing other cases. 

C. Continuation of Health Benefits - COBRA 
As stated above, the Agency’s health care plans are maintained for employees in 
regular pay status and their covered dependents.  The federal Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) and a related state law allow 
employees and their dependents to continue health care coverage at their own 
expense for up to 36 months if they lose coverage due to termination or other 
qualifying events. 

D. Temporary Employees 
Temporary employees are eligible for group health benefits for themselves and 
their dependents at their own expense provided the temporary employee qualifies 
as provided above and provided further, the employee pays the monthly premium 
for the group health care coverage a minimum of 10 days in advance of the first of 
each month. 
8.1.5 Life Insurance Coverage 
The Agency provides life insurance coverage for eligible employees in accordance 
with carrier requirements and at benefit levels determined through negotiations 
with the applicable employee representative.  Presently the Agency pays 100% of 
the premium for this insurance. 

Section 8.2. Retirement 
8.2.1 Purpose 
The Agency provides retirement benefits to fulltime and part-time, permanent 
employees through its plan with CalPERS.  The terms of the plan shall govern 
retirement benefits. 
8.2.2 Plan Overview 
CalPERS provides a defined benefit plan.  Benefits are based on the employee’s 
age, years of credited service and final compensation at retirement.  Employees 
become fully vested with 5 years of service.  For employees hired prior to May 21, 
2011 the minimum retirement age is 55 with a benefit formula of 2.5% at 55 (Tier 
1); for employees hired between May 21, 2011 and December 31, 2012 the 
minimum retirement age is 60 with a benefit formula of 2.0% at 60 (Tier 2); and for 
employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 the minimum retirement age is 62 
with a benefit formula of 2% at 62 (PEPRA New Members). 

136

mailto:2.5%25@55
mailto:2.0%25@60


 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[76] 

8.2.3 Contributions 
The Agency pays the employer’s contribution share at the current rate (2019) of 
10.022% for Tier 1 members, 7.634% for Tier 2 members and 6.842% for PEPRA 
members of reportable earnings.  The Employee pays the employee’s contribution 
share at the current rate of 8% for Tier 1 members, 7% for Tier 2 members and 
6.25% for PEPRA members of reportable earnings. 

Section 8.3. Education, Membership and Professional Affiliation Fees 
8.3.1 Purpose 
The Agency will reimburse tuition, membership, and professional affiliation fees to 
eligible employees. 
8.3.2 Eligibility 
• Must be a regular, full-time employee. 
• Must have at least one-year full-time employment. 
• Must meet the performance expectations of his or her current position. 
• Must not have any formal disciplinary actions with NVTA within the previous 18 

months.  Formal disciplinary actions include written warnings, demotions, or 
suspension. 

• Must have an individual development plan in place, reviewed and agreed to by 
the supervisors with recognition that the educational investment is part of the 
employee’s development for the current job or for a job to which he or she 
would realistically move to within NVTA in the future. 

• Undergraduate level and graduate level degree course work, (both credit and 
non-credit courses such as continuing education & off-site training) are eligible 
for reimbursement, provided the employee’s management agrees that the 
intended studies relate to the individual’s current or potential future job at 
NVTA.  This alignment should be reflected within the employee’s individual 
development plan as noted in their performance evaluation. 

• Must have clear alignment between the employee’s educational ambitions, the 
agency’s needs, the employee’s performance management agreement and 
individual development plan. 

• Must apply for and be pre-approved before enrolling in courses or any other 
type of formal education such as professional certifications.  It is advisable for 
application to be made a 60-90 days in advance of the course/program to allow 
time to consider approval and budgeting, as appropriate. 

8.3.3 Education Fees 
Tuition for authorized Agency continuing education or a college degree are eligible 
for reimbursement.  Education must be relevant to enhancing job knowledge or job 
related skills, or for the purpose of qualifying for advancement within the Agency 
as described in the employee’s development plan.  Employees are required to 
prepare a written request outlining the objectives for obtaining the education, 
expected timeframe, coursework and cost estimates, including tuition and books.  
The written request is to be submitted to the Executive Director for consideration 
and discretionary approval prior to enrolling in coursework, provided the employee 
intends to seek Agency reimbursement.  Depending on the cost or relevancy of 

137



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[77] 

the proposed education, the Executive Director may agree to reimburse all or a 
portion of the estimated cost.  Actual reimbursements are eligible only after the 
successful completion of each quarter or semester as evidenced by supporting 
documentation from the college or university.  Expenses for travel, lodging, meals 
or mileage related to education are not eligible for reimbursement. 
Employees who accept tuition reimbursement, commit to regular full-time time 
service of two (2) years for an under-graduate degree or three (3) years for a 
graduate degree, following the successful completion of the coursework.  In the 
event that an employee voluntarily terminates their employment with NVTA or is 
terminated for cause at any time during the course of employment, the employee 
agrees to repay NVTA the entire amount of tuition, associated fees, and taxes, if 
any, that have been paid for all courses.  Repayment will not be required if the 
termination of their employment is due to death, long-term disability, layoff or 
involuntary termination for any reason other than cause. 
If an employee does not repay any amounts due as indicated above on or before 
their last day of employment, any such amounts will be deducted from the 
employee’s final paycheck or from other amounts payable to the employee upon 
or following termination of employment, and will authorize such deduction. 
Employees will also acknowledge that any balance still owed to NVTA after the 
deductions referenced above must be repaid to NVTA.  
Employees shall be allowed sufficient leave with pay to meet the minimum 
education coursework requirement.  The allowed leave shall be subject to the 
convenience of the Agency and the approval of the Executive Director. 
8.3.4 Membership and Professional Affiliations Fees 
Employees are encouraged to be members and active participants in job related 
professional affiliations.  Memberships in professional organizations, and 
certifications or licenses related to transportation, engineering, financial 
management, accounting or other governmental affiliations are eligible for 
reimbursement as approved by the Executive Director.  A maximum of two (2) 
memberships per employee totaling no more the $500 per year is available for 
memberships to be reimbursed to the employee or paid directly by the Agency.  
The Executive Director may authorize an amount greater than this limit on a case 
by case basis when it is in the best interest of the Agency.  
 
NVTA reserved the right to amend these Personnel Policies and Procedures at 
any time. 

138



ATTACHMENT 2 
AGENDA ITEM 7.4 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Board Approved 07/15/2020 

 
 

 
 
Page 
FIN 9.01 
 
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................... 7 

Section 1.1. Overview of Personnel Policies ............................................................... 7 
1.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................... 7 
1.1.2 Construction and Limitations ...................................................................... 7 
1.1.3 Implementation of the Policies ................................................................... 7 

CHAPTER 2 EMPLOYMENT STATUS .......................................................................... 8 
Section 2.1. Definitions ................................................................................................ 8 
Section 2.2. Hiring Process ....................................................................................... 10 

2.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 10 
2.2.2 Personnel Request .................................................................................. 10 
2.2.3 Employee Selection ................................................................................. 10 
2.2.4 Placing Employee on the Payroll ............................................................. 11 

Section 2.3. New Employee Orientation .................................................................... 12 
2.3.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 12 
2.3.2 Content of Orientation .............................................................................. 12 

Section 2.4. Probationary Period ............................................................................... 13 
2.4.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 13 
2.4.2 Duration of Probationary Period ............................................................... 13 
2.4.3 Termination of Probationary Period ......................................................... 13 
2.4.4 Rejection of Probationer Following Promotion ......................................... 13 
2.4.5 Effect of Leaves of Absence on Probationary Period ............................... 13 

Section 2.5. Job Classification ................................................................................... 13 
Section 2.6. Job Descriptions .................................................................................... 14 
Section 2.7. Assignment and Transfer ....................................................................... 14 

2.7.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 14 
2.7.2 Temporary Assignments .......................................................................... 14 

Section 2.8. Promotion .............................................................................................. 14 
2.8.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 14 
2.8.2 Application Procedure .............................................................................. 15 
2.8.3 Criteria for Selection ................................................................................ 15 
2.8.4 Probationary Period ................................................................................. 15 
2.8.5 Procedure When Employee Does Not Pass Probation ............................ 15 

Section 2.9. Anti-Nepotism Policy and Non-Fraternization Policy .............................. 16 
2.9.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 16 
2.9.2 Relatives, Spouses or Domestic Partners in Same Department, Work Area 

or Facility ................................................................................................. 16 
2.9.3 Application of the Policy ........................................................................... 16 

Section 2.10. Performance Evaluation ....................................................................... 17 
Section 2.11. Resignation .......................................................................................... 18 

PERSONNEL 

NVTA 
POLICIES, PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL 

139



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[ii] 

Section 2.12. Layoff ................................................................................................... 18 
2.12.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 18 
2.12.2 Layoff Order ............................................................................................. 19 
2.12.3 Notice ....................................................................................................... 19 
2.12.4 Reinstatement from Layoff ....................................................................... 19 
2.12.5 Benefits .................................................................................................... 19 

Section 2.13. Personnel Files .................................................................................... 19 
2.13.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 19 
2.13.2 Employee Responsibility to Ensure Accuracy of Personnel Records ...... 19 
2.13.3 Duty to Provide Accurate Information ...................................................... 20 
2.13.4 Access to Personnel Files ........................................................................ 20 

CHAPTER 3 HOURS OF WORK AND COMPENSATION ........................................... 21 
Section 3.1. Work Schedules ..................................................................................... 21 

3.1.1 Work Schedules ....................................................................................... 21 
3.1.2 Standard Work Schedule ......................................................................... 21 
3.1.3 Standard Work Week ............................................................................... 21 
3.1.4 Flex Time ................................................................................................. 21 

Section 3.2. Meal and Rest Breaks............................................................................ 21 
3.2.1 Meal Breaks ............................................................................................. 21 
3.2.2 Rest Periods ............................................................................................ 21 
3.2.3 Meal and Rest Breaks May Not Be Combined or Postponed .................. 22 

Section 3.3. Compensation ........................................................................................ 22 
3.3.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 22 
3.3.2 Wage Rates ............................................................................................. 22 
3.3.3 Pay Schedule ........................................................................................... 23 
3.3.4 Payroll Deductions ................................................................................... 23 
3.3.5 Updating Payroll Information .................................................................... 23 

Section 3.4. Timekeeping .......................................................................................... 23 
3.4.1 Employees ............................................................................................... 23 
3.4.2 Consequences of Falsifying Time Records .............................................. 24 

Section 3.5. Overtime ................................................................................................ 24 
3.5.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 24 
3.5.2 Exclusion from Policy ............................................................................... 24 

CHAPTER 4 STANDARDS OF CONDUCTS ............................................................... 26 
Section 4.1. Equal Employment Opportunity ............................................................. 26 

4.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 26 
4.1.2 Employee, Supervisor and Management Responsibilities ....................... 26 

Section 4.2. Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy .................................................. 26 
4.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 26 
4.2.2 Definitions ................................................................................................ 27 
4.2.3 Zero Tolerance ........................................................................................ 28 
4.2.4 Complaint and Investigation Procedure ................................................... 28 
4.2.5 Prohibition on Retaliation ......................................................................... 29 
4.2.6 Prevention ................................................................................................ 30 

Section 4.3. Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule ....................................................... 30 
Section 4.4. Reasonable Accommodation ................................................................. 30 

140



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[iii] 

4.4.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 30 
4.4.2 Conditions Covered By This Policy .......................................................... 30 
4.4.3 Examples of Reasonable Accommodation .............................................. 31 
4.4.4 Requests for Reasonable Accommodation .............................................. 31 
4.4.5 Medical Information ................................................................................. 32 
4.4.6 The Interactive Process ........................................................................... 32 
4.4.7 Miscellaneous Guidelines ........................................................................ 33 

Section 4.5. Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene ....................................................... 33 
4.5.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 33 
4.5.2 Guidelines on Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene .................................. 33 

Section 4.6. Attendance and Punctuality ................................................................... 34 
4.6.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 34 
4.6.2 Reporting Requirements .......................................................................... 34 
4.6.3 Discipline ................................................................................................. 34 

Section 4.7. Secondary Employment ......................................................................... 35 
4.7.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 35 
4.7.2 Notification and Approval ......................................................................... 35 

Section 4.8. Causes for Discipline ............................................................................. 35 
4.8.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 35 
4.8.2 Standards of Conduct .............................................................................. 36 

Section 4.9. Discipline ............................................................................................... 37 
4.9.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 37 
4.9.2 Progressive Discipline.............................................................................. 37 
4.9.3 Administrative Leave................................................................................ 37 
4.9.4 Procedures for Disciplinary Action of a Permanent Employee ................. 38 

CHAPTER 5 HEALTH AND SAFETY ON THE JOB .................................................... 40 
Section 5.1. Job Safety .............................................................................................. 40 

5.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 40 
5.1.2 Employee Responsibility .......................................................................... 40 
5.1.3 Injury Reporting ....................................................................................... 40 

Section 5.2. Workplace Violence Prevention ............................................................. 40 
5.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 40 
5.2.2 Employee Responsibilities ....................................................................... 40 
5.2.3 Conduct Prohibited By This Policy ........................................................... 40 
5.2.4 Reporting Procedure ................................................................................ 41 
5.2.5 Corrective Actions .................................................................................... 41 

Section 5.3. Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace ......................................................... 42 
5.3.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 42 
5.3.2 Definitions ................................................................................................ 42 
5.3.3 Pre-Employment Drug and Alcohol Screening ......................................... 43 
5.3.4 Prohibition on Possession, Use, Sale or Transport of Alcohol or Drugs .. 43 
5.3.5 Reasonable Suspicion Testing ................................................................ 44 
5.3.6 Search or Inspection of Agency Property for Illegal Drugs or Alcohol ...... 44 
5.3.7 Disciplinary Action ................................................................................... 45 
5.3.8 Drug and Alcohol Assistance Programs................................................... 45 

Section 5.4. Fitness for Duty ...................................................................................... 45 

141



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[iv] 

5.4.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 45 
5.4.2 Employee Responsibility .......................................................................... 45 
5.4.3 Pre-Employment Medical Examinations .................................................. 45 
5.4.4 Post-Employment Fitness for Duty Examinations .................................... 46 
5.4.5 Confidentiality of Examination Records ................................................... 47 

Section 5.5. Driving .................................................................................................... 47 
5.5.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 47 
5.5.2 Driver’s License Requirements ................................................................ 47 
5.5.3 Good Driving Record ............................................................................... 48 
5.5.4 Compliance with Traffic Laws .................................................................. 49 
5.5.5 Use of Seatbelts ...................................................................................... 49 

Section 5.6. Smoking ................................................................................................. 49 
CHAPTER 6 EQUIPMENT AND PROPERTY .............................................................. 50 

Section 6.1. Use and Care of Agency Property ......................................................... 50 
6.1.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 50 
6.1.2 Damage or Loss of Agency Equipment.................................................... 50 
6.1.3 Key/Access Card Distribution .................................................................. 50 
6.1.4 Personal Use of Agency Property ............................................................ 50 
6.1.5 Personal Tools or Property ...................................................................... 50 
6.1.6 Agency Access to Property ...................................................................... 50 
6.1.7 Entry onto Private Property ...................................................................... 51 
6.1.8 Purchasing ............................................................................................... 51 

Section 6.2. Phones, Computers, and Other Electronic Equipment .......................... 51 
6.2.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 51 
6.2.2 Phone Usage for Personal Reasons ........................................................ 51 
6.2.3 Internet Usage ......................................................................................... 51 
6.2.4 Decorum of Communications ................................................................... 52 
6.2.5 Installation or Duplication of Software ...................................................... 52 
6.2.6 Discipline ................................................................................................. 52 

Section 6.3. Agency Vehicles .................................................................................... 52 
Section 6.4. Employee Purchase Program ................................................................ 54 

6.4.1 Mobile Device .......................................................................................... 54 
CHAPTER 7 TIME OFF AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE ................................................ 56 

Section 7.1. Holidays ................................................................................................. 56 
7.1.1 Eligible Employees .................................................................................. 56 
7.1.2 Recognized Holidays ............................................................................... 56 
7.1.3 Personal Leave ........................................................................................ 56 
7.1.4 Board Ordered Holiday ............................................................................ 57 
7.1.5 Holidays Occurring During Unpaid Leave ................................................ 57 
7.1.6 Working on Holidays ................................................................................ 57 

Section 7.2. Vacation ................................................................................................. 57 
7.2.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 57 
7.2.2 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 57 
7.2.3 Accrual ..................................................................................................... 57 
7.2.4 Scheduling ............................................................................................... 60 
7.2.5 Termination or Retirement from Agency .................................................. 60 

142



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[v] 

Section 7.3. Sick Leave ............................................................................................. 61 
7.3.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 61 
7.3.2 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 61 
7.3.3 Accrual ..................................................................................................... 61 
7.3.4 Conversion of Vacation to Sick Leave ..................................................... 61 
7.3.6 Employee Notice and Communication ..................................................... 61 

Section 7.4. Workers’ Compensation Leave .............................................................. 62 
7.4.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 62 
7.4.2 Sick or Vacation Leave Supplementation ................................................ 62 
7.4.3 Accrual of Benefits during Leave ............................................................. 62 

Section 7.5. Pregnancy Leave ................................................................................... 62 
7.5.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 62 
7.5.2 Covered Employees ................................................................................ 62 
7.5.3 Leave Rights ............................................................................................ 63 
7.5.4 Pay and Benefits ...................................................................................... 63 
7.5.5 Employee Notice Obligations ................................................................... 63 
7.5.6 Medical Certification................................................................................. 63 
7.5.7 Other Forms of Pregnancy-Related Disability Accommodation ............... 63 

Section 7.6. Family and Medical Care Leave Act ...................................................... 64 
7.6.1 Statement of Policy .................................................................................. 64 
7.6.2 Definitions ................................................................................................ 64 
7.6.3 Family and/or Medical Care Leave .......................................................... 65 
7.6.4 Status of Prior Policies ............................................................................. 69 

Section 7.7. Funeral and Bereavement Leave ........................................................... 69 
7.7.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 69 
7.7.2 Conditions of Leave ................................................................................. 69 

Section 7.8. Jury Duty and Witness Leave ................................................................ 70 
7.8.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 70 
7.8.2 Jury Duty Leave ....................................................................................... 70 
7.8.3 Witness Duty ............................................................................................ 70 
7.8.4 Overtime Exempt Employees .................................................................. 71 

Section 7.9. Military Leave ......................................................................................... 71 
7.9.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 71 
7.9.2 Leave of Absence .................................................................................... 71 
7.9.3 Employee Notice Requirements .............................................................. 71 
7.9.4 Pay and Benefits While On Leave ........................................................... 71 
7.9.5 Reinstatement .......................................................................................... 72 

Section 7.10. Leaves of Absence without Pay–Accrual of Vacation and Sick Leave . 72 
Section 7.11. Outside Employment............................................................................ 72 

CHAPTER 8 BENEFITS ............................................................................................... 74 
Section 8.1. Insurance ............................................................................................... 74 

8.1.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 74 
8.1.2 Terms of Coverage .................................................................................. 74 
8.1.3 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 74 
8.1.4 Medical, Dental and Vision Coverage ...................................................... 74 
8.1.5 Life Insurance Coverage .......................................................................... 75 

143



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[vi] 

Section 8.2. Retirement ............................................................................................. 75 
8.2.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 75 
8.2.2 Plan Overview .......................................................................................... 75 
8.2.3 Contributions ............................................................................................ 76 

Section 8.3. Education, Membership and Professional Affiliation Fees ..................... 76 
8.3.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 76 
8.3.2 Eligibility ................................................................................................... 76 
8.3.3 Education Fees ........................................................................................ 76 
8.3.4 Membership and Professional Affiliations Fees ....................................... 77 

144



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[7] 

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION 
 
Section 1.1. Overview of Personnel Policies 

1.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The following employment policies, procedures and rules for the administration of 
employer/employee relations will be referred to as these “Personnel Policies and 
Procedures.”  These Personnel Policies and Procedures are for the guidance of 
the management and supervisory staff and for employees of the Agency and their 
employee organizations. 
1.1.2 Construction and Limitations 
The Personnel Policies and Procedures shall be subject to the following limitations, 
conditions, constructions and interpretations: 
A. The Agency reserves the right to rescind, revise or supplement the 

Personnel Policies and Procedures at any time and from time to time. 
B. The Personnel Policies and Procedures do not constitute a contract with 

any employee. 
C. Employees who are appointed and serve “At Will” have the right to terminate 

employment with NVTA at any time, with or without advance notice and with 
or without cause.  NVTA, as the employer, likewise has the right to terminate 
the employment of an At Will employee at any time, with or without advance 
notice and with or without cause.  No one in the Agency other than the 
appointing authority, e.g. either the NVTA Board of Directors or Executive 
Director, may alter that At Will arrangement, or enter into an agreement for 
employment for a specified period of time, or make any agreement contrary 
to this provision.  To the extent any Personnel Policies and Procedures set 
forth in this document are contrary to or inconsistent with the At Will status 
of an employee, such policies and/or procedures shall not apply to such 
employee. 

D. These Personnel Policies and Procedures supersede and replace any 
earlier policies, rules, regulations, handbooks, manuals, guidelines and 
practices relating to employment with the Agency.   

E. In the event any section or provision of this manual is declared invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction or is contradictory to any federal or state law 
or regulation, the remaining provisions shall not be invalidated and shall 
remain in full force and effect. 

1.1.3 Implementation of the Policies  
The Executive Director is responsible for developing and amending the 
administrative procedures that provide the steps and guidelines for carrying out 
the policies contained in this document.  Administrative procedures, which could 
significantly affect employees or financially impact the NVTA, will be referred to the 
NVTA Board for approval.   

145



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[8] 

CHAPTER 2 EMPLOYMENT STATUS 
 
Section 2.1. Definitions 
For the purposes of these rules the following definitions shall apply: 
Agency:  Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
Applicant:  A person who has made a formal request on a prescribed form in order to 
qualify for Agency employment. 
Appointment:  The offer to a person, and his/her acceptance of a position in accordance 
with the provision of these rules. 
At Will:  An employment relationship which either party (employer or employee) has the 
right to terminate at any time, with or without prior notice and with or without cause.  This 
arrangement is called “employment At Will”.  An At Will employee serves at the pleasure 
of the appointing authority (in the case of the Executive Director, the appointing authority 
is the NVTA Board of Directors; in the case of all other At Will employees, the appointing 
authority is the Executive Director, unless otherwise appointed by the NVTA Board of 
Directors).  An At Will employee is not afforded probationary or permanent employee 
status.  At Will employment status is defined as follows: 

a. At Will employees include the Executive Director.   
b. Part time limited term, temporary, and special status hires separate from a 

regular, full-time, or part-time permanent staff member and dependent on specific 
hiring conditions. 

Board:  The NVTA Board of Directors Members. 
Candidate:  Any applicant who has been admitted to an examination. 
Compensation:  Any salary, wage or other emolument paid to an employee for 
performing the duties of a position. 
Continuous Employment:  Employment uninterrupted from the date of appointment, 
except for authorized absence. 
Demotion:  A change from a position in one class to a position in a lower class. 
Discharge:  The termination of employment of an employee for disciplinary purposes. 
ED:  Executive Director 
Eligibility List: A list of names of candidates who have been qualified for a specific job. 
Employee: Any person who occupies a position in the Agency service and receives 
compensation for services performed for the Agency. 
Employee Representative:  An individual who appears on behalf of the employee. 
Examination:  A test or group of tests to determine the fitness and relative ability of 
persons seeking employment or promotion. 
Exempt Employee:  An employee who is not subject to the overtime provisions of the 
federal Fair Labor Standards Act. 

146



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[9] 

Grievance:  A complaint of an alleged violation of a rule or regulation upon which he/she 
desires official action to be taken. 
Layoff:  An actual separation from Agency service, an involuntary permanent reduction 
in work hours, or a demotion in lieu of layoff.   
Leave-of-Absence:  Permitted absence from duty for a specified period of time. 
Minimum Qualifications:  Standards of education and experience, knowledge, skills and 
abilities, and personal and physical characteristics as are prescribed in the class 
specifications. 
Position:  A group of current duties and responsibilities assigned or delegated by 
competent authority requiring the full-time or part-time employment of one person. 
Permanent:  The status of an employee who is lawfully retained in his/her position after 
the completion of the probationary period as provided in these rules. 
Probationary:  The status of an employee who has been certified and appointed as a 
probationary employee in accordance to these rules.  Probationary status constitutes a 
trial period of six (6) months full employment and is to be considered part of the selection 
process.  Employees receiving a promotion are also subject to a probationary period of 
six months.  A probationary employee may be separated by the Agency from employment 
service at any time during the probationary period without right of appeal or hearing.  
Employees may also be subject to a performance related probationary period if an 
employee performance is not meeting the job requirements of a position regardless of 
how long that person has been employed by the agency. The length of the probationary 
period is at the discretion of the supervisor and/or the executive director. 
Promotion:  Changing from a position in one class to a vacant position in a higher class 
with a higher salary range without a break in service. 
Re-employment Eligibility Lists:  Lists established as a result of laying off probationary 
or permanent employees. 
Regular Position:  A budgeted position. 
Resignation:  Separation of an employee made at the request of the employee. 
Salary Merit Increase:  An increase in salary within the salary range prescribed for the 
class, based upon performance during the first six months of employment, unless initially 
appointed above the minimum step, and annual adjustments thereafter (based on the 
Performance Evaluation) until attainment of the top step of the salary range. 
Separation:  Any termination of employment. 
State:  The State of California. 
Status:  The condition of an employee's appointment, such as part-time, At Will, or 
probationary, permanent, or temporary. 
Suspension:  An enforced leave of absence without pay for disciplinary purposes. 
Temporary:  "Temporary" is the status of those persons employed for a temporary period 
(limited term) to perform a specific task, job or assignment.  Such employees are not 
entitled to holiday pay and shall not earn vacation, personal or sick leave.  In addition 

147



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[10] 

temporary employees shall not be eligible for salary merit increases nor entitled to 
participate in the Agency’s retirement program.  Temporary employees serve At Will. 
Termination:  Ending the employment of an employee by the agency. 
Transfer:  A change from one position to another in the same or similar class without any 
break in service.  Such change in classes must have the same salary range and similar 
qualifications. 
Vacancy or Vacant Position:  Any unfilled allocated position in the Agency.  A position 
shall be deemed vacant when it is not filled by an employee in the class to which the 
position has been allocated. 
Year:  A twelve (12) month period unless otherwise designated. 
Section 2.2. Hiring Process  

2.2.1 Statement of Policy 
This process sets forth procedures to follow when filling position vacancies other 
than the Executive Director.  A vacancy occurs when a job opening will be filled by 
adding staff or by replacing an employee by either hiring an employee from outside 
the Agency or by transfer of an existing employee.   
2.2.2 Personnel Request 

A. Initiation 
A request for personnel will be initiated by the Executive Director when a vacancy 
is to be filled.   
2.2.3 Employee Selection 

A. Job Vacancy Posted 
Job vacancies will be posted on appropriate Agency bulletin board for the purpose 
of informing existing employees who may wish to submit an application.   

B. Advertising 
The Executive Director may advertise the job vacancy and, if necessary, list the 
vacancy with the California Employment Development Department.  Temporary 
and/or part-time openings may be listed with the local colleges, or other 
appropriate educational institutions.  

C. Employment Application 
All applicants, internal and external, will be required to complete an employment 
application for each vacancy applied.  Employment applications are available in 
the Agency’s Human Resources office and on the NVTA web page.  

D. Screening Applicants 
The Human Resources department shall submit appropriate screening criteria and 
interview questions to the ED for approval.  The ED will screen the applications to 
identify those that meet the criteria.  

148



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[11] 

E. Interviewing 
The ED, or his/her designee, and an additional panel of interviewers if appropriate, 
will interview employees and applicants that have been selected from the 
screening process.  Interviewers not able to fairly assess the applicant due to a 
personal relationship or other reason will be disqualified from participating on the 
panel. 

F. Documenting the Interview 
During or immediately after each interview, each interviewer shall complete the 
Interview Rating Sheet which is provided to assist in arriving at a final decision.  
Appropriate numerical values representing the degree of each evaluation factor, 
based on the interview, job-related experiences or skills, or other pertinent criteria 
depicting the candidate’s qualifications, shall be entered on the Interview Rating 
Sheet form.  The order of qualified candidates shall be from the highest to the 
lowest total point value. 

G. Selection 
The decision concerning which candidate to select rests with the ED.   

H. Notification. 
Once the decision to hire or promote has been approved, it will be the responsibility 
of the Human Resources department to notify the prospective employee of his/her 
acceptance (pending any required background check) and the unsuccessful 
applicants of their rejection. 
2.2.4 Placing Employee on the Payroll 

A. Duties of the Executive Director or Designee: 
1. The prospective employee will be given a conditional offer of 

employment conditioned upon the successful completion of a 
background check.    

2. A background check may be conducted.  If the prospective employee 
passes this part of the screening process, he or she may be required 
to take a medical exam   

3. Upon successful completion of the background check and medical 
exam, the following steps will be taken: 
(a) The ED will send an offer letter to the prospective employee, 
which must be signed and returned. 
(b) A start date is coordinated with the Human Resources 
department. 
(c) The prospective employee will be given an orientation interview 
covering the information identified in Section 2.3.2 of these Policies 
and Procedures.   

149



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[12] 

Section 2.3. New Employee Orientation  
2.3.1 Statement of Policy 
All new employees will participate in a new employee orientation meeting with 
representatives from Agency administration and the employee’s Supervisor.   
2.3.2 Content of Orientation 
The subjects that should be covered during such orientation, as applicable, include 
the following: 

A. Information to Be Covered By Administration 
• Job description 
• Workplace harassment policies/training 
• Personnel Policies and Procedures 
• Personnel records and files 
• The probationary period and extension (applicable to rehires, 

promotions, and transfers, as well as for new hires (other than At 
Will hires). 

• Wages and salaries 
• Performance evaluation 
• Safety 
• Employee communications and office decorum 
• General working conditions 
• Organizational chart 

B. Information to Be Covered Regarding Benefits: 
• Group insurance programs 
• Employee’s retirement and deferred compensation plans 
• Workers’ Compensation medical and disability coverage 
• Payroll forms such as W-4, automatic deposits, etc. 

C. Information to Be Covered By Human Resources 
When the employee reports to work, the Human Resources department will review 
with the employee the general employment conditions, as applicable, including but 
not limited to:   

• Introduction to fellow workers  
• Organization and purpose of the Agency 
• Attendance 
• Safety 
• Other related policies and procedures applicable to the employee 

When the employee reports to work, the Department Head will review with the 
employee the general employment conditions, as applicable, including but not 
limited to: 

• Specific job duties, training and performance standards 
• Employee assignments 

150



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[13] 

Section 2.4. Probationary Period 
2.4.1 Statement of Policy 
The probationary period is the final and most important phase of the selection 
process and is used for assessing the performance, ability, conduct and fit of the 
employee in the position to which appointed.  During the probationary period the 
employee may be separated by the Agency at any time and for any reason, with 
or without cause.   
All appointments to full-time and part-time positions, other than At Will 
appointments, are subject to the provisions of Section 2.4 and serving a 
probationary period.   
2.4.2 Duration of Probationary Period  
A probationary period shall be for six (6) months for all employees, and shall begin 
on the first date of employment or promotion.  An employee shall not attain regular 
full-time status in the new position until he or she has completed a probationary 
period of six (6) months continuous service in that position.  
The term “continuous service” as used in this section means a period of six (6) 
months of work uninterrupted by a leave of absence.  Where such interruptions 
occur, the Agency may extend the probationary period. 
2.4.3 Termination of Probationary Period 
Permanent status of the probationary employee shall begin after receipt of a 
positive evaluation no sooner than the end of the probationary period. 
A probationary employee may be separated by the Agency from service at any 
time during the probationary period without right of appeal or hearing. 
2.4.4 Rejection of Probationer Following Promotion 
For any employee who fails to satisfactorily complete the probationary period 
following a promotion, the provisions of Section 2.8.5, Procedure When Employee 
Does Not Pass Probation, shall apply. 
2.4.5 Effect of Leaves of Absence on Probationary Period 
An employee who is on leave of absence without pay during his/her probationary 
period may have the probationary period extended by his/her supervisor.  The 
extension may be up to the amount of time of the leave without pay.  The Agency 
shall notify the employee of the extension in writing prior to the end of the 
probationary period as provided in Section 2.4.2. 

Section 2.5. Job Classification 
It is recognized that the creation and/or redesign of job classifications for all 
Employees, including the establishment of duties and the qualifications required 
therefore, are exclusive functions of Agency management. 
All positions are evaluated according to necessity, relative skills required to do the 
work, and in some case, the market.  Positions that are similar in type of work, 
level of difficulty and level of responsibility are grouped together in the same class.  

151



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[14] 

All positions in the same class are treated alike in such matters as salary and 
minimum qualifications. 
The Executive Director and Human Resources will periodically review the work 
performed by employees to determine whether they are appropriately classified.  If 
the duties of a position are found to have changed substantially, or the need for 
maintaining the position is at issue, the supervisor may recommend that the 
position be re-evaluated, reclassified, or abolished.  Similarly, job descriptions will 
be prepared for any new positions which will be evaluated and classified according 
to their relative worth. 

Section 2.6. Job Descriptions 
Job descriptions define essential and other duties that an employee is required to 
perform in each classification as a condition of continued employment.  They are 
not intended to limit the work which may be performed since other tasks may be 
assigned that are similar in nature or as needed. 
Full job descriptions and salary ranges are available for review on the Agency H 
drive in the following location;  

Section 2.7. Assignment and Transfer 
2.7.1 Statement of Policy 
While it is management’s intent to schedule work and assign personnel in such a 
manner as to achieve maximum utilization of the respective employee’s abilities, 
and while it is management’s intent to encourage an employee’s progression 
upward in the same line of work, it is recognized that conditions which affect 
Agency’s operations will require flexibility in work assignments to permit cross-
training and to stabilize the workload among departments. It is therefore also 
recognized that as conditions require, management will assign, and Management 
Employees and Non-Management Employees will perform, duties which may not 
be within the usual scope of classification responsibilities. 
2.7.2 Temporary Assignments 
If an employee is temporarily assigned to the full duties and responsibilities of a 
higher classification, he /she will be paid a higher rate for the entire period when 
working in the higher wage classification.  If assigned to a lower wage 
classification, the employee will not earn less than he or /she would normally earn 
in a pay period in his/her regular classification. 
A temporary job classification assessment form must be submitted to and 
approved by the Executive Director in advance. 

Section 2.8. Promotion 
2.8.1 Statement of Policy 
It is the intent of the Agency that vacancies shall be filled by internal promotion of 
qualified Agency employees when feasible. 

152



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[15] 

2.8.2 Application Procedure 
When the Agency intends to fill a job opening, a notice of such opening listing 
essential qualifications and functions of the job shall be placed on appropriate 
Agency bulletin board.  Employees shall have five (5) working days to apply for the 
position from the date of posting.  All interested employees must file an application 
to be considered for the open position.  In the event that no employees apply or 
are qualified for the position, the Agency may seek other applicants.  The five (5) 
day in-house posting period may be reduced or waived when management is faced 
with emergency circumstances. 
2.8.3 Criteria for Selection 

A. Minimum Qualifications 
To be considered a qualified applicant for any opening, an applicant must possess 
the minimum qualifications established for the position and, if applicable, pass any 
physical examination or drug and alcohol test that may be required as a conditional 
offer of employment. 

B. Other Qualifications 
The employee’s qualifications will also be assessed in accordance with the 
priorities listed below: 

• Test score, if test is given 
• Related experience 
• Ability to progress in position 
• Documented performance 
• Oral interview 
• Experience and performance in previous Agency employment; and 
• If all else is equal, upon length of employment with the Agency. 

2.8.4 Probationary Period 
Employees promoted to another position within the Agency shall serve a 
probationary period in the new position for the purpose of allowing the Agency to 
assess the employee’s performance, ability, conduct and fit in the new position as 
provided in Section 2.4.2. 
2.8.5 Procedure When Employee Does Not Pass Probation 
If the employee is unsuccessful in the new position, the following procedure will 
apply: 

A. If a Vacancy Exists 
The employee will be returned to his or her former position provided a vacancy still 
exists. 

B. If a Vacancy Does Not Exist in the Former Position 
1. The employee will be afforded the opportunity to compete in a 

vacancy for another position for which the Agency determines he or 
she is qualified. 

153



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[16] 

2. If no other vacancy exists, or if the employee is unsuccessful in the 
bidding process for a vacant position, the employee may be laid off.  Layoff; 
however, for a period of one year following layoff, the employee will be 
eligible to be rehired in the first available opening for which he or she is 
determined to be qualified. 

Section 2.9. Anti-Nepotism Policy and Non-Fraternization Policy 
2.9.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency’s policy is to hire, promote and transfer employees on the basis of 
individual merit and to avoid any hint of favoritism, conflict of interest or 
discrimination in making such decisions.  The employment of relatives, spouses or 
domestic partners is regarded as a potential violation of this policy.  Even if 
favoritism, an actual conflict of interest, or discrimination is not shown, the 
existence of the situation may precipitate an appearance of unfairness or conflict 
of interest. 
2.9.2 Relatives, Spouses or Domestic Partners in Same Department, Work 
Area or Facility 
An employee’s relatives, spouses or registered domestic partners (as defined 
under state law) may only be employed within the same work area, department or 
Agency facility when the following criteria are met: 

1. Such employment does not adversely affect safety, morale, security, 
internal financial control, or supervision and the individuals involved 
do not work in direct supervision of each other. 

2. An employee neither initiates nor participates in making institutional 
recommendations or decisions which would directly affect 
employment status of their spouse, registered domestic partner or 
relative(s).  These recommendations/decisions include, but are not 
limited to, selection, appointment, retention, tenure, work 
assignments, promotion, demotion or salary. 

The Agency may prohibit assignment or reassign employees if, in its sole 
discretion, it finds that any of the above criteria are not met. 
2.9.3 Application of the Policy 

1. "Relatives” refer to persons related by blood or marriage, or any 
relative residing in the immediate household of the employee 
(including, but not limited to: wife, husband, parent, child, 
grandparent, brother, sister, in-laws, aunt, uncle, step relatives). 

2. This policy also applies to persons who are registered domestic 
partners as defined under state law. 

2.9.4 Marriage or Registered Domestic Partnership Arising Between 
Employees While Employed 
1. Should two employees marry or form a registered domestic 

partnership while both are employed by the Agency, they may 

154



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[17] 

continue their employment in the same jobs provided that the criteria 
set forth in Section 2.9.2 are met. 

2. If the criteria are not met, one of the employees in the marriage, or 
registered domestic partnership, must change jobs, work locations 
or leave the Agency.  The couple will make a decision within thirty 
(30) days of the marriage or partnership, as to which of the two of 
them will change positions.  If this decision is not made within 30 
days, based upon its business needs, the Agency reserves the right 
to determine which employee will be transferred or whose 
employment will be terminated based upon the operational interests 
and needs of the Agency. 

2.9.5 Non-Fraternization 
In order to promote the efficient operation of the Agency and its business and to 
avoid misunderstandings, complaints of favoritism, other problems of supervision, 
security and morale, and possible claims of sexual harassment – managers and 
supervisors are forbidden from dating or pursuing romantic or sexual relationships 
with employees whom they supervise, directly or indirectly.  Employees who violate 
this provision will be subject to discipline, up to and including discharge. 

Section 2.10. Performance Evaluation 
An employee serving a six (6) month probationary period shall receive evaluations 
from their immediate supervisor at the end of three (3) months and also prior to the 
completion of the employee's probationary period.  If the employee’s performance 
review at the end of the three month period is at “Does Not Exhibit”, then that 
employee shall not pass probation.  If an employee has more than two areas of 
“Building Competencies” in specific categories, such employee will have an interim 
review at four months from hire.  Failure to reach an overall “Fully Exhibits” rating 
for management employees or “Meets Standards” rating for non-management 
employees, by the six month review will be considered as failing probation.  An 
employee may be released from employment upon failing probation or at the 
discretion of the Executive Director an employee failing to reach an overall “Fully 
Exhibits” rating for management employees or “Meets Standards” rating for non-
management employees at the end of their six-month probation review may have 
their probation period extended to up to three (3) months.  .  
Evaluations for permanent employees shall be completed annually. 
Such evaluations shall be on forms and under procedures prescribed by the 
Executive Director. 
Salary movement through a pay grade will be based on performance which is 
reviewed on an annual basis on the employee’s anniversary date. 
Pay grade ranges are approximately 20% from beginning step to the top of the pay 
grade.  An employee may receive an increase within their pay grade based upon 
their performance and NVTA Board allocation of a salary pool.  Once an employee 
reaches the top of their pay grade they will still be subject to annual performance 
reviews. 

155



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[18] 

The pay grades will be adjusted annually and indexed to the average of County of 
Napa, Sonoma County Transportation Authority, and Solano County 
Transportation Authority increases for a given year or Bay Area Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) for all labor within Napa County, whichever is greater. 
The results of the performance evaluation shall be taken into account in the 
following ways: 

1. A discretionary leave of absence will be granted only to an employee 
whose last evaluation was at least satisfactory. 

2. The general record of service as well as specific and immediate 
disciplinary charges will be taken into account when disciplinary 
action against an employee is proposed and the discipline, if any, is 
assessed. 

3. Merit salary increases will be determined by the Executive Director 
and can be awarded only to those employees whose current overall 
evaluation is at least “Fully Exhibits” or above for management 
positions, and at least a “Meets Standards” or above for non-
management positions. 

4. If a non-probationary employee is at “Does Not Exhibit or Building 
Competencies” in two or more specific areas, or receives an overall 
rating of “Does Not Exhibit” that employee will be evaluated again 
within three months.  Continued failure to meet performance 
expectations will lead to further disciplinary action up to and including 
discharge. 

Section 2.11. Resignation 
Any employee, other than the Executive Director or At Will employees, wishing to 
leave service in good standing shall file with the Agency a signed written 
resignation giving at least two weeks’ notice of his/her intention to leave the 
service, unless the Agency consents to an earlier separation.   
The written resignation shall be forwarded to the Executive Director.  The 
Executive Director may request an exit interview with the separating employee. 
Any employee who leaves service without so filing a written resignation shall have 
such fact entered in his/her service record and may, by action of the Executive 
Director, be denied employment opportunities with the Agency in the future. 

Section 2.12. Layoff 
2.12.1 Statement of Policy 
When it is necessary to reduce the working staff of the Agency for lack of work or 
lack of funds or for other causes outside of the worker’s control, the Agency shall 
determine the classes of positions in which the reduction is to be made and the 
number of positions to be affected, except that this Section 2.12 shall not apply to 
At Will employees.  Reduction in staff within the designated classes of positions 
shall occur in the following order: 

156



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[19] 

1. Employees who have temporary status. 
2. Employees who are probationary. 
3. Part-time regular employees. 
4. Full-time regular employees. 

2.12.2 Layoff Order 
The Agency shall determine the employees to be laid off within a class of positions 
on the basis of an employee’s performance and/or special qualifications needed 
by the Agency. 
2.12.3 Notice 
The Agency will give employees notice of any reduction in staff at least two weeks 
prior to the effective date. 
2.12.4 Reinstatement from Layoff  
Full-time employees who are laid off will be given the right of first refusal in filling 
future vacancies in the position from which he/she was laid off for a period of one 
year. 
2.12.5 Benefits 
During periods of lay off, health care coverage remains available if premiums are 
paid by the employee in accordance with carrier regulations and limitations and 
COBRA/Cal-COBRA laws as applicable.  Such benefit will be available for a period 
of time consistent with COBRA/Cal-COBRA. 

Section 2.13. Personnel Files 
2.13.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency maintains personnel files on all employees.  The files contain 
confidential information such as job applications, resumes, documentation of 
performance, salary changes, benefit elections and other employment records. 
2.13.2 Employee Responsibility to Ensure Accuracy of Personnel Records 
The accuracy of personnel records is essential for the proper handling of many 
items of great importance to employees, including the emergency notification of 
family, income tax deductions, insurance coverage, and other fringe benefits from 
the Agency.  It is the employee’s responsibility to keep the Agency updated on 
personal information so that the Agency may effectively handle those programs 
and tasks which are for the employee’s benefit.  
In order that the Agency may keep complete and current records, it is mandatory 
that the employee notify the Agency office immediately whenever there is a change 
in the employee’s following information: 

1. Address 
2. Telephone Number (Note: As a condition of employment, it is 

necessary that the employee present a telephone number where 

157



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[20] 

he/she can be reached by his/her Supervisor directly without having 
to go through other parties.) 

3. Person to notify in the event of an emergency. 
4. Name, through marriage or otherwise. 
5. Marital status 
6. Number of dependents 
7. Insurance beneficiary 
8. Military Status 
9. Driver’s license number and date of expiration when a condition of 

employment. 
2.13.3 Duty to Provide Accurate Information 
Any misrepresentations, falsifications, or material omissions by an employee on 
his or employment documents may result in disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment.   
2.13.4 Access to Personnel Files 
An employee may request to review his or her personnel file by submitting a written 
request twenty-four hours in advance to the Executive Director or designee.  If an 
employee disagrees with any item contained in his or her personnel file, the 
employee may add a document containing his or her version of the disputed item. 
 

158



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[21] 

CHAPTER 3 HOURS OF WORK AND COMPENSATION 
 
Section 3.1. Work Schedules 

3.1.1 Work Schedules 
New employees will be advised of their work schedules when they commence 
employment with the Agency.  From time to time, it may be necessary for the 
Agency to change employee work schedules.  Employees are expected to 
cooperate with these changes and are expected to arrange their personal 
schedules to comply with their assigned work hours.  
3.1.2 Standard Work Schedule 
The standard work schedule is forty (40) hours.  The core work hours are 9:00 a.m. 
to 4:00 p.m. with at least 30 minutes for lunch.  The standard hours and/or days of 
a standard work schedule may be altered upon request by the supervisor and with 
approval of the Executive Director.  ALTERNATE WORK SCHEDULES (9-80’s 
AND 4-10’s) may be authorized by the Executive Director and approval of such will 
be placed in the employees personnel file. 
3.1.3 Standard Work Week 
The Standard workweek is a seven-day period beginning at 12:00 a.m. on 
Saturday and ending at 11:59 p.m. on Friday.   
3.1.4 Flex Time 
“Flex time” occurs where an employee varies his or her regularly scheduled start 
or end time.  It is confined to a normal work week as defined above.   
Flex time for employees is subject to prior approval by the employee’s supervisor 
and the Executive Director.  Prior written approval from employee’s supervisor and 
the Executive Director shall be obtained no later than the conclusion of the 
previous work shift.  
Management and Supervisory employees are expected to be on duty at the times 
they can most efficiently discharge those tasks relative to supervising their 
employees and interacting with other Agency personnel and members of the 
public.  If this is at a time other than normal business hours they can notify the 
Executive Director and have their normal duty hours changed to so reflect. 

Section 3.2. Meal and Rest Breaks  
3.2.1 Meal Breaks 
Employees shall take an unpaid 30 or 60 minute meal break.  Such meal break 
shall be scheduled at approximately mid-way through the workday. 
3.2.2 Rest Periods 
Employees are permitted one 15-minute rest period for each four (4) hour work 
period.  These breaks shall be scheduled about midway through each four (4) hour 
period. 

159



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[22] 

3.2.3 Meal and Rest Breaks May Not Be Combined or Postponed 
Rest and meal periods are provided so the employees may rest, obtain 
nourishment and rejuvenate during the workday.  Employees may not combine 
rest periods or add them to meal breaks.  Nor may employees postpone their rest 
or meal periods to the end of the workday in order to leave earlier.    

Section 3.3. Compensation 
3.3.1 Statement of Policy 
As a public entity, the Agency is committed to rendering the highest level of service 
possible at a fair and reasonable cost.  The Agency’s ability to achieve this 
objective is affected by a number of factors, one of which is the quality performance 
of Agency employees.  In order to attract and retain highly competent employees, 
promote continuous superior performance, and give full recognition to Agency 
financial constraints, the following criteria will be considered in establishing 
employee compensation: 

1. The impact of compensation on the cost of services, financial 
position of the Agency, and overall operational cost. 

2. Compensation paid for similar work in other public and private 
organizations. 

3. The relative value of individual employee’s services to the success 
of the Agency. 

4. The general and specific performance of employees. 
5. Status of the labor force, economic conditions, recruitment and 

retention experience, and other factors influencing the maintenance 
of a stable and efficient work force. 

The Executive Director or their designee shall develop an annual Salary and 
Benefits package for submission to the Board each year.  The schedule shall set 
forth the positions approved by the Board, together with proposed salary ranges 
and employee benefits, for the upcoming fiscal year beginning July 1.  Salary 
ranges and employee benefits are to be reviewed and considered by the Board for 
adjustment for each fiscal year as part of the budget adoption. 
3.3.2 Wage Rates 
Employees will be paid within the salary range established for their job 
classification.  A list of job classifications and applicable salary rates is maintained 
in the Agency’s business office. 
From time to time, salary rates may be adjusted to reflect inflation, deflation or 
other cost of living changes.  The Bay Area Consumer Price Index, and/or the 
average of salary adjustments for Napa County, Sonoma County Transportation 
Authority, and Solano County Transportation Authority as published at the time of 
the Executive Director’s development of the recommended annual Salary and 
Benefits package shall be referred to in considering the possible adjustment of 
salary rates.  Nothing herein shall constitute an implied or specific agreement by 

160



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[23] 

Agency to grant cost of living increases or as to the amount of any such increase.  
The purpose of this provision is to provide a framework for the development of the 
annual Salary and Benefits package that is subject to review and approval by the 
Board. 
3.3.3 Pay Schedule 
Wages will be paid on a bi-weekly basis.  Wages will be paid within fourteen (14) 
calendar days following the end of the pay period.  If paid by check in lieu of direct 
deposit, such paychecks not picked up by 4:00 p.m. on payday will be mailed. 
3.3.4 Payroll Deductions 
An employee’s earnings and payroll deductions are shown on a check stub with 
the employee’s paycheck.  The check stub should be examined and retained for 
personal records. 
The Agency will make the following deductions from an employee’s earnings: 

A. Mandatory Deductions 
1. Federal Income Tax (Withhold Tax) 
2. State Income Tax 
3. State Disability Insurance (S.D.I.) 
4. Garnishments/Wage Attachments  
B. Employee Authorized Deductions 
1. Employee deferred compensation contributions 
2. Medical and dental insurance contributions 
3. Jury duty payments to an employee who was provided paid time off 

for jury service 
4. Other Deductions Agreed Upon in Writing by the Employee and 

permitted by law. 
3.3.5 Updating Payroll Information 
During the course of employment, changes affecting payroll status will probably 
occur from time to time.  Examples are changes in marital status, name change 
due to marriage, changes in number of dependents and changes required to adjust 
an excessive or insufficient tax withholding situation.  Questions concerning these 
changes should be directed to the Human Resources department.  

Section 3.4. Timekeeping 
3.4.1 Employees  

A. Time Sheet 
Each employee is responsible for preparing an individual time sheet weekly.  The 
employee should accurately record regular and authorized overtime hours worked 

161



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[24] 

and leave usages.  Time sheets must also show all of the following for each job 
performed during the week: 

1. Work locations such as lateral name or improvement Agency 
number. 

2. Job or task number. 
B. Submission of Time Sheets 

Each employee must electronically submit his or her time card, verifying its 
accuracy, and have the time sheet reviewed and approved by his/her supervisor.  
Employees are expected to submit their time sheets promptly as directed by the 
Executive Director, or his/her Designee.  
3.4.2 Consequences of Falsifying Time Records 
Falsification of time sheets, recording time for another or signing the timesheet of 
another will result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge.  

Section 3.5. Overtime 
3.5.1 Statement of Policy 
From time to time, overtime work may be necessary to complete a work 
assignment or tend to the public’s needs.  Overtime must be required by and 
authorized by the Executive Director.  All employees will be expected to work 
overtime under specific circumstances which shall be defined by the Executive 
Director.  Refusal to work, after requested to do so under those circumstances, will 
be grounds for disciplinary action. 
3.5.2 Exclusion from Policy 
For purposes of determining entitlement to overtime pay under the federal Fair 
Labor Standards Act (FLSA), employees will be either classified as exempt or non-
exempt based upon the nature of their duties.  Exempt employees, such as 
management positions, are not entitled to overtime pay.   
3.5.3 Overtime Pay 
An employee who works overtime shall be compensated at a rate of one and one 
half (1 ½) time the employee’s standard hourly rate in cash or compensatory time 
off.  Employees may elect to be compensated in cash or compensatory time off for 
any overtime worked and must make the election on the time card for the pay 
period in which it was worked. 
Unless otherwise provided below, overtime is defined as any time actually worked 
in excess of forty (40) hours in an employee’s standard workweek.  For employees 
on an alternate work schedule (including four (4)-ten (10) and nine (9)-eighty (80) 
schedules), overtime is defined as any time actually worked in excess of an 
employee’s standard work day in a consecutive twenty-four (24) hour period or 
forty (40) hours in an employee’s standard workweek.   
An employee who works more than the normal number of workdays during a 
normal workweek based on their assigned work schedule shall receive overtime 

162



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[25] 

compensation provided that the employee was not absent from work for more than 
one normal work day in that workweek due to vacation, compensatory time, 
holiday, sick leave, any other paid leave or a combination thereof. 

 
Overtime pay must be approved in advanced by employee’s supervisor and the 
Executive Director prior to performing the work. 

 

163



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[26] 

CHAPTER 4 STANDARDS OF CONDUCTS 
 
Section 4.1. Equal Employment Opportunity 

4.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The Napa Valley Transportation Authority is an equal opportunity employer.  The 
Agency does not discriminate against qualified applicants or employees with 
respect to any terms or conditions of employment based on an applicant’s or 
employee’s race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, physical disability, 
mental disability, medical condition, marital status, domestic partner status, sex 
(including pregnancy, childbirth and related medical conditions), gender (including 
gender identity), age (over 40), sexual orientation, political affiliation, veteran’s 
status, or any other characteristic protected by federal, state or local law.   
The Agency subscribes to all federal and state laws that are intended to protect 
the right and opportunity of all persons to seek, obtain and hold employment 
without discrimination or abridgment because of the foregoing characteristics.   
4.1.2 Employee, Supervisor and Management Responsibilities 
All employees are charged with the responsibility of furthering equal employment 
opportunity by identifying and reporting incidents of discrimination.  Agency 
managers and supervisors are further required to ensure that principles of equal 
employment opportunity and non-discrimination are followed with regard to 
recruitment, hiring, placement, promotion, transfer, demotion, layoff, termination, 
pay and other forms of compensation, training and general treatment of employees 
during employment.    
In any instance where an employee believes that this policy has been violated, that 
employee is encouraged to consult with the Agency's Executive Director, or if the 
alleged violator is the Executive Director, the Chair of the Board with the assurance 
that no reprisals (retaliation) or otherwise adverse action will be taken against the 
employee.  

Section 4.2. Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy 
4.2.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency is committed to providing a work environment free from harassment 
and discrimination as defined by this policy.  Agency policy prohibits discrimination, 
sexual harassment and harassment because of race, color, national origin, 
ancestry, religion, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, marital 
status, domestic partner status, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth and related 
medical conditions), gender (including gender identity), age (over 40), sexual 
orientation, political affiliation, veteran’s status, or any other characteristic 
protected by federal and state law.  All such harassment and discrimination is 
prohibited.  Persons protected from harassment and discrimination under this 
policy includes job applicants, employees and independent contractors.  
Applicants, employees or independent contractors are protected from harassment 
that is perpetrated by Agency officials, managers, supervisors, employees, and by 

164



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[27] 

non-employees when the harassment occurs in the course of Agency work.  
Employees who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination.   
4.2.2 Definitions 

A. “Discrimination” 
For purposes of this policy, discrimination may occur by either: 
1. Treating members of a protected class less favorably because of 

their membership in that class.  The protected groups are based 
upon race, age, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, physical or 
mental disability, medical condition, marital status, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender or self-identified gender. 
a) “Sex” is defined as including, but not limited to pregnancy, 

childbirth, or medical conditions related to such pregnancy, as 
well as one’s gender (see California Government Code, 
section 12926(p)). 

b) “Gender” is defined as including a person’s sex, gender 
identity and gender related appearance and behavior whether 
or not stereotypically associated with the person’s assigned 
sex at birth (see California Penal Code, section 422.56). 

2. Having a policy or practice that has a disproportionately adverse 
impact on protect class members. 

B. “Harassment” 
Conduct which constitutes harassment in violation of this policy includes, 
but is not limited to: 
1. Making or using derogatory comments, slurs, jokes or epithets which 

are related to an individual’s race, religion, gender, self-identified 
gender, sex, or is of a sexual nature, or are based on any other 
identified protected category, as set forth in section 4.2.2.A.1. above, 
or are otherwise deemed inappropriate. 

2, Assaulting, touching, impeding or blocking movement, making 
derogatory gestures, or any physical interference with normal work 
movement which is motivated or related to an individual’s protected 
status as set forth in section 4.2.2.A.1, above. 

3. Displaying derogatory posters, letters, poems, graffiti, cartoons or 
drawings that involve or relate to an individual’s protected status as 
set forth in section 4.2.2.A.1, above. 

4. Sexual harassment as defined in section 4.2.2.C, below. 
5. Retaliation against an employee, or person who provides services to 

NVTA pursuant to a contract or other covered individual who: 

165



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[28] 

a) Files or responds to a bona fide complaint of harassment or 
discrimination; or 

b) Acts as a witness or otherwise cooperates in the investigation 
of a harassment or discrimination complaint; or 

c) Serves as an investigator in processing complaints of 
harassment or discrimination. 

C. Sexual Harassment” 
1. For purpose of this policy, sexual harassment is any behavior that 

includes unwelcome sexual advances and other verbal or physical 
conduct of a sexual nature when: 
a) Submission to, or rejection of, such conduct is used as the 

basis for employment decisions that influence or affect an 
individual’s career (such as promotions, salary, employment 
conditions or other aspects of a career development); or 

b) Such conduct unreasonably interferes with an individual’s job 
performance; 

c) Creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive work 
environment. 

2. All of the conduct described in 4.2.2.B. (1)-(3), above, when it is of a 
sexual nature; or 

3. Deliberate, repeated or unwelcome sexual advances, offering 
employment benefits in exchange for sexual favors or making or 
threatening reprisals after a negative response to sexual advances. 

Sexual harassment can occur between employees of the opposite or same sex.  It 
is prohibited for males to sexually harass females or other males, and for females 
to sexually harass males or other females.  
4.2.3 Zero Tolerance 
The Agency maintains a zero tolerance stance regarding violations of this policy.  
This means that serious cases of employee harassment, discrimination or 
retaliation related to a complaint made pursuant to this policy will lead to 
recommendations for immediate dismissal by the Executive Director. 
Conduct of the nature prohibited by this policy will be considered misconduct and 
will subject an offending employee to disciplinary action even if the conduct does 
not rise to the level of legally actionable harassment, discrimination or retaliation.   
4.2.4 Complaint and Investigation Procedure 
Employees and contractors should not wait until a situation becomes severe or 
pervasive or impairs their work performance before reporting harassment or 
discrimination.  The Agency’s goal is to prevent harassment and, if it does occur, 
to stop it at the earliest opportunity. 

166



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[29] 

If the employee believes that he/she has been harassed or discriminated under 
this policy, or if the employee believes he/she has witnessed harassment or 
discrimination, the employee should inform his/her supervisor, Human Resources, 
or the Executive Director of the Agency as soon as possible after the incident.  The 
complaint should include details of the incident or incidents, names of the 
individuals involved and names of any witnesses.  Supervisors or management 
employees who are aware or have been notified of any alleged incident of 
harassment or discrimination must immediately refer all such complaints or reports 
to Human Resources and to the Executive Director.   
If the Executive Director is the harasser, the employee can report the 
harassment/discrimination to the chairman of the Board of Directors. 
If the employee does not feel comfortable reporting the incident to his/her 
supervisor, Human Resources or the Executive Director, he/she may report the 
incident to any other supervisory or management employee, or the chair of the 
Board of Directors. 
Whenever the Agency is made aware of a complaint or report of 
harassment/discrimination under this policy, the Agency will conduct an 
immediate, thorough and objective investigation of the situation.  Cooperation with 
such investigations is required of all employees.  
If the Agency determines that harassment/discrimination prohibited by this policy 
has occurred, effective remedial action will be taken in accordance with the 
circumstances involved.  Any employee determined by the Agency to have 
engaged in prohibited harassment/discrimination will be subject to appropriate 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
In addition to the foregoing methods of complaint, an applicant, employee or 
contractor may choose to file a harassment/discrimination complaint with the 
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing at http://www.dfeh.ca.gov 
or the federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission at 
http://www.eeoc.gov/.   
4.2.5 Prohibition on Retaliation 
The Agency strictly prohibits retaliation against any applicant, employee or 
contractor who complains of harassment or discrimination or participates in any 
manner in an investigation into workplace harassment/discrimination.  Examples 
of retaliation prohibited by this policy include the following: 

• Disciplining a complainant or rejecting a complainant for employment 
because it is believed the allegation of harassment is untrue or the 
allegation of harassment/discrimination is not supported by 
subsequent findings of an investigation; 

• Subjecting complainants or witnesses to materially adverse 
employment decisions because of their participation in a workplace 
harassment/discrimination complaint or investigation; 

167

http://www.dfeh.ca.gov/
http://www.eeoc.gov/


 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[30] 

• Ostracizing or demonstrating hostility to a complainant or witnesses 
because of their participation in a workplace 
harassment/discrimination complaint or investigation. 

If the Agency finds that any employee, including a supervisor or manager, has 
engaged in retaliation, he or she shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including discharge.   
4.2.6 Prevention 
Prevention is the best method for avoiding harassment, discrimination and 
retaliation.  Supervisory and managerial employees are charged with the 
responsibility of taking steps to prevent harassment/discrimination and retaliation 
from occurring in the workplace.  Failure to take appropriate action to prevent 
and/or correct harassment/discrimination or retaliation shall be deemed a violation 
of this policy and shall subject the offender to disciplinary action up to and including 
discharge.  If the Executive Director is the harasser, the employee can report the 
harassment/discrimination to the Chair of the Board of Directors who will 
investigate the complaint in the same manner that the Executive Director would 
investigate complaints filed by other employees.  If the employee does not feel 
comfortable reporting the incident to his/her supervisor, or the Executive Director, 
he/she may report the incident to any other supervisory, management employee 
or Human Resources.  

Section 4.3. Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule  
It is the Agency’s philosophy and practice to treat one another with respect and courtesy.   
Employees who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination.   
Section 4.4. Reasonable Accommodation 

4.4.1 Statement of Policy 
In furtherance of the Agency’s policy to provide equal employment opportunity, the 
Agency will provide reasonable accommodation to allow people with physical or 
mental disabilities to apply for employment and perform their jobs.   
4.4.2 Conditions Covered By This Policy 

A. Disability 
The term “disability” means: 

1. A physical or mental disorder or condition that limits one or more of 
the major life activities of such individual; or 

2. A record of disorder or condition; or 
3. Being regarded as having such a disorder or condition. 
B. Conditions Excluded 

Individuals who currently use drugs illegally are not protected by the disability laws 
and do not have rights to reasonable accommodation.  This includes people who 

168



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[31] 

use prescription drugs illegally.  However, persons who no longer use drugs 
illegally and have either successfully completed a supervised drug rehabilitation 
program, or are currently participating in a supervised rehabilitation program, or 
desire to voluntarily enter and participate in such a program do have protection as 
provided under applicable disability laws. 
4.4.3 Examples of Reasonable Accommodation 
Each request for an accommodation will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  
Reasonable accommodation may include: 

• Making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to 
and usable by individuals with disabilities; 

• Job restructuring or modified work schedules;  

• Acquisition or modification of equipment or devices; 

• The provision of qualified readers or interpreters;  

• Appropriate adjustment or modifications of examinations, training 
materials or policies; and/or 

• Reassignment to a vacant position.  
4.4.4 Requests for Reasonable Accommodation 
To request reasonable accommodation under this policy, an applicant or employee 
must submit a written statement to the Human Resource Department which 
indicates the general nature of the physical or mental disability and identifies his 
or her abilities and functional limitations with respect to the job limitations of the c 
disability.  The statement should also request reasonable accommodation 
because of the limitation(s) caused by the disability.  The applicant or employee 
shall assist the Agency in determining if and what reasonable accommodation 
might be provided by identifying: 

1. Any special methods, skills or procedures which would enable him 
or her to perform tasks or functions that he or she otherwise might 
not be able to perform because of his or her disability; 

2. The potential accommodations the Agency might make that would 
enable him or her to perform the essential functions of the job, 
properly and safely, including special equipment, changes in the 
physical layout of the job or other accommodation; and  

3. Any equipment aids or services that the applicant or employee is 
willing to provide and utilize that the Agency is not required to 
provide.   

If the applicant or employee requires secretarial or other assistance in preparing 
the request due to his or her disability, such assistance will be provided upon 
request. 

169



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[32] 

4.4.5 Medical Information 
An applicant or employee who identifies himself or herself as having a disability 
and who requests reasonable accommodation will be required to provide 
documentation, including medical documentation, sufficient to establish the 
existence of the   physical or mental disorder or condition, the limitations caused 
by the condition, and the need for accommodation. 
Any information obtained regarding the medical condition of the applicant or 
employee will be collected and maintained on separate forms, in separate medical 
files, and treated as a confidential record.  Such confidential information may be 
released as follows: 

1. To inform the supervisors and managers of the disabled employee 
regarding any restrictions on the work or duties of the employee or 
accommodations necessary; 

2. To inform first aid and safety personnel, when appropriate, if the 
disability may require emergency treatment; 

3. To respond to requests from governmental officials investigating 
compliance with the disability laws; and 

4. To workers’ compensation offices and second injury funds as 
required by law or for insurance purposes under certain conditions 
for those who establish, sponsor or administer health or life 
insurance benefit plans. 

4.4.6 The Interactive Process 
The Interactive Process can begin in a number of ways.  However, unless the 
disability or the need for accommodation is obvious, it is the responsibility of the 
employee to inform the supervisor or the Human Resource Department that an 
accommodation is needed in order to perform the essential job functions.  
However, the duty to provide a reasonable accommodation may arise even when 
no request is made, e.g., when the supervisor, Executive Director, or Human 
Resources becomes aware of the disability, whether or not there is a request by 
the employee for a reasonable accommodation.   Once the need for reasonable 
accommodation is known, the Agency, by and through the employee’s supervisor, 
or Executive Director, and Human Resources department, will engage in the 
Interactive Process, which includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Review of the essential functions of the position; 
2. Engagement in an interactive dialogue with the employee to 

ascertain the precise job related limitations imposed by the 
employee’s disability and how those limitation would be overcome 
with reasonable accommodation; 

3. In consultation with the employee, identification of the potential 
reasonable accommodations and assess the effectiveness each 
would have in enabling the employee to perform the essential 
functions of the position; 

170



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[33] 

4. Consideration of the preference of the employee to be 
accommodated regarding an alternative employment reassignment; 
and 

5. Selection and implementation of the reasonable accommodation 
most appropriate for the Agency in collaboration with the employee’s 
input. 

4.4.7 Miscellaneous Guidelines  
1. Reasonable accommodation does not negate requirements for good 

job performance, successful completion of assigned training, 
adherence to generally accepted standards of behavior and 
adherence to supervisory instructions. 

2. An employee with a disability who is reassigned to a vacant, lower 
classified position as an accommodation will receive the lower salary 
of that position. 

3. If the essential job functions and/or duties of a position occupied by 
an employee with a disability are expanded, revised or modified, the 
conditions and procedures stated shall apply to any evaluation of the 
employee’s ability to perform the essential functions of the changed, 
revised or modified position and the Agency’s determination whether 
reasonable accommodation can be provided. 

4. An employee who has a question regarding the application of the 
policy and procedure should contact the Executive Director. 

Section 4.5. Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene  
4.5.1 Statement of Policy 
Agency employees often come into contact with the public, which judges the 
quality of the Agency service by the appearance and behavior of its employees 
and has the right to expect appropriate clothing, neat appearance, good manners, 
and service.  Therefore, Agency employees will be expected to adhere to the 
following guidelines.  
4.5.2 Guidelines on Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene 

1. All employees are expected to exercise good hygiene and be well 
groomed. 

2. All employees having long hair or wearing a moustache or beard 
must keep them clean, trimmed, combed, and otherwise groomed so 
as not to interfere with worker safety.  Those employees who 
normally do not wear a beard or moustache and who normally shave 
must keep themselves clean shaven. 

3. Employees must dress in a manner that is professional, functional, 
and affords them safety from unnecessary risk of injury.  Office 
employees should not wear shorts, sweat pants, tank tops, shabby 
denims, or suggestive or inappropriate clothing. 

171



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[34] 

4. When, on occasion, employees have to deal with discourteous 
persons, it is especially important for them to maintain their friendly 
attitude.  Continuing courtesy on the part of employees will do much 
to promote an excellent relationship between the Agency and the 
community. 

Section 4.6. Attendance and Punctuality  
4.6.1 Statement of Policy 
In order to offer high quality service, the Agency’s operations must be appropriately 
staffed.  Absenteeism and tardiness cause undue burdens on co-workers and 
impede the service the Agency provides to the community.  Therefore, regular 
attendance and punctuality are job requirements for all employees of the Agency. 
4.6.2 Reporting Requirements 

1. Employees are expected to report to work on time and ready for duty 
at the time prescribed.   

2. Employees may not leave work without prior supervisory approval 
during working hours or prior to the end of a scheduled work time.   

3. Employees who foresee the need to be absent, tardy or leave early 
from work should notify their supervisor/Department Head, Human 
Resources, the Administrative Assistant and the Executive Director 
of the anticipated absence as far in advance as practicable and 
obtain approval for such absence.   

4. An employee who will be absent or late to work must notify their 
supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, the Administrative 
Assistant and Executive Director prior to the start of the employee’s 
shift.  This process must be repeated daily unless the employee is 
on an approved leave of absence.  An employee must keep their 
supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, and Executive 
Director informed of when he or she plans to return to work.  An 
employee who does not return to work from a leave of absence on 
the approved date shall be deemed absent without leave (AWOL) 
and shall be subject to automatic resignation. 

5. An employee who is physically unable to provide notice of an 
absence prior to the start of the employee’s work day must provide 
notice as soon as practicably possible. 

6. Absences, including tardiness, must be accurately reported on time 
sheets in 15 minute increments.  Employees who are tardy will not 
be paid for the time they are absent. 

4.6.3 Discipline 
Failure to provide a supervisor with advance notice of an absence or late arrival 
for work, frequent or prolonged absenteeism or tardiness, or falsification of time 
records may result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge. 

172



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[35] 

Employee absences which are protected by law (e.g., military leave, workers 
compensation leave, family medical leave, “kin care” leave, pregnancy disability 
and other approved disability leaves, witness or jury duty leave, voting leave, court 
appearances for crime victims, and leave for certain school activities) will not be 
counted in determining whether the employee is meeting job requirements for 
attendance. 

Section 4.7. Secondary Employment  
4.7.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency expects its employees to devote full attention to their Agency 
responsibilities during regularly scheduled work hours.  The Agency will not 
tolerate any secondary employment, which interferes in any way with the 
performance of duties for the Agency including, but not limited to, the following: 

1. Actual conflict in hours of employment; 
2. Being tired or unfit for duty because of outside employment;  
3. Where the secondary employment creates an actual or apparent 

conflict of interest in regard to Agency employment. 
4.7.2 Notification and Approval 
Employees must notify the Agency of all secondary employment.  Any employee 
who engages in after or before hours work at a secondary job must accomplish the 
following: 

1. Receive the written permission of the Executive Director prior to 
accepting secondary employment.  In the case of the Executive 
Director, he/she must receive authorization from the Board of 
Directors; 

2. When requested by the Executive Director, obtain from the 
secondary employer a waiver of liability for the Agency; 

3. It is incumbent on the employee to make it clear to the secondary 
employer that he, the employee, is not performing any duties as a 
representative of NVTA; 

4. Once approval is granted by the Executive Director, immediately 
notify the ED if the secondary employment poses an actual or 
potential conflict with regards to the employee’s Agency 
employment. 

Section 4.8. Causes for Discipline 
4.8.1 Statement of Policy 
The purpose of this policy is to establish standards of conduct and work 
performance for employees that are consistent with the efficient and effective 
delivery of public services.  When conduct or job performance does not meet these 
standards, the Agency will endeavor to provide employees with a reasonable 
opportunity to correct the deficiency in the Agency’s sole judgment.   

173



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[36] 

4.8.2 Standards of Conduct 
The standards set forth below are intended to provide employees with notice of 
what is expected of them and provide examples that may lead to disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge.  This list is not meant to be exhaustive or all 
inclusive, but rather it is a set of examples of unacceptable behavior for which 
disciplinary action could result 

1. Poor performance; unsatisfactory work quality or quantity; 
2. Neglect of duty, including sleeping on the job; 
3. Insubordination;   
4. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness; 
5. Unexcused absences, failing to properly report absences, or leaving 

work early without permission; 
6. Failure to keep supervisor aware of employee’s whereabouts during 

duty time when availability may be required;  
7. Misuse of or damage to Agency tools, vehicles, equipment or other 

property;  
8. Moving violations or accidents in an Agency vehicle;  
9. Violation of safety rules or practices;  
10. Falsifying, altering or making a material omission on employment, 

medical, financial, payroll, timekeeping, or other Agency records;  
11. Performing non-Agency work during work hours;  
12. Dishonesty; 
13. Special treatment or favoritism of one customer over another; 
14. Use, possession, sale or being under the influence of alcoholic 

beverages or illegal drugs during work hours or on Agency premises 
(including vehicles) or other violation of the drug and alcohol policy; 

15. Violation of the anti-harassment or discrimination policies; 
16. Fighting, engaging in violent or threatening behavior or other conduct 

in violation of the Agency’s workplace violence policy; 
17. Discourteous treatment of the public or other employees, as defined 

by the Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule (Section 4.3); 
18. Conviction of a crime that reflects unfitness for the employee’s 

position or unfitness to work around the Agency’s employees, 
property or the public;  

19. Other failure of good behavior during or outside of duty hours which 
is of such a nature that it causes discredit to the Agency and his or 
her employment; and  

174



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[37] 

20. Other violation of Agency policies or rules. 
Section 4.9. Discipline 

4.9.1 Statement of Policy 
The purpose of this policy is to establish procedures for the discipline of 
employees; except Section 4.8 shall not apply to At Will or temporary employees.  
When the job performance or the conduct of a probationary or permanent 
employee falls below standards set by the Agency, including the Standards of 
Conduct set forth in Section 4.7, then depending on the severity of the misconduct 
or performance problem, the Agency may take disciplinary action, up to and 
including discharge. 
4.9.2 Progressive Discipline 
The Agency will endeavor to afford the employee with an opportunity to improve 
when dealing with performance or conduct problems.  Different types of discipline 
may be utilized as determined appropriate in the sole discretion of the Agency and 
discipline need not adhere to a sequential order of progressive discipline.  Types 
of discipline may include: verbal or written warnings, written reprimands, 
suspension without pay, demotion and discharge. 

A. Suspension without Pay 
For more severe violations or continued, uncorrected performance or misconduct 
problems, an employee may be suspended without pay.  Where suspension 
without pay is recommended for a permanent employee, the employee will have 
the right to a Skelly meeting and a post-disciplinary appeal. 

B. Demotion 
The Agency may impose a demotion to a position having a lower salary range for 
disciplinary purposes.  A disciplinary demotion may be utilized for continued, 
uncorrected performance deficiencies.  Where demotion is recommended for a 
permanent employee, the employee will have the right to a Skelly meeting and a 
post-disciplinary appeal. 

C. Discharge 
Discharge will be considered for severe violations, failure to respond appropriately 
to prior performance improvement plans, and/or multiple disciplinary infractions in 
a short period of time.  Where misconduct is   severe and egregious, immediate 
discharge may be imposed.    Where discharge has been recommended for a 
permanent employee, the employee will have the right to a Skelly meeting and a 
post-disciplinary appeal.  The discharge will be documented in the personnel file. 
4.9.3 Administrative Leave 
In cases involving alleged severe employee misconduct, or where the presence of 
the employee may interfere with the investigation into the employee’s alleged 
misconduct, or where the interests of public or workplace health and safety or the 
Agency’s business operations may be jeopardized by the employee’s presence, 
the Executive Director may place the employee on paid administrative leave 

175



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[38] 

pending an investigation into the circumstances.  During such administrative leave, 
the employee will be required to be available by telephone to the Agency during 
regular business hours and to promptly respond to requests for information by the 
Agency.  The employee should not enter Agency premises during administrative 
leave without permission by the Executive Director. 
4.9.4 Procedures for Disciplinary Action of a Permanent Employee 
Where discipline of a permanent employee involves disciplinary actions that result 
in loss of salary or change in employment status (such as suspension without pay 
or demotion or discharge), the following provisions shall apply: 

A. Notice of Proposed Discipline 
The employee’s supervisor shall inform the employee in writing of the proposed 
disciplinary action, which shall not be effective until at least five days from the date 
the notice of proposed action is served on the employee.  This notice shall include 
a copy of the charges and the reasons for the proposed disciplinary action.  This 
notice shall also include a copy of all relevant documents upon which the proposed 
disciplinary action is based. The notice shall advise the employee of his/her right 
to respond to the proposed action either in writing or to hold a meeting to respond 
(Skelly meeting).  Notice may be served on the employee by either U.S. mail or 
personal delivery.  Notice by U.S. mail shall be deemed served five days after 
deposit with the U.S. postal service.    

B. Skelly Meeting 
The employee may request a meeting to respond to the proposed disciplinary 
action.  The meeting shall be held with the appropriate manager.  Following the 
meeting or employee’s written response, the ED or manager shall determine 
whether to proceed, modify, or set aside the proposed disciplinary action. 

C. Notice of Discipline 
The employee shall be informed in writing of the final disciplinary action.  A copy 
of the Notice of Discipline shall be placed in the employee’s personnel file.  This 
notice shall include a copy of the charges, the reasons for disciplinary action, and 
provide the effective date of the action.  This notice shall also include a copy of all 
relevant documents upon which the disciplinary action is based.  The notice shall 
advise the employee of his/her right to appeal the disciplinary action.  Notice may 
be served on the employee by either U.S. mail or personal delivery.  Notice by U.S. 
mail shall be deemed served five days after the date of deposit with the U.S. postal 
service.   

D. Right to Appeal 
Within five days of service of the Notice of Disciplinary Action, a permanent 
employee may request to appeal the disciplinary action in writing to the ED.  An 
employee may only appeal a disciplinary action that results in loss of salary or 
change in employment status.  The ED, or ED’s designee, shall serve as the 
hearing officer for the disciplinary appeal.  The hearing officer shall make findings 
based upon the written statement of the charges and upon information presented 

176



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[39] 

at the hearing, both oral and in writing.  The hearing officer shall determine whether 
there is just cause for the discipline and whether the discipline is appropriate.  The 
hearing officer may approve, modify, or withdraw the disciplinary action.  The 
hearing officer shall notify the manager of his/her determination in writing.  The 
hearing officer’s decision is final and binding. 

 

177



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[40] 

CHAPTER 5 HEALTH AND SAFETY ON THE JOB 
 
Section 5.1. Job Safety 

5.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The Board of Directors desires to maintain a safe place of employment for Agency 
employees, and to that end Agency management will make all reasonable 
provisions necessary for the safety of employees in the performance of their work. 
5.1.2 Employee Responsibility 
It is the obligation of employees to become familiar with the provisions of the 
Agency Safety Manual and the Illness and Injury Prevention Program and to work 
accordingly.  Further, employees are required to report to their supervisor all 
unsafe conditions encountered during the course of their work.   
5.1.3 Injury Reporting 

Prompt Reporting 
All employees of the Agency are covered by Workers Compensation Insurance 
and any injury or disability arising out of and in the course and scope of 
employment, however slight, shall be reported by the injured employee to the 
Executive Director and Human Resources as promptly as possible following its 
occurrence. 

Section 5.2. Workplace Violence Prevention 
5.2.1 Statement of Policy 
The Napa Valley Transportation Authority is committed to the safety and security 
of its employees, customers, and visitors to its workplace.  The Agency has a policy 
of zero tolerance for violence in the workplace.  To prevent workplace violence, 
the Agency will address behavior that suggests a propensity for violence even prior 
to any violent behavior occurring. 
5.2.2 Employee Responsibilities 
The Agency expects its employees to employ civility and mutual respect for all 
persons encountered in the course of Agency business including co-workers, 
customers, and visitors.  Any employees who engage in violent or threatening 
behavior in the workplace will be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge.   
5.2.3 Conduct Prohibited By This Policy 
“Violence,” “violent behavior” and “threatening behavior” includes, but is not limited 
to the following conduct: 

• Fighting, shoving, pushing, choking, inflicting physical harm on 
another person, or other battery or assault.      

• Intimidating, menacing, harassing or stalking another person. 

178



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[41] 

• Making verbal threats to physically harm another person or persons, 
whether joking or not. 

• Possession of any weapon or firearm on Agency premises, during 
work hours, or while conducting Agency business. 

• Intentionally damaging the property of another.  

• Other behavior that suggests a propensity towards violence including 
belligerent speech, yelling, excessive arguing or swearing, offensive 
or threatening gestures, or a demonstrated pattern of refusal to follow 
policies and procedures. 

The Agency will not tolerate these behaviors by its own employees or by third 
persons when such behavior is directed at Agency employees in the course of their 
work.  
5.2.4 Reporting Procedure 
Everyone has the responsibility to prevent violence in the workplace.  Employees 
are encouraged to report any incident that may be a violation of this policy to an 
Agency manager or supervisor as follows:   

A. Emergencies 
Where an injury has occurred or it appears to an employee that there is an 
immediate danger of injury, the employee should call 911 immediately for help.  
Personal safety is the first priority.  The employee should inform his or her 
supervisor, Human Resources or the Executive Director as soon as possible.   

B. Non-Emergencies 
In all other cases where an employee is aware of any conduct that violates this 
policy, the employee should immediately report it to his or her supervisor, Human 
Resources or the Executive Director. 
5.2.5 Corrective Actions 
All reports of workplace violence will be taken seriously and dealt with promptly.  
Any person who engages in violent or threatening behavior shall be subject to 
removal from the premises as quickly as safety permits, pending the outcome of 
an investigation.  Employees who violate this policy will be subject to firm 
disciplinary action, up to and including discharge.  In appropriate cases, the 
Agency may also seek temporary protective or restraining orders to keep offending 
individuals away from Agency facilities or employees. 
The Agency will not tolerate retaliation or intimidation against any employee who 
makes a report of workplace violence or participates in an investigation of such a 
complaint.  

179



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[42] 

Section 5.3. Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace 
5.3.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency has a vital interest and obligation in maintaining safe, healthful and 
efficient working conditions for its employees and in supplying products and 
services safely to customers.  Employee possession of and/or being under the 
influence of drugs or alcohol on the job are inconsistent with these interests and 
obligations.  This policy and procedure establishes the rules, rights and obligations 
of all employees and Agency contractors regarding the use, possession, sale, or 
transport of alcohol and drugs on Agency property or while conducting Agency 
business.   
5.3.2 Definitions 

A. Legal Drug
A legal drug includes prescribed drugs and over the counter drugs, which have 
been, under US law, legally obtained and are being used for the purpose for which 
they have been prescribed or manufactured. 

B. Illegal Drug
An illegal drug includes any drugs and drug synthetics which have not been legally 
prescribed or obtained, such as: stimulants, depressants, hallucinogens, narcotics, 
volatile substances, and any substance by which its nature alters normal physical 
or mental functions. 

C. Under the Influence
For purposes of this policy and procedure, “under the influence” means that the 
employee is affected by a drug or alcohol or combination of both in any detectable 
manner.  The symptoms of influence are not confined to those consistent with 
misbehavior, or to obvious impairment of physical or mental ability such as slurred 
speech or difficulty in maintaining balance.  A determination of influence can be 
established by a professional medical opinion, a scientifically valid test, and in 
some cases such as alcohol, by management opinion. 

D. Agency Property
Agency Property includes lands owned, leased or upon which the Agency has a 
right-of-way, buildings, facilities, vehicles, equipment, parking lots, and company 
owned property used by employees such as lockers, desks, cabinets, etc. 

E. Reasonable Suspicion
Reasonable suspicion is a belief based on objective and documented facts or 
evidence sufficient to lead a reasonable, prudent person to suspect that an 
employee is under the influence of alcohol or drugs so that the employee’s ability 
to perform the duties of the job is impaired, or so that the employee’s ability to 
perform his/her job safely is reduced. 

180



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[43] 

5.3.3 Pre-Employment Drug and Alcohol Screening 
The Agency may maintain a pre-employment drug and alcohol screening practice 
designed to prevent the hiring of persons who use illegal drugs, or who use legal 
drugs or alcohol to the extent that safe job performance would be impaired on 
safety sensitive positions. 

A. Notification to Prospective Employees 
Prospective employees will be notified of the Agency’s drug and alcohol policy and 
pre-employment alcohol and drug screening test prior to an offer of employment 
and, usually, at the time they are interviewed for a position.   

B. Time of Test 
Finalists for Agency employment will receive a conditional offer of employment that 
may be contingent upon passing an alcohol and drug screening test and any 
physical examination requirement for the position being sought.  The drug and 
alcohol screening test will be administered by a medical laboratory qualified to 
administer such test. 

C. Consent to Test 
Upon receipt of a conditional offer, the prospective employee must consent to the 
drug and alcohol screening test and must sign an Authorization for Release of 
Physical Examination Results, permitting the test results to be released to the 
Agency.   

D. Disqualification from Employment 
A candidate for Agency employment shall be disqualified from further 
consideration for employment upon any of the following occurrences: 

1. Refusal to consent to a drug and alcohol screening test or refusal to 
authorize the release of the results to the Agency.   

2. A positive test for illegal drugs or alcohol.   
3. A positive test for legal drugs which, after medical consultation, the 

Agency determines will impair the candidate’s ability to safely 
perform the job in question or will jeopardize the well-being of others.   

5.3.4 Prohibition on Possession, Use, Sale or Transport of Alcohol or Drugs 
A. Illegal Drugs and Alcohol 

Having possession of, manufacturing, distributing, using, being under the influence 
of, selling, or transporting illegal drugs or alcohol by any employee while on the 
job, on Agency property, or while conducting Agency business is prohibited.  
Reporting to work under the influence of illegal drugs or alcohol is also prohibited. 

B. Notification of Criminal Drug Conviction 
Any employee who is convicted of or pleads guilty or no contest to a drug-related 
crime occurring in the workplace must immediately report such conviction or plea 
to the Executive Director. 

181



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[44] 

C. Legal Drugs 
The use of or being under the influence of any legally obtained drug by any 
employee while on the job, on Agency property, or while conducting Agency 
business is prohibited to the extent that such use or influence may affect the safety 
of the employee, co-workers, the public, the employee’s job performance, or the 
safe and efficient operation of the Agency.  An employee may continue to work 
even though under the influence of a legal drug if the employee’s supervisor has 
determined, after consulting with the Executive Director and the employee’s doctor 
that the employee can work safely.  Otherwise, the employee may be required to 
take a leave of absence or comply with other appropriate action determined by 
management. 

D. Notification 
An employee must notify his/her supervisor before commencing work when taking 
any medication or drug, prescription or nonprescription, which may interfere with 
safe and effective performance of duties and/or the operation of Agency 
equipment. 
5.3.5 Reasonable Suspicion Testing 
When a supervisor/manager has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is under 
the influence of drugs or alcohol, the employee may be directed to take a drug and 
alcohol test.  The facts and circumstances of the supervisor’s/managers 
reasonable suspicion shall be documented in writing and provided to the 
employee.  The Executive Director must approve the employee’s referral for a drug 
and alcohol test. 

A. Conduct of Test 
All drug or alcohol tests shall be conducted by a reputable laboratory of the 
Agency’s choice.    

B. Valid Prescriptions 
An employee shall have the right to provide, within 24 hours of the drug or alcohol 
test, a valid prescription for any medication or drug which may be identified during 
the test.  The prescription must be in the employee’s name and be prescribed by 
a licensed physician prior to the drug or alcohol test. 

C. Refusal to Take Test 
An employee who refuses to submit to a drug and alcohol test that has been 
approved by the Executive Director, shall be relieved from duty without pay, and if 
intoxicated or physically or mentally impaired, be taken to his/her place of 
residence.  Refusal to take a test under this policy will subject the employee 
disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. 
5.3.6 Search or Inspection of Agency Property for Illegal Drugs or Alcohol 
Employees have no expectation of privacy in Agency-owned equipment, including 
desks and cabinets.  The Executive Director may search or authorize the search 
of desks and cabinets. The Executive Director may authorize the search or 

182



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[45] 

inspection of Agency-owned lockers for illegal drugs or alcohol whenever there is 
reasonable suspicion.    
5.3.7 Disciplinary Action 
Violations of the provisions of this policy and procedure will result in disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge. 
5.3.8 Drug and Alcohol Assistance Programs 

A. Voluntary Assistance 
The Agency encourages employees to voluntarily seek outside assistance for drug 
or alcohol abuse problems prior to the need for Agency action. Employees are 
invited to use the Employee Assistance Program (EAP) contracted by the Agency.  
Administration also maintains a list of approved drug and alcohol abuse agencies 
and facilities, and a request may be made to the Executive Director for assistance.  
Such requests will be held in strict confidence to protect the rights, privileges, 
benefits, and family of the employee.  An employee’s decision to seek assistance 
from an outside rehabilitation agency or facility will not be used as the basis for 
disciplinary action. 

B. Seeking Assistance After Alcohol or Drug Related Misconduct 
It is the responsibility of an employee to seek assistance before drug and alcohol 
problems lead to disciplinary action.  Once a violation of this policy occurs, 
subsequently entering into a rehabilitation program will not necessarily lessen 
disciplinary action and may, in fact, have no bearing on the determination of 
appropriate disciplinary action. 

Section 5.4. Fitness for Duty 
5.4.1 Statement of Policy 
In furtherance of the Agency’s goal to maintain a safe, healthful and productive 
environment, all employees reporting for work and during times when they are paid 
subject to call shall be fit for duty.  “Fit for duty” means the ability to perform all 
required physical and mental tasks associated with the employee’s job duties to a 
satisfactory level and without endangering self, others, or property. 
5.4.2 Employee Responsibility 
No employee shall report to work while unfit or remain on the job after becoming 
unfit (for any reason) to perform his/her job duties.  Failure of an employee to 
comply with this requirement may result in disciplinary action, up to and including 
discharge. 
5.4.3 Pre-Employment Medical Examinations 
The Executive Director may identify job classifications within the Agency that will 
require a pre-employment medical examination.  Finalists for these positions will 
receive a conditional offer of employment that is contingent upon the candidate 
successfully passing a pre-employment medical examination and drug and alcohol 
test.  The purpose of the pre-employment medical examination is to determine if 

183



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[46] 

the candidate is fit to perform the duties of the job for which he or she is being 
considered.   

A. Notice 
All employment applicants for these positions will be informed of the medical and 
drug/alcohol testing requirements prior to receiving the conditional job offer.  
Usually, notice will be given in the job announcement and during the interview 
process. 

B. Consent 
Finalists who receive a conditional offer of employment will be asked to sign a 
consent form confirming their voluntary participation in these tests as a prerequisite 
to consideration for employment.  A candidate who refuses to submit to any or all 
of these tests will not be considered for employment for the position for which 
he/she has applied. 

C. Examination 
All examinations will be performed by or at the direction of a physician designated 
by the Agency. The attending physician will determine if the candidate for 
employment is capable of performing all duties of the job as required by the job 
description and physical requirements checklist. 

D. Examination Results 
A candidate who is deemed unfit or unable to perform the duties of the job as a 
result of the medical examination will be informed of the results of the examination. 
The candidate may provide medical evidence that he/she is physically fit and able 
to perform the duties of the job, which will be considered before a final 
determination is made. 
5.4.4 Post-Employment Fitness for Duty Examinations 
If a supervisor/manager has a reasonable cause to believe that an employee is 
physically or mentally unfit to perform the duties of his/her job, the 
supervisor/manager may recommend that the employee to submit to a fitness-for-
duty examination.  The Executive Director shall have the authority to approve the 
recommendation. 

A. Reasonable Cause 
Reasonable cause means that the supervisor/manager believes that the 
employee’s ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or that the 
employee’s ability to perform his or her job duties safely is reduced, and that the 
supervisor’s belief is based upon observations or evidence that has been 
documented. 

B. Examination 
Any such examination will be performed by or at the direction of a physician 
designated by the Agency.  The attending physician will determine if the employee 

184



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[47] 

is capable of performing all duties of the job as required by the job description and 
physical requirements checklist. 

C. Examination Results 
If the examining physician determines that the employee is fit for duty, the 
employee shall be released to return to work.  If the examining physician 
determines that the employee is not fit for duty, the physician shall notify both the 
employee and the Executive Director.  The employee will not be permitted to return 
to work until he/she is released by the physician.  One or more subsequent fitness-
for-duty examinations may be required in order to determine that the employee is 
fit to return to work. 
5.4.5 Confidentiality of Examination Records 
All documentation of pre-employment and fitness for duty medical examinations 
will be maintained in confidential and secure medical files, separate from applicant 
hiring files and separate from employee personnel files.   

Section 5.5. Driving 
5.5.1 Statement of Policy 
Observation of the law and safe driving practices shall be the top priority of all 
employees assigned to drive an Agency vehicle or who operate a personal vehicle 
in the performance of Agency business.   
5.5.2 Driver’s License Requirements 
All employees who operate an Agency vehicle, or who operate a personal vehicle 
in the performance of Agency business, must possess and carry a valid, current 
California Driver’s License of the proper class (and endorsements) for the vehicle 
operated.   

A. Employee Responsibilities 
1. Employees are responsible for maintaining a valid, current California 

driver’s license of the proper class and endorsements before 
operating an Agency vehicle or driving a personal vehicle on Agency 
business.  Any employee who operates an Agency vehicle or a 
personal vehicle in the performance of Agency business without a 
valid, current California Driver’s License will be subject to disciplinary 
action up to and including discharge. 

2. Employees who drive Agency vehicles or drive a personal vehicle on 
Agency business must notify their supervisor immediately in writing 
when their driver’s license has expired or been suspended or 
revoked.   

B.  Agency Responsibilities 
1. Managers shall notify the Executive Director when they have 

notification that an employee’s driver’s license has expired or been 
suspended or revoked. 

185



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[48] 

2. The Executive Director shall not allow an employee with an expired, 
suspended or revoked driver’s license to operate an Agency vehicle 
or a personal vehicle on Agency business. 

3. It is the responsibility of Human Resources Manager to see that all 
employees are properly licensed for any vehicles they are to drive on 
Agency business. 

C. Effect of Failure to Maintain Valid, Current Driver’s License 
Where the employee’s applicable written job description requires 
driving an Agency vehicle or a personal vehicle on Agency business, 
and an employee fails to maintain a valid, current California Driver’s 
License, the employee will be disqualified from such employment 
and terminated. 

D. Reasonable Accommodation of Disabled Employees and 
Applicants 
Where driving is a requirement for a particular position, an applicant 
or employee who does not possess a valid, current California Driver’s 
License because of a disability may be eligible for reasonable 
accommodation.  For example, if driving is a non-essential function 
of a particular position, the driving function may be reassigned as a 
reasonable accommodation for the disabled worker or applicant.  If 
driving is an essential function of the employee’s position, other 
accommodation such as reassignment to a different position may be 
feasible.  Each situation will be addressed on a case by case basis.  
Requests for reasonable accommodation should be addressed to 
the Executive Director. 

E. DMV Automatic Pull Notice 
For employees who drive an Agency vehicle or who drive a personal 
vehicle on Agency business, the Agency may obtain periodic reports 
from the Department of Motor Vehicles that reflect actions and 
activities on an employee’s driver’s license record.  These reports 
will be forwarded to the employee and his or her manager for review 
and “initialing off” that it is true and accurate by both the manager 
and the employee.  Afterwards, the Pull Notice is placed in the 
employee’s personnel file. 

5.5.3 Good Driving Record 
Every employee authorized to drive an Agency vehicle or drive a personal vehicle 
while on Agency business must maintain an overall driving record that does not 
have an adverse influence on the Agency’s insurance rates or otherwise create an 
unacceptable liability risk to the Agency.  The Agency may at the time of 
employment, or from time to time thereafter, obtain a copy of an employee’s driving 
record to assess the employee’s suitability to drive.    

186



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[49] 

5.5.4 Compliance with Traffic Laws 
Employees driving Agency vehicles or driving personal vehicles while on Agency 
business must be familiar with and obey the State Vehicle Code.  Such drivers 
must also obey local traffic rules, traffic control signs, posted speed limits and 
parking restrictions.  Failure to do so will subject the employee to disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge.   
5.5.5 Use of Seatbelts 
Seatbelts shall be worn by all occupants of Agency vehicles and by employees 
operating personal vehicles while on Agency business.  The use of seatbelts is the 
law. 

Section 5.6. Smoking 
In keeping with the Agency’s intent to provide a safe and healthful work 
environment and in compliance with state and local law, smoking in enclosed 
Agency facilities or vehicles is strictly prohibited.  Smoking is allowed only on 
authorized breaks and lunch breaks, and only outside of work facilities so as not 
to disrupt Agency operations. 
 

187



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[50] 

CHAPTER 6 EQUIPMENT AND PROPERTY 
 
Section 6.1. Use and Care of Agency Property 

6.1.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency provides its employees with the use of tools, equipment, property and 
facilities that are necessary for the performance of their work.  Employees are 
expected to exercise care in the use of Agency property and to use such property 
only for authorized Agency business.  Misuse or negligence in the care of Agency 
property may result in disciplinary action.  Agency property issued to an employee 
must be returned at the time an employee terminates employment or when the 
employee’s supervisor requests its return.   
6.1.2 Damage or Loss of Agency Equipment 
Employees must promptly report to their supervisor all damage to or loss of Agency 
equipment.  Lost or broken tools, equipment and other gear will be replaced by the 
Agency, but excessive loss or breakage will result in the employee being subject 
to disciplinary action. 
6.1.3 Key/Access Card Distribution 
Keys/Access Cards to Agency locks are issued only to employees and other 
authorized individuals.  Each key/Access Card is numbered and issued by the 
Agency office to a specific individual.  Exchanging keys/Access Card, giving 
keys/Access Cards out, or copying keys/Access Cards is expressly prohibited and 
may lead to disciplinary action. 
6.1.4 Personal Use of Agency Property 
Agency tools, vehicles, equipment and facilities are provided for use on Agency 
business only.  Personal use of Agency property is prohibited.  Employees are 
prohibited from displaying personal property for sale on Agency premises or 
property.   
6.1.5 Personal Tools or Property 
The Agency will provide all tools and equipment reasonably required to perform 
the assigned work.  The use of an employee’s personal tools, vehicle or other 
equipment is not required and will be permitted only in unusual circumstances.   
To deter theft or damage to personal property, employees are discouraged from 
bringing any personal property into the workplace and should not leave any 
personal belongings of value in the workplace.  The Agency assumes no 
responsibility for loss or damage to the personal property of an employee. 
6.1.6 Agency Access to Property 
The Agency retains full title and control, including the right of inspection, over 
equipment, property and facilities provided for employee use.  Employee privacy 
rights do not extend to work-related conduct or the use of Agency facilities, Agency 
owned equipment or property.  All offices, work areas, desks, file cabinets, files, 
computers, data storage devices remain the property of the Agency.  Therefore, 

188



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[51] 

any agent or representative of the Agency can inspect these items or areas at any 
time, with or without prior notice.  
6.1.7 Entry onto Private Property 
All employees shall make a diligent attempt to contact property owners prior to 
entry upon private property when performing maintenance and repair tasks.  Each 
employee is responsible for immediately reporting to the Agency office any 
damage to private property, buildings, trees, crops, fences, pipelines or other 
damage caused as a result of Agency work or operations or the use of Agency 
equipment. 
6.1.8 Purchasing 
All purchasing of materials and services must adhere to the Agency’s standard 
practice. 

Section 6.2. Phones, Computers, and Other Electronic Equipment 
6.2.1 Statement of Policy 
The phone, voicemail and computer systems are Agency property.  Agency 
phones, radios, computers and other electronic equipment (copiers, fax machines, 
PDAs (e.g. Blackberry or other Personal Data Assistant device), etc.) should be 
used for Agency business purposes only.  The Agency reserves the right, in its 
sole discretion, to access these systems, including employee voicemail, e-mail and 
data stored on computers, at any time.  Any personal or personally confidential 
activities should be conducted at home on personal equipment, not at work.  
This Policy is also intended to notify employees that all Agency Information 
Systems and their contents are not confidential or private.  That is, all data, 
including any that is stored electronically or printed as a document, is subject to 
audit, review, disclosure, and discovery.  Such data may be subject to 
disclosure pursuant to the Public Records Act (California Government Code 
Section 6250 et. seq.).  Therefore, there is no expectation of privacy in the 
use of the Agency’s Information Systems.  
The Agency reserves the right to access and monitor employee use of the 
Agency’s Information Systems as well as any stored information created or 
received by employees with the Agency’s Information Systems.  The reservation 
of this right is to ensure that the Agency’s Information Systems are used securely 
and appropriately in an ethical and lawful manner.    
6.2.2 Phone Usage for Personal Reasons 
While it is understood that the use of the Agency’s telephones for personal reasons 
is occasionally necessary, this privilege must not be abused.  Such conversations 
should be limited to exigent situations and must be kept brief.  Personal toll calls 
are not to be charged to the Agency.   
6.2.3 Internet Usage 
Access to the Internet is provided for the benefit of the Agency and its employees 
in the performance of their work.  It allows employees to connect to information 

189



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[52] 

resources around the world.  Employees are responsible for seeing that the 
Internet is used in a productive, work-related manner. 
The Internet shall not be used for personal gain, solicitation of non-Agency 
business, or advancement of individual views.  Employees may not use Agency-
provided Internet service to access sexually explicit or other material that would 
run afoul of the Agency’s anti-harassment policy, nor to access gambling or 
gaming sites, or similarly inappropriate information. 
Personal usage of the Internet must be kept to a minimum and during employee 
break or lunch time. 
6.2.4 Decorum of Communications 
Employees must conduct themselves professionally and in a businesslike manner 
when using Agency telephones, radios, voicemail, or e-mail systems.  Employees 
are prohibited from using Agency telephones, radios, voicemail or e-mail systems 
in any way that is disruptive or offensive to others including, but not limited to, 
transmitting information derogatory of other employees, sexually explicit 
information, racial or ethnic slurs, or anything else that may be construed as 
harassment or disparaging of others.  No messages shall be transmitted under an 
assumed name.  Users may not attempt to obscure the origin of any message. 
6.2.5 Installation or Duplication of Software 
Employees may not add or install personal software programs on Agency 
computers.  Further, the Agency prohibits illegal duplication of software and its 
related documentation.  Employees may only use software contained on Agency 
computers according to the Agency’s software licensing agreement.  
6.2.6 Discipline 
Violations of any aspect of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including discharge.   

Section 6.3. Agency Vehicles 
6.3.1 Statement of Policy 
The Agency may provide employees with use of Agency-owned vehicles for 
performance of their duties.  Observation of safe driving practices shall be the top 
priority of all persons assigned an Agency vehicle, as well as proper care of Agency 
equipment. 
6.3.2 Operator Qualifications 
Every driver of an Agency vehicle must have a valid and current California driver's 
license for the type of Agency vehicle driven and must be authorized by the 
applicable Agency management employee to drive an Agency vehicle.  
Every authorized Agency driver must maintain an overall driving record that does not 
have an adverse influence on the Agency's insurance rates or otherwise create an 
unacceptable liability risk to the Agency.  Conviction for driving under the influence, 
careless or reckless driving, or any similar moving offense of parallel gravity, whether 

190



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[53] 

or not in an Agency vehicle and whether or not on duty, may be the basis of 
termination of status as authorized driver. 
6.3.3 Compliance with Law 
All drivers must comply with all applicable motor vehicle laws when driving an Agency 
vehicle.  Failure to do so will subject the employee to disciplinary action, up to and 
including discharge. 
6.3.4 Vehicle Categories 
For purposes of this policy, each Agency vehicle shall be placed in one of the 
following categories: 
6.3.5 Limitations on Use of Vehicles 
The following rules shall apply to the use of all Agency vehicles: 

A. Agency vehicles shall only be used for official Agency business. When 
an employee uses an Agency vehicle in any other manner, that 
employee shall be deemed to be not on official Agency business. 

B. Agency vehicles shall only be driven by employees or officers of the 
Agency.  With the approval of the Executive Director, Agency vehicles 
may be used by non-employees, such as consultants or independent 
contractors, when it is determined to be in the best interest of the 
Agency. 

C. Agency vehicles shall not be used to transport large personal items, 
such as sports equipment or animals, or for private towing or hauling 
of personal belongings or property of others. 

D. Seat belts shall be worn by all occupants while riding in or operating 
Agency vehicles.  The use of seat belts is the law.  

E. The use of cellular phones and electronic devices are prohibited while 
driving Agency owned vehicle(s). 

F. No Agency vehicle shall be used to push-start another vehicle. 
G. Pets, waterfowl, poultry, fish, reptiles, etc. are not permitted in Agency 

vehicles, nor are firearms of any type. 
H. All Agency personnel are required to keep their assigned Agency 

vehicles in a clean and safe operating condition at all times.  No 
modifications, changes, additions, addition of any accessory, custom 
part or the removal of any factory or Agency item on any Agency 
vehicle shall be permitted without the express approval of the 
Executive Director.  

I. Each driver of an Agency vehicle will be responsible for calling any 
needed repairs or adjustments on his or her vehicle to the attention of 
the Executive Director.  Each driver will be responsible for verifying that 
his or her vehicle has proper and functioning brakes, lights, windshield 
wipers, etc. 

191



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[54] 

J. All Agency personnel are required to report damage and defective 
Agency equipment as soon as possible after detection to ensure that 
damaged items or potentially damaged items are repaired and that 
service schedules are not exceeded. 

K. Each employee will be responsible for immediately reporting to their 
supervisor/Department Head or to the Executive Director any accident 
in which he or she is involved as a driver of an Agency vehicle.  The 
employee will further prepare a detailed report of the accident, which 
report is to be submitted directly to the Executive Director or designee. 
This includes any accidents will on company duty in a private vehicle. 

L. Excessive acceleration and other showings of vehicular power 
occurring on Agency premises or on private or public property when in 
an Agency vehicle and the same occurring on Agency premises, 
whether in a personal vehicle or in an Agency vehicle, is not permitted. 

M. All Agency personnel shall "lock" and "secure" Agency vehicles when 
left unattended. 

N. Agency personnel involved in auto accidents should not volunteer 
information or admit liability, but merely respond as necessary to 
uniformed officers. They should request that their Supervisor, or the 
Human Resources Manager to notify police or call for medical 
assistance at the scene when necessary. 

O. Authorized Passengers: 
1. Adults on Agency business are permitted to ride in Agency 

vehicles, but only to the extent that seat belts are available. 
2. Any individual who is not participating in agency business, 

including family members, friends and all children are not 
permitted in Agency Pool Vehicles. 

3. All Agency personnel are prohibited from picking up hitchhikers 
in Agency Vehicles or while on Agency business. 

P. When driving an Agency vehicle, stopping and entering any bar or 
liquor store is prohibited. Transporting alcoholic beverages at any time 
in an Agency vehicle is prohibited. 

Section 6.4. Employee Purchase Program 
6.4.1 Mobile Device 

A. Purpose & Reimbursement 
NVTA will reimburse managers and exempt employees for up to $1,000 plus tax 
for the purchase of a mobile device or tablet to encourage the proficiency of its 
management and exempt employees and for interfacing with Granicus or like 
software to access and maintain Board and advisory committee packets.   If the 
employee chooses a device under $1,000, NVTA will only reimburse employee up 

192



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[55] 

to the purchase amount.  If over the device exceeds a $1,000 cost, employees are 
responsible for the difference. 
NVTA will not reimburse employees for costs of data plans, additional software, 
extra equipment, extra warranties or other peripheral equipment.  Purchases other 
than the mobile device are the responsibility of the employee.  It is up to the 
employee to pay for repairs should the device be damaged or replaced should the 
device be stolen or lost within a three year period. 
Mobile devices are eligible to be replaced on a three-year cycle from the date of 
purchase.  This is done to ensure that systems used for daily business are up-to-
date and under warranty.  

B. Device Ownership/Program Limitations 
Mobile devices are the personal property of the employees.  Employees can 
choose any device that accommodates the interface of Board Packets.  . 
IRS rules may consider the reimbursement as income and subject to income taxes.  
Any additional taxes are the responsibility of the employee. 
Business conducted on private devices is subject to the Public Records Act. To 
separate personal and business items, you should have an NVTA folder so that a 
search of the entire device would not be necessary to isolate personal documents 
from public documents or correspondence. 
  

193



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[56] 

CHAPTER 7 TIME OFF AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 
Section 7.1. Holidays 

7.1.1 Eligible Employees 
Full-time Agency employees are eligible for paid holidays as described herein,  
7.1.2 Recognized Holidays 
Eligible employees are entitled to the following eight (8) holidays off with pay when 
they fall on a work day in the basic workweek: 
January 1 (New Year’s Day) 
The last Monday in May (Memorial Day) 
July 4 (Independence Day) 
The first Monday in September (Labor Day) 
The fourth Thursday in November (Thanksgiving Day) 
The day following Thanksgiving Day 
December 24 (Winter Holiday) 
December 25 (Winter Holiday) 
(1) When a recognized holiday falls on a Saturday, the day immediately 

preceding shall be deemed to be the paid holiday.  When a recognized 
holiday falls on a Sunday, the next day shall be deemed to be the paid 
holiday.  If December 24 falls on a weekend, it will be observed the 
preceding Friday.  If December 25 falls on a weekend, it will be observed 
the following Monday. 

(2) Permanent part-time employees shall receive the same number of holidays 
as regular, full time employees and on a pro-rata basis, proportional to full-
time employment 

Holidays will be paid at eight (8) hour increments. 
7.1.3 Personal Leave 
Eligible employees shall also receive fifty-six (56) forty-eight (48) hours of personal 
leave each calendar year which may be used for personal reasons.  Personal leave 
has no cash value and must be used during the calendar year in which it is received 
or it is deemed forfeited.  Those hired after the calendar year begins will receive a 
pro rata share of personal leave time based on the number of pay periods 
remaining in the calendar year. 
Permanent part-time employees shall receive personal leave on a pro-rata basis, 
proportional to full-time employment. 

194



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[57] 

7.1.4 Board Ordered Holiday 
The Board of Directors may from time to time declare additional paid holidays or 
half-day holidays at their sole discretion, and the granting of any such holiday shall 
not constitute a precedent for continued granting of such holiday or holidays. 
7.1.5 Holidays Occurring During Unpaid Leave 
Employees will not receive holiday pay for holidays that occur during an unpaid 
leave of absence from the Agency, or when the employee is on unpaid leave either 
the work day before the recognized holiday or the work day after the recognized 
holiday.   
7.1.6 Working on Holidays  
Eligible employees may be scheduled to work on holidays, in which event, an 
FLSA non-exempt employee will be compensated at the overtime rate of pay for 
all time worked on such days, in addition to receiving eight hours of holiday pay.  
Standby shall not be construed as time worked.    
FLSA exempt management employees who are scheduled to work on a holiday 
first must obtain prior written approval from the Executive Director in order to be 
eligible for flex-time or compensatory time-off for hours worked.  Any approved 
flex-time must be taken in full-day increments.  Standby shall not be construed as 
time worked. 

Section 7.2. Vacation 
7.2.1 Purpose 
NVTA provides vacation to eligible employees for the purpose of rest, relaxation 
and reinvigoration.   
7.2.2 Eligibility 
Full-time employees are eligible to receive vacation benefits.  Vacation begins to 
accrue from the date of hire.  A probationary employee may begin to take vacation 
after the first six (6) months of an employee’s probationary period.  
7.2.3 Accrual 

A. Accrual Rates 
Every permanent, full-time employee shall accrue vacation leave, in accordance 
with the permitted maximums as provided in the schedule below.  An employee 
shall not accrue vacation in excess of the permitted maximums.  The Executive 
Director shall give employees a reasonable opportunity to utilize such vacation 
within the year so as not to exceed the maximum accrual vacation leave accruals.   

Years of Continuous 
Agency Service 

Hours of Vacation 
Accrued/ Pay Period 

Maximum Accrual for 
Years of Continuous 
Service 

Date of Hire through Year 3 3.8 hours 240 maximum hours 
Year 4 through 9 4.8 hours 300 maximum hours 

195



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[58] 

Year 10 through 14 6.2 hours 400 maximum hours 
Year 15 through 19 7.2 hours 400 maximum hours 
Year 20 through 29 8 hours 400 maximum hours 
Year 30 or more 9 hours 400 maximum hours 

 
1. An employee’s new vacation accrual rate will be effective on the first 

day of the pay period following the anniversary date of the year 
referenced in the above schedule. 

2. Each employee may, with approval of the Executive Director, take 
vacation privileges as earned and in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 7.2 

3. No person shall be permitted to work for compensation for the 
Agency in any capacity during the time of his/her paid vacation from 
Agency service. 

4. Vacation leave does not accrue during periods of unpaid leave from 
the Agency or when an employee is on short or long-term disability, 
unless an employee is on worker’s compensation leave, in which 
case, vacation continues to accrue. 

5. Each employee has right to receive compensation at the Employee’s 
current hourly rate for up to eighty (80) hours per year of unused 
vacation so long as forty (40) hours of vacation were actually used 
during the calendar year. 

Permanent part-time employees shall accrue vacation leave on a pro-rata basis, 
proportional to full-time employment. 
Non-Management Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) exempt employees will 
receive an additional 40 hours of non-accrual leave each calendar year. 

B. Management Employees 
Management Employees of the Agency shall receive the following: 

1. Eighty (80) hours of management leave credited at the beginning of 
each calendar year.  The right to surrender up to sixty (60) hours of 
management leave each year and be paid for same in cash at their 
current hourly rate; provided, however, that a minimum of forty (40) 
hours of vacation leave must be used during the calendar year in 
which the surrender of management leave occurs before the finance 
department is authorized to process the surrender request. 

2. Accrual of vacation leave at the rate of 4.8 hours per pay period, or 
accrual of vacation leave at the rate determined in accordance with 
Section 7.2.3.A, or accrual of vacation leave at the Employee’s 
current vacation leave accrual rate, whichever is higher.  This 
vacation leave accrual rate will be effective on the date of the 
appointment, reclassification, or promotion. 

196



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[59] 

3. In the case of Management Employees who were not employed by 
the Agency at the time of their appointment, but were previously 
employed by a city, county, special district, state or federal 
government agency, the vacation accrual rate shall be the rate of 
vacation leave approved by the Executive Director; providing, 
however, this rate shall not exceed the rate of vacation leave accrual 
the Employee enjoyed at the Employee’s last place of public 
employment, or the rate of vacation leave accrual the Employee 
would be entitled to had all prior public agency service of the 
Employee been with the Agency, whichever is higher; and further 
provided that in no event shall this rate of accrual exceed the 
maximum rate the Agency provides to Management Employees.  
Work performed for a public agency as a consultant or independent 
contractor rather than as an employee, shall not be taken into 
account by the Executive Director in approving a vacation leave 
accrual rate exceeding the .06 hours per each full hour worked up to 
the maximum of eighty (80) hours per pay period. 

4. The right to accumulate a maximum of 600 hours of vacation leave; 
the Employee may not earn any further vacation time while accrued, 
unused vacation remains at this maximum. 

  

197



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[60] 

7.2.4 Scheduling 
A. Notice 

Vacation shall be scheduled with the employees supervisor and the Executive 
Director, with due regard for the wishes of the employee and with particular regard 
for the needs of the Agency.   
Vacations of four (4) consecutive days or more, must be scheduled a minimum of 
two weeks before the date of departure.  Vacations of three (3) consecutive days 
or less must be scheduled at least two (2) working days before departure.  Under 
special circumstances, the Executive Director may waive these notice 
requirements.  
All vacation requests shall be submitted in writing on the designated Agency form. 

B. Intervening Holidays 
A holiday falling within a vacation shall not be counted as a day of vacation.  

C. Intervening Illness or Injury 
Employees becoming sick or injured while on vacation leave shall be entitled to 
change their vacation status to sick leave with a doctor’s verification that the 
employee would have been unable to work due to the illness or injury.  Employees 
must follow the sick leave procedures described in these Policies and Procedures. 
7.2.5 Termination or Retirement from Agency 
Accrued but unused vacation at the time of an employee’s termination or 
retirement shall be administered as follows: 

A. Termination 
If an employee terminates employment with the Agency, voluntarily or involuntarily, 
and has accrued and unused vacation, he or she shall be paid for each day 
recorded in Agency records. 

B. Retirement 
An employee who retires and has accrued and unused vacation may elect either 
of the following options: 

1. Continue to work until the date of retirement and be paid for accrued 
and unused vacation; or 

2. Discontinue working and take accrued and unused vacation time that 
would extend from last day worked up to the date of retirement. 

If option (2) is selected, deductions from vacation pay will be the same as if the 
employee is actually on the job and health care coverage will continue to be 
provided under various group programs through the exhaustion of vacation time. 

198



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[61] 

Section 7.3. Sick Leave 
7.3.1 Purpose 
The Agency provides paid sick leave in order to prevent a loss of earnings that 
may be caused by illness or injury.  Paid sick leave is not intended to provide 
additional paid time off for reasons unrelated to injury or illness.   
7.3.2 Eligibility 
Employees are eligible for paid sick leave.  Sick leave begins to accrue from the 
first day of employment.  Employees who have worked for six (6) months in 
continuous employment are eligible to use accrued sick leave. 
7.3.3 Accrual 
Each employee shall accrue 3.8 hours of sick leave for each full eighty (80) hour 
pay period.  There is no limit to the amount of sick leave an employee can accrue.  
Sick leave does not accrue during periods of unpaid leave from the Agency or 
when an employee is on short or long-term disability status, unless an employee 
is on worker’s compensation leave, in which case, sick leave continues to accrue. 
No sick leave shall be paid prior to it being accrued. 
Sick leave accrued and unused is forfeited upon termination of employment.  For 
vested employees, accrued and unused sick leave balances can be use to credit 
retirement health benefits per the agency contract with CalPERS. 
Permanent part-time employees shall accrue sick leave on a pro-rata basis, 
proportional to full-time employment. 
7.3.4 Conversion of Vacation to Sick Leave 
Employees becoming sick or injured while on vacation leave shall be entitled to 
change their vacation status to sick leave with a doctor’s verification that the 
employee would have been unable to work due to the illness or injury.  Employees 
must follow the sick leave procedures described in these Policies. 
7.3.6 Employee Notice and Communication 
An employee shall contact his or her supervisor prior to the employee’s starting 
time each day when absent due to illness or injury.  Employees must follow this 
procedure every day of illness or injury, except in the case of a pre-approved leave 
of absence.  
Where an employee is absent for more than three (3) consecutive days, the 
employee will be required to submit a doctor’s statement (1) verifying that an illness 
or injury prevented the employee from working, and (2) certifying that the employee 
is fit and able to return to work.  Employees are required to submit a doctor’s 
statement consistent with (1) and (2) above if an employee has a regularly 
scheduled absence for medical reasons.  Management may also require a doctor’s 
slip verifying the absence for a shorter period of time where a question of abuse of 
sick leave arises. 

199



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[62] 

Employees on an approved leave of absence who do not return on their scheduled 
return date and who have failed, in advance of the return date, to obtain an agreed 
extension of leave from their supervisor or the Executive Director, will be 
considered to have voluntarily abandoned employment and subject to separation 
from Agency employment. 

Section 7.4. Workers’ Compensation Leave 
7.4.1 Purpose 
Agency employees are eligible for benefits under the Worker’s Compensation 
Laws of the State of California for injury or illness arising out of or in the course 
and scope of employment.  Where such injury or illness necessitates an 
employee’s absence from work, an employee shall remain on paid status as 
provided herein. 
7.4.2 Sick or Vacation Leave Supplementation 
When an employee is off work due to an industrial injury, accrued sick leave or 
vacation pay may be paid for the first three (3) days.  Thereafter payments made 
by Worker’s Compensation may be supplemented up to base wage entitlement of 
that employee to the extent that accumulated sick leave is available and, when 
authorized by the employee, vacation days. 
7.4.3 Accrual of Benefits during Leave 
During the time an employee is on “paid status” while absent from work by reason 
of injury or illness covered by Worker’s Compensation, he or she shall continue to 
accrue all benefits.  For the purposes of this section, “paid status” shall include that 
period of time during which the Agency coordinates benefits; i.e., that period of 
time during which sick leave and vacation days are used to supplement employee 
earnings.  
If worker’s compensation leave is converted to long term disability leave, once 
vacation and sick leave balances are depleted, health, dental, vision, and life 
insurance premiums will be paid entirely by the employee.  In addition, while the 
employee is on long term disability status, vacation, holidays, and sick leave 
accruals will no longer accrue. 

Section 7.5. Pregnancy Leave 
7.5.1 Purpose 
In an effort to further equal employment opportunity for women, employees who 
become disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions may be 
entitled to job-protected leave or other reasonable accommodation as provided by 
California’s Pregnancy Leave Law. 
7.5.2 Covered Employees 
An employee is disabled from working due to pregnancy, childbirth or a related 
medical condition in the following circumstances: 

• Inability to work at all because of pregnancy or childbirth 

200



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[63] 

• Inability to perform one or more essential functions of the employee’s 
job without undue risk to the female, the successful completion of the 
pregnancy, or other persons 

• Suffering from severe morning sickness 

• Needing to attend pre-natal care appointments 
7.5.3 Leave Rights 
A covered employee is entitled to up to four months of leave during any period in 
which the employee is actually disabled.  Such leave may be taken in a single 
block of time or on an intermittent basis or reduced leave schedule.  This leave is 
in addition to, and does not run concurrent with, any leave the employee may be 
eligible for under the Family Medical Leave Act and California Family Rights Act. 
At the conclusion of an approved pregnancy disability leave, the employee will be 
restored to her original position or a comparable position in accordance with law.   
7.5.4 Pay and Benefits 
Pregnancy disability leave under this policy is unpaid.  However, a covered 
employee may use accrued sick or vacation leave or other accrued time off to 
cover absences caused by a pregnancy-related disability.   
Leave taken under this policy does not constitute a break in service for the 
employee.  
7.5.5 Employee Notice Obligations 
Whenever the need for leave is foreseeable, a covered employee must give the 
Agency thirty (30) days advance notice of the need for leave.  Covered employees 
should make reasonable efforts to schedule any necessary medical treatment so 
as not to disrupt the operations of the Agency.  The Agency may deny leave where 
such notice is not provided.   
When the need for leave is not foreseeable, covered employees must provide 
notice of the need for leave as soon as practicable.   
7.5.6 Medical Certification 
An employee requesting such leave will be required to provide a medical 
certification from her health care provider verifying the disability, the date it 
commenced, and its probable duration. 
Upon return to work, the employee will be required to provide a return-to-work 
certificate from her health care provider stating that she is able to resume the duties 
of her position.    
7.5.7 Other Forms of Pregnancy-Related Disability Accommodation 
An employee disabled by a pregnancy-related condition may also be eligible for a 
temporary transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position or other form of 
accommodation.  Requests for accommodation should be directed to the 
employee’s Supervisor or the Executive Director. 

201



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[64] 

Section 7.6. Family and Medical Care Leave Act 
7.6.1 Statement of Policy 
This policy describes the circumstances and conditions under which an employee 
may take family care and medical leave as provided under the Federal Family and 
Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") and the California Family Rights Act ("CFRA").  This 
policy is meant to be read together with the FMLA (29 U.S.C. 2601 et seq.) and 
the CFRA (Government Code Section 12945.2) and the regulations adopted to 
implement them, all as they are now written or may hereafter be amended.  This 
policy is separate and distinct from any other leave policies or procedures.  The 
benefits accorded by these separate policies shall not be combined or otherwise 
construed as one policy. 
7.6.2 Definitions 

A. "Family and Medical Care Leave" means leave, whether paid or 
unpaid, taken by an employee on account of: 

1. The birth of a child of the employee. 
2. The adoption or foster care placement of a child by the employee. 
3. The serious health condition of a child, parent or spouse of the 

employee. 
4. The serious health condition of the employee which makes the 

employee unable to perform the duties of the employee's position. 
B. "Child" means a biological, adopted or foster child, a stepchild, a 

legal ward or child of a person in loco parentis who is either under 18 
years of age or a dependent adult.  A dependent adult is a person 
who is over 18 years of age and is incapable of self-care because of 
a mental or physical disability. 

C. "Health Care Provider" means a person holding a physician's 
and/or surgeon's certificate or an osteopathic physician's and/or 
surgeon's certificate who directly treats or supervises the treatment 
of the serious health condition, or any other person determined to be 
capable of providing health care services under the FMLA/CFRA. 

D. "Parent" means a biological, foster or adoptive parent, a stepparent 
or legal guardian, or other person who stood in loco parentis to the 
employee when the employee was a child.  Parent does not include 
a parent-in-law.  

E. "Serious Health Condition" means an illness, injury, impairment or 
physical or mental condition which involves either: 

1.  Inpatient care in a hospital, hospice or residential health care facility; 
or 

2.  Continuing treatment or supervision by a health care provider of 
more than three consecutive days; or 

202



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[65] 

3.  Continuing treatment or supervision by a health care provider for a 
chronic or long-term health condition that is incurable or so serious 
that if not treated would likely result in an incapacity for more than 
three consecutive days. 

F. "Spouse" means a partner in marriage as defined in Family Code 
Section 300. It does not include unmarried persons living together, 
but does include persons who are legally married who do not live 
together. For the purposes of this policy, spouse is further defined as 
a registered domestic partner as specified in California Family Code 
Section 297. 

G.  "Employment in the Same or Equivalent Position" means 
employment in a position that has the same or equivalent duties and 
pay that can be performed at the same or similar geographic location 
as the position held prior to the leave. 

7.6.3 Family and/or Medical Care Leave 
Except as hereafter provided, any employee with at least 12 months of service with 
the Agency, who has at least 1250 hours of service during the previous 12-month 
period, may take up to 12 weeks of family care and medical leave during a 12-
month period with a guarantee made at the time leave is granted that the employee 
will be able to return to the same or equivalent position. 

A. For this purpose, "12 month period" means the 12 months 
immediately preceding the date an employee takes family care and 
medical leave. 

B. Pregnancy disability leave taken by an employee will not be 
considered when counting the amount of leave an employee may 
take pursuant to this policy. 

C. While on leave under this policy, an employee will continue to be 
covered by the Agency’s group health insurance to the same extent 
that coverage is provided while the employee is working. 

D. If an employee fails to return to work after the designated period of 
leave or when the leave entitlement has been exhausted or expires, 
the Agency shall have the right to recover its share of health plan 
premiums for the entire leave period, unless the employee does not 
return because of the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious 
health condition of the employee or his/her family member which 
would entitle the employee to leave under this policy, or because of 
circumstances beyond the employee's control.  

E. Leave under this policy may be granted on an intermittent basis (i.e., 
leaves taken in separate blocks of time due to a single qualifying 
reason) or a reduced work schedule to accommodate an employee 
qualifying for leave under this policy.  An employee may take leave 
under this policy on an intermittent basis for his/her own serious 

203



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[66] 

health condition or for the serious health condition of a qualifying 
family member when it is shown to be medically necessary.  

F. Conditions for use of Family/Medical Care Leave: 
1. Notice of Leave.  If the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee 

must provide the Agency with reasonable advance notice.  For this 
purpose, "reasonable advance notice" means thirty (30) days' written 
notice, if practicable. 

2. Scheduling Leave.  If the need for leave is foreseeable due to a 
planned medical treatment or supervision, the employee must make 
a reasonable effort to schedule it to avoid disruption of Agency 
operations. 

3. Medical Certification for Family Care Leave.  A request for leave to 
care for a child, spouse or parent who has a serious health condition 
must be supported by a certificate of a health care provider which 
includes all of the following: 
a) The date on which the health condition commenced; 
b) A statement as to whether a serious health condition of a 

family member exists: 
i. However, the employee need not (but may, at the 

employee's option) identify the serious health condition 
involved (i.e., diagnosis). 

ii. Failure to disclose the nature of the serious health 
condition may give the Agency reason to doubt the 
validity of the certification. 

c) The probable duration of the condition; 
d) An estimate of the time the employee needs to care for the 

individual; 
e) A statement that the condition requires family participation to 

provide care during the period of treatment or supervision of 
the individual requiring care. 

4. Medical Certification for Employee's Own Serious Health 
Condition.  A request for leave for an employee's own serious 
health condition must be supported by a certificate of a health 
care provider which includes all of the following: 

a) The date on which the serious health condition commenced; 
b) A statement as to whether the employee is unable to perform 

the essential functions of his or her normal position: 
i. However, the employee need not (but may, at the 

employee's option) identify the serious health condition 
involved (i.e., diagnosis). 

204



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[67] 

ii. Failure to disclose the nature of the serious health 
condition, may give the Agency reason to doubt the 
validity of the certification. 

c) The probable duration of the condition. 
5. Use of Accrued Leave: 
a) Vacation/Comp Time: An employee who takes family/medical 

care leave must use all of their accrued compensatory time 
off, if any, and then and all of their accrued vacation in excess 
of 80 hours. 

b) Sick Leave:  An employee who takes family/medical care 
leave may only use accrued sick leave as provided in the 
applicable under California law. 

G. Limits on Family and Medical Care Leave 
The Agency may refuse to allow family and medical care leave if: 
1.  The employee fails to furnish the Agency adequate medical 

documentation which satisfies the requirements under this policy or 
the FMLA or CFRA. 

2. If both parents of a child are employed by the Agency, the Agency 
may limit the family care leave for the birth, adoption or foster care 
placement of their child to a combined total leave of twelve (12) 
weeks in a 12-month period. 

H. Challenge to Medical Certification 
1. When the Agency doubts the validity of a medical certification 

submitted by an employee, it may require the employee to obtain at 
Agency expense the opinion of a second health care provider 
designated and approved by the Agency regarding any of the 
information in the original certification.  Such second health care 
provider may not be one employed by the Agency on a regular basis. 

2. If the opinion of the second health care provider differs from the first, 
the Agency may require the employee to obtain  at Agency expense,  
the opinion of a third health care provider, designated or approved 
jointly by the Agency and the employee, concerning the information 
in the original certification. The opinion of the third health care 
provider will be final and binding on the Agency and the employee.  

I. Employee's Obligation to Periodically Report on His/Her 
Condition 
An employee on family or medical care leave may be required to 
periodically report on his or her status and intent to return to work.  
This will avoid any delay to reinstatement when the employee is 
ready to return to work. 
 

205



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[68] 

J. Status of Employee Benefits While On Leave 
1.  Status of Employee.  An employee on family/medical care leave 

retains employee status, and the leave does not constitute a break 
in service for purposes of longevity, seniority, or any employee 
benefit plan.  For purposes of layoff, recall, promotion, job 
assignment, and seniority related benefits, an employee who returns 
from leave will have no less seniority than the employee had when 
the leave commenced. 

2.  Health Insurance.  Except as hereafter provided, during 
family/medical care leave, the Agency will continue to offer the 
employee, and pay its share of the premium for, health insurance for 
up to twelve (12) weeks at the same level and under the same terms 
and conditions as coverage was provided while the employee was 
actually working for the Agency; provided that, if an employee fails 
to return from leave for reasons other than the continuation, 
recurrence, or onset of the employee's own serious health condition 
or other circumstances beyond the employee's control, the Agency 
may recover the premiums paid by the Agency on behalf of the 
employee. 

3.  Other Benefits. During family/medical care leave, an employee will 
continue to be entitled to participate in employee health plans for any 
period during which coverage is not provided as required in Section 
7.6.3.J.2 above, employee benefit plans, including life, short-term or 
long-term disability or accident insurance, pension and retirement 
plans, and supplemental unemployment benefit plans to the same 
extent and under the same conditions as apply to an unpaid leave 
taken for any other purpose. 

K. Return from Family and/or Medical Care Leave 
1. The Agency may deny reinstatement of an employee from family and 

medical leave to the same or equivalent position where: 
a) The employee refuses to return on the date agreed upon; or 
b)  As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave 

was due to the employee's own serious health condition which 
made the employee unable to perform his/her job, the 
employee must obtain and present a fitness-for-duty 
certification from the health care provider that the employee is 
able to resume work.  Failure to provide such certification will 
result in denial of reinstatement; or 

c) The same or equivalent position has been eliminated for 
legitimate business reasons unrelated to the employee's 
family/medical care leave, in which case the employee will 
have the rights accorded in the layoff provision of the 
applicable   Agency policy. 

206



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[69] 

2. Reinstatement of Key Employees:  The Agency may deny 
reinstatement of an employee from family and/or medical care leave 
to the same or equivalent position where: 
a) The employee is among the highest paid 10% of the Agency's 

salaried employees; and, 
b) Reinstatement would cause the Agency serious and grievous 

economic harm; and, 
c) The employee was notified at the outset of leave that 

reinstatement could be denied. 
7.6.4 Status of Prior Policies 
This policy supersedes and replaces all other policies on the same subject.  The 
Agency reserves the right to amend this policy whenever it is appropriate to 
conform to state and federal laws, rules and regulations. 

Section 7.7. Funeral and Bereavement Leave 
7.7.1 Purpose  
The Agency provides bereavement leave for its employees in the event of a death 
in the employee’s family in order to handle family affairs and attend the funeral.  
7.7.2 Conditions of Leave 

A. Amount 
An employee may take up to five days of sick leave (one of which shall be the date 
of the funeral) for the purpose of making necessary arrangements and attending 
the funeral. 
An additional limited amount of time off to attend funeral services outside the State 
of California may be authorized with pay under special circumstances.  The 
Executive Director is vested with full discretion to evaluate the circumstances and 
make the determination. 
Attendance at funerals requiring absences of more than five days may be charged 
to accrued vacation or personal leave accounts. 

B. Covered Family Members 
Leave shall be afforded under this policy for the death of the employee’s spouse, 
registered domestic partner, child, parent, parents-in-law, step-parents, sibling, 
step-siblings, and grandparents. 

C. Deceased Employees 
In deference to the memory of a deceased colleague, a limited amount of time off 
to attend funeral services may be authorized with pay under special 
circumstances.  The Executive Director is vested with full discretion to evaluate the 
circumstances and make the determination. 

207



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[70] 

Section 7.8. Jury Duty and Witness Leave 
7.8.1 Purpose 
The Agency encourages its employees to perform their civic duty to serve on a jury 
panel or as a subpoenaed witness and provides leave for such purposes as 
described herein.   
7.8.2 Jury Duty Leave 

A. Full-time and Seasonal Employees 
Time off without loss of pay of up to four (4) weeks shall be granted to full-time 
employees called for jury duty.  Such employees who are required to serve on jury 
duty shall be paid the difference between their regular pay and the amount of the 
jury fee received for such duty.  For the purpose of this calculation, the jury fee 
does not include any mileage allowance.  Should jury duty extend beyond four (4) 
weeks, the employee will receive unpaid leave for the duration of the jury service.  
The employee may elect to use accrued vacation, compensatory time off, personal 
leave, or floating holiday leave to cover the remainder of the jury service. 

B. Part-Time and Temporary Employees 
Part-time and temporary employees will be granted time off without pay for jury 
duty service.  These employees may elect to use accrued vacation, compensatory 
time off, personal leave, or floating holiday leave to cover the jury service. 

C. Notice Requirements 
All employees are required to provide their supervisor with reasonable advance 
notice of jury duty.  Employees must provide their supervisor with a copy of their 
jury summons prior to the commencement of jury duty leave.   

D. Return to Work 
All employees released from jury duty prior to the end of a scheduled work day 
must report back to work within one (1) hour after being released from jury duty, 
unless there is less than two (2) hours remaining in the employee’s work day at 
the time of release. 
7.8.3 Witness Duty 
All employees will be allowed time off without pay to appear in court as a witness 
pursuant to a valid subpoena or other court order.  The employee must provide his 
or her supervisor with reasonable advance notice of the witness duty.  Further, the 
employee is required to provide his or her supervisor with a copy of the subpoena 
or court order requiring the employee’s attendance.  The employee may elect to 
use accrued vacation or floating holiday time to cover the time away from work.  
All employees who are subpoenaed by court to appear in their capacity and scope 
as a representative of the Agency shall be allowed time off with pay for such 
witness duty. 

208



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[71] 

7.8.4 Overtime Exempt Employees 
Overtime exempt employees who work any portion of the week in which they also 
serve on jury duty or as a witness will receive their full salary for that week. 

Section 7.9. Military Leave 
7.9.1 Purpose 
The Agency provides appropriate military leaves of absence, benefits and 
reinstatement rights to members of the military consistent with the provisions of 
the California Military and Veterans Code and the federal Uniformed Services 
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act.   
7.9.2 Leave of Absence 
Any Agency employee who is a member of the United States armed forces, the 
National Guard, the Naval Militia or the reserve corps is entitled to an unpaid 
leave(s) of absence for ordered military duty including active military training, 
inactive duty training, encampment or exercises. 
7.9.3 Employee Notice Requirements 
Employees must provide advance written or verbal notice of the need for military 
leave unless to do so is impossible or unreasonable.  Generally, an employee 
should present their service papers to their supervisor as soon as they receive 
them.  Employees should use their best efforts to arrange inactive duty or annual 
trainings at a time that is mutually convenient to the employee and the Agency. 
7.9.4 Pay and Benefits While On Leave 

A. Pay 
Where the employee has been employed by the Agency for at least one year prior 
to the start of the leave, the first 30 calendar days of military leave will be paid.  No 
minimum length of service is required to receive 60 calendar days of pay for a 
member of the National Guard who is called to active duty during a declared 
emergency.  Paid military leave shall not exceed 30 calendar days in any fiscal 
year. 
After the first 30 calendar days, military leave will be unpaid.  Any employee may, 
at his or her option, elect to use accrued vacation or floating holiday time to cover 
periods of unpaid military leave.   

B. Health Care Coverage 
For leaves with duration of 30 days or less, the Agency will continue the 
employee’s health care coverage on the same terms as if the employee was 
working.   
For leaves longer than 30 days, the employee may be eligible to continue health 
care coverage for self and dependents at the employee’s own expense for up to 
24 months.  Employees returning from leave longer than 30 days will be restored 
to health care coverage upon their return to work without a waiting period.    

209



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[72] 

C. Seniority 
Any employee who takes military leave retains his or her original seniority date and 
all other seniority-based benefits as if continuously employed.  
Employees on military leaves will not accrue any vacation or sick leave during 
periods of unpaid military leave. 
Time spent on military leave will be counted as time worked for purposes of 
determining eligibility for family and medical leave. 
7.9.5 Reinstatement  
The Agency will adhere to the applicable federal or state law that is most beneficial 
to the employee in determining reinstatement rights. 
Generally, employees must provide timely notice of their intent to return to work 
after military service.  An employee returning from military leave will be reinstated 
to employment in the position he or she would have held had there been no 
interruption for military service, if qualified.  If reasonable efforts to so qualify the 
employee fail, he or she will be returned to the position held at the beginning of the 
leave, if qualified. 
Reinstatement may be denied if the employee receives a dishonorable or other 
disqualifying discharge, fails to timely request reemployment, or the Agency’s 
circumstances have so changed to make reemployment impossible or 
unreasonable. 

Section 7.10. Leaves of Absence without Pay–Accrual of Vacation and Sick Leave 
An employee taking leave without pay shall earn vacation leave and sick leave during the 
week in which the leave of absence occurs according to the following weekly schedule.  
Such vacation leave and sick leave shall be calculated to the nearest tenths as shown in 
the chart below: 
 

HOURS OF LWOP PERCENTAGE OF ACCRUAL 
2 – 3.9 90 
4 – 7.9 80 
8 – 11.9 70 

12 – 15.9 60 
16 – 19.9 50 
20 – 23.9 40 
24 – 27.9 30 
28 – 31.9 20 
32 – 35.9 10 
36 – 40.0 0 

 
Section 7.11. Outside Employment 

The Agency forbids employees on a leave of absence, other than military leave, 
from holding outside employment during such leave.  Employees who violate this 

210



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[73] 

policy will forfeit any leave of absence and will be deemed to have voluntarily 
terminated their employment and separated from the Agency. 
 

211



 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[74] 

CHAPTER 8 BENEFITS 
 
Section 8.1. Insurance 

8.1.1 Purpose 
The Agency will provide all eligible employees and their dependents access to 
group health insurance programs including medical, dental and vision and life 
insurance. 
8.1.2 Terms of Coverage 
The amount and type of coverage, as well as the percentage of Agency 
contribution, is subject to change from time to time depending on changes in 
applicable premiums.  
Information describing coverage is available from the Agency Human Resourced 
department upon request.  If there is a conflict between the language used here 
and the language contained in the group plan documents, the plan documents will 
prevail. 
8.1.3 Eligibility 
Full-time and part-time permanent employees are eligible for medical, dental, 
vision and life insurance coverages.  The effective date for these coverage’s is the 
first of any month following thirty (30) days of continuous service, except for 
medical which is effective the first of the month following the employee’s hire date.  
Employees returning from layoff shall have full benefits made available to them on 
the first of the month following their return to work, without waiting the otherwise 
mandatory “waiting period.” 
8.1.4 Medical, Dental and Vision Coverage 

A. Payment of Premiums 
Presently the Agency pays 96% of the premium for Medical and 100% of the 
premium Dental for eligible full-time permanent employees during periods of 
regular pay status (including paid time off and paid leave).  The agency pays 100% 
of benefits for full-time permanent employees with no dependents.  The Vision 
premium is paid for by the Employee.  The Agency does not pay insurance 
premiums for employees on an unpaid leave of absence or whose hours fall below 
the required minimum for eligibility of at least fifty (50) paid hours per pay period, 
unless specifically provided in another Agency policy such as the family and 
medical leave policy.  Employees can elect to waive coverage providing that they 
can show they are covered by health insurance elsewhere. 
The monthly premiums for permanent part-time employees shall be paid on a pro-
rata basis proportional to full-time employment. 

B. Long Term Disability 
As used herein, “long-term disability” means the status reached when an eligible 
employee has, during any consecutive 12 month period, been unable to work or 

212



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[75] 

perform the duties for which employed for 90 calendar days during that period, 
because of his or her own ill health or physical or mental disability. 
Upon entering long-term disability status, an employee may petition the Board of 
Directors for use of accrued vacation or sick leave sufficient to pay premiums as 
set by the Agency for continuation of health, dental and vision coverage.  Granting 
or denial of such petition shall be at the sole discretion of the Board based on their 
evaluation of the circumstances in each case.  A granting in one case shall not be 
construed to have set a precedent when reviewing other cases. 

C. Continuation of Health Benefits - COBRA
As stated above, the Agency’s health care plans are maintained for employees in 
regular pay status and their covered dependents.  The federal Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) and a related state law allow 
employees and their dependents to continue health care coverage at their own 
expense for up to 36 months if they lose coverage due to termination or other 
qualifying events. 

D. Temporary Employees
Temporary employees are eligible for group health benefits for themselves and 
their dependents at their own expense provided the temporary employee qualifies 
as provided above and provided further, the employee pays the monthly premium 
for the group health care coverage a minimum of 10 days in advance of the first of 
each month. 
8.1.5 Life Insurance Coverage 
The Agency provides life insurance coverage for eligible employees in accordance 
with carrier requirements and at benefit levels determined through negotiations 
with the applicable employee representative.  Presently the Agency pays 100% of 
the premium for this insurance. 

Section 8.2. Retirement 
8.2.1 Purpose 
The Agency provides retirement benefits to fulltime and part-time, permanent 
employees through its plan with CalPERS.  The terms of the plan shall govern 
retirement benefits. 
8.2.2 Plan Overview 
CalPERS provides a defined benefit plan.  Benefits are based on the employee’s 
age, years of credited service and final compensation at retirement.  Employees 
become fully vested with 5 years of service.  For employees hired prior to May 21, 
2011 the minimum retirement age is 55 with a benefit formula of 2.5% at 55 (Tier 
1); for employees hired between May 21, 2011 and December 31, 2012 the 
minimum retirement age is 60 with a benefit formula of 2.0% at 60 (Tier 2); and for 
employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 the minimum retirement age is 62 
with a benefit formula of 2% at 62 (PEPRA New Members). 

213

mailto:2.5%25@55
mailto:2.0%25@60


 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[76] 

8.2.3 Contributions 
The Agency pays the employer’s contribution share at the current rate (2019) of 
10.022% for Tier 1 members, 7.634% for Tier 2 members and 6.842% for PEPRA 
members of reportable earnings.  The Employee pays the employee’s contribution 
share at the current rate of 8% for Tier 1 members, 7% for Tier 2 members and 
6.25% for PEPRA members of reportable earnings. 

Section 8.3. Education, Membership and Professional Affiliation Fees 
8.3.1 Purpose 
The Agency will reimburse tuition, membership, and professional affiliation fees to 
eligible employees. 
8.3.2 Eligibility 
• Must be a regular, full-time employee. 
• Must have at least one-year full-time employment. 
• Must meet the performance expectations of his or her current position. 
• Must not have any formal disciplinary actions with NVTA within the previous 18 

months.  Formal disciplinary actions include written warnings, demotions, or 
suspension. 

• Must have an individual development plan in place, reviewed and agreed to by 
the supervisors with recognition that the educational investment is part of the 
employee’s development for the current job or for a job to which he or she 
would realistically move to within NVTA in the future. 

• Undergraduate level and graduate level degree course work, (both credit and 
non-credit courses such as continuing education & off-site training) are eligible 
for reimbursement, provided the employee’s management agrees that the 
intended studies relate to the individual’s current or potential future job at 
NVTA.  This alignment should be reflected within the employee’s individual 
development plan as noted in their performance evaluation. 

• Must have clear alignment between the employee’s educational ambitions, the 
agency’s needs, the employee’s performance management agreement and 
individual development plan. 

• Must apply for and be pre-approved before enrolling in courses or any other 
type of formal education such as professional certifications.  It is advisable for 
application to be made a 60-90 days in advance of the course/program to allow 
time to consider approval and budgeting, as appropriate. 

8.3.3 Education Fees 
Tuition for authorized Agency continuing education or a college degree are eligible 
for reimbursement.  Education must be relevant to enhancing job knowledge or job 
related skills, or for the purpose of qualifying for advancement within the Agency 
as described in the employee’s development plan.  Employees are required to 
prepare a written request outlining the objectives for obtaining the education, 
expected timeframe, coursework and cost estimates, including tuition and books.  
The written request is to be submitted to the Executive Director for consideration 
and discretionary approval prior to enrolling in coursework, provided the employee 
intends to seek Agency reimbursement.  Depending on the cost or relevancy of 

214



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[77] 

the proposed education, the Executive Director may agree to reimburse all or a 
portion of the estimated cost.  Actual reimbursements are eligible only after the 
successful completion of each quarter or semester as evidenced by supporting 
documentation from the college or university.  Expenses for travel, lodging, meals 
or mileage related to education are not eligible for reimbursement. 
Employees who accept tuition reimbursement, commit to regular full-time time 
service of two (2) years for an under-graduate degree or three (3) years for a 
graduate degree, following the successful completion of the coursework.  In the 
event that an employee voluntarily terminates their employment with NVTA or is 
terminated for cause at any time during the course of employment, the employee 
agrees to repay NVTA the entire amount of tuition, associated fees, and taxes, if 
any, that have been paid for all courses.  Repayment will not be required if the 
termination of their employment is due to death, long-term disability, layoff or 
involuntary termination for any reason other than cause. 
If an employee does not repay any amounts due as indicated above on or before 
their last day of employment, any such amounts will be deducted from the 
employee’s final paycheck or from other amounts payable to the employee upon 
or following termination of employment, and will authorize such deduction. 
Employees will also acknowledge that any balance still owed to NVTA after the 
deductions referenced above must be repaid to NVTA.  
Employees shall be allowed sufficient leave with pay to meet the minimum 
education coursework requirement.  The allowed leave shall be subject to the 
convenience of the Agency and the approval of the Executive Director. 
8.3.4 Membership and Professional Affiliations Fees 
Employees are encouraged to be members and active participants in job related 
professional affiliations.  Memberships in professional organizations, and 
certifications or licenses related to transportation, engineering, financial 
management, accounting or other governmental affiliations are eligible for 
reimbursement as approved by the Executive Director.  A maximum of two (2) 
memberships per employee totaling no more the $500 per year is available for 
memberships to be reimbursed to the employee or paid directly by the Agency. 
The Executive Director may authorize an amount greater than this limit on a case 
by case basis when it is in the best interest of the Agency.  

NVTA reserved the right to amend these Personnel Policies and Procedures at 
any time. 

215



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.5 

Continued From: July 15, 2020 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 
 
Revised Resolution No. 20-15 Recertifying Napa Valley Transportation Authority’s 
Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Revised Resolution 
No. 20-15 recertifying NVTA’s Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP).   
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On July 19, 2018, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) published the PTASP Final 
Rule, which requires operators of public transportation systems that receive federal funds 
under FTA’s Urbanized Area Formula grant program develop safety plans that include 
processes and procedures to implement Safety Management Systems (SMS). NVTA 
adopted the PTASP on July 15, 2020.  NVTA must annually certify that it has a compliant 
safety plan in place.  NVTA has made minor changes to key personnel listed in the 
organizational chart and updated the NVTA safety goals for 2022.    
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None 

216



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.5 

Continued From: July 2020 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Danielle Schmitz, Director - Capital Development and Planning  

(707) 259-5968 / Email: dshcmitz@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Revised Resolution No. 20-15 Recertifying Napa Valley 
Transportation Authority’s Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) 

______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Revised Resolution 
No, 20-15 (Attachment 1) recertifying the NVTA Public Transit Agency Safety Plan 
(PTASP).    
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) is a requirement for all public transit 
service providers that receive Federal Transit Administration (FTA) §5307 Urbanized 
Area Formula funds.   
 
The plan follows Caltrans FTA approved template and is based on the four (4) principles 
or pillars of the Safety Management Systems (SMS).  SMS is defined as the formal, top-
down, organization-wide, data-driven approach to managing safety risks and assuring the 
effectiveness of safety mitigations.  It includes systematic policies, procedures, and 
practices for the management of safety risk.  The four principles or pillars of SMS are: (1) 
Safety Management Policy; (2) Safety Risk Management; (3) Safety Assurance, and (4) 
Safety Promotion.  
 
The Safety Performance Targets for NVTA for the year 2022 are expected to stay within 
1% +/- of previous three years data pertaining to fatalities, injuries, safety events, and 

217

mailto:dshcmitz@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority             Agenda Item 7.5 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
system reliability.  NVTA is required to communicate performance data to Caltrans and 
MTC on an annual basis. 
 
Table 1, NVTA Safety Goals  
Mode of Transit  Fatalities Injuries Safety 

Events 
System 
Reliability* 

Fixed Route Integer Target 0 2 2 36,520.93 
Fixed Route Target per Vehicle 
Revenue Mile  

0 0 1.75/100,000 
miles 

11.68/100,000 

Demand Response Integer 
Target 

0 1 1 43,378.83 

Demand Response Target per 
Vehicle Revenue Mile  

0 0 2.6/100,0000 3.47/100,000 

*Miles between breakdowns, breakdowns per 100,000 miles (NTD mechanical failures 
reported)  
 
NVTA Goals are based on NTD data reported in Fiscal Year 2021-2022. This plan will be 
updated by NVTA’s Chief Safety Officer (Manager of Public Transit) every July.   
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Board could decide not to recertify the PTASP, resulting in the being out of 
compliance with FTA requirements compromising future FTA §5307 funds.    
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 2:  Improve system safety in order to support all modes and serve all users.  The 
adoption of the PTASP establishes safety metrics and targets to compare baseline data 
with ongoing performance.  This will aid in correcting safety issues and improve overall 
safety performance   

 
ATTACHMENT 
 
(1) Revised Resolution No. 20-15 

218



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5                                                 
   Revised 7/20/22 

Adopted 7/15/20 
 

REVISED 
RESOLUTION No. 20-15 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 
CERTYFIYING THE PUBLIC TRANSIT AGENCY SAFETY PLAN (PTASP) 

 
 
WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is a public transit 

operator and recipient of the Urbanized Area Formula Program (49 U.S.C. 5307);  
 

WHEREAS, The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) published a Final Rule on 
the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) that requires operators receiving 
FTA §5307 Urbanized Area Formula funds develop a safety plan that includes process 
and procedures to implement Safety Management Systems;   
 

WHEREAS, NVTA has opted to use the California Department of Transportation’s 
(Caltrans) safety plan template; and 

 
WHEREAS, Caltrans developed the contents of NVTA’s plan to meet the 

requirements specific in 49 CFR Part 673 and comply with Part 673.11 (d) regarding 
Caltrans’ responsibility to develop an PTASP for any public transportation provider 
receiving FTA Small Urbanized Area funds located in California. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors hereby 

adopts Exhibit A to this Resolution as NVTA’s Public Transit Agency Safety Plan to meet 
FTA requirements; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the NVTA Chief Safety Officer will review and 
update the Plan’s goals annually. 
 

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED by 
the Board of Directors of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, at a regular meeting 
held on July 15, 2020; and recertified at a regular meeting on July 20, 2022 by the 
following vote: 
 
 
______________________ 
Liz Alessio, NVTA Chair       Ayes: 
 
 

219



 
Resolution No. 20-15 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                Nays: 
 
 
 
                Absent: 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
____________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
APPROVED:  
 
_______________________________ 
Osman Mufti, NVTA Legal Counsel 

220



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 1 of 25 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) 

 625 Burnell Street 

Napa, CA 94559 

 

 

Agency Safety Plan 

July 20, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ ____________ 

KATE MILLER, Executive Director Date 

 

  

EXHIBIT A

221



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 2 of 25 
 

Contents 

Definitions ....................................................................................................................... 3 

Section 1  Transit Agency Information ........................................................................ 5 

Subsection 1.1 Accountable Executive ........................................................................... 5 

Subsection 1.2 Chief Safety Officer................................................................................. 5 

Section 2  Plan Development, Approval, and Updates .............................................. 5 

Subsection 2.1 Drafting the Plan ..................................................................................... 6 

Subsection 2.2 Signature by the Accountable Executive and Approval by the Board ..... 6 

Subsection 2.3 Certification of Compliance ..................................................................... 6 

Subsection 2.4 Plan Review and Updates ...................................................................... 6 

Section 3  Safety Performance Targets (SPTs) .......................................................... 7 

Subsection 3.1 Target Development ............................................................................... 7 

Section 4  Overview of the Agency’s Safety Management Systems (SMS) ............. 8 

Section 5  Safety Management Policy ......................................................................... 8 

Subsection 5.1 Safety Management Policy Statement .................................................... 9 

Subsection 5.2 Safety Management Policy Communication ........................................... 9 

Subsection 5.3 Employee Safety Reporting Program ................................................... 10 

Subsection 5.4 SMS Authorities, Accountabilities, and Responsibilities ....................... 11 

Subsection 5.4.1 Accountable Executive ...................................................................... 11 

Subsection 5.4.2 Chief Safety Officer............................................................................ 12 

Subsection 5.4.3 Agency Leadership and Executive Management ............................... 12 

Subsection 5.4.4 Key Staff ............................................................................................ 13 

Section 6  Safety Risk Management (SRM) ............................................................... 13 

Subsection 6.1 Safety Hazard Identification .................................................................. 14 

Subsection 6.2 Safety Risk Assessment ....................................................................... 15 

Subsection 6.3 Safety Risk Mitigation ........................................................................... 17 

Section 7  Safety Assurance ...................................................................................... 17 

Subsection 7.1 Safety Performance Monitoring and Measurement .............................. 18 

Section 8  Safety Promotion ....................................................................................... 19 

Subsection 8.1 Safety Communication.......................................................................... 19 

 

EXHIBIT A

222



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 3 of 25 
 

 

 

Definitions 
 

Accident means an Event that involves any of the following: a loss of life; a report of a serious 

injury to a person; a collision of public transportation vehicles; an evacuation for life safety 

reasons. 

Accountable Executive means the single, identifiable person who has ultimate responsibility for 

carrying out the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan of the Agency; responsibility for 

carrying out the Agency’s Transit Asset Management Plan; and control or direction over the 

human and capital resources needed to develop and maintain both the Agency’s Public 

Transportation Agency Safety Plan, in accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 5329(d), and the Agency’s 

Transit Asset Management Plan in accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 5326. 

Agency or Transit Agency means Napa Valley Transportation Authority. 

Board of Directors means governing body of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority. 

Caltrans means the California Department of Transportation 

Chief Safety Officer means the adequately trained individual who has responsibility for safety and 

reports directly to the Transit Agency’s chief executive officer. 

CFR means Code of Federal Regulations. 

Event means any Accident, Incident, or Occurrence. 

FTA means the Federal Transit Administration, an operating administration within the United 

States Department of Transportation. 

Hazard means any real or potential condition that can cause injury, illness, or death, damage to 

or loss of the facilities, equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure of the system, or damage to the 

environment. 

Incident means an Event that involves any of the following: a personal injury that is not a serious 

injury, one or more injuries requiring medical transport, or damage to facilities, equipment, rolling 

stock, or infrastructure that disrupts the operations of the Transit Agency. 

Investigation means the process of determining the causal and contributing factors of an accident, 

incident, or hazard, for the purpose of preventing recurrence and mitigating risk. 

National Public Transportation Safety Plan means the plan to improve the safety of all public 

transportation systems that receive federal financial assistance under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53. 

Occurrence means an Event without any personal injury in which any damage to facilities, 

equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure does not disrupt the operations of the Transit Agency. 

Part 673 means 49 CFR (Code of Federal Regulations) Part 673. 

EXHIBIT A

223



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 4 of 25 
 

Performance Measure means an expression based on a quantifiable indicator of performance or 

condition that is used to establish targets and to assess progress toward meeting the established 

targets. 

Performance target means a quantifiable level of performance or condition, expressed as a value 

for the measure, to be achieved within a time period required by the Federal Transit Administration 

(FTA). 

Risk means the composite of predicted severity and likelihood of the potential effect of a hazard. 

Risk mitigation means a method or methods to eliminate or reduce the effects of hazards. 

Safety Assurance means processes within the Transit Agency’s Safety Management Systems 

that function to ensure the implementation and effectiveness of safety risk mitigation, and to 

ensure that the Transit Agency meets or exceeds its safety objectives through the collection, 

analysis, and assessment of information. 

Safety Management Policy means the Transit Agency’s documented commitment to safety, which 

defines the Transit Agency’s safety objectives and the accountabilities and responsibilities of its 

employees in regard to safety. 

Safety Management Systems (SMS) means the formal, top-down, organization-wide approach to 

managing safety risk and assuring the effectiveness of a Transit Agency’s safety risk mitigation. 

SMS includes systematic procedures, practices, and policies for managing risks and hazards. 

Safety Performance Target (SPT) means a Performance Target related to safety management 

activities. 

Safety Promotion means a combination of training and communication of safety information to 

support SMS as applied to the Transit Agency’s public transportation system. 

Safety Risk Assessment (SRA) means the formal activity whereby the Transit Agency determines 

Safety Risk Management priorities by establishing the significance or value of its safety risks. 

Safety Risk Management (SRM) means a process within the Transit Agency’s Public 

Transportation Agency Safety Plan for identifying hazards and analyzing, assessing, and 

mitigating safety risk. 

Serious injury means any injury which: (1) requires hospitalization for more than 48 hours, 

commencing within seven days from the date the injury was received, (2) results in a fracture of 

any bone (except simple fractures of fingers, toes, or noses), (3) causes severe hemorrhages, 

nerve, muscle, or tendon damage; (4) involves any internal organ, or (5) involves second or third-

degree burns, or any burns affecting more than five percent of the body surface. 

State of Good Repair (SGR) means the condition in which a capital asset is able to operate at a 

full level of performance. 

Transit Asset Management Plan means the strategic and systematic practice of procuring, 

operating, inspecting, maintaining, rehabilitating, and replacing transit capital assets to manage 

their performance, risks, and costs over their life cycles, for the purpose of providing safe, cost-

effective, and reliable public transportation, as required by 49 U.S.C. 5326 and 49 CFR part 625. 

EXHIBIT A

224



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 5 of 25 
 

U.S.C. means United States Code. 

 

Section 1  Transit Agency Information 
 

The Napa Valley Transportation Authority (“NVTA”) is a joint powers agency formed by 

the Joint Exercise Powers Act (Government Code section 6500 et seq.), which serves as 

the countywide transportation planning agency for the incorporated and unincorporated 

areas within the County of Napa and is responsible for programming State and Federal 

funding including highways, streets, and roads, public transit and paratransit, bicycle and 

pedestrian improvement projects. NVTA operates fixed route and demand response 

public transportation services in the County of Napa, California, to include fixed route 

regional services extending into its neighboring counties of Solano and Contra Costa 

County, California.  NVTA does purchase transit operations services from Transdev, Inc..  

NVTA is a subrecipient of Section 5307, 5310, 5311 and 5311f funds. NVTA does not 

provide transportation services on behalf of another entity. 

Subsection 1.1 Accountable Executive 
 

NVTA’s Accountable Executive is the Executive Director.  The Executive Director is the 

single, identifiable person who has ultimate responsibility for carrying out this Agency 

Safety Plan and the NVTA’s Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plan, and control or 

direction over the human and capital resources needed to develop and maintain both this 

Plan and the TAM Plan. 

The Executive Director is accountable for ensuring that the Agency’s Safety Management 

Systems (SMS) is effectively implemented throughout the Agency’s public transportation 

system.  The Executive Director is accountable for ensuring action is taken, as necessary, 

to address substandard performance in the Agency’s SMS.  The Executive Director may 

delegate specific responsibilities, but the ultimate accountability for the Transit Agency’s 

safety performance cannot be delegated and always rests with the Executive Director. 

Subsection 1.2 Chief Safety Officer 

The Executive Director designates the Program Manager for Public Transit as NVTA’s 

Chief Safety Officer who has the authority and responsibility for day-to-day 

implementation and operation of the Agency’s SMS. The Chief Safety Officer holds a 

direct line of reporting to the Accountable Executive, as shown in the organization chart 

in the Attachment A, and has a strong working relationship with the operations and asset 

management functions at NVTA. 

Section 2  Plan Development, Approval, and Updates 
 

Caltrans developed the contents of this NVTA plan to meet requirements specified in 49 CFR 

Part 673 and comply with Part 673.11(d) regarding Caltrans’ responsibility to develop an 

EXHIBIT A

225



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 6 of 25 
 

ASP for any small public transportation provider that is located in California. This Plan is 

based on the four (4) principles or pillars of the Safety Management Systems (SMS). SMS 

is defined as the formal, top-down, organization-wide, data-driven approach to managing 

safety risk and assuring the effectiveness of safety mitigations. It includes systematic 

policies, procedures, and practices for the management of safety risk. The four principles 

or pillars of SMS are: (1) Safety Management Policy; (2) Safety Risk Management; (3) Safety 

Assurance; and (4) Safety Promotion.  

Subsection 2.1 Drafting the Plan 
 

Caltrans drafted this Plan, thus meeting the requirements of 49 CFR Part 673.11(d).  FTA 

will oversee compliance with the requirements of Part 673 through the existing Triennial 

Review processes. 

Should NVTA no longer meet the definition of a small public transportation provider or 

choose to opt-out of the Caltrans Agency Safety Plan, within one (1) year from the date 

of notifying the State of either development NVTA will draft and certify its own Agency 

Safety Plan. If the NVTA operates more than 100 vehicles NVTA must fulfil requirements 

of systems operating more than 100 vehicles. 

Subsection 2.2 Signature by the Accountable Executive and Approval by the Board 
 

Pursuant to 49 CFR Part 673.11 (a)(1), this Agency Safety Plan and subsequent updates 

must be signed by the Accountable Executive and approved by NVTA’s Board. 

Documentation of Board approval is found in Attachment B. 

Subsection 2.3 Certification of Compliance 
 

Pursuant to 49 CFR Parts 673.13(a) and 673.13(b), Caltrans certifies that it has 

established this Agency Safety Plan, meeting the requirements of 49 CFR Part 673 by 

July 20, 2020 and will certify its compliance with 49 CFR Part 673. 

After Caltrans initial certification, and on an annual basis NVTA must update this Agency 

Safety Plan annually in perpetuity. All Agency Safety Plan updates shall be signed by the 

Accountable Executive and approved by NVTA’s Board.     

FTA does not require this plan to be submitted to FTA. Instead, Caltrans will certify that it 

has established this Safety Plan, which fulfills the requirements under Part 673. FTA 

annually amends and issues the list of Certifications and Assurances. Caltrans will review 

such guidance for incorporation into the safety program as necessary. 

Subsection 2.4 Plan Review and Updates 
 

NVTA updates this Safety Plan when information, processes or activities change within 

the Agency and/or when Part 673 undergoes significant changes, or annually, whichever 

EXHIBIT A

226



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 7 of 25 
 

comes sooner.  As NVTA collects data through its Safety Risk Management and Safety 

Assurance processes, shared with Caltrans and the local Metropolitan Planning 

Organization (MPO) as described in subsection 3.1 below, the MPO and Caltrans will 

evaluate NVTA’s safety performance targets (SPTs) to determine whether they need to 

be changed, as well. 

This Plan will be jointly reviewed and updated by the Chief Safety Officer and Program 

Manager for Public Transit, with the assistance of subject matter experts, each year. The 

Accountable Executive will approve any changes, then forward on to the Board of 

Directors for approval. 

This Plan may need to be reviewed and updated more frequently based on the following:  

 We determine our approach to mitigating safety deficiencies is ineffective; 

 We make significant changes to service delivery; 

 We introduce new processes or procedures that may impact safety; 

 We change or re-prioritize resources available to support SMS; 

 We significantly change our organizational structure. 

Section 3  Safety Performance Targets (SPTs) 

Subsection 3.1 Target Development 
 

Caltrans includes SPTs in this Safety Plan. These targets are specific numerical targets 

set by Caltrans and based on the safety Performance Measures established by FTA in 

the National Public Transportation Safety Plan. In the most recent version, the 2017 

NSP3, FTA adopted four initial safety Performance Measures: (1) Fatalities, (2) Injuries, 

(3) Safety Events, and (4) System Reliability. 

Caltrans developed safety performance targets that it will review and update annually. 

The specific safety performance targets are based on the safety performance measures 

established under the National Public Transportation Safety Plan and the safety 

performance goals set by Caltrans based on the past three (3) Calendar years of data. 

The Safety Performance Targets for NVTA for the year 2022 is expected to stay within 

1% +/- of previous three years data pertaining to fatalities, injuries, safety events, and 

system reliability. 

FTA requires Caltrans to coordinate with FTA Region 9 and the Metropolitan 

Transportation Commission (“MTC”) to the maximum extent practicable.  Pursuant to 49 

CFR Part 673.15(a), Caltrans will make safety performance targets available to MTC to 

aid in the planning process upon certification of this plan.  Additionally, NVTA will transmit 

performance data against the safety performance targets to Caltrans and the MTC on an 

annual basis.  

EXHIBIT A

227



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 8 of 25 
 

Caltrans will conduct coordination meetings with the MTC in the selection of State and MPO 

safety performance targets. 

Mode of Transit Service Fatalities Injuries 
Safety 

Events 

System 

Reliability 

Fixed Route Integer Target  0  2 2   36,520.93 

Fixed Route Target per Vehicle Revenue Mile  0  0 

 1.75/100,000 

miles  11.68/100,000 

Demand Response Integer Target  0  1  1  43,378.83 

Demand Response Target per Vehicle Revenue Mile  0  0 

 2.6/100,000 

miles  3.47/100,000 

Section 4  Overview of the Agency’s Safety Management Systems (SMS) 
 

SMS is a comprehensive, collaborative approach that brings management and labor 

together to build on the transit industry’s existing safety foundation to control risk better, 

detect and correct safety problems earlier, share and analyze safety data more 

effectively, and measure safety performance more carefully. NVTA’s SMS focuses on 

applying resources to risk and is based on ensuring that the NVTA has the organizational 

infrastructure to support decision-making at all levels regarding the assignment of 

resources. Some key parts of NVTA’s SMS include: 

 Defined roles and responsibilities; 

 Strong executive safety leadership; 

 Formal safety accountabilities and communication; 

 Effective policies and procedures; and 

 Active employee involvement 

Furthermore, NVTA’s SMS have four distinct components, which are discussed in 

subsequent sections to this Safety Plan: 

 Safety Policy 

 Safety Risk Management 

 Safety Assurance 

 Safety Promotion 

Section 5  Safety Management Policy 
 

The first component of the NVTA’s SMS is the Safety Management Policy, which is the 

foundation of the NVTA’s safety management system. It clearly states the organization’s 

safety objectives and sets forth the policies, procedures, and organizational structures 

necessary to accomplish the safety objectives. The Safety Management Policy clearly 

defines management and employee responsibilities for safety throughout the 

organization. It also ensures that management is actively engaged in the oversight of the 

system’s safety performance by requiring regular review of the Safety Management 

Policy, budget and program by the designated Accountable Executive.  

EXHIBIT A

228



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 9 of 25 
 

Subsection 5.1 Safety Management Policy Statement 
 

Safety is a core value at NVTA, and managing safety is a core business function. NVTA 
will develop, implement, maintain, and continuously improve processes to ensure the 
safety of our customers, employees, and the public. NVTA’s overall safety objective is to 
proactively manage safety hazards and their associated safety risk, with the intent to 
eliminate unacceptable safety risk in our transit operations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NVTA will:  

 Clearly, and continuously explain to all staff that everyone working within NVTA 
must take part and be responsible and accountable for the development and 
operation of the Safety Management System (SMS).  

 Work continuously to minimize safety risks. Work to comply with and, wherever 
possible, exceed legislative and regulatory requirements and standards for 
passengers and employees.  

 Work to ensure that all employees are provided appropriate safety information 
and training, are competent in safety matters, and assigned tasks commensurate 
with duties and skills. 

 Reaffirm that responsibility for making our operations safer for everyone lies with 
all employees – from executive management to frontline employees. Each 
manager is responsible for implementing the SMS in their area of responsibility 
and will be held accountable to ensure that all reasonable steps are taken to 
perform activities established through the SMS.  

Caltrans established safety performance targets to help measure the overall effectiveness 

of our processes and ensure we meet our safety objectives. NVTA will keep employees 

informed about safety performance goals and objectives to ensure continuous safety 

improvement. 

Subsection 5.2 Safety Management Policy Communication 
 

The Safety Management Policy is communicated throughout the Agency, to all 

employees, managers, and executives, as well as contractors, and to the Board of 

Directors.  

This is accomplished through various processes such as:  
 

 Workshops/training sessions - Conducted for Senior Management, Directors, 
Managers, Supervisors. Once this Plan or any update to this Plan has been signed 
by the CEO/General Manager approved by the Board of Directors and certified by 
Caltrans it will become standard practice in perpetuity so that SMS becomes 
standard business practice. All Union representatives will be kept informed. 
 

EXHIBIT A

229



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 10 of 25 
 

 New Hire Safety Orientation – All new employees regardless of their classifications 
will be trained about their roles and responsibilities pertaining to PTASP and the 
principles of SMS.  
 

 Safety bulletins, email safety newsletter blasts to staff, toolbox/tailgate safety 
meetings and/or safety committee meetings 

Subsection 5.3 Employee Safety Reporting Program 
 

NVTA implemented a process that allows employees [and contracted employees] to 

report safety conditions to senior management, protections for employees who report 

safety conditions to senior management. The purpose, description and protections for 

employees to report unsafe conditions and hazards are described in the Employee Safety 

Reporting Program as below: 

Purpose.  
a) To establish a system for NVTA employees to identify unsafe conditions or 

hazards at work and report them to their department management without fear of reprisal. 
However, disciplinary action could result if the condition reported reveals the employee 
willfully participated in or conducted an illegal act, gross negligence or deliberate or willful 
disregard of regulations or procedures, including reporting to work under the influence of 
controlled substances, physical assault of a coworker or passenger, theft of agency 
property, unreported safety events, unreported collisions, and unreported passenger 
injuries or fatalities. 
 

b) To provide guidelines for facilitating the timely correction of unsafe conditions 
or hazards by NVTA management.  
 

Description.  
a) This program provides a method for NVTA management to identify, evaluate, 

and correct or avoid unsafe conditions or hazards, procedural deficiencies, design 
inadequacies, equipment failures, or near misses that adversely affect the safety of 
employees.  
 

Examples of voluntary safety reports include: 

 Safety hazards in the operating environment (for example, county or city road 
conditions), 

 Policies and procedures that are not working as intended (for example, 
insufficient time to complete pre-trip inspection), 

 Events that senior managers might not otherwise know about (for example, 
near misses), and 

 Information about why a safety event occurred (for example, radio 
communication challenges). 

 

EXHIBIT A

230



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 11 of 25 
 

b) The program also involves recommending corrective actions and resolutions of 
identified unsafe conditions or hazards and/or near miss.  
 

c) All employees have the obligation to report immediately any unsafe conditions 
or hazards and near miss to their immediate supervisor /department manager and may 
do so without fear of reprisal. 
 

d) Unsafe conditions or hazards may also be identified as a result of occupational 
injury or illness investigations and/or by accident investigation.  
 

e) Other means by which hazards may be identified are inspections/audits or 
observations made by the supervisors/management staff as referenced in agency’s 
Safety Inspection Program.  
 

f) Findings will be published immediately following mitigation actions. If employee 
identification is available, direct feedback regarding mitigation will be provided.   

Subsection 5.4 SMS Authorities, Accountabilities, and Responsibilities 
 

This Plan has assigned specific SMS authorities, accountabilities, and responsibilities to 
the designated Accountable Executive; Chief Safety Officer; Agency’s 
Leadership/Executive Management; and Key Staff/Employees as described below: 

Subsection 5.4.1 Accountable Executive 
 

NVTA’s Accountable Executive is the Executive Director.  The Executive Director is 

accountable for ensuring that the Agency’s SMS is effectively implemented throughout 

the Agency’s public transportation system. The Executive Director is accountable for 

ensuring action is taken, as necessary, to address substandard performance in the 

Agency’s SMS. The Executive Director may delegate specific responsibilities, but the 

ultimate accountability for the NVTA’s safety performance cannot be delegated and 

always rests with the Executive Director.  The Executive Director is accountable for 

ensuring that the Agency’s SMS is effectively implemented, and that action is taken, as 

necessary, to address substandard performance in the Agency’s SMS. The Accountable 

Executive may delegate specific responsibilities, but not accountability for NVTA’s safety 

performance.  
 

The Executive Director’s roles include, but are not limited to: 

 Decision-making about resources (e.g. people and funds) to support asset 

management, SMS activities, and capital investments;  

 Signing SMS implementation planning documents; 

 Endorsing SMS implementation team membership; and 

 Ensuring safety concerns are considered and addressed in the agency’s ongoing 
budget planning process.  

EXHIBIT A

231



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 12 of 25 
 

 Ensuring transparency in safety priorities: for the Board of Directors and for the 
employees.  

 Establishing guidance on the level of safety risk acceptable to the agency.  

 Assuring safety policy is appropriately communicated throughout the agency.  

 Other duties as assigned/necessary. 

Subsection 5.4.2 Chief Safety Officer 
 

The Chief Safety Officer has the authority and responsibility for day-to-day 

implementation and operation of the NVTA’s SMS.  
 

Chief Safety Officer’s Roles include: 

 Decision-making about resources (e.g., people and funds) to support asset 

management, SMS activities, and capital investments;  

 Overseeing the safety risk management program by facilitating hazard 
identification, safety risk assessment, and the development and implementation of 
safety risk mitigations.  

 Monitoring safety risk mitigation activities; 

 Providing periodic reports on safety performance; 

 Briefing the Accountable Executive and Board of Directors on SMS implementation 

progress; 

 Planning safety management training; and 

 Developing and organizing annual audits/reviews of SMS processes and the 
Agency Safety Plan to ensure compliance with 49 CFR Part 673 requirements.  

 Maintaining safety documentation.  

 Other duties as assigned/necessary. 

Subsection 5.4.3 Agency Leadership and Executive Management 
 

The Executive Director, Director of Capital Development and Planning, and Program 
Manager of Transit comprise of the Agency Leadership/Executive Management. Some of 
their responsibilities include:  

 Day-to-day implementation of the Agency’s SMS throughout their department 
and the organization.  

 Communicating safety accountability and responsibility from the frontline 
employees to the top of the organization. 

 Ensuring employees are following their working rules and procedures, safety 
rules and regulations in performing their jobs, and their specific roles and 
responsibilities in the implementation of this Agency Safety Plan and the 
Agency’s SMS.  

 Ensuring that employees comply with the safety reporting program and are 
reporting unsafe conditions and hazards to their department management; 
and making sure reported unsafe conditions and hazards are addressed in a 
timely manner.  

EXHIBIT A

232



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 13 of 25 
 

 Ensuring that resources are sufficient to carry out employee 
training/certification and re-training as required by their job classifications. 

 
Agency Leadership and Executive Management Organization Chart provided under 
Attachment C. 

 

Subsection 5.4.4 Key Staff 
 

The agency Key Staff/Employees may include managers, supervisors, specialists, 
analysts, database administrators, and other key employees who are performing highly 
technical work and overseeing employees performing critical tasks and providing support 
in the implementation of this Agency Safety Plan and SMS principles in various 
departments throughout the agency.  
 
NVTA’s Key Staff/Employees responsibilities include:  

 Ensuring that employees are complying with the safety reporting program.  

 Ensuring supervisors are conducting their toolbox safety meetings  

 Promoting safety in employee’s respective area of responsibilities – That 
means: zero accidents; absence of any safety concerns; perfect employee 
performance; and compliance with agency rules and procedures and 
regulatory requirements.  

 Ensuring safety of passengers, employees, and the public.  

 Responding to customer complaints and expectations for frequency, reliability, 
and convenience of service.  

 Replacing and maintaining aging facilities, equipment, and infrastructure.  

 Meeting increasing demands for fixed route, commuter service and paratransit 
service.  

 Developing and maintaining programs to gather pertinent data elements to 
develop safety performance reports and conduct useful statistical analyses to 
identify trends and system performance targets.  

 Establishing clear lines of safety communication and holding accountability for 
safety performance.  

 Assisting as subject matter experts in safety risk assessment and safety risk 
mitigation processes. 

 
Key Staff Organization Chart provided under Attachment C. 

Section 6  Safety Risk Management (SRM) 
 

The second component of the NVTA’s SMS is Safety Risk Management, which includes 

processes and procedures to provide an understanding of the Agency’s operations and 

vehicle maintenance to allow individuals to identify hazards associated with those 

activities.  

EXHIBIT A

233



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 14 of 25 
 

NVTA has implemented a Safety Risk Management process for all elements of its 

transportation system. The Safety Risk Management process includes the following 

activities: safety hazard identification, safety risk assessment, and safety risk mitigation. 

Subsection 6.1 Safety Hazard Identification 
 

Hazard identification is the first step in the Safety Risk Management process and a key 

component. It involves these fundamental safety-related activities: Identifying safety 

hazards and their consequences; assessing the risks associated with the consequences 

of the hazards; and developing mitigations to reduce the potential consequences of the 

identified hazards.  
 

The following is NVTA’s methods and processes to identify hazards.  The Agency 

considers, as a source for hazard identification, data and information provided by an 

oversight authority and the FTA. Hazards are identified through a variety of sources, 

including: 
 

 Employee safety reporting, 

 Review of vehicle camera footage, 

 Review of monthly performance data and safety performance targets, 

 Observations from supervisors, 

 Maintenance reports,  

 Comments from customers, passengers, and third parties,  

 Safety committee, driver and all-staff meetings, 

 Results of audits and inspections of vehicles and facilities,  

 Results of training assessments 

 Investigations into safety events, incidents and occurrences, and 

 Information from FTA and oversight authorities. 

When a hazard has been identified, whatever the source, it is reported to the NVTA Chief 
Safety Officer, who enters it into the Hazard Log. The Chief Safety Officer also may enter 
hazards into this log based on reviews of operations and maintenance activities and 
procedures. 

The Chief Safety Officer will investigate hazards to collect information and determine if 
hazards need to be entered into the safety risk assessment process. In following up on 
identified hazards, the Chief Safety Officer may: 
 

 Reach out to the reporting party, if available, to gather all known information about 
the reported hazard, 

 Conduct a walkthrough of the affected area, assessing the possible hazardous 
condition, generating visual documentation (photographs and/or video), and taking 
any measurements deemed necessary, 

EXHIBIT A

234



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 15 of 25 
 

 Conduct interviews with employees in the area to gather potentially relevant 
information on the reported hazard, 

 Review any documentation associated with the hazard (records, reports, 
procedures, inspections, technical documents, etc.), 

 Contact other departments that may have association with or technical 
knowledge relevant to the reported hazard, 

 Review any past reported hazards of a similar nature, and 

 Evaluate tasks and/or processes associated with the reported hazard. 
 

Any identified hazard that poses an immediate risk to transit operations, the health and 
safety of employees or the public, or equipment must immediately be brought to the 
attention of the Accountable Executive and placed through the Safety Risk Management 
process for safety risk assessment and mitigation. Otherwise, hazards will be prioritized 
for further Safety Risk Management activity. 

Subsection 6.2 Safety Risk Assessment 
 

Safety risk assessment defines the level or degree of the safety risk by assessing the 

likelihood and severity of the consequences of hazards and prioritizes hazards based on 

the safety risk. The Chief Safety Officer, with assistance from key staff subject matter 

experts, is responsible for assessing identified hazards and ratings using the safety risk 

matrix below. Prioritizing safety risk provides the Accountable Executive with the 

information needed to make decisions about resource application. 

 

The following matrix, adopted from the TSI Participation Guide – SMS Principles for 

Transit, facilitates the ranking of hazards based on their probability of occurrence and 

severity of their outcome. 

 
 

Probability Levels 

Description Level Specific Individual Item Fleet Inventory 

Frequent A Likely to occur often in the life of an item. Continuously experienced. 

Probable B 
Will occur several times in the life of an 

item. 
Will occur frequently. 

Occasional C 
Likely to occur sometime in the life of an 

item. 
Will occur several times. 

Remote D 
Unlikely, but possible to occur in the life 

of an item. 

Unlikely, but can reasonably be expected 

to occur. 

Improbable E 

So unlikely, it can be assumed occurrence 

man not be experienced in the life of an 

item. 

Unlikely to occur, but possible. 

Eliminated F 

Incapable of occurrence. This level is used 

when potential hazards are identified and 

later eliminated. 

Incapable of occurrence. This level is used 

when potential hazards are identified and 

later eliminated. 

EXHIBIT A

235



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 16 of 25 
 

The measuring goes from A to F with A being frequent or likely to occur frequently and E 
being improbable or expected that this event will most likely never occur. The designation 
F is used when potential hazards are identified and later eliminated. 

 

Severity Levels 

Description Level Mishap Result Criteria 

Catastrophic 1 

Could Result in one or more of the following: death, permanent total disability, 

irreversible significant environmental impact, or monetary loss equal to or exceeding 

$10M 

Critical 2 

Could result in one or more of the following: permanent partial disability, injuries or 

occupational illness that may result in hospitalization of at least three personnel, 

reversible significant environmental impact, or monetary loss equal to or exceeding 

$1M but less than $10M 

Marginal 3 

Could result in one or more of the following: injuries or occupational illness resulting in 

one or more lost work day(s), reversible moderate environmental impact, or monetary 

loss equal to or exceeding $100k but less than $1M 

Negligible 4 

Could result in one or more of the following: injuries or occupational illness not 

resulting in lost work day, minimum environmental impact. Or monetary loss less than 

$100k. 

The Safety Risk Severity Table presents a typical safety risk. It includes four categories 
to denote the level of severity of the occurrence of a consequence, the meaning of each 
category, and the assignment of a value to each category using numbers. In this table, 1 
is considered catastrophic meaning possible deaths and equipment destroyed and 4 is 
considered negligible or of little consequence with two levels in between. 

Safety Risk Probability and Safety Risk Severity are combined into the Safety Risk Index 
Ranking to help prioritize safety risks according to the table below. 

 
 

Safety Risk Assessment Matrix 

Severity  

Probability  

Catastrophic 

1 

Critical 

2 

Marginal 

3 

Negligible 

4 

A-Frequent 1A 2A 3A 4A 

B- Probable 1B 2B 3B 4B 

C-Occasional 1C 2C 3C 4C 

D- Remote 1D 2D 3D 4D 

E- Improbable 1E 2E 3E 4E 

F- Eliminated     

Safety Risk Index Ranking 

1A, 1B, 1C, 2A, 2B High Unacceptable 

1D, 2C, 3A, 3B Serious Undesirable - With management decision required 

1E, 2D, 2E, 3C, 3D, 3E, 4A, 4B, Medium Acceptable - with review by management 

4C, 4D, 4E Low Acceptable - without review 

EXHIBIT A

236



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 17 of 25 
 

The Chief Safety Officer documents recommendations regarding hazard rating and mitigation 

options and reports this information to the Accountable Executive. 

Subsection 6.3 Safety Risk Mitigation 

The Chief Safety Officer, assisted by Key Staff subject matter experts, reviews current 
safety risk mitigations and establish procedures to 1) eliminate; 2) mitigate; 3) accept 
specific risks. Prioritization of safety remediation measures is based on risk analysis and 
a course of action acceptable to NVTA management.  

The safety risk must be mitigated if ranked as Unacceptable (High-Red). Those safety 
risks that have been mitigated, even those mitigated risks shown as Acceptable status 
(Low -Green) undergo regular and consistent monitoring to ensure the mitigation strategy 
is effective. 

Key strategies to minimize the types of risks that potentially exist include: 

 Development and deployment of policies and procedures that address known 
hazards and risks, 

 Discussion of other actions, strategies and procedures that might help safeguard 
against unknown/unforeseen risks, 

 Training of drivers and other agency staff on all safety policies and procedures, 

 Training of drivers and other agency staff on methodologies for handling 
emergencies, and 

 Training of drivers and staff on proper and effective use of emergency equipment 
and communication technologies and protocol. 

Safety risk mitigations are tracked and updated in the Hazard Log by the Chief Safety 

Officer. 

 

Section 7  Safety Assurance 
 

The third component of the Agency’s SMS is Safety Assurance, which ensures the 

performance and effectiveness of safety risk controls established under safety risk 

management. Safety assurance also helps ensure that the organization meets or exceeds 

its safety objectives through the collection, analysis, and assessment of data regarding 

the organization's performance. Safety assurance includes inspection activities to support 

oversight and performance monitoring. 

The NVTA monitors its operations and maintenance protocols and procedures, and any 

safety risk mitigations to ensure that it is implementing them as planned.  Furthermore, 

the Agency investigates safety events (as defined in County of Napa) and any reports of 

non-compliance with applicable regulations, standards, and legal authority.  Finally, the 

Agency continually monitors information reported to it through any internal safety 

reporting programs, including the employee safety reporting program. 

EXHIBIT A

237



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 18 of 25 
 

Some of the key elements of NVTA’s Safety Performance Monitoring and Measurement 

are shown below in subsection 7.1: 

Subsection 7.1 Safety Performance Monitoring and Measurement 
 

As part of the Safety Assurance Process, NVTA: 

 Monitors the system for compliance with, and sufficiency of, the Agency’s 

procedures for operations and maintenance through: 

o Safety audits, 

o Informal inspections, 

o Regular review of on-board camera footage to assess drivers and specific 

incidents, 

o Safety surveys, 

o Employee safety reporting program, 

o Investigation of safety occurrences, 

o Safety review prior to the launch or modification of any facet of service, 

o Daily data gathering and monitoring of data relating to the delivery of 

service, 

o Regular vehicle inspections and preventative maintenance, and 

o Continuous feedback loop between leadership and all levels of the agency. 

 Monitors its operations to identify any safety risk mitigations that may be 

ineffective, inappropriate, or were not implemented as intended through: 

o Reviewing results from accident, incident, and occurrence investigations, 

o Monitoring employee safety reporting, 

o Reviewing results of internal safety audits and inspections, and 

o Analyzing operational and safety data to identify emerging safety concerns. 

 Conducts investigations of safety events to identify causal factors; and 

 Monitors information reported through any internal safety reporting programs. 

o The Chief Safety Officer routinely reviews safety data captured in employee 

safety reports, safety meeting minutes, customer complaints, and other 

safety communication channels. When necessary, the Chief Safety Officer 

ensures that the issues and concerns are investigated or analyzed through 

the safety risk assessment process.  

o The Chief Safety Officer also reviews the results of internal and external 

reviews, including audits and assessments, with findings affecting safety 

performance, compliance with operations and maintenance procedures, or 

the effectiveness of safety risk mitigations. The Chief Safety Officer 

discusses relevant safety issues and concerns with the Accountable 

Executive and executive management and documents the results of these 

reviews in the Hazard Log. 

In the event of a fatality, the NVTA complies with all FTA drug and alcohol requirements.  

EXHIBIT A

238



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 19 of 25 
 

In California, every driver involved in an accident that results in death, injury, or property 
damage over $1000, effective January 1, 2017, must report the accident on a Report of 
Traffic Accident Occurring in California (SR 1) form to DMV. The report forms are 
available at www.dmv.ca.gov, by calling 1-800-777-0133, and at CHP and DMV offices.  
Also, under California Vehicle Code §16002(b) the driver of a vehicle that is owned or 
operated by a publicly owned or operated transit system, or that is operated under 
contract with a publicly owned or operated transit system, and that is used to provide 
regularly scheduled transportation to the general public or for other official business of 
the system shall, within 10 days of the occurrence of the accident, report to the transit 
system any accident of a type otherwise required to be reported pursuant to subdivision 
(a) of Section 16000 . The NVTA requires driver notification to the NVTA immediately and 
maintains records of any report filed pursuant to this paragraph.  

Section 8  Safety Promotion 
 

The fourth component of the Agency’s SMS is Safety Promotion, which includes a 

combination of training and communication of safety information to employees to enhance 

the Agency’s safety performance. Safety Promotion sets the tone for the SMS and helps 

NVTA to establish and maintain a robust safety culture. Safety Promotion has two-

components: (1) Safety Communication; and (2) Competencies and Training.  

Subsection 8.1 Safety Communication 
 

NVTA communicates safety and safety performance information throughout the 

organization that, at a minimum, conveys information on hazards and safety risks relevant 

to employees’ roles and responsibilities and informs employees of safety actions taken in 

response to reports submitted through an employee safety reporting program. 

Ongoing safety communication is critical and NVTA ensures communication occurs up, 
down, and across all levels of the organization. Any lessons learned are communicated 
to all concerned. Management commitment to address safety concerns and hazards is 
communicated on a regular basis. Management encourages and motivates employees to 
communicate openly, authentically, and without concern for reprisal; ensures employees 
are aware of SMS principles and understand their safety-related roles and 
responsibilities; conveys safety critical information such as accident data, injuries, and 
reported safety concerns and hazards and their resolutions to employees. NVTA’s tools 
to support safety communication include:  

 Safety bulletins  

 Safety notices  

 Posters  

 CDs or Thumb drives or online safety video access  

 Newsletters  

 Briefings or Toolbox talks  

 Seminars and workshops  

 New employee training and refresher training  

EXHIBIT A

239

https://www.dmv.ca.gov/portal/dmv/detail/forms/sr/sr1
https://www.dmv.ca.gov/portal/dmv/detail/forms/sr/sr1
https://www.dmv.ca.gov/portal/dmv
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&originatingContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&pubNum=1000225&refType=SP&originatingDoc=I0e91d94313f711e9b8c48dd9359c5bc9&cite=CAVES16000
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&originatingContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&pubNum=1000225&refType=SP&originatingDoc=I0e91d94313f711e9b8c48dd9359c5bc9&cite=CAVES16000


ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 20 of 25 
 

 Intranet or social media  

 Safety Committee Meetings 

Competencies and Training:  Executive Management ensures that all employees attend 
the training provided to understand their specific roles and responsibilities for the 
implementation of SMS. NVTA provides SMS training in the following areas:  
 

All Employees: 

 Understanding of Safety Performance Targets  

 Understanding of fundamental principles of SMS  

 Understanding of Safety Reporting Program – Reporting unsafe conditions and 
hazards/near misses  

 Understanding of their individual roles and responsibilities under SMS  
 

Managers and Supervisors  

 Understanding of Safety Risk Management  

 Understanding of Safety Assurance  

 Understanding of Safety Promotion  

 Understanding of their individual roles and responsibilities for SMS  
 

Executive Management:  

 Understanding of management commitment to and support of all SMS activities.  

All employees are required to acquire the competencies and knowledge for the consistent 

application of their skills as they relate to safety performance objectives. NVTA dedicates 

resources to conduct effective safety-related skill training.  The scope of the safety 

training is appropriate to each employee’s individual safety-related job responsibilities and 

their role in SMS. Components of NVTA’s skill-related training include: 

 Conducting training needs analyses to ensure that the right information is being 
taught to the right employees using the most efficient training methods. 

 Communicating purpose, objectives, and outcome. 
 Ensuring relevant content by directly linking training to the trainee’s job 

experiences so trainees are more motivated to learn. 
 Using active hands-on demonstrations and practice to demonstrate skills that are 

being taught and provide opportunities for trainees to practice skills. 
 Providing regular feedback during hands-on practice and exercises. 
 Reinforcing training concepts in the post-training work environment by giving 

employees opportunities to perform what they’ve learned.   

Transit agency conducts monthly safety and skill related refresher training. Monthly 

training schedule and dedicated classroom hours for the current fiscal year are provided 

under Attachment D. 

 

Section 9  Documentation 

EXHIBIT A

240



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 21 of 25 
 

Pursuant to 49 CFR Part 673.31, NVTA maintains records related to this Safety Plan and 

SMS implementation for a minimum of three years.  These documents include but are not 

limited to the results from SMS processes and activities. NVTA will make these 

documents available to FTA Region 9, Caltrans, and other Federal and state agencies 

upon request.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A

241



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 22 of 25 
 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

ORGANIZATION CHART 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KATE MILLER 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

DANIELLE SCHMITZ 
DIRECTOR, CAPITAL 

DEVELOPMENT & 

PLANNING 

REBECCA 

SCHENCK     
MANAGER PUBLIC 

TRANSIT 

ANTONIO ONORATO              
DIRECTOR  FINANCE & 

ADMINISTRTAION / RISK 
MANAGER  

CHERYL DRAKE 
GENERAL MANAGER 

TRANSDEV 

BRIDGET BISHOP   
SAFETY TRAINING OFFICER 

TRANSDEV 

Subsection 1.2 Chief Safety Officer – Organization Chart 

EXHIBIT A

242



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 23 of 25 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

 Revised 7/20/22 
Adopted 7/15/20 

 
REVISED 

RESOLUTION No. 20-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

CERTYFIYING THE PUBLIC TRANSIT AGENCY SAFETY PLAN (PTASP) 
 

WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is a public transit operator and 

recipient of the Urbanized Area Formula Program (49 U.S.C. 5307);  

WHEREAS, The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) published a Final Rule on the Public 

Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) that requires operators receiving FTA §5307 Urbanized Area 

Formula funds develop a safety plan that includes process and procedures to implement Safety 

Management Systems;   

WHEREAS, NVTA has opted to use the California Department of Transportation’s (Caltrans) safety 

plan template; and 

WHEREAS, Caltrans developed the contents of NVTA’s plan to meet the requirements specific in 

49 CFR Part 673 and comply with Part 673.11 (d) regarding Caltrans’ responsibility to develop an PTASP 

for any public transportation provider receiving FTA Small Urbanized Area funds located in California 

therefore, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors hereby adopt Exhibit A to this 

Resolution as NVTA’s Public Transit Agency Safety Plan to meet FTA requirements;  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the NVTA Chief Safety Officer will review and update the Plan’s 

goals annually. 

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED by the Board of Directors 

of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, at a regular meeting held on July 15, 2020; and recertified at 

a regular meeting on July 20, 2022 by the following vote: 

 

______________________                   

Liz Alessio, NVTA Chair       

 

 

EXHIBIT A

243



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 24 of 25 
 

 

ATTEST:  

____________________________________ 

Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 

 

APPROVED:  

_______________________________ 

Osman Mufti, NVTA Legal Counsel 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A

244



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 7.5 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Page 25 of 25 
 

 

ATTACHMENT C 

 

Subsection 5.4.  Key Staff 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

REBECCA SCHENCK 
MANAGER PUBLIC 

TRANSIT 

CHERYL DRAKE 
GENERAL MANAGER 

TRANSDEV 

BRIANA MORALES 

SAFETY TRAINING OFFICER 

TRANSDEV 

KENNETH 

SCHWARZBACH 
MAINTENANCE MGR 

TRANSDEV 

CHARLENE HICKS  
OPERATIONS MANAGER 

TRANSDEV 

EXHIBIT A

245



ATTACHMENT DEXHIBIT A

246



ATTACHMENT DEXHIBIT A

247



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.6 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Amendment 1 to Bear Electrical Solutions Agreement 21-15 for an Additional Electric 
Vehicle Charger Installation at 720 Jackson Street  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Amendment 1 to 
Agreement 21-15 with Bear Electrical Solutions, Inc.  (Attachment 1) in an amount not 
to exceed $17,250.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) awarded NVTA a grant in 2017 for the purchase 
of five (5) Build Your Dream (BYD) 30’ zero emission battery electric buses and the 
corresponding chargers.  Four of the buses arrived in April of 2022 and the necessary 
charging infrastructure has been installed at locations in St. Helena and Yountville.  The 
planned July arrival of the fifth BYD bus as well as the planned September 2022 arrival 
of two Proterra buses necessitates installing another charging station at 720 Jackson 
Street so that these additional buses can be deployed for operations in the City of Napa. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Yes, the cost of design and installation was $185,000 in St Helena and Yountville.  In 
June of 2021 the Board also authorized a $50,000 contingency.  This amendment would 
utilize the $50,000 in contingency from the first four installations and add an additional 
$17,250 for a total amendment cost of $67,250. A portion of the original contract cost 
(which totaled $144,000) will be covered by an FTA Low and No Emissions Vehicle 
Deployment (Low-No) Program grant. The grant provided funding for design services and 
for charger installation.  The local match is a combination of Low Carbon Transit 
Operations Program (LCTOP) funds from State’s cap-and-trade program, and 
Transportation Development Act (TDA) Local Transportation Fund Account funds.  

248



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.6 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:  NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:   Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Rebecca Schenck, Program Manager – Transit 

(707) 259-8636 / Email: rschenck@nvta.ca.gov

SUBJECT: Amendment 1 to Bear Electrical Solutions Agreement No. 21-15 for 
an Additional Electric Vehicle Charger Installation at 720 Jackson  
Street   

______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Amendment 1 to 
Agreement 21-15 with Bear Electrical Solutions, Inc. (Attachment 1) in an amount not to 
exceed $17,250.  

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 

None 

BACKGROUND 

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) awarded NVTA grant in 2017 for the purchase 
of five (5) Build Your Dream (BYD) 30’ zero emission battery electric buses and the 
corresponding chargers.  The NVTA Board took action in November 2019 to authorize 
the purchase of electric buses and chargers.  Four of the buses arrived in April of 2022 
and the necessary charging infrastructure has been installed and is currently being 
commissioned in St. Helena and Yountville.  The City of St. Helena and the Town of 
Yountville will both have their existing shuttle/trolley vehicles replaced by one of these 
electric buses once electric bus training is complete by BYD.   

NVTA released a Request for Proposals for Design and Installation of Electric Vehicle 
(EV) Charging Stations on May 17, 2021. A total of four (4) proposals were received.  The 
proposals were evaluated based upon three criteria 1) Project Understanding; 2) 
Experience and Qualifications; and 3) Cost Proposal. The firm with the highest point totals 
from the NVTA evaluation team was Bear Electrical Solutions, Inc. 

249

mailto:smishra@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority    Agenda Item 7.6 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________  

NVTA is recommending that an additional electric bus charging station be installed at 720 
Jackson Street in anticipation of the arrival of additional electric buses this Fall. The 
Chargepoint Express 250 charger that will be installed at the maintenance yard is shown 
in the Figure below: 

The installation work being done at 720 Jackson Street will be nearly identical to the work 
completed in St. Helena and in Yountville, except that  Bear Electrical  will be not be 
responsible for the design of the station.  Kimley-Horn completed the design and PG&E 
has already designed and upgraded the transformer serving the maintenance yard.  

ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1:  Defer the installation of the charging station at 720 Jackson Street until a 
later date and risk the additional vehicles arriving without a place to recharge.  

Alternative 2:  Forego installing the chargers at 720 Jackson and wait for the Vine Transit 
Maintenance Facility to be finished and install all chargers at that location.  This would 

250



Napa Valley Transportation Authority    Agenda Item 7.6 
July 20, 2022 
Page 3 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________  

also mean that additional vehicles would arrive without a place to charge and that there 
would be no charging location in the City of Napa.   

STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 

Goal 5: Minimize the energy and other resources required to move people and goods. 

The addition of electric buses to replace existing Vine diesel and gasoline-powered buses 
will reduce mobile emissions. 

Goal 3:  Use taxpayer dollars efficiently.  

Using federal grants in-lieu of local funds will allow NVTA to prioritize other transportation 
projects.  

ATTACHMENTS 

(1) Amendment to Agreement 21-15

251



Sheet of 

CHANGE ORDER 
Change Requested By: D Engineer D Contractor

SUPPL. NUMBER CONTRACT NUMBER CO-RTE-PM FEDERAL NUMBER(S)  CHANGE ORDER NO. 

TO 

, contractor 

You are directed to make the following changes from the plans and specifications or do the following described work not included in the plans and 

specifications for this contract. NOTE: This change order is not effective until approved by the engineer. 

Description of work to be done, estimate of quantities, and prices to be paid. (Segregate between additional work at contract price, agreed price, 

and force account). Unless otherwise stated, rates for rental of equipment cover only such time as equipment is actually used and no allowance 
will be made for idle time. 

Estimated Cost: D Increase 0 Decrease $ 

For this order, the time of completion will be adjusted as follows: 

SUBMITTED BY 

SIGNATURE 
I 
(PRINT NAME AND TITLE) 

APPROVAL RECOMMENDED BY 

SIGNATURE 
l
(PRINT NAME AND TITLE) 

ENGINEER APPROVAL BY 

SIGNATURE 
l
(PRINT NAME AND TITLE) 

We, the undersigned contractor, have given careful consideration to the change proposed and agree to provide equipment, furnish materials, and 
perform the work specified above, and will accept as full payment the prices shown above. NOTE: If you do not sign this order, you are directed 

to proceed with the ordered work. You may file a Request for Information within the time specified. 

CONTRACTOR ACCEPTANCE BY 

SIGNATURE 
l
(PRINT NAME AND TITLE) 

Rev. 8/2019 ryk

01 n/a 21-15 n/a

Bear Electrical Solutions , Inc.

Project:  Design and Installation of Electric Vehicle Chargers - NVTA BEB Charging Improvement Project

In addition to the existing installations as outlined in the scope of the contract, CONTRACTOR  shall provide the installation of one

(1) NVTA provided Chargepoint, Model CPE 250, EV charging station at 720 Jackson Street, Napa, CA 94559. CONTRACTOR will
be responsible for the mobilization to site, mark out for USA and provide private locating services of underground utilities, yes,
furnish and install new conduit run per plans/specs, 75 KVA transformer and breakers, concrete pad, bollards, wheel stop, and the

commissioning of equipment and charging station, to include final testing and verifying station operations at the below listed cost:

DESCRIPTION QTY Unit Cost Extension

Mobilization* 1 $ 3,500 $ 3,500     *incl.all mobilization and private
Furnish and install  locating 

• Conduit 1 $18,500 $18,500
• Transformer, disconnect & breakers 1 $16,500 $16,500
• Conductors 1 $10,000 $10,000
• Concrete foundation, pad, bollards, wheel stops 1 $13,250 $13,250
• Station 1 $  4,000 $  4,000

TOTAL COST $67,250

CONTRACTOR will be responsible for all labor, material and equipment required to complete and deliver a fully operational unit. 

All other terms and conditions of the contract remain in full force and effect.

n/a

X 67,250

Rebecca Schenck, Manager of Public Transit

Kate Miller, Executive Director

D R A F T
ATTACHMENT 1
AGENDA ITEM 7.6
JULY 20, 2022

252



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.7 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE  

 

 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUBJECT 
 
Amendment 4 to Proterra Inc. Contract for Paint Costs for the New Proterra Electric buses 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Amendment 4 to 
Purchase Order 21-2002 with Proterra, Inc. (Attachment 1) in an amount not to exceed 
$26,000 and authorize the Executive Director to execute the Amendment upon finalizing 
the terms. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
NVTA contracted with Proterra Inc. for the purchases of two 40’ zero emission battery 
electric buses in June 2021 with delivery expected to occur in August 2022.  Recently, 
the bus paint manufacturer informed Proterra of additional paint charges due to rising 
materials costs and the need for a durable two-stage finish with a metallic blend. NVTA 
staff is currently negotiating with Proterra on a final cost. 
   
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Up to $13,000 per vehicle or $26,000, however, a negotiated settlement price will likely 
be slightly less. Transportation Development Act funds have been identified to pay for the 
purchase. 

253



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.7 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Antonio Onorato, Director of Administration, Finance and Policy 
 (707) 259-8779 / Email: aonorato@nvta.ca.gov 
 
SUBJECT: Amendment 4 to Proterra Inc. Contract for Paint Costs for the New 

Proterra Electric Buses   
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Amendment 4 to 
Purchase Order 21-2002 with Proterra, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $26,000, and 
authorize the Executive Director to execute the Amendment when details upon finalizing 
the terms. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
NVTA was recently informed by Proterra Inc. of additional materials and supply costs 
related to the manufacture of two zero emission buses slated for delivery to NVTA in late 
August.  The original paint charge was a non-metallic blend.  To ensure consistency with 
Vine Transit’s new color palette and the paints long-term durability, the paint cost must 
be upgraded. 
 
The NVTA Board approved the original Purchase Order (PO) for $2,200,000 on February 
17, 2021. Since that time, NVTA has been working with Proterra to build the buses to 
meet NVTA’s specifications.  There have been three Amendments to the PO.  The first 
amendment added extended warranties, changed the charging system to Chargepoint 
Express 250 Stations to match the charging system used on the existing BYD electric 
buses, and expanded training.  
 
 

254

mailto:aonorato@nvta.ca.gov


Amendment 1 brought the total cost to $2,475,287. Amendment 2 was a credit of $8,182 
due to a calculation error in the charger tax exclusion and Amendment 3 included a 
charge of $6,200 related to additional charger installation requirements.  Amendment 4 
increases the contract amount by up to $26,000 which will bring the total contract amount 
to $2,509,785. A $5,000 contingency has been added for any additional modifications, 
however, the contingency is unlikely to be used. The Table below provides the Financing 
Plan and Expenditure Plan. 
 
Table 1:  Financing and Expenditure Plan- Proterra Bus Purchase 
Financing Plan  

SAHA Grant $2,200,000 
HVIP Voucher Program    276,000 
Transportation Development Act Funds*      28,785 

TOTAL $2,504,785 
  
Expenditure Plan  

2 Proterra 40’ Buses (Amendments 1-3) $2,473,785 
Metallic Paint and Clear coat (Amendment 4)*      26,000  

Subtotal $2,499,785 
Contingency* 5,000 

Total $2,504,785 
*Final cost may be adjusted. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1:  The Board could reject the changes which will result in new electric e 
vehicles painted different colors than the rest of the Vine bus fleet. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 1: Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, 
income or ability.  Goal 5: Minimize the energy and other resources required to move 
people and goods.  
 
The new electric bus will provide reliable clean transit for community members and 
visitors in Napa. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
(1) DRAFT Amendment 4 to Purchase Order 21-2002 

255



Phone: 707-259-8631 
Fax:     707-259-8638 
www.nvta.ca.gov 

Napa Valley 
Transportation 
Authority 
625 Burnell Street 
Napa, CA 94559 

Business Name 

Requested By Ship Date Ship Via FOB Buyer Terms Tax ID 

ONORATO GROUND - KULICK NET 30 68-0471080

QTY Item # Units Description Discount 
% 

Taxable Unit Price Total 

Subtotal $    26,000

      Taxes         SEE ATTACHED 

      Other -.- 

      BALANCE A3 $  2,473,785 

 TOTAL $2,499,785

NVTA-Vine Transit Yard 
720 Jackson Street 
Napa, CA  94559 
POC:  Antonio Onorato, CCFM  
T  707.259.8779  E  aonorato@nvta.ca.gov 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
(NVTA) 
ATTN:  Accounts Payable /ap@nvta.ca.gov 
625 Burnell Street 
Napa, CA  94559-2912 

Bill To: Ship To: 

Purchase Order #:  21-2002
Date:  07/07/2022
Vendor ID:     
CA # 3481494    

PROTERRA INC. 
1815 ROLLINS ROAD 
BURLINGAME  CA  94010 
P: MIKE BISMEYER, REGIONAL SALES DIRECTOR
T:  864.438.0000 
E:  mbismeyer@proterra.com 

VENDOR 

NOTICE OF INCLUDED TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

*HVIP availability and approval are solely subject to CARB’s approval and fund 
availability, in the case of no funding approved for this purchase. NVTA agrees to
pay the correspondent amount. In case of amount approved, CONTRACTOR agrees 
to credit the correspondent  amount towards the purchase. Amount to be credited 
upon approval is $138,000 per vehicle.

CONTINUE D ON PA GE 2 OF   3     NEW NTE 

VENDOR ACCEPTANCE 
Vendor agrees to furnish and deliver all items or perform all the services set 
forth or otherwise identified above and on any continuation sheets for the 
consideration herein. The rights and obligations of the parties to this con-
tract shall be subject to and governed by the following documents: (a) con-
tract/purchase order, (b) the solicitation, if any, and (c) such provisions, 
representations, certifications, and specifications, as are attached or incor-
porated by reference herein.  (Attachments are listed herein.)  

______________________________________________________ 

NAME AND TITLE  DATE 
(Signature of person  authorized to sign) 

ORDER AWARDED AND ISSUED BY 
Individual listed below is hereby authorized to award ordered 
material/services as specified, or incorporated by reference 
herein, on behalf of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority 

_____________________________________ 

KATE MILLER, Executive Director     DATE 

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY 

FUND APPROPRIATION:    SAHA/AHSC GRANT  (MANZANITA PROJECT) 

THIS ORDER WILL BECOME VALID UPON RECEIPT OF VENDOR ACCEPTANCE. 

AMENDMENT No. 4 to

Purchase Order 

PURCHASE ORDER IS HEREBY AMENDED TO WHEREAS 

1. THE VEHICLE ACCEPTANCE BY NVTA UNDER SECTION 6 OF THE AGREEMENT HAS
BEEN AMENDED TO INCORPORATE A NEW SECTION F TO READ AS DESCRIBED ON PAGE 2;
AND

2. ADDITIONAL AMOUNT OF $24,694 IS REQUIRED TO COVER UNFORESEEN COST INCREASE
OF VEHICLE PAINT APPLIED BY CONTRACTOR. CORRECTIONS ARE MADE TO TO EXHIBIT A 
- CONFIGURTION SHEET, AS HIGH-LIGHTED ON PAGE 3 IN THE ATTACHED.

D R A F T
ATTACHMENT 1
AGENDA ITEM 7.7

256



The following shall be added to Section 6 of the Agreement as a new Section (F): 

F. The acceptance of the two (2) ZX5 Max Buses (“Buses”) by NVTA will not be

impacted by

1) the timing of the installation and commissioning of the Chargepoint 250

Express chargers purchased by NVTA from CONTRACTOR pursuant to this

Agreement, or

2) the functionality of the existing charging infrastructure at NVTA.

      In the event that two (2) Chargepoint  250 Express chargers are not commissioned 

and fully functional by the time the Buses are delivered to NVTA’s facility, 

CONTRACTOR will attempt to charge the Buses on the existing NVTA chargers which 

are already located at NVTA’s facility provided.  NVTA provides confirmation in writing 

to CONTRACTOR that the existing NVTA chargers are fully functional and fully 

compliant with the electrical connector SAE J1772 charging system (including 

charging hardware and software).  In the event NVTA cannot provide the written 

confirmation that NVTA’s chargers are compliant with SAE J1772, then NVTA will 

accept the Buses and waive CONTRACTOR’s obligation to demonstrate that the 

Buses are chargeable pursuant to this Agreement; provided, CONTRACTOR provides 

certification that the Buses were able to receive a charge using any alternate charger 

at CONTRACTOR’s manufacturing facility.  NVTA agrees that such certification meets 

the requirements for acceptance of the Buses. 

Except as modified or changed herein, all the terms and conditions of the 

Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.    

257



Customer

Number of buses

Procurement Method

Bus length / model

Contract/P.O. #

Delivery Date

DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE # OF UNITS TOTAL PRICE ADA Item Cost

BUS & CONFIGURABLE OPTIONS ADA Seat Items $10,246

Base bus $699,000 2 $1,398,000 Ricon 4:1 4895.003

Configurables $359,063 2 $718,126 Front Doorway Assist 225

Sub-Total, Customer Configured Bus: $1,058,063 2 $2,116,126 Total $15,366

ADA Tax Exempted Cost $15,366 2 $30,732

Total Taxable Amount (Excl. ADA Related for CA only) $1,042,697

Sales Tax @3.8125% (7.75% less 3.9375% from AB784)
Taxable Amount: $1,049,981 (Excl. ADA-Related for CA only)

$39,753 2 $79,506 Sales tax 3.8125

Bus HVIP Voucher Discount (If Applicable) $0 2 $0

Warranty 38994 2 $77,988

Sub-Total, Bus with Config, Warranty, Tax & Discount: $1,136,810 2 $2,273,620

CHARGING SOLUTION

Quoted Charging Solution Package $147,900 $1 $147,900

Tax for Chargers @7.75% $11,462 $1 $11,462

Total $159,362 $1 $159,362

OTHER ITEMS

Training $0 1 $0

Manuals $2,100 1 $2,100

Tools $8,132 1 $8,132

Parts and other service $50,554 1 $50,554

Total $60,786 $60,786
Sales Tax @7.75% (If Applicable)
Taxable Amount: $60,786  (Materials Only)

$4,711 1 $4,711

Sub-Total, Other Items (Incl. Tax): $65,497 $65,497

TOTAL: $2,498,479

TBD

TBD

Napa Valley Area Transit

2

40' ZX5

CA State Schedule

EXHIBIT A
CONFIGURATION SHEET

(4th Revision)

The Cost Summary Sheet on page 2 of the Agreement has been updated and changed to reflect the additional cost of 
$24,694 to be applied to paint and/or material cost increase as listed above.

Except  as modified or changes made above and to Section 6 of the Agreement, and as previously amended, all of the 
terms and provisions listed in the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

CONTRACTOR shall not perform any additional work and/or services without NVTA's prior approval.

NEW Not to Exceed Amount is $2,498,479.

258



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.8 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Paratransit Coordinating Council (PCC) Member Appointments 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve the appointments 
of Jeannie Smith and Ellen Sweigert to the Paratransit Coordinating Council (PCC). 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The PCC was formed by NVTA to serve in an advisory capacity to the Board on the 
transportation issues of persons with special needs, including elderly, disabled, and those 
of low income. 

This action will appoint Jeannie Smith and Ellen Sweigert, new members, to the PCC. 
There are three (3) additional vacancies on the committee and NVTA staff is actively 
recruiting to fill these positions.  These include a representative from a social services 
provider for seniors, a member of the public residing in an urbanized area and a member 
of the public residing in a non-urbanized area. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

259



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 7.8 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:  NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:   Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Kathy Alexander, Administrative Technician 

(707) 259-8627 / Email: kalexander@nvta.ca.gov

SUBJECT: Paratransit Coordinating Council (PCC) Member Appointments 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve the appointment of 
Jeannie Smith and Ellen Sweigert to the Paratransit Coordinating Council (PCC). 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 

None 

BACKGROUND 

The PCC was formed by NVTA to serve in an advisory capacity to the Board on the 
transportation issues of persons with special needs, including elderly, disabled, and those 
of low income.  

The PCC by-laws, last approved by the NVTA Board in March 2021, state that the PCC 
shall advise the Board of Directors and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
(MTC) regarding setting priorities for transportation services, review and make 
recommendations regarding the submission of claims for certain Transportation 
Development Act (TDA) and Federal Transit Administration (FTA) funds and allocations 
consistent with its priorities, and address coordination of paratransit services within Napa 
County. 

The appointment of the above members will fulfill the following representatives listed in 
Table 1.  

260



Napa Valley Transportation Authority Agenda Item 7.8 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Table 1. PCC Member List 

Member 

Original 
appointment 
date 

Most recent 
appointment 

Term end 
date Category Represented 

Doug Weir 10/20/1999 1/20/2021 1/20/2024 
Consumer/user persons with 
disabilities (1) 

Tom Collette 10/17/2018 11/17/2021 11/30/2024 
Consumer/user 60 years of age or 
older (1) 

Lisa DeRose-Hernandez 1/20/2021 1/20/2021 1/20/2024 
Social services provider for persons 
of limited means (1) 

Betty Rhodes 11/17/2021 11/17/2021 11/30/2024 
Member of the public residing 
within an urbanized area (1 of 2) 

Jeannie Smith*  7/20/2022 7/20/2022  7/31/2025 
Social services providers for persons 
with disabilities (1 of 2) 

Ellen Sweigert*  7/20/2022 7/20/2022  7/31/2025 
Social services provider for persons 
with disabilities (2 of 2) 

Vacant 
Social services provider for seniors 
(1) 

Vacant 
Member of the public residing 
within an urbanized area (2 of 2) 

Vacant 
Member of the public residing 
within a non-urbanized area (1) 

*If appointed July 20, 2020

ALTERNATIVES 

The Board could decide not to appoint these individuals to the PCC resulting in vacancies 
and lack of representation for various interests.  

STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 

Goal 1 – Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, 
income, or ability. 

The PCC is comprised of members from the community representing various interests in 
Napa Valley.  The purpose of the PCC is to advise the board (via NVTA staff) on 
transportation issues of persons with special needs. 

ATTACHMENTS 

(1) PCC Application: Jeannie Smith (Redacted)
(2) PCC Application: Ellen Sweigert (Redacted)

261



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
625 Burnell St 

Napa, CA 94559 
Tel. (707) 259-8631 / Fax (707) 259-8638 

www.nvta.ca.gov 
www.ridethevine.com 

PARATRANSIT COORDINATING COUNCIL APPOINTMENT APPLICATION 

Complete applications should be submitted to the above address, 

Attention: Secretary of the Board 

This application may be subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act 

I am applying as a representative of the following: (Check all that apply) 

_ Public transit consumer/user 60 or older 

__ Public transit consumer/user with disability 

__ Member of the public residing in non-urbanized area 

__ Member of the public residing In urbanized area 

_ Social service provider for persons of limited means. List agency: 

Name: 

Mallin 

City 

E-mail Address: 

ATTACHMENT 1
NVTA AGENDA ITEM 7.8 

JULY 20, 2022

262



263



264



ATTACHMENT 2
NVTA AGENDA ITEM 7.8 

JULY 20, 2022

265



266



267



268



269



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.1 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Motion to 1) Introduce Ordinance 2022-01 of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
Regulating Parking, Camping, and Smoking at Transit Facilities and Parking Areas, by 
title only, and waive reading of the full ordinance and 2) Approve the designation for the 
Executive Director to prepare a summary of Ordinance 2022-01 to be published in a 
newspaper in Napa County 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board conduct a first reading and 
notice its intent to Adopt Ordinance 2022-01, which is a revision to Ordinance 2013-01, 
regulating parking, camping, and smoking at transit facilities and parking areas. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On July 17, 2013 the NVTA Board adopted Ordinance 2013-01 regulating parking and 
smoking authorizing the City of Napa to Issue Citations on NVTA Property. Due to 
changes at the City of Napa related to parking enforcement and that there are increasing 
issues associated unauthorized encampments and storage of  personal property at 
NVTA’s facilities, the existing Ordinance 13-01 needs to be updated and revised.  The 
Ordinance will be presented at the July 20 Board meeting for a first reading as Ordinance 
2022-01. Following the Board meeting, a summary will be prepared and published in the 
Napa Valley Register. A second reading and final adoption will be scheduled for a second 
reading and adoption at the September 21, 2022 Board meeting. Within 15 days after 
final adoption the Board Secretary will publish the ordinance summary reflecting Board 
members voting for and against the ordinance 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no direct fiscal impact to adopt the Ordinance, however, NVTA has entered into 
an Agreement for Abatement Services Assistance with the City of Napa where NVTA 
shall pay the City for costs incurred, up to an annual limit not to exceed $49,999, payable 
to the City for providing relocation services, cleanup and abatement on NVTA’s owned 
and maintained properties in the City of Napa. 

270



July 20 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.1 

Continued From: New  
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Rebecca Schenck, Program Manager – Public Transit 

(707) 259-8636 / Email: rschenck@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT:   Motion to 1) Introduce Ordinance 2022-01 of the Napa Valley    
       Transportation Authority Regulating Parking, Camping, and Smoking 
       at Transit Facilities and Parking Areas, by title only, and waive reading 
       of the full ordinance and 2) Approve the designation for the Executive 
       Director to prepare a summary of Ordinance 2022-01 to be published 
       in a newspaper in Napa County 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board conduct a first reading and 
notice its intent to Adopt Ordinance 2022-01 (Attachment 1), which is a revision to 
Ordinance 2013-01 (Attachment 2), regulating parking, camping, and smoking at transit 
facilities and parking areas. 
 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
BottleRock 2013 was the reason that NVTA adopted the original 2013 ordinance. 
BottleRock highlighted the need to preserve parking spaces for NVTA employees and 
facility patrons.  Now in 2022 the reasons for updating the ordinance is to include changes 
in the way the City of Napa does parking enforcement and there is a growing challenge 
with encampments and personal property disposal and storage at NVTA’s facilities. The 
ordinance updates the ordinance to include the Imola Park and Ride, which NVTA will 
begin using this fall. The ordinance is drafted to bolster NVTA and the City of Napa’s 
ability to regulate camping on NVTA facilities consistent with the City of Napa’s current 
enforcement authority and procedures and consistent with recent California and federal 

271

mailto:rschenck@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority            Agenda Item 8.1 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
laws regarding camping and unhoused populations.  A clean version of the revised 
ordinance is included as Attachment 1 and a redlined version of Ordinance 2013-01 is 
included as Attachment 2.    
 
Board action today is the first reading of the Ordinance.  Staff will schedule a second 
reading and adoption of Ordinance 2022-01 for the September Board meeting. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The NVTA Board could either decide to delay revising the ordinance or not revise the 
ordinance. Not updating the ordinance would affect the City of Napa’s ability to enforce 
the current ordinance because parking enforcement is no longer a function of the Police 
Department, but rather a function of the Parking Division the City of Napa’s Community 
Development Department. 
 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 2 – Improve system safety in order to support all modes and serve all users 
 
NVTA has continued to receive complaints from riders and neighbors concerned about 
their safety due to the presence of campers and trailers at the Redwood Park and Ride. 
Updating this ordinance will enable the City of Napa to assist NVTA in the enforcement 
of parking, camping and personal property storage. 
 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 

(1) Ordinance 2022-01 
(2) Redlined Version of Ordinance 2013-01 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

272



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 8.1 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 22-01 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA)  

REGULATING PARKING, CAMPING AND SMOKING AT TRANSIT FACILITIES AND 
PARKING AREAS  

 
The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) 
ordains as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.  Chapter 2 (Parking Regulations) of the Napa Valley Transportation 
Authority is amended to read in full as follows: 
 
Chapter 2 

 
PARKING RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 
Sections: 
 
 2.1   Legislative Intent 
 2.2 Definitions 
 2.3 Rules and Regulations 
 2.4 Smoking Prohibited 
 2.5 Posting of Notices 
 2.6 General 
 
Section 2.1:  Legislative Intent 
 
Section 2.1.1:  Authority 
 
California Vehicle Code section 21113 expressly prohibits any person from driving, 
stopping, parking, or leaving standing any vehicle, whether attended or unattended, on 
the parking facilities and bus loading zones of a transit district, except with the permission 
of, and upon and subject to any condition or regulation which may be imposed by the 
governing board.  The Board is authorized to adopt all ordinances and make all rules and 
regulations proper or necessary to regulate the use, operation and maintenance of its 
property and facilities. 
 
Section 2.1.2:  Findings 
 
 A. The Board finds and determines that ensuring adequate parking in NVTA’s 
parking lots for vehicles driving by Transit Patrons and Transit Personnel and authorized 
visitors is necessary in order to facilitate and encourage the use of public transit facilities 
and services, and that the unregulated use of NVTA Parking Lots is detrimental to the 
interests of NVTA and the public. 
 

273



2 

 

 B. Except when specifically posted as a shared public parking facility, NVTA 
Parking Lots are for use by Transit Patrons and Transit Personnel and authorized visitors 
only, and are not open to the general public. 
 
 C. The Board further finds and determines that bus loading zones are 
necessary for the safe loading and alighting of transit patrons and should be restricted for 
the exclusive use of transit vehicles.  
 
 D. Except when specifically permitted bus loading zones and transfer stations 
are for the exclusive use of NVTA (Vine) transit use. 
 
 E. The Board adopts the California State Legislatures findings pursuant to 
California Health and Safety Code section 118920, including that regulation of smoking 
in public places is necessary to protect the health, safety, welfare, comfort, and 
environment of nonsmokers. 
 
 F. The Board therefore adopts this Ordinance establishing conditions and 
regulations applicable to vehicle parking and traffic in NVTA Parking Lots. 
 
Section 2.2:  Definitions    
 The following definitions shall apply to this chapter: 
 

A. Bus Loading Zone” refers to designated area used as a stop or transfer point 
for loading and alighting transit patrons.  
 

B. “Bus Transfer Stations” refers to areas where passengers transfer from one 
bus to another or where multiple buses congregate at any one time. 
 

C. “Camp” means any of the following: (1) to pitch or occupy camp facilities; (2) 
to use camp paraphernalia; (3) to sleep in, on or under any parked vehicle, 
including an automobile, bus, truck, camper, trailer, mobile home or 
recreational vehicle.   
 

D. “Camp facilities” includes, but are not limited to, tents, huts, or temporary 
shelters. When parked and used for the purpose of sleeping, automobiles, 
buses, trucks, campers, trailers, mobile homes and recreational vehicles shall 
be deemed as “camp facilities.” 
 

E. “Camp paraphernalia” includes, but is not limited to, tarpaulins, bedding, cots, 
beds, sleeping bags, hammocks or non-city designated cooking facilities and 
similar equipment 
  

F. “NVTA Parking Lot” means parking lots, driveways and other Transit Facilities 
owned by NVTA or designated specifically for NVTA including NVTA’s VINE 
transit use, including entrances and exits to and from any such Transit 
Facilities, which are accessible by Vehicle. 

274



3 

 

 
G. “NVTA Security Officer” means NVTA staff or contractors hired for the purpose 

of facilities security and/or parking enforcement. 
 

H. "Park and Ride Lots" means parking lots and driveways, including entrances 
and exits to and from, for transit users and commuters use for temporary 
parking of vehicles while the vehicle driver is using NVTA Vine or carpooling.  

 
I. “Peace Officer” shall mean any law enforcement officer of the State of 

California, Napa County, or any agency in Napa County. 
 

J. “Private Security Officer” means any private security officer hired by NVTA to 
safeguard its grounds and/or provide parking facility services. 

 
K. “Smoking” means inhaling, exhaling, burning, or carrying any lighted pipe, cigar 

or cigarette of any kind, or any other combustible substance. 
 

L. “Store” means to put aside or accumulate for use when needed, to put for 
safekeeping, to place or leave in a location. 

 
M. “Transit Facility” or “Facility” means any property owned and maintained by 

NVTA. 
 

N. “Transit Patron” is defined as a person who parks a vehicle on a NVTA Parking 
Lot for the purpose of using public transit, or person having business with 
NVTA.  

 
O. “Transit Personnel” means any Board member, employee, committee member, 

or contractor of NVTA or another transit provider whose place of employment 
is within the Soscol Gateway Transit Center. 

 
P. “Vehicle” shall have the same meaning as defined in Section 670 of the 

California Vehicle Code.  
 

Q. “Vine” the transit service operated by NVTA to provide public transportation to 
serve Napa County.   

 
 
Section 2.3:  Parking Rules and Regulations  
 
Section 2.3.1:  Compliance with Law:  No person shall drive, stop, park, or leave standing 
on any NVTA Parking Lot, Bus Loading Zone, Bus Transit Stations, or Park and Ride Lot,  
any Vehicle, except in full compliance with the traffic laws of the State of California and 
the conditions and regulations adopted herein. 
 

275



4 

 

Section 2.3.2:  Patron Parking:  Parking of Vehicles in NVTA Parking Lots is for Transit 
Patrons or Transit Personnel only, unless the Parking Lot is otherwise posted as a shared 
public parking facility. Parking in Park and Ride Lots is for transit users and commuters 
using NVTA VINE or carpooling, unless the Park and Ride Lot is otherwise posted as a 
shared public parking facility.   
 
Section 2.3.3:  Parking Limit:   
 

A,   Parking of Vehicles in any NVTA Parking Lot shall be limited to one 
of the following, as posted: 

  i.  Transit Patrons, Transit Personnel only 
  ii. . Vehicles using the Charging Stations only 
  iii.. Otherwise, as posted.  
 

B.  Parking of Vehicles in any Park and Ride Lot shall be limited to one of the 
following, as posted: 

  i.  Transit Patrons,  
  ii.  Commuters temporarily parking a vehicle in the Park and Ride Lot, 
  ii. . Vehicles using the Charging Stations only 
  iii.. Otherwise, as posted.  
    
 
Section 2.3.4:  Designated Spaces:  Vehicles shall be parked in NVTA Parking Lots or 
Park and Ride Lots only within areas posted and dedicated for parking, and shall be 
parked in an orderly manner within the lines indicating a single space.  Vehicles shall not 
be parked within NVTA Parking Lots or Park and Ride Lots within any driveway, in any 
unlined area, in any yellow or red painted area, in any pedestrian walkway, in any bus 
loading zones, or in any areas so prohibited by control signs. 
 
Section 2.3.5:  Spaces Designated for Persons with Disabilities:  No person may park a 
Vehicle in designated accessible spaces in NVTA Parking Lots or Park and Ride Lots 
without displaying placards or special license plates issued by the State of California for 
persons with disabilities. 
 
Section 2.3.6:  Abandoned Vehicles:  No person shall abandon any Vehicle in any NVTA 
Parking Lot or Park and Ride Lots.  Vehicles reasonably believed to be abandoned may 
be removed from a NVTA Parking Lot only after a written report identifying the vehicle 
and its location has been mailed or delivered to the office of the Department of the 
California Highway Patrol located nearest to the Vehicle.  In addition, at least ten (10) 
days’ notice of intention to remove an abandoned Vehicle shall be mailed, by registered 
or certified mail, to the last registered owners of record of the Vehicle, unless NVTA is 
unable to determine ownership.  The notice shall include a statement that the owner may 
request a hearing before the NVTA Executive Director.  If no hearing has been requested 
within ten (10) days of the mailing of the notice, the Vehicle may be removed without 

276



5 

 

further notice.  Within five (5) days after the date of removal, notice shall be given to the 
California Department of Motor Vehicles identifying the Vehicle or part thereof, and any 
evidence of registration available.  NVTA shall not be responsible for any damage caused 
by the removal of any Vehicle. 
 
Section 2.3.7:  Maximum Speed Limit:  No person shall at any time drive any Vehicle in 
any NVTA Parking Lot or Park and Ride Lot at a speed in excess of fifteen (15) miles per 
hour. 
 
Section 2.3.8:  Maximum Vehicle Dimensions:  No person shall drive, park, or leave 
standing in any NVTA Parking Lot or Park and Ride Lot any vehicle or combination of 
vehicles which exceeds three (3) tons in total aggregate weight or exceeds six and one-
half (6 1/2) feet in width or nineteen (19) feet in length.  The foregoing prohibition shall 
not apply to Vehicles owned or operated by or on behalf of NVTA, public transit buses 
doing business at the Soscol Gateway Transit Center, or vehicles making deliveries to 
NVTA or making repairs under contract with or otherwise on behalf of NVTA. 
 
Section 2.3.9:  Fees for Parking:  The Board of Directors of NVTA may establish by 
resolution fees to be imposed for entrance to or use of any one or more NVTA Parking 
Lots.  Such fees shall constitute charges imposed for entrance to or use of local 
government property.  Fees shall be reasonable and, to the extent necessary in light of 
the findings set forth in this Ordinance, may be lower for Transit Patrons utilizing NVTA 
transit facilities than for other Transit Patrons or members of the public.  Payment of fees 
so established is an express condition upon which Vehicles may be parked in NVTA 
Parking Lots. 
 
Section 2.3.10:  Fees for Parking Violations:  The Board of Directors of NVTA may 
establish by resolution fees for parking in violation of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 2.3.11:  Additional Use by Special Permit:  Notwithstanding the provisions of this 
Section 2.3, the NVTA Executive Director may issue permits for private use of NVTA 
Parking Lots for public events if not inconsistent with this Ordinance.  
 
Section 2.3.12:  Issuance of Warnings:  NVTA Security Officers and Private Security 
Officers so authorized by the NVTA Executive Director or designee may issue written 
warnings whenever a Vehicle is driving or parked within a NVTA Parking Lot or Park and 
Ride Lot in violation of the conditions and regulations set forth in this Ordinance, except 
as prohibited under State Law. 
 
Section 2.4:   Camping:  

Section 2.4.1. Findings.  Publicly accessible sidewalks, driveways, accessways, and 
parking areas, including but not limited to, Bus Loading Zones, Bus Transfer Stations, 
Park and Ride Lots, NVTA Parking Lots, and Transit Facilities should be readily 
accessible and available to residents, the public at large, and NVTA maintenance and 
emergency crews. The use of these areas for camping purposes or storage of personal 

277



6 

 

property interferes with the rights of others to use the areas for which they were 
intended, and also subjects those persons using such areas to substantial health and 
safety risks. Many persons, including families with young children, have been camping 
in automobiles and other public places in these areas in unsafe conditions, with no 
running water, toilets, cooking or sanitation facilities, even though accommodations in 
shelters are available to them, resulting in increased disease, illness and crime. The 
purpose of this chapter is to maintain public areas controlled, maintained, or accessed 
by NVTA in a clean and accessible condition and to diminish problems such as disease, 
illness and crime by encouraging the use of appropriate shelter facilities. 

Section 2.4.2. Unlawful camping.  Except as expressly indicated, it is prohibited and it is 
unlawful for any person to camp, occupy camp facilities or use camp paraphernalia in 
the following areas, except as otherwise provided: 

A.     Any Bus Loading Zones, Bus Transfer Stations, Park and Ride Lots, NVTA 
Parking Lots, and Transit Facilities. 

B.     Any NVTA public parking lot or public area, improved or unimproved, 
enclosed or open. 

Section 2.4.3.  Storage of personal property in public places. It is prohibited and it 
 is unlawful for any person to store personal property, including camp facilities and camp 
paraphernalia, in the following areas, except as otherwise provided by the Executive 
Director.  
 

A.     Any Bus Loading Zones, Bus Transfer Stations, Park and Ride Lots, NVTA Parking 
Lots, and Transit Facilities.  
 

B.     Any NVTA public parking lot or public area, improved or unimproved, enclosed 
or open. 
 
Section 2.5:  Smoking Prohibited 
 
Smoking shall be prohibited on the grounds of the Transit Facility. 
 
Section 2.6:  Posting of Notices 
 
The Executive Director or designee shall cause appropriate signs giving notice of the 
special conditions or regulations imposed under this Ordinance to be erected within the 
NVTA  Facilities.  NVTA shall prepare and keep at its principal administrative office a 
written statement of all special conditions and regulations imposed under this Ordinance. 
 
Section 2.7:  General 
 
Section 2.7.1:  Construction:  In the interpretation of this Ordinance, provisions shall be 
construed as follows: 

278



7 

A. The present tense includes the past and future tenses, and the future the
present. 

B. References to gender include masculine, feminine and neuter.
C. The singular number includes the plural, and the plural the singular.
D. “Shall” is mandatory and “may” is permissive.
E. These rules are in additional to and supplement all applicable laws or

ordinances.  Nothing herein shall limit or otherwise infringe on the authority of authorized 
Peace Officers or others to enforce the provisions of this or other laws. 

SECTION 2.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 
Ordinance is for any reason held to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.  The Board 
of Directors of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority hereby declares it would have 
passed and adopted this Ordinance and each and all provisions hereof irrespective of the 
fact that any one or more of said provisions be declared invalid. 

SECTION 3.  This Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days from and after the 
date of its passage. 

SECTION 4.  A summary of this Ordinance shall be published at least once 5 days 
before adoption and at least once before the expiration of 15 days after its passage in the 
Napa Valley Register, a newspaper of general circulation published in the County of 
Napa, together with the names of members voting for and against the same.  

The foregoing Ordinance was introduced and read at a regular meeting of the 
Board of Directors of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, held on the__th day of 
______, 2022, and passed at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Napa 
Valley Transportation Authority, held on the __th day of ________, 2022, by the following 
vote: 

____________________________ 
Liz Alessio, NVTA Chair  Ayes 

Nays: 

279



8 

 

       Absent: 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
DeeAnne Gillick, NVTA Legal Counsel 
  
 
 

280



ATTACHMENT 2 
AGENDA ITEM 8.1 

JULY 20, 2022 
 

Formatted: Right

ORDINANCE NO. __________2013-01 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY COUNTY TRANSPORATATION AUTHORITY AND PLANNING 

AGENCY (NCTPA)(NVTA)  
REGULATING PARKING, CAMPING  AND SMOKING AT TRANSIT FACILITIES AND 

PARKING AREAS  
 
The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) 
County Transportation and Planning Agency (NCTPA) ordains as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.  A new Chapter 2 (Parking Regulations) is hereby added to the of the 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority County Transportation and Planning Agency Code 
is amended to read in full as follows: 
 
Chapter 2 

 
PARKING RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 
Sections: 
 
 2.1   Legislative Intent 
 2.2 Definitions 
 2.3 Rules and Regulations 
 2.4 Smoking Prohibited 
 2.5 Posting of Notices 
 2.6 General 
 
Section 2.1:  Legislative Intent 
 
Section 2.1.1:  Authority 
 
California Vehicle Code section 21113 expressly prohibits any person from driving, 
stopping, parking, or leaving standing any vehicle, whether attended or unattended, on 
the parking facilities and bus loading zones of a transit district, except with the permission 
of, and upon and subject to any condition or regulation which may be imposed by the 
governing board.  The Board is authorized to adopt all ordinances and make all rules and 
regulations proper or necessary to regulate the use, operation and maintenance of its 
property and facilities. 
 
Section 2.1.2:  Findings 
 
 A. The Board finds and determines that ensuring adequate parking in 
NCTPANVTA’s parking lots for vehicles driving by Transit Patrons and Transit Personnel 
and authorized visitors is necessary in order to facilitate and encourage the use of public 

281



2 

 

transit facilities and services, and that the unregulated use of NCTPANVTA Parking Lots 
is detrimental to the interests of NCTPANVTA and the public. 
 
 B. Except when specifically posted as a shared public parking facility, 
NCTPANVTA Parking Lots are for use by Transit Patrons and Transit Personnel and 
authorized visitors only, and are not open to the general public. 
 
 C. The Board further finds and determines that bus loading zones are 
necessary for the safe loading and alighting of transit patrons and should be restricted for 
the exclusive use of transit vehicles.  
 
 D. Except when specifically permitted bus loading zones and transfer stations 
are for the exclusive use of NCTPANVTA (VineINE) transit use. 
 
 E. The Board adopts the California State Legislatures findings pursuant to 
California Health and Safety Code section 118920, including that regulation of smoking 
in public places is necessary to protect the health, safety, welfare, comfort, and 
environment of nonsmokers. 
 
 F. The Board therefore adopts this Ordinance establishing conditions and 
regulations applicable to vehicle parking and traffic in NCTPANVTA Parking Lots. 
 
Section 2.2:  Definitions    
 The following definitions shall apply to this chapter: 
 

A. Bus Loading Zone” refers to designated area used as a stop or transfer point 
for loading and alighting transit patrons.  
 

B. “Bus Transfer Stations” refers to areas where passengers transfer from one 
bus to another or where multiple buses congregate at any one time. 
 

C. “Camp” means any of the following: (1) to pitch or occupy camp facilities; (2) 
to use camp paraphernalia; (3) to sleep in, on or under any parked vehicle, 
including an automobile, bus, truck, camper, trailer, mobile home or 
recreational vehicle.   
 

D. “Camp facilities” includes, but are not limited to, tents, huts, or temporary 
shelters. When parked and used for the purpose of sleeping, automobiles, 
buses, trucks, campers, trailers, mobile homes and recreational vehicles shall 
be deemed as “camp facilities.” 
 

E. “Camp paraphernalia” includes, but is not limited to, tarpaulins, bedding, cots, 
beds, sleeping bags, hammocks or non-city designated cooking facilities and 
similar equipment 
  

B.F. “NCTPANVTA Parking Lot” means parking lots, driveways and other Transit 

282



3 

 

Facilities owned by NCTPANVTA or designated specifically for NCTPANVTA 
including NVTA’s  (VINE) transit use, including entrances and exits to and from 
any such Transit Facilities, which are accessible by Vehicle. 

 
C.G. “NCTPANVTA Security Officer” means NCTPANVTA staff or contractors 

hired for the purpose of facilities security and/or parking enforcement. 
 

D.H. "Park and Ride Lots" means parking lots and driveways, including 
entrances and exits to and from, for transit users and commuters use for 
temporary parking of vehicles while the vehicle driver is using NVTA VINE or 
carpooling.  

 
E.I. “Peace Officer” shall mean any law enforcement officer of the State of 

California, Napa County, orf any agency in Napa County. 
 

F.J. “Private Security Officer” means any private security officer hired by 
NCTPANVTA to safeguard its grounds and/or provide parking facility services. 

 
G.K. “Smoking” means inhaling, exhaling, burning, or carrying any lighted pipe, 

cigar or cigarette of any kind, or any other combustible substance. 
 

H.L. “Store” means to put aside or accumulate for use when needed, to put for 
safekeeping, to place or leave in a location. 

 
I.M. “Transit Facility” or “Facility” means any property owned and maintained by 

NCTPANVTA. 
 

J.N. “Transit Patron” is defined as a person who parks a vehicle on a 
NCTPANVTA Parking Lot for the purpose of using public transit, or person 
having business with NCTPANVTA..  

 
K.O. “Transit Personnel” means any Board member, employee, committee 

member, or contractor of NCTPANVTA or another transit provider whose place 
of employment is within the Soscol Gateway Transit Center. 

 
L.P. “Vehicle” shall have the same meaning as defined in Section 670 of the 

California Vehicle Code.  
 

Q. “VineINE” the transit service operated by NVTA to provide public transportation 
to serve Napa County.   

 
 
Section 2.3:  Parking Rules and Regulations  
 
Section 2.3.1:  Compliance with Law:  No person shall drive, stop, park, or leave standing 
on any NCTPANVTA Parking Lot, Bus Loading Zone, or Bus Transit Stations, or Park 

283



4 

 

and Ride Lot,  any Vehicle, except in full compliance with the traffic laws of the State of 
California and the conditions and regulations adopted herein. 
 
Section 2.3.2:  Patron Parking:  Parking of Vehicles in NCTPANVTA Parking Lots is for 
Transit Patrons or Transit Personnel only, unless the Parking Lot is otherwise posted as 
a shared public parking facility. Parking in Park and Ride Lots is for transit users and 
commuters using NVTA VINE or carpooling, unless the Park and Ride Lot is otherwise 
posted as a shared public parking facility.   
 
Section 2.3.3:  Parking Limit:   
 
A,   Parking of Vehicles in any NCTPANVTA Parking Lot shall be limited to one 
of the following, as posted: 

 

 

  i. A. Transit Patrons, Transit Personnel only 
  ii. B. Vehicles using the Charging Stations only 
  iii.C. Otherwise, as posted.  
 

B.  Parking of Vehicles in any Park and Ride Lot shall be limited to one of the 
following, as posted: 

  i.  Transit Patrons,  
  ii.  Commuters temporarily parking a vehicle in the Park and Ride Lot, 
  ii. . Vehicles using the Charging Stations only 
  iii.. Otherwise, as posted.  
    
 
Section 2.3.4:  Designated Spaces:  Vehicles shall be parked in NCTPANVTA Parking 
Lots or Park and Ride Lots only within areas posted and dedicated for parking, and shall 
be parked in an orderly manner within the lines indicating a single space.  Vehicles shall 
not be parked within NCTPANVTA Parking Lots or Park and Ride Lots within any 
driveway, in any unlined area, in any yellow or red painted area, in any pedestrian 
walkway, in any bus loading zones, or in any areas so prohibited by control signs. 
 
Section 2.3.5:  Spaces Designated for Persons with Disabilities:  No person may park a 
Vehicle in designated accessible spaces in NCTPANVTA Parking Lots or Park and Ride 
Lots without displaying placards or special license plates issued by the State of California 
for persons with disabilities. 
 
Section 2.3.6:  Abandoned Vehicles:  No person shall abandon any Vehicle in any 
NCTPANVTA Parking Lot or Park and Ride Lots.  Vehicles reasonably believed to be 
abandoned may be removed from a NCTPANVTA Parking Lot only after a written report 
identifying the vehicle and its location has been mailed or delivered to the office of the 
Department of the California Highway Patrol located nearest to the Vehicle.  In addition, 

284



5 

 

at least ten (10) days’ notice of intention to remove an abandoned Vehicle shall be mailed, 
by registered or certified mail, to the last registered owners of record of the Vehicle, unless 
NCTPANVTA is unable to determine ownership.  The notice shall include a statement 
that the owner may request a hearing before the NCTPANVTA Executive Director.  If no 
hearing has been requested within ten (10) days of the mailing of the notice, the Vehicle 
may be removed without further notice.  Within five (5) days after the date of removal, 
notice shall be given to the California Department of Motor Vehicles identifying the Vehicle 
or part thereof, and any evidence of registration available.  NCTPANVTA shall not be 
responsible for any damage caused by the removal of any Vehicle. 
 
Section 2.3.7:  Maximum Speed Limit:  No person shall at any time drive any Vehicle in 
any NCTPANVTA Parking Lot or Park and Ride Lot at a speed in excess of fifteen (15) 
miles per hour. 
 
Section 2.3.8:  Maximum Vehicle Dimensions:  No person shall drive, park, or leave 
standing in any NCTPANVTA Parking Lot or Park and Ride Lot any vehicle or combination 
of vehicles which exceeds three (3) tons in total aggregate weight or exceeds six and 
one-half (6 1/2) feet in width or nineteen (19) feet in length.  The foregoing prohibition 
shall not apply to Vehicles owned or operated by or on behalf of NCTPANVTA, public 
transit buses doing business at the Soscol Gateway Transit Center, or vehicles making 
deliveries to NCTPANVTA or making repairs under contract with or otherwise on behalf 
of NCTPANVTA. 
 
Section 2.3.9:  Fees for Parking:  The Board of Directors of NCTPANVTA may establish 
by resolution fees to be imposed for entrance to or use of any one or more NCTPANVTA 
Parking Lots.  Such fees shall constitute charges imposed for entrance to or use of local 
government property.  Fees shall be reasonable and, to the extent necessary in light of 
the findings set forth in this Ordinance, may be lower for Transit Patrons utilizing 
NCTPANVTA transit facilities than for other Transit Patrons or members of the public.  
Payment of fees so established is an express condition upon which Vehicles may be 
parked in NCTPANVTA Parking Lots. 
 
Section 2.3.10:  Fees for Parking Violations:  The Board of Directors of NCTPANVTA may 
establish by resolution fees for parking in violation of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 2.3.11:  Additional Use by Special Permit:  Notwithstanding the provisions of this 
Section 2.3, Sections 3.3 and 3.8, the NCTPANVTA Executive Director may issue permits 
for private use of NCTPANVTA Parking Lots for public events if not inconsistent with this 
Ordinance.  
 
Section 2.3.12:  Issuance of Warnings:  NCTPANVTA Security Officers and Private 
Security Officers so authorized by the NCTPANVTA Executive Director or designee may 
issue written warnings whenever a Vehicle is driving or parked within a NCTPANVTA 
Parking Lot or Park and Ride Lot in violation of the conditions and regulations set forth in 
this Ordinance, except as prohibited under State Law. 
 

285



6 

 

Section 2.4:   Camping:  

Section 2.4.1. Findings.  Publicly accessible sidewalks, driveways, accessways, and 
parking areas, including but not limited to, Bus Loading Zones, Bus Transfer Stations, 
Park and Ride Lots, NVTA Parking Lots, and Transit Facilities should be readily 
accessible and available to residents, the public at large, and NVTA maintenance and 
emergency crews. The use of these areas for camping purposes or storage of personal 
property interferes with the rights of others to use the areas for which they were 
intended, and also subjects those persons using such areas to substantial health and 
safety risks. Many persons, including families with young children, have been camping 
in automobiles and other public places in these areas in unsafe conditions, with no 
running water, toilets, cooking or sanitation facilities, even though accommodations in 
shelters are available to them, resulting in increased disease, illness and crime. The 
purpose of this chapter is to maintain public areas controlled, maintained, or accessed 
by NVTA in a clean and accessible condition and to diminish problems such as disease, 
illness and crime by encouraging the use of appropriate shelter facilities. 

Section 2.4.2. Unlawful camping.  Except as expressly indicated, it is prohibited and it is  
unlawful for any person to camp, occupy camp facilities or use camp paraphernalia in 
the following areas, except as otherwise provided: 

A.     Any Bus Loading Zones, Bus Transfer Stations, Park and Ride Lots, NVTA 
Parking Lots, and Transit Facilities. 

B.     Any NVTA public parking lot or public area, improved or unimproved, 
enclosed or open. 

Section 2.4.3.  Storage of personal property in public places. It is prohibited and it 
 is unlawful for any person to store personal property, including camp facilities and camp 
paraphernalia, in the following areas, except as otherwise provided by the Executive 
Director.  
 

A.     Any Bus Loading Zones, Bus Transfer Stations, Park and Ride Lots, NVTA Parking 
Lots, and Transit Facilities.  
 

B.     Any NVTA public parking lot or public area, improved or unimproved, enclosed 
or open. 
 
 
Section 2.45:  Smoking Prohibited 
 
Smoking shall be prohibited on the grounds of the Transit Facility. 
 
Section 2.65:  Posting of Notices 
 

286



7 

The Executive Director or designee shall cause appropriate signs giving notice of the 
special conditions or regulations imposed under this Ordinance to be erected within the 
NVTA CPTA Facilities.  NCTPANVTA shall prepare and keep at its principal 
administrative office a written statement of all special conditions and regulations imposed 
under this Ordinance. 

Section 2.76:  General 

Section 2.76.1:  Construction:  In the interpretation of this Ordinance, provisions shall be 
construed as follows: 

A. The present tense includes the past and future tenses, and the future the
present. 

B. References to gender include masculine, feminine and neuter.
C. The singular number includes the plural, and the plural the singular.
D. “Shall” is mandatory and “may” is permissive.
E. These rules are in additional to and supplement all applicable laws or

ordinances.  Nothing herein shall limit or otherwise infringe on the authority of authorized 
Peace Officers or others to enforce the provisions of this or other laws. 

SECTION 2.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 
Ordinance is for any reason held to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.  The Board 
of Directors of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority County Transportation and 
Planning Agency hereby declares it would have passed and adopted this Ordinance and 
each and all provisions hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more of said 
provisions be declared invalid. 

SECTION 3.  This Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days from and after the 
date of its passage. 

SECTION 4.  A summary of this Ordinance shall be published at least once 5 days 
before adoption and at least once before the expiration of 15 days after its passage in the 
Napa Valley Register, a newspaper of general circulation published in the County of 
Napa, together with the names of members voting for and against the same.  

The foregoing Ordinance was introduced and read at a regular meeting of the 
Board of dDirectors of the Napa Valley County Transportation Authorityand Planning 
Agency, State of California, held on the__19th day of ______, 2022June, 2013, and 
passed at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Napa County Valley 
Transportation Authority, and Planning Agency, State of California, held on the __17th day 
of ________July, 202213, by the following vote: 

____________________________ 
Keith Caldwell, NCTPANVTA Chair Ayes 

287



8 

Nays: 

Absent: 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________ 
LauraKaralyn E. Sanderlin, NCTPANVTA Board Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________ 
Janice Killion, NCTPANVTA Legal Counsel 

288



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

One Bay Area Grant (OBAG) 3 Project List 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority Board approve the One Bay Area Grant 
(OBAG) Cycle 3 project list and submit the projects to the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission.   

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board of Directors released a Call for 
Projects on May 18, 2022 and adopted the related materials including the OBAG 3 
Application and Evaluation Criteria. The OBAG 3 program will fund projects in Fiscal 
Years (FYs) 2023 through 2026.  Funding for the Napa County call for projects is $6.143 
million. NVTA received four project applications by the application deadline, June 17, 
2022 totaling $7,206,000 ($1,063,000 over available funds). Three of the four projects 
were previously committed projects from OBAG 2 that have been carried over to OBAG 
3.   

NVTA staff will submit a project list totaling $6.143 million to MTC by September 30, 2022, 
reducing NVTA’s SR 29 American Canyon Operational and Multimodal Improvements 
Environmental Document Project request to $1,937,000 to fit in the total dollar amount 
available. It is noted that the SR 29 American Canyon Operational and Multimodal 
Improvements Environmental Document project will require a total of $3 million to be fully 
funded.  NVTA will submit a request to MTC that outlines the need for $3 million in OBAG 
funds for the project.   

FISCAL IMPACT 

Is there a Fiscal Impact? No 

289



nnJuly 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2  

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Alberto Esqueda, Senior Program Planner 

(707) 259-5976 / Email: aesqueda@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT:   One Bay Area Grant (OBAG) Cycle 3 Project List 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority Board approve the One Bay Area Grant 
(OBAG) Cycle 3 project list and submit the projects to the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) Recommended the OBAG 3 project list for 
approval at their July 7, 2022 meeting.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) received four OBAG 3 project 
applications totaling $7,206,000 ($1,063,000 over available funds). The projects are listed 
in Table 1. NVTA staff is proposing to reduce the SR 29 American Canyon Operational 
and Multimodal Improvements – Environmental Document project to $1,937,000 to 
constrain the project requests to the total funds available of $6.143 million.  Table 2 
provides NVTA’s staff recommendation for submission to the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

290

mailto:aesqueda@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.2 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 7 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Table 1. NVTA OBAG 3 Projects Submitted 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 2. NVTA Staff OBAG 3 Project Recommendation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*It will be noted the SR 29 Operational and Multimodal Improvements needs $3 million from OBAG 3.  
 
 

Project Application Submission Requests 
American Canyon Green Island Road $1,000,000 
City of Napa Five-way 

Intersection 
$2,000,000 

St. Helena Main Street 
Pedestrian 

Improvement 

$1,206,000 

NVTA SR 29 American 
Canyon Operational 

and Multimodal 
Improvements 
Environmental 

Document 

$3,000,000 

Project Application 
Submission Total 

 $7,206,000 

 
OBAG 3 Funds 
Available  

 $6,143,000 

Difference between available funds and 
application submission  

($1,063,000) 

NVTA Recommendation 
American Canyon Green Island Road $1,000,000 
City of Napa Five-way 

Intersection 
$2,000,000 

St. Helena Main Street 
Pedestrian 

Improvement 

$1,206,000 

NVTA SR 29 American 
Canyon Operational 

and Multimodal 
Improvements 
Environmental 

Document 

$1,937,000* 
 

Project Application 
Submission Total 

 $6,143,000 

291



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.2 
July 20, 2022 
Page 3 of 7 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
On March 23, 2022, MTC approved the OBAG Cycle 3 guidelines for local and county 
shares. NVTA developed local evaluation criteria aligned with MTC’s guidelines to screen 
projects (Attachment 1).  Projects must fall into one of four categories:  
 

1. Planning & Program Implementation  
2. Growth Framework Implementation  
3. Climate, Conservation, and Resilience 
4. Complete Streets and Community Choice 

See Exhibit A in Attachment 1 for more details on program categories and project examples 
 
The deadline to submit project applications was June 17, 2022.  All but the NVTA SR 29 
American Canyon project have been carried over from the OBAG 2 program.  These 
projects were all deferred to fund the Calistoga to St. Helena Vine Trail project and, in 
exchange, NVTA committed to fund these projects in the OBAG 3 program 
 
Table 3. OBAG 3 Project Nomination/Approval Timeline 
 

County Program Timeline 
 

April 7, 2022 TAC receives overview of the OBAG 3 program guidelines 

May 1, 2022 MTC releases OBAG 3 Call for Projects 

May 5, 2022 TAC  recommends release of Call for Projects to NVTA Board 

May 18, 2022 NVTA Opens OBAG 3 Call for Projects   

June 17, 2022  OBAG 3 Applications due to NVTA 

July 6, 2022 CAC reviews NVTA staff project recommendations 

July 7, 2022 TAC reviews NVTA staff project recommendations for Board 
approval 

July 13, 2022 ATAC reviews projects’ Complete Streets Checklists  

July 20, 2022 NVTA Board OBAG 3 project nomination approval 

July 27, 2022 NVTA staff submits project nominations to MTC 

October – Dec 2022 County & Local Program – Regional Project Evaluation & 
Project Prioritization 
• MTC evaluation of nominations 
• CMAQ emissions benefits & cost effectiveness (for eligible 

292



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.2 
July 20, 2022 
Page 4 of 7 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 

projects) 
• MTC & CTA discussions of preliminary staff recommendation 

October 1, 2022 First year of OBAG 3 funding availability for ongoing planning and 
programming activities, Regional Programs 

January 2023 County & Local Program – MTC Project Selection 
• MTC staff recommendations for Commission consideration & 
approval 
• Programming of County & Local Program projects into 2023 TIP 
(est. February 2023) 

October 1, 2023 First year of OBAG 3 funding availability for County & Local Program 
projects 

 
The OBAG program establishes the policy and programming framework for investing 
federal Surface Transportation Program (STP), Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality 
(CMAQ) Improvement Program, and other funds throughout the Bay Area. The OBAG 
program focuses transportation investments in Priority Development Areas (PDAs) and 
in jurisdictions producing and planning for new housing under the Regional Housing 
Needs Allocation (RHNA) process, among other strategies.  
 
The framework also consolidates funding sources and increases local agency flexibility 
to advance priority projects. Following the initial success of OBAG 1 and OBAG 2, MTC 
adopted the OBAG 3 policy framework in January 2022.  
 
Highlighted changes for OBAG 3 include the following: 

• Funding will be 50/50 split between regional and county programs – an increase 
from 55/45. 

• MTC will conduct final project selection process on locally submitted projects - in 
prior cycles selection was at the sole discretion of the counties within the OBAG 
policy framework. 

• PDA supportive projects must be within 1 mile of a priority development area 
boundary – allowance of exceptions on a case-by-case basis.  Prior OBAG cycles 
allowed projects considered proximate to the PDA. 

• A project sponsor must have a Local Road Safety Plan or equivalent – by 
December 2023.  Safety plans were not a requirement in prior OBAG cycles.  

• $25 million regionwide Safe Routes to School (SRTS) investment that replaces a 
county-specific SRTS investment.  This is a takedown from the total funds 
available but counties will be eligible to compete for funding.  

293



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.2 
July 20, 2022 
Page 5 of 7 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 

• $200 million regionwide active transportation investment target.  No targets for 
active transportation projects were established in prior OBAG cycles. 

 
Revenue Estimates 
OBAG 3 programming estimates are based on anticipated federal transportation program 
apportionments from STP/CMAQ programs for a four-year cycle covering FY 2022-23 
through FY 2025-26. MTC estimates $750 million of STP/CMAQ funding over the four-
year OBAG 3 period. MTC expects there will be additional funds from the recently passed 
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) and will adjust the program amount accordingly.  
 
County & Local Programs 
Fifty percent of available OBAG 3 funds (or $375 million) is for local and county projects 
prioritized through a call for projects process selected by MTC. MTC increased the share 
of funds directed to local projects to 50%, up from 45% in OBAG 2.  
 
NVTA solicited project applications and conducted an initial screening of projects. For 
Napa County, OBAG 3 requests must meet the 50% PDA investment requirement. In 
addition, NVTA prioritized projects that align with regional plans and policies: 

1. Are located in PDAs or Transit-Rich Areas (TRAs), identified in locally adopted 
plans for PDAs, or support preservation of Priority Production Areas (PPAs) 

2. Are located in jurisdictions with affordable housing protection, preservation, and 
production strategies, including an emphasis on community stabilization and anti-
displacement policies with demonstrated effectiveness  

3. Invest in historically underserved communities, including projects prioritized in a 
Community-Based Transportation Plan (CBTP) or Participatory Budgeting 
process, or projects located within Equity Priority Communities with demonstrated 
community support 

4. Address federal performance management requirements by supporting regional 
performance goals for roadway safety, asset management, environmental 
sustainability, or system performance  

5. Implement multiple Plan Bay Area 2050 Strategies  
6. Demonstrate consistency with other regional plans and policies, including the 

Regional Safety/Vision Zero policy, Equity Platform, Regional Active 
Transportation Plan, Transit Oriented Communities (TOC) policy update, and the 
Blue Ribbon Transit Transformation Action Plan 

7. Demonstrate public support from communities disproportionately impacted by past 
discriminatory practices, including redlining, racial covenants, urban renewal, and 
highway construction that divided low-income and communities of color 

8. Can be completed in accordance with MTC’s Regional Project Delivery Policy 
(MTC Resolution No. 3606, Revised) and can meet all OBAG 3 deadlines, and 
federal and state delivery requirements  

294



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.2 
July 20, 2022 
Page 6 of 7 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
The NVTA Board must approve prioritized nomination lists before submission to MTC. A 
panel of MTC staff will evaluate all project nominations and develop a recommended 
program of projects for Commission consideration and approval.  
 
MTC’s evaluation panel scored projects using the following scoring rubric:  

1. County transportation agency (CTA) Prioritization (75 points): Relative CTA project 
rank or score, which may be scaled and normalized across CTAs to allow for 
region-wide comparison  

2. Regional Impact (15 points): Alignment with Plan Bay Area 2050 strategies, 
anticipated effectiveness in advancing regional objectives, and contribution to 
regionally significant networks or facilities  

3. Deliverability (10 points): Sponsor capacity to deliver the project through the 
Federal-aid process, including consideration of prior performance of OBAG 
projects and anticipated risk to the project development schedule or funding plan  

4. Air Quality (10 points): Projects eligible for Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality 
Improvement Program (CMAQ) funding will also be evaluated for estimated 
emissions benefits, including priority for projects that reduce fine particular matter 
(PM2.5), as well as the relative cost-effectiveness of the project to reduce 
transportation emissions.  

Pending project list approval, the next step is to submit the project applications and 
supporting materials to MTC for their review and consideration by September 30, 2022.  
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The board could decide not to approve the OBAG 3 project list and nominate other 
projects, delaying the submission and potentially jeopardizing millions of transportation 
dollars for Napa County.   
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 1: Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, income 
or ability.  
 
The OBAG program of projects will improve transportation facilities by providing safety 
enhancements, greenhouse gas emissions reductions, and transportation options for all 
modes.   
 
Goal 5: Minimize the energy and other resources required to move people and goods. 
 

295



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.2 
July 20, 2022 
Page 7 of 7 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
The multimodal improvements outlined in the OBAG 3 projects will provide alternative 
transportation options, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and single occupancy vehicle 
usage.  
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 

(1) NVTA OBAG 3 County Local Program Application and Evaluation Criteria  
(2) Appendix A-1 County and Local Program Call for Projects Guidelines 
(3) OBAG 3 Project Applications 
(4) Resolution 22-23 

296



One Bay Area Grant (OBAG 3) – County & Local Program 

Template Application Form (v1) 

1  

ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA I TEM 8.2 

JULY 20, 2022

Project Information 

Project Name: Project name 

Project Sponsor: Project sponsor 

Sponsor Single 

Point of Contact: 

Contact name 

Contact phone 

Contact email 

Project Location: Project location 

Brief Project 

Description: 

Project description 

Program Eligibility 

Federal Fund 

Eligibility 

Is the project eligible 

for federal 

transportation funds? 

Select the OBAG 3 federal fund source(s) for which the project is eligible: 

☐ Surface Transportation Block Grant (STP) Program (See FHWA fact sheet)

☐ Congestion Mitigation & Air Quality Improvement (CMAQ) Program (See FHWA

fact sheet)

Note: projects eligible for CMAQ funding must provide inputs for air quality

improvement calculations, using templates provided on the OBAG 3 webpage.

Eligible Project 

Type 

Is the project an 

eligible project type? 

Select the eligible project type(s) (refer to MTC Resolution No. 4505 for detailed 

eligibility guidelines): 

Growth Framework Implementation 

☐ PDA Planning Grant

☐ Local Planning Grant (for other Plan

Bay Area 2050 Growth Geographies)

Complete Streets & Community Choice 

☐ Bicycle/Pedestrian Infrastructure

☐ Bicycle/Pedestrian Program

☐ Safe Routes to School (SRTS) Non-

Infrastructure program

☐ SRTS Infrastructure

☐ Safety project

☐ Safety Planning efforts

☐ Complete Streets improvements

☐ Streetscape improvements

☐ Local Streets and Roads Preservation

☐ Rural Roadway Improvement

☐ Community-Based Transportation

Plan (CBTP) or Participatory

Budgeting (PB) Process in an Equity

Priority Community (EPC)

☐ CBTP/PB Project Implementation

Climate, Conservation, & Resilience 

☐ Transportation Demand Management

(TDM) Program

☐ Mobility Hub

☐ Parking/Curb Management

☐ Car/Bike Share Capital

☐ Open Space Preservation and

Enhancement

☐ Bicycle/Pedestrian Access to Open

Space/Parkland

☐ Regional Advance Mitigation Planning

(RAMP)

Multimodal Systems Operations & 

Performance 

☐ Transit Capital Improvement

☐ Transit Station Improvement

☐ Transit Transformation Action Plan

Project Implementation

☐ Active Operational Management

☐ Mobility Management and

coordination

297

https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/bipartisan-infrastructure-law/stbg.cfm
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/bipartisan-infrastructure-law/cmaq.cfm
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/bipartisan-infrastructure-law/cmaq.cfm
https://mtc.ca.gov/obag3
https://mtc.ca.gov/digital-library/5022630-mtc-resolution-no-4505
https://www.planbayarea.org/sites/default/files/documents/PBA2050_Growth_Geographies_Oct2021_0.pdf
https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/access-equity-mobility/equity-priority-communities
https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/access-equity-mobility/equity-priority-communities
https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-09/Transit_Action_Plan_1.pdf


One Bay Area Grant (OBAG 3) – County & Local Program  

Template Application Form (v1) 

2  

 

 

 

NVTA Local OBAG Screening Criteria 

Supplemental 

Prioritization 

Criteria  

Does the project 

conform to Napa 

County-specific 

criteria? 

Select the OBAG 3 federal fund source(s) for which the project is eligible: 

☐ Project is a stand-alone project 

☐ Project sponsor is an eligible public agency 

☐ Project sponsor is requesting a minimum of $250,000 in OBAG funds 

☐ Project is consistent with the Regional Transportation Plan and the Napa 

Countywide Transportation Plan– Advancing Mobility 2045 

☐ Project has identified a local match of at least 11.47% 

☐ Located within a Priority Conservation Area (PCA) 

☐ Not located within designated PDA, PCA, PPA geographies, but direct connection 

to one or more of the designated geographies. 

☐ Project Readiness:  Project can clearly demonstrate an ability to meet timely use of 

funds.  Project should have completed conceptual designs at a minimum and 

ideally completed survey work (i.e. at/or near 30% design). 

☐ Project has completed environmental document 

☐ Community Support:  Project has clear and diverse community support.  This can 

be shown with letters of support, specific reference in adopted plan and 

community meetings regarding the project.  

☐ Project is listed in NVTA’s Community Based Transportation Plan 

☐ Safety:  Project addresses high risk and high activity multi-modal corridor location. 

☐ Located within a Napa County Designated Equity Priority Community? 

(EPC):  Project is located in an EPC or serves an EPC. 

☐ Project is a Safe Routes to School (SRTS) project 

☐ Project is a Safe Routes to Transit (SRTT) project 

☐ For a capital project, is the OBAG request all in one phase (i.e. all construction)  

☐ Project Sponsor is providing over a 20% match to federal funds 

☐ The project has a regional impact 

☐ Project Sponsor Priority:  For project sponsor’s that submit multiple projects; this 

project has been given priority.  

 

298



One Bay Area Grant (OBAG 3) – County & Local Program  

Template Application Form (v1) 

3  

Policy Alignment 

Federal 

Performance Goals 

How does the project 

support federal 

performance 

measures? 

Select the federal performance measures that are supported by the project: 

☐  Safety: Significantly reduce traffic fatalities and serious injuries for all users on all 

public roads and improve the safety of all public transportation systems. 

☐  Infrastructure Condition: Improve the pavement condition on the Interstate and 

National Highway System (NHS) and NHS bridges and maintain the condition of 

public transit assets in a state of good repair. 

☐  Congestion Reduction: Significantly reduce congestion on the NHS in urbanized 

areas.  

☐  System Reliability: Improve the reliability of the Interstate system and NHS.  

☐  Freight Movement and Economic Vitality: Improve the reliability of the Interstate 

system for truck travel. 

☐  Environmental Sustainability: Maximize emission reductions from CMAQ-funded 

projects. 

Describe how the project supports the selected federal performance measure(s): 

Please describe 

Plan Bay Area 2050 

Strategies 

How does the project 

align with Plan Bay 

Area 2050? 

Describe how the project supports Plan Bay Area 2050 Strategies and/or 

Implementation Plan: 

Please describe 

Regional Policy 

Alignment 

How does the project 

align with other 

regional policies and 

plans? 

Select the regional plans and policies with which the project is aligned: 

☐  Regional Safety/Vision Zero Policy 

☐  MTC’s Equity Platform 

☐  Regional Active Transportation Plan 

☐  Transit Oriented Communities Policy 

☐  Blue Ribbon Transit Transformation 

Action Plan 

Describe how the project aligns with the selected regional plans and/or policies: 

Please describe 

Regional Growth 

Geographies 

Does the project support 
PBA 2050 Growth 

Geographies? 

Indicate the project’s relationship to Plan Bay Area 2050 Growth Geographies: 

Priority Development Area (PDA) 

☐ Meets the uniform definition of a PDA-supportive project (within one mile or less 

of a PDA boundary) 

☐ Does not meet the uniform definition of a PDA-supportive project, but otherwise 

has a clear and direct connection to PDA implementation  

Please describe 

☐ Included in a locally-adopted PDA plan (e.g. Specific Plan, PDA Investment and 

Growth Strategy)  

Locally-adopted PDA plan reference 

Transit Rich Area (TRA) 

☐ Within a TRA or otherwise supportive of a TRA (see Growth Geographies map) 

Please describe 

Priority Production Area (PPA) 

☐ Supports the preservation of a PPA (see Growth Geographies map) 

Please describe 

299

https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/federal-performance-targets
https://www.planbayarea.org/finalplan2050
https://www.planbayarea.org/2050-plan/final-plan-bay-area-2050/chapter-7-final-implementation-plan
https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/bicycle-pedestrian-micromobility/regional-safetyvision-zero
https://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/what-mtc/equity-platform
https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/investment-strategies-commitments/climate-protection/regional-active-transportation-plan
https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/land-use/transit-oriented-development-tod-policy
https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-09/Transit_Action_Plan_1.pdf
https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-09/Transit_Action_Plan_1.pdf
https://www.planbayarea.org/sites/default/files/documents/PBA2050_Growth_Geographies_Oct2021_0.pdf
https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/pba-2050-priority-development-areas-one-mile-buffer/explore
https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/pba-2050-priority-development-areas-one-mile-buffer/explore
https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/plan-bay-area-2050-growth-geographies/explore
https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/plan-bay-area-2050-growth-geographies/explore


One Bay Area Grant (OBAG 3) – County & Local Program  

Template Application Form (v1) 

4  

Equity Priority 

Communities 

Does the project invest 

in historically 

underserved 

communities? 

Indicate how the project invests in historically underserved communities, including 

Plan Bay Area 2050 Equity Priority Communities (EPCs): 

☐ Located within and supportive of an EPC (see Equity Priority Communities map)  

☐ Not located within an EPC, but is otherwise supportive of an EPC or other 

historically underserved community 

Description of how project supports an EPC or other historically underserved 

community 

Local Housing 

Policies 

Is the project located in 

a jurisdiction with 

policies that support 

affordable housing? 

Indicate if the project is locate in a jurisdiction that has adopted policies which 

support the “3Ps” approach to affordable housing by listing the relevant adopted 
policies for each element of the 3Ps. Additional guidance and resources on 

affordable housing policies are provided on the OBAG 3 webpage. 

☐ Protect current residents from displacement (with emphasis on policies that have 

demonstrated effectiveness in community stabilization and anti-displacement). 

List of applicable policies 

☐ Preserve existing affordable housing (with emphasis on policies that have 

demonstrated effectiveness in community stabilization and anti-displacement).  

List of applicable policies 

☐ Produce new housing at all income levels.  

List of applicable policies 

Community Support 

Community 

Support 

Does the project have 

community support, 

particularly if it is 

located in a historically 

underserved 

community? 

Indicate if the project has demonstrated community support through one or more of 

the following: 

☐ Public outreach responses specific to this project, including comments received at 

public meetings or hearings, feedback from community workshops, or survey 

responses. 

Summary of public outreach responses 

☐ Project is consistent with an adopted local transportation plan.  

Description of project consistency with local plan 

Indicate if the project has demonstrated support from communities 

disproportionately impacted by past discriminatory practices, including redlining, 

racial covenants, urban renewal, and highway construction that divided low income 

and communities of color. Resources for identifying impacted communities are 

available on the OBAG 3 webpage. Community support may be demonstrated 

through one or more of the following: 

☐ Prioritization of the project in a Community Based Transportation Plan (CBTP) or 

Participatory Budgeting (PB) process.  

CBTP or PB reference 

☐ Endorsements from a Community-Based Organizations representing historically 

underserved and potentially impacted communities. 

Description of CBO endorsement 

300

https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/access-equity-mobility/equity-priority-communities
https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/equity-priority-communities-plan-bay-area-2050/explore
https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/investment-strategies-commitments/housing-solutions/housing-protection-preservation
https://mtc.ca.gov/obag3
https://mtc.ca.gov/obag3


One Bay Area Grant (OBAG 3) – County & Local Program  

Template Application Form (v1) 

5  

Deliverability & Readiness 

Project Readiness 

Is the project ready to 

be delivered? 

Describe the readiness of the project, including right-of-way impacts and the type of 

environmental document/clearance required: 

Project readiness, right-of-way, environment  

If the project touches Caltrans right-of-way, include the status and timeline of the 

necessary Caltrans approvals and documents, the status and timeline of Caltrans 

requirements, and approvals such as planning documents (PSR or equivalent) 

environmental approval, encroachment permit.  

Caltrans approvals status and timeline 

Deliverability 

Are there any barriers 

to on-time delivery? 

Describe the project’s timeline and status, as well as the sponsor’s ability to meet the 

January 31, 2027 obligation deadline: 

Project timeline, status, and obligation deadline  

Identify any known risks to the project schedule, and how the CTA and project 

sponsor will mitigate and respond to those risks: 

Project risks and mitigation strategies 

Project Cost & Funding 

Grant Minimum 

Does the project meet 

the minimum grant 

size requirements? 

☐ Project meets the minimum grant size requirements. Projects must be a minimum 

of $500,000 for counties with a population over 1 million (Alameda, Contra Costa, 

and Santa Clara counties) and $250,000 for counties with a population under one 

million (Marin, Napa, San Francisco, San Mateo, Solano, and Sonoma counties). 

Exception request to minimum grant size  

Local Match 

Does the project meet 

local match 

requirements? 

☐ Project sponsor will provide a local match of at least 11.47% of the total project 

cost. 

Notes on local match, optional 

301



One Bay Area Grant (OBAG 3) – County & Local Program  

Template Application Form (v1) 

6  

Project Cost & Funding 
 

OBAG 3 Grant Request:  

Total Grant Request $  

 

Project Cost & Schedule: 

Project Phases Total Cost 

Secured Funds Unsecured Funds Schedule  

(Start dates:  

Planned, Actual) 
Amount Fund Sources 

OBAG 3 Grant 

Request  

Remaining 

Funding Needed 

Planning/ 

Conceptual  
$  $  Secured fund sources, notes $  $  Month/Year 

Environmental 

Studies (PA&ED) 
$  $  Secured fund sources, notes $  $  Month/Year 

Design 

Engineering 

(PS&E) 

$  $  Secured fund sources, notes $  $  Month/Year 

Right-of-way $  $  Secured fund sources, notes $  $  Month/Year 

Construction $  $  Secured fund sources, notes $  $  Month/Year 

Total $  $   $  $   

 

Project Investment by Mode: 

Mode 
Share of project 

investment 

Auto  % 

Transit % 

Bicycle/Pedestrian % 

Other % 

Total 100% 

 

302



Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 1

Appendix A-1: County & Local Program Call for Projects Guidelines 

The One Bay Area Grant (OBAG 3) County & Local Program funding is available to projects through a 

competitive call for projects process, administered and selected by MTC in coordination with the nine 

Bay Area County Transportation Agencies (CTAs). MTC is responsible for call for projects oversight and 

final project selection.  

To receive County & Local Program funding, CTAs and project sponsors must adhere to all OBAG 3 

programming policies, including the call for projects guidelines. In the case of any conflict or 

inconsistency between these guidelines (MTC Resolution No. 4505, Appendix A-1) and the OBAG 3 

Project Selection and Programming Policies (MTC Resolution No. 4505, Attachment A), the Project 

Selection and Programming Policies will be given precedence. 

Program Requirements 

Sponsor Requirements 

Bay Area cities, counties, transit agencies, federally-recognized Tribal governments, and CTAs are eligible 

to apply for OBAG 3 County & Local Program funds. Cities and counties must meet the following 

requirements to receive program funding: 

• Have a general plan housing element adopted and certified by the California Department of

Housing and Community Development (HCD) for the 2023-31 Regional Housing Needs

Allocation (RHNA) cycle by December 31, 2023, and maintain certification throughout the OBAG

3 program period;

• Submit Housing Element Annual Reports to HCD each year by the April 1 deadline throughout

the OBAG 3 program period;

• Adopt a resolution self-certifying compliance with state housing laws related to surplus lands,

accessory dwelling units, and density bonuses by December 31, 2023;

• Maintain ongoing compliance with the Housing Accountability Act (as determined by MTC staff)

throughout the OBAG 3 program period;

• Adopt a Local Roadway Safety Plan (LRSP) or equivalent safety plan, as defined by the California

Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) guidelines, by December 31, 2023;

• Maintain a certified Pavement Management Program (StreetSaver® or equivalent), updated as

prescribed by MTC staff;

• Fully participate in statewide local streets and road needs assessment surveys (including any

assigned funding contribution); and

• Provide traffic count data to MTC to support FHWA’s Highway Performance Monitoring System

(HPMS) on an annual basis, or as directed by MTC staff.

The above requirements do not apply to sponsors with no general plan or land use authority, such as 

CTAs or transit agencies under a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) or special district. 

In addition, all recipients of OBAG 3 funding, including public agencies without land use authority as well 

as federally-recognized Tribal governments, are required to: 

• Comply with MTC’s Complete Streets Policy, and its successor, including the requirement to

complete a Complete Streets Checklist for each project applying for OBAG 3 funding; and

ATTACHMENT 2  
AGENDA ITEM 8.2 

JULY 20, 2022

303



Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 2 
 

 

• Comply with MTC’s Regional Project Delivery Policy (MTC Resolution No. 3606), including 

identification of a staff position to serve as the single point of contact (SPOC) for the 

implementation of all FHWA-administered funds within that agency. The person in this position 

must have sufficient knowledge and expertise in the federal-aid delivery process to coordinate 

issues and questions that may arise from project inception to project close-out.  

Project Requirements 

Sponsors may apply to receive funding through the call for projects process for eligible project types, as 

detailed by program category in the County & Local Programs section of Attachment A. Projects must 

comply with OBAG 3 General Programming Policies, in addition to the programming policies specific to 

the County & Local Program.  

 

For each project, sponsors must provide the following: 

• A Complete Streets Checklist for each distinct project location using the Complete Streets web 

application (located at https://completestreets.mtc.ca.gov/). This checklist will be updated as part 

of MTC’s Active Transportation Plan and Complete Streets Policy update, and sponsors will be 

required to complete the revised version, available by May 1, 2022. CTAs must make checklists 

available to their Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee (BPAC) for review prior to project 

nomination. For projects that have already submitted a Complete Streets checklist for prior cycles 

of regional discretionary funding, sponsors may be required to complete an updated checklist or 

complete a second checklist review with their BPAC, as determined on a case-by-case basis by 

MTC staff. 

• For projects eligible for Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program (CMAQ) 

funds, the inputs necessary to assess the emissions benefits and cost-effectiveness of air quality 

improvements resulting from project implementation. Air quality calculation input forms are 

provided by project type on the OBAG 3 webpage (available at www.mtc.ca.gov/obag3) under 

“Partner Agency Resources.” 

• All projects selected by MTC for funding must provide a Resolution of Local Support, approved 

by the sponsor’s governing body (template resolutions are available at 

https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/federal-funding/federal-highway-administration-grants/one-

bayarea-grant-obag-3). 

• All projects selected by MTC for funding must submit a project application, through MTC’s Fund 

Management System (FMS), including a copy of the approved Resolution of Local Support. 

PDA Minimum Investments 

CTA nomination lists must meet or exceed the minimum threshold established for PDA supportive 

investments. For the North Bay counties of Marin, Napa, Solano, and Sonoma, the overall PDA 

supportive nominations must total 50% or more of the CTA’s total funding request for that county. For 

the remaining counties of Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco, San Mateo, and Santa Clara, 70% or 

more of each CTA’s funding request must consist of PDA supportive projects. 

To be credited towards each county’s PDA minimum investment threshold, a project must be located 

within or connected to a PDA, or be within one mile of a PDA boundary. Projects that are not physically 

located within one mile of a PDA but have a clear and direct connection to PDA implementation, such as 

304

https://completestreets.mtc.ca.gov/
http://www.mtc.ca.gov/obag3
https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/federal-funding/federal-highway-administration-grants/one-bayarea-grant-obag-3
https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/federal-funding/federal-highway-administration-grants/one-bayarea-grant-obag-3


Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 3 
 

 

transit maintenance facility improvements, may also be credited towards the PDA minimum investment 

thresholds. Determinations for such projects will be provided by MTC staff on a case-by-case basis. 

Projects which consist of countywide programs or activities, including funds dedicated to CTA planning 

and programming, are given partial credit towards each county’s minimum investment threshold 

calculations (70% or 50%, in line with each county’s minimum threshold).  

Nomination Targets 

County nomination targets establish the maximum funding request that each CTA may make through 

County & Local Program project nominations. Similar to prior OBAG cycles, these targets are based on 

population, recent housing production and planned growth, and housing affordability. However, the 

OBAG 3 nomination targets do not commit or imply a guaranteed share of funding to any individual 

county or jurisdiction.  

To ensure a sufficient pool of projects for regional selection, MTC is soliciting nominations for 120% of 

the available funding capacity for the County & Local Program. Each CTA’s nomination target is 

calculated as a percent share of this overall nomination total, using the following factors: 

• Population: 50% of the nomination target is based on a county’s share of the regional 

population, using 2021 population estimates from the California Department of Finance. 

• Housing Production: 30% of the nomination target is based on a county’s share of regional 

housing production during the current and previous Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) 

cycles (2007 to 2019), using building permit data compiled by the Association of Bay Area 

Governments (ABAG). 

• Planned Growth: 20% of the nomination target is based on a county’s share of regional housing 

allocations through the 2023-31 RHNA cycle. 

• Housing Affordability: For housing production and RHNA factors, 60% of each factor is 

calculated based on the production or planned growth in affordable housing alone, while the 

remaining 40% considers all housing types. Affordable housing is defined as housing for very 

low-, low-, or moderate-income households, categories established by the California Department 

of Housing and Community Development (HCD) based on housing cost as a proportion of local 

area median income (AMI). For the purposes of calculating nomination targets, county-specific 

AMI values are used. 

• Planning and Implementation Balance: Nomination targets may be further adjusted to ensure 

that no county receives a nomination target below the base planning amount programmed for 

that county. No such adjustments were necessary in developing the proposed nomination 

targets for OBAG 3.  

The resulting nomination targets are detailed in the table below by county. CTAs may only nominate 

County & Local Program projects up to the target amounts listed below. 

County CTA 
Nomination 

Share 

Nomination 

Target 

Alameda Alameda County Transportation Commission 20.3% $82,827,000 

Contra Costa Contra Costa Transportation Authority 13.9% $56,775,000 

305



Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 4 
 

 

Marin Transportation Authority of Marin 2.8% $11,544,000 

Napa Napa Valley Transportation Authority 1.5% $6,143,000 

San Francisco San Francisco County Transportation Authority 15.2% $62,138,000 

San Mateo 
City/County Association of Governments of San 

Mateo County 
9.1% $37,054,000 

Santa Clara Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority 26.8% $109,385,000 

Solano Solano Transportation Authority 4.7% $19,159,000 

Sonoma Sonoma County Transportation Authority 5.6% $22,975,000 

CTA Nomination Totals (120% available funds) $408,000,000 

Funds Available (County & Local Program) $340,000,000 

 

In addition, CTAs are encouraged (but not required) to submit project nomination lists that align with the  

following regionwide County & Local Program funding targets and constraints: 

• Active Transportation Investment Target: OBAG 3 establishes a regionwide target of $200 

million for active transportation projects, including bicycle, pedestrian, and Safe Routes to School 

(SRTS) programs and projects. Bicycle and pedestrian elements included on projects that are not 

solely focused on active transportation (such as sidewalk or bike lane improvements included in 

a local road preservation project) also contribute to this regionwide investment target.  

• SRTS Investment Target: OBAG 3 carries forward ongoing commitments to SRTS 

programming, by establishing a $25 million regionwide target for SRTS programs and projects. 

Qualifying projects also contribute to the broader active transportation investment target 

described above. 

• Fund Source Eligibility: Fund source targets for the County & Local Program are proportional 

to the overall composition of OBAG 3 funding, estimated to be 60% Surface Transportation Block 

Grant Program (STP) funds and 40% CMAQ funds. As CMAQ is the more restrictive fund source, 

in effect this constraint requires that at least 40%, or $150 million, of County & Local Program 

funds be allocated to CMAQ-eligible projects. 

Outreach Requirements 

MTC partners with CTAs to conduct public engagement and local agency outreach for the County & 

Local Program call for projects, consistent with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act and associated federal 

requirements. The existing relationships CTAs have with local jurisdictions, elected officials, transit 

agencies, federally-recognized Tribal governments, community organizations and stakeholders, and 

members of the public within their respective counties make them well suited to assist MTC in this role.  

CTAs should develop outreach plans consistent with this section, and each CTA must have their plan 

approved by MTC staff prior to initiating the call for projects activities in their respective county. In 

addition, CTAs are required to submit documentation to MTC demonstrating compliance with this 

section during the project nomination process. A list of acceptable outreach compliance documentation 

can be found below (page 7).  

306



Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 5 
 

 

Public Engagement 

As part of their call for projects process, CTAs are required to conduct countywide outreach and 

engagement with stakeholders and the public to solicit project ideas. CTAs are expected to 

implement their public outreach and engagement efforts in a manner consistent with MTC’s Public 

Participation Plan (MTC Resolution No. 4174), which can be found at http://mtc.ca.gov/about-

mtc/public-participation/public-participation-plan. CTAs should make every effort to follow current 

best practices related to virtual and in-person public participation, outreach, and engagement. 

CTAs should also make meaningful efforts to lower participation barriers for hard-to-reach 

populations, Limited English Proficient (LEP) speakers, people with disabilities, and those who are 

historically challenged from weighing in on public decision making processes. 

 

At a minimum, MTC and CTAs are required to: 

• Execute effective and meaningful local outreach and engagement efforts during the call for 

projects by working closely with local jurisdictions, elected officials, transit agencies, 

community-based organizations, other relevant stakeholders, and the public through the 

project solicitation process; 

• Explain the local call for projects process, informing stakeholders and the public about 

methods for public engagement; relevant key milestones; the timing and opportunities for 

public comments on project ideas, including all standing public meetings and any County & 

Local Program call for projects-specific events and/or meetings; and when decisions are to 

be made on the list of projects to be submitted to MTC; 

• Hold public meetings and/or workshops at times that are conducive to public participation 

to solicit public input on project ideas to submit; 

• When possible, schedule meetings/events at times and locations that prioritize participation 

from Equity Priority Communities and other communities that have historically been 

systematically left out of the decision-making process; 

• Post notices of public meetings and hearing(s) on their agency website; include information 

on how to request language assistance for individuals with limited English proficiency, as 

well as reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities. If agency protocol has not 

been established, please refer to MTC’s Plan for Assisting Limited English Proficient 

Populations at mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/public-participation/get-language-assistance or the 

Americans with Disabilities Act; 

• Offer language assistance1 and accommodations for people with disabilities on all collateral 

materials and meeting notices. Establish a reasonable amount of time to request assistance 

in advance and include this information in materials and meeting notices; 

• Hold in-person public meetings, when health protocols allow for in-person meetings to be 

safely held, in central locations that are accessible via multiple transportation modes, 

 

 
1 The Regional Housing Technical Assistance program has developed a useful reference document that 

outlines best practices for offering language translation services: 

https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/Best_Practices_Multilingual_Engagement_10-

2021.pdf. 

307

http://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/public-participation/public-participation-plan
http://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/public-participation/public-participation-plan
http://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/public-participation/get-language-assistance
https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/Best_Practices_Multilingual_Engagement_10-2021.pdf
https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/Best_Practices_Multilingual_Engagement_10-2021.pdf


Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 6 
 

 

especially public transit, and ensure all locations are accessible to persons with disabilities; 

and 

• Respond to written public comments, and whenever possible, post all written comments to 

the agency’s website and summarize how public feedback impacted the decision-making 

process. 

CTAs with recent public engagement efforts relevant to the County & Local Program call for projects are 

encouraged to incorporate the results of these efforts into their project prioritization process, provided 

that such efforts are: 

• Completed recently or concurrently (up to 12 month prior to the County & Local Program call for 

projects, with older but relevant outreach considered by MTC staff on a case-by-case basis); 

• Sufficiently comprehensive to determine public support and priorities for transportation project 

types eligible for funding under OBAG 3 (for example, development of a Countywide 

Transportation Plan or Countywide Capital Improvement Program); 

• Conducted in an accessible, equitable manner consistent with federal Title VI nondiscrimination 

requirements; and 

• Supplemental to other, dedicated opportunities for public input on OBAG 3 County & Local 

Program funding specifically that meet the minimum outreach requirements detailed in the 

paragraph above. 

Agency Coordination 

CTAs are expected to work closely with regional stakeholders during the call for project process, 

including MTC, Caltrans, and potential project sponsors. At a minimum, MTC and CTAs are required to 

communicate the call for projects and solicit applications from all local jurisdictions, transit agencies, and 

federally recognized Tribal governments within their county boundaries. For counties with federally 

recognized Tribal governments within their jurisdictions, MTC and CTAs are required to offer 

opportunities for government-to-government consultation to the Tribes.  

Title VI Responsibilities 

Call for projects processes must be consistent with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, and the associated 

Executive Order on Environmental Justice (EO 12898), which together prohibit discrimination in federally-

assisted programs on the basis of race, ethnicity, or income. Public outreach to, and involvement of, 

individuals in low income and communities of color covered under Title VI is critical to both local and 

regional decisions. MTC and CTAs are required to ensure that underserved communities are provided 

opportunities for access and input to the project submittal process. This may include, but is not limited 

to, the following: 

• Assisting community-based organizations, Equity Priority Communities, and any other 

underserved community interested in having projects submitted for funding; and 

• Removing barriers for persons with limited-English proficiency and other communities that have 

historically been systematically left out of the decision-making process to have access to the 

project submittal process. 

Resources and Documentation 

CTAs may refer to MTC’s Public Participation Plan for further guidance on Title VI outreach strategies, 

found at http://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/public-participation/public-participation-plan. Additional 

308

http://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/public-participation/public-participation-plan


Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 7 
 

 

resources related to Title VI, civil rights compliance, and virtual participation are available from these 

agencies: 

• FHWA at http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/civilrights/programs/tvi.htm; 

• Caltrans at http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/DBE_CRLC.html#TitleVI; 

• MTC at http://www.mtc.ca.gov/get_involved/rights/index.htm; and 

• ABAG webinar: “Engage How To! Introduction to Remote Meeting Tools” at 

https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/housing/regional-housing-technical-assistance/training  

Additionally, CTAs are encouraged to use the following resources to source MTC pre-approved 

consultant services for their outreach efforts: 

• Equity Consultant Bench: for general support with outreach activities, available at 

https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-

07/Equity_Bench_Consultant_Catalog_2021.pdf; and 

• Translation and Interpreter Services Consultant Bench: for translation, interpretation, and 

American Sign Language (ASL) services to ensure meaningful access by Limited English 

Proficiency (LEP) populations (as required under Title VI) and provide accessibility 

accommodations (as required by the Americans with Disabilities Act), available at 

http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5b527bad-4840-4614-8ce8-72d94770e4e6.pdf.  

Both consultant benches include consultant firms pre-qualified by MTC through Request for 

Qualifications (RFQ) processes which included “Cooperative Use” language, allowing other agencies to 

use MTC’s processes to satisfy their own contracting and procurement guidelines. 

To demonstrate compliance with outreach requirements, CTAs are required to submit the following 

documentation to MTC staff by September 30, 2022: 

• A copy of the CTA’s public outreach and engagement plan, developed in coordination with MTC;  

• Copies or text of public notice(s) of opportunities for members of the public to provide input on 

County & Local Program criteria and/or project nominations, which must include information on 

how to request language assistance and accessibility accommodations; 

• A list of CBOs or other organizations representing potentially impacted groups that the CTA 

contacted for input on the County & Local Program; 

• Dates, times, and locations of public meetings, hearings, and/or workshops where opportunity 

for public input on the County & Local Program was afforded; 

• A summary of public input received during the call for projects process, and how such feedback, 

and the results of any relevant prior outreach, was used in the CTA evaluation and decision-

making process; 

• A description of correspondence and/or meetings with all applicable local jurisdictions, transit 

agencies, and federally-recognized tribal governments informing each of the call for projects 

opportunity; and 

• If information from prior or concurrent outreach efforts was incorporated into the CTA’s call for 

projects process, a narrative description of these efforts, how the results informed project 

prioritization, and how the CTA met the minimum public involvement requirements for the 

OBAG 3 call for projects described above. 

 

309

http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/civilrights/programs/tvi.htm
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/DBE_CRLC.html#TitleVI
http://www.mtc.ca.gov/get_involved/rights/index.htm
https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/housing/regional-housing-technical-assistance/training
https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07/Equity_Bench_Consultant_Catalog_2021.pdf
https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07/Equity_Bench_Consultant_Catalog_2021.pdf
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5b527bad-4840-4614-8ce8-72d94770e4e6.pdf


Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 8 
 

 

County Screening and Evaluation 

CTAs, in coordination with MTC, will solicit and collect project applications, screening applicants and 

projects for program eligibility, and initial scoring and/or ranking of projects. CTAs will develop individual 

application materials, deadlines, and processes for their county’s call for projects, consistent with these 

overall program guidelines and subject to approval by MTC staff. At minimum, CTAs must incorporate 

the following regional criteria into their project evaluations. 

• Eligibility: CTAs should screen potential sponsors and applications for eligibility with federal and 

regional requirements. Projects must be: 

o Eligible for STP or CMAQ funds, as detailed in 23 USC Sec. 133 and at 

https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/fastact/factsheets/stbgfs.cfm (STP), and in 23 USC Sec. 149 

and at http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/air_quality/ cmaq/policy_and_guidance/ 

(CMAQ); 

o Consistent with Plan Bay Area 2050, available at https://www.planbayarea.org/; and 

o Meet all OBAG 3 programming policy requirements described in these guidelines and in 

MTC Resolution 4505. 

• Alignment: CTAs should evaluate projects for alignment with relevant federal and regional plans 

and policies. Additional weight should be given to projects that:  

o Are located in PDAs or Transit-Rich Areas (TRAs), identified in locally-adopted plans (e.g. 

Specific Plans) for PDAs, or support preservation of Priority Production Areas (PPAs), as 

defined in Chapter 1 of Plan Bay Area 2050 and available for viewing or download at 

https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/MTC::plan-bay-area-2050-growth-

geographies/about; 

o Invest in historically underserved communities, which may include projects prioritized in 

a Community-Based Transportation Planning (CBTP) or Participatory Budgeting process, 

or projects located within Equity Priority Communities with demonstrated community 

support. Equity Priority Communities are defined in Chapter 1 Plan Bay Area 2050 and 

described at https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/access-equity-mobility/equity-

priority-communities; 

o Are located in jurisdictions with affordable housing protection, preservation, and 

production strategies, including an emphasis on community stabilization and anti-

displacement policies with demonstrated effectiveness; 

o Implement multiple Plan Bay Area 2050 strategies, described throughout the Plan (in 

particular, Chapters 2-5), or implementation actions (Chapter 7);  

o Advance Federal Performance Management Goals for safety, asset management, 

environmental sustainability and system performance, as detailed in 23 USC Sec. 105(b) 

and at https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/tpm/about/goals.cfm;  

o Demonstrate consistency with one or more of the following regional plans and policies: 

▪ Regional Safety/Vision Zero Policy (MTC Resolution No. 4400): 

https://mtc.ca.gov/tools-resources/digital-library/10a-20-0788-resono-4400-

regional-safety-vz-policypdf 

▪ Equity Platform: https://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/what-mtc/equity-platform  

310

https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/fastact/factsheets/stbgfs.cfm
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/air_quality/cmaq/policy_and_guidance/
https://www.planbayarea.org/
https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/MTC::plan-bay-area-2050-growth-geographies/about
https://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/MTC::plan-bay-area-2050-growth-geographies/about
https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/access-equity-mobility/equity-priority-communities
https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/transportation/access-equity-mobility/equity-priority-communities
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/tpm/about/goals.cfm
https://mtc.ca.gov/tools-resources/digital-library/10a-20-0788-resono-4400-regional-safety-vz-policypdf
https://mtc.ca.gov/tools-resources/digital-library/10a-20-0788-resono-4400-regional-safety-vz-policypdf
https://mtc.ca.gov/about-mtc/what-mtc/equity-platform


Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 9 
 

 

▪ Regional Active Transportation Plan (in development): 

https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/investment-strategies-commitments/climate-

protection/regional-active-transportation-plan 

▪ Transit Oriented Communities Policy (update pending): 

https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/land-use/transit-oriented-development-tod-policy  

▪ Blue Ribbon Transit Transformation Action Plan: 

https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-

09/Transit_Action_Plan_1.pdf 

• Community Support: CTAs must prioritize project applications with demonstrated public 

support from communities disproportionately impacted by past discriminatory practices, 

including redlining, racial covenants, urban renewal, and highway construction that divided low-

income and communities of color. Community support may be determined through a variety of 

means, including (but not limited to): 

o Responses to public outreach, including comments received at public meetings or 

hearings, feedback from community workshops, survey responses, etc.; and 

o Endorsement by a Community-Based Organization (CBO) representing historically and 

potentially impacted populations. 

• Deliverability: CTAs must evaluate applicants and projects for potential deliverability issues, 

deprioritizing or excluding projects as needed based on risk. CTAs should ensure that project 

sponsors have sufficient agency capacity and technical expertise to complete projects in 

accordance with MTC’s Regional Project Delivery Policy (available at 

https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/federal-funding/project-delivery) and meet OBAG 3 deadlines. 

Project sponsors must be able to obligate OBAG 3 funds no later than January 31, 2027. 

CTA project evaluation criteria must be approved by both MTC staff and the CTA’s governing board 

prior to initiating the call for projects activities in their respective county. CTAs may develop separate 

evaluation frameworks by project type, but each such framework must meet the requirements of this 

section.  

Project Nominations 

After completing initial project screening and evaluations, CTAs will submit project nominations and 

associated documentation to MTC for regional evaluation and project selection. Nomination lists must 

be approved by the CTA’s governing board prior to submission to MTC. CTA project nomination packets 

are due to MTC by September 30, 2022, and must include the following elements: 

• Nomination List: list(s) of eligible candidate projects for the OBAG 3 County & Local Program, 

ranked or scored according to the evaluation criteria developed by the CTA and approved by 

MTC staff. Nomination lists must comply with all OBAG 3 programming policies, including 

sponsor and project requirements, PDA minimum investments, and CTA nomination targets.  

• Board Approval: signed resolution documenting CTA governing board action approving the 

County & Local Program project nomination list. 

• Outreach Documentation: materials verifying CTA compliance with outreach requirements as 

described above. 

311

https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/investment-strategies-commitments/climate-protection/regional-active-transportation-plan
https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/investment-strategies-commitments/climate-protection/regional-active-transportation-plan
https://mtc.ca.gov/planning/land-use/transit-oriented-development-tod-policy
https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-09/Transit_Action_Plan_1.pdf
https://mtc.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-09/Transit_Action_Plan_1.pdf
https://mtc.ca.gov/funding/federal-funding/project-delivery


Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 10 
 

 

• Compliance Checklists: completed checklists and supporting documentation affirming 

compliance with County & Local Program programming policies for both the CTA and each 

sponsor with a project on the nomination list. Checklists should be completed by the CTA, and 

must be signed by a signatory authority for the concerned agency. CTA and sponsor checklists 

are provided through the OBAG 3 webpage (available at www.mtc.ca.gov/obag3) under “Partner 

Agency Resources.” 

Regional Project Evaluation 

Using the nomination packets provided by the CTAs, MTC staff will form a review committee composed 

of multidisciplinary group of staff members to complete a regional project evaluation process and 

develop a recommended subset of projects for adoption by the Commission. This process will consist of 

the following steps: 

• Eligibility Review: MTC staff will review submitted documentation and ensure CTA, sponsor, 

and project compliance with applicable federal and regional policies. Any issues identified will be 

communicated to CTA staff, and projects with unresolved issues will be excluded from further 

consideration. 

• Regional Criteria: members of the review committee will score projects using the following 

rubric: 

o CTA Prioritization (75 points): relative CTA project rank or score, scaled to a range of 0-75 

and normalized across CTAs. 

o Regional Impact (15 points): project alignment with Plan Bay Area 2050 strategies, 

anticipated effectiveness in advancing regional objectives, and contribution to regionally 

significant networks or facilities. 

o Deliverability (10 points): sponsor capacity to deliver the specified project, including 

consideration of prior performance on MTC-funded projects, and any anticipated risk to 

the project development schedule or funding plan. 

o Air Quality Improvement (10 points): for CMAQ-eligible projects relative cost-

effectiveness of projects in reducing emissions for criteria air pollutants for the San 

Francisco Bay Area Air Basin and additional consideration for PM2.5 reducing projects. 

• Project Ranking Process: candidate projects will be ranked according to their average review 

committee score. To ensure that high performing air quality improvement projects are prioritized 

for CMAQ funding, MTC staff will first develop a recommended list of eligible projects for CMAQ 

funding using the comprehensive rubric rankings (all eligible projects scored with a maximum 

possible score of 110 points and ranked from highest to lowest score). All remaining projects, 

including CMAQ-eligible projects not recommended for funding using this first method, will then 

be ranked with the air quality improvement portion of the rubric score excluded (all remaining 

projects scored with a maximum possible score of 100 points and ranked from highest to lowest 

score). The latter rankings will be used by MTC staff to develop a recommended list of projects 

for STP funding. 

• Program Balancing: candidate projects will be initially prioritized according to their ranking as 

described above. However, to achieve programmatic investment thresholds, and ensure a 

balanced program of projects, MTC staff may adjust project prioritization based on the following 

factors: 

312



Attachment A, Appendix A-1 

MTC Resolution No. 4505 

 

 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

OBAG 3 Project Selection and Programming Policies Page 11 
 

 

o County PDA investment targets; 

o Regionwide investment targets, including Active Transportation and SRTS investments; 

o Relative STP and CMAQ availability; and 

o Overall program balancing for a variety of project types, equitable investments, and 

geographic spread. 

Using this process, MTC staff will develop a draft program of recommended projects for Commission 

adoption. MTC staff will coordinate with CTA staff to provide comments and feedback on the draft 

program of projects, and may refine the recommended program of projects accordingly.  

Program Approval 

The Commission will consider the recommended OBAG 3 County & Local Program projects in January 

2023. Projects approved by the Commission for funding will be eligible for programming into the TIP 

starting in February 2023. Approved County & Local Program projects and any subsequent revisions by 

the Commission will be detailed in Attachment B-2. 

Projects nominated by CTAs but not selected for funding by the Commission will automatically be 

considered for future eligible funding opportunities through the OBAG 3 Regional Program, or as 

additional programming capacity becomes available for the County & Local Program. 

313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



                                                                       
                                                 
 

 
RESOLUTION No. 22-23  

 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

ADOPTING THE ONE BAY AREA GRANT (OBAG) CYCLE 3 PROGRAM UNDER 
INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT AND JOBS ACT (IIJA) SURFACE 
TRANSPORTATION ROAD MAINTENANCE FUNDING PROGRAM 

FOR THE NAPA COMMUNITIES 
 

 
WHEREAS, Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), signed into law by 

President Biden on November 15, 2021 continues the Surface Transportation Program 
(23 U.S.C. § 133), and the Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program 
(CMAQ) (23 U.S.C. § 149); and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to IIJA, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, eligible 

project sponsors wishing to receive Surface Transportation Program (STP), and 
Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) Improvement Program grants for a project 
shall submit an application first with the appropriate metropolitan transportation planning 
organization (MPO), for review and inclusion in the MPO's Transportation Improvement 
Program (TIP); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) is the MPO for 
the San Francisco Bay region; and 
 

WHEREAS, MTC has requested projects for the One Bay Area Grant 3 Program 
to be funded with IIJA monies, requiring NVTA to recommend programming to MTC for 
consideration; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Napa, City of St. Helena, City of American Canyon, and 
the Napa Valley Transportation Authority wish to submit an application to MTC for funds 
from the One Bay Area Grant 3 Program for the following projects: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

July 20, 2022 

373



 
Resolution No. 22-23  

Page 2 of 3 
 
 

OBAG 3 Projects  

Sponsor Project Funding 

  
Funding Request 

OBAG 3 Other Funds Project Total 
American 
Canyon  Green Island Rd. Class 1  $1,000,000 $500,000 $1,500,000 

City of Napa 
Silverado Five-way 
Intersection Improvement $2,000,000 $9,991,000 $11,991,000 

St. Helena  
Main Street Pedestrian 
Improvements  $1,206,000 $909,250 $2,115,250 

NVTA 

SR 29 American Canyon 
Operational and Multimodal 
Improvements 
Environmental Document   $1,937,000 $2,063,000 $4,000,0000 

TOTAL  $6,143,000  $19,606,250 
 
 

WHEREAS, the  City of American Canyon, City of Napa, City of St. Helena, and 
the Napa Valley Transportation Authority are ready and able to meet all of the federal, 
state and regional requirements for accessing and using these funds. 

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Napa Valley Transportation 
Authority that the City of American Canyon, City of Napa, City of St. Helena and the Napa 
Valley Transportation Authority authorized to execute and file an application for funding 
under the One Bay Area Grant 3 Program in the amounts and for the projects shown 
above; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a copy of this resolution will be transmitted to 
the MTC; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the MTC is requested to support the application 
for the project described in the resolution and to program the project, if approved, in 
MTC's TIP. 
 
 
Passed the 20th day of July, 2022. 
 
 
______________________ 
Liz Alessio, NVTA Chair       Ayes 
 
 
 
 
 

374



Resolution No. 22-23 
Page 3 of 3 

Nays: 

Absent: 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________ 
Osman, NVTA Legal Counsel 

375



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Amendment #1 to Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. Jones & Sons, Inc. for 
construction of the Imola Park and Ride Project 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive 
Director, or designee to execute and make minor modifications to Amendment #1 
Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. Jones & Sons, Inc. for additional funds not 
to exceed $55,000 to complete construction of the Imola Express Bus Improvements 
Project.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The NVTA Board awarded Kimley-Horn Associates (KHA) a work order for the design of 
the improvements at SR 29 and Imola Avenue Park & Ride on March 20, 2019. The NVTA 
Board awarded OC Jones and Sons a contract for the construction of the Imola Park & 
Ride bus improvements on August 18, 2021 for an amount not to exceed $2,549,007.  

The project’s contingency will soon be exhausted and an additional $55,000 is being 
requested to complete safety improvements and miscellaneous punch list items 
. 
FISCAL IMPACT 

Is there a Fiscal Impact? Yes.  The additional funding request is $55,000. There is 
roughly $22,000 remaining in the budget, and combined, will cover the cost of the safety 
and punch list items. 

376



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Alberto Esqueda, Senior Program Planner 

(707) 259-5976 / Email: aesqueda@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Amendment #1 to Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. Jones 
& Sons, Inc. for construction of the Imola Park and Ride Project.  

 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive 
Director, or designee to execute and make minor modifications to Amendment #1 
Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. Jones & Sons, Inc. for additional funds not 
to exceed $55,000 to complete construction of the Imola Express Bus Improvements 
Project.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Construction began on the Imola Park & Ride Project on January 10, 2022 and the project 
is nearly completed.  Approved change orders have exhausted the project’s contingency.  
Staff is requesting the Board amend the O.C. Jones and Sons contract to include an 
additional $55,000 to complete the construction.  
 
This budget augmentation is primarily related to anticipated safety improvements. As the 
project nears completion and punch list items are being completed, the project team will 
be meeting with Caltrans’ staff and it is anticipated pedestrian safety enhancements at 
the bus stops on the highway ramps may be required.  The project team is proposing 
protective bollards; however, Caltrans may request a more expensive safety feature such 
as guardrails.  These safety measures were not included in the initial design because the 
project design team anticipated that approaching automobiles would be operating at 

377

mailto:aesqueda@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority   Agenda Item 8.3 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________  

slower speeds and that the bus stops were adequately protected by curbs.  The 
construction manager has recommended that we prepare for Caltrans engineers to 
require additional safety measures. The cost for a guardrail for each on/off ramp is 
estimated to be between $25,000- $30,000.  

In addition to the safety improvements, there are other minor work items that would be 
funded with the additional revenues. These items are expected to cost less than $15,000, 
and include:   

• Temporary battery-operated Irrigation controller
• Additional pedestrian railing
• Way finding signage
• Installation of bus shelters

Table 1 provides a breakdown of the Change Orders to date and reflects a project budget 
balance of $21,504.86  

Table 1. Existing Change Orders 
Change 
Order# Description  Total Cost Notes 

1 Public Convenience $50,000.00 
CMS board rentals; added 
traffic control signs 

2 
Additional Tree Removal on NB 
Off-ramp $1,500.00 Unit price install 

3 
NB Off-ramp Structural Section 
Over Ex & French Drain $30,000.00 

Investigation for LS pricing 
replacement 

4 Electrical Modifications $27,356.75 
Existing facility 
issues/conflicts 

5 
Roadway Excavation Bid Item 
Overrun $23,400.00 Quantity Overrun 

6 Park-n-Ride EV Station Addition $143,455.56 
Conduit systems &  charge 
station foundations 

7 
Irrigation Bore for Park-n-Ride 
Water Source $24,482.43 

Revised source, CT meter 
conversion 

8 Park-n-Ride Soft Spot Digouts $25,000.00 
Areas of parking lot pumping 
& yielding 

9 
Hot Mix Asphalt Bid Item 
Overrun $29,109.00 Item overrun 

10 
Irrigation Modifications related 
to New Water Source $10,000.00 

change to CT existing 
service vs. per plan (new) 
location 

378



Napa Valley Transportation Authority   Agenda Item 8.3 
July 20, 2022 
Page 3 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________  

Table 1 - Continued 

11 
Imola Bike Lane Striping 
Change $13,500.00 

adding bike lane for EB 
Imola Ave; crosswalk 
upgrade (-$1,740) 

Change Order TOTAL    $377,803.74 

Original Contingency      $374,308.60 
Remaining Contingency  $(3,495.14) 
Estimated Item Balancing 
(anticipated credits)  $25,000.00 
Estimated Funding Balance   $21,504.86 

ALTERNATIVES 

The board could decide not to approve the additional funds and the Vine may not be able 
to provide bus service to the park & ride until a negotiated safety solution is identified.   

STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 

Goal 1: Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, income 
or ability.  

The project will greatly improve express bus operations and therefore enhance 
transportation for all members of the community. 

ATTACHMENT(S) 

None   

379



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.4 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER ERRATA MEMO  
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 
 
Imola Park and Ride Electrification 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive 
Director, or designee to enter into an agreement and make minor modifications as 
necessary with an electrical contractor(s), to be determined, and Pacific Gas and Electric 
(PG&E) for electrification of the Imola Park & Ride in amount not to exceed $192,965.59 
which will include electrical infrastructure to bring adequate power to the site, purchase 
and installation of electric vehicle charging stations. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The NVTA Board awarded Kimley-Horn Associates (KHA) a work order for the design of 
the improvements at SR 29 and Imola Avenue Park & Ride on March 20, 2019. The 
design team made assumptions in the initial design that there was sufficient power for the 
planned 6 electric vehicle charging stations and infrastructure for 34 future electric vehicle 
charging stations.  During construction, it was determined that the power to the site was 
deficient to fuel the proposed stations.  On April 20, 2022, NVTA approved Amendment 
#3 to the KHA contract to include design to upgrade the power source at the Imola Park 
and Ride.  The engineer’s estimate to upgrade the power source, to procure and install 
the 6 electric vehicle charging stations is $192,965.59 including a 18% contingency.   
 
NVTA received a Transportation For Clean Air (TFCA) grant from the Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District in the amount of $20,000 which will offset the cost of the 6 electric 
vehicle chargers.    
 
ERRATA 
 
The following corrections are being made to the staff report: 
 
 
 
 



Napa Valley Transportation Authority              Agenda Item 8.4 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
NVTA staff had previously estimated the cost to install six electric vehicle charging 
stations at $66,000 based on previous electric vehicle charging station contracts; 
however, NVTA staff received an updated cost estimate from ChargePoint on July 18, 
2022 quoting a cost of $88, 965.59. NVTA staff was able to secure the quoted price until 
the end of July 2022, at which point prices will increase by 18% according to ChargePoint 
representatives. 
 
 
Item Description Category Amount 
PG&E Engineering Design Design $2,500 
600 AMP, Distribution Board  Materials $13,000 
6 ChargePoint 4000CT EVCS Materials $88,965.59 
PG&E Infrastructure Upgrade Construction $28,500 
Distribution Board Installation Construction $14,000 
Construction Management and 
Design 

Construction 
Management $20,000 

Sub Total  $146,965.59 
Contingency   $26,000 
Total   $192,965.59 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Is there a Fiscal Impact? Yes.  The cost of the changes is estimated to be $192,965.59.  
A $20,000 TFCA grant will offset the impact to the agency’s Transportation Development 
Act Funds. 
 



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.4 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Imola Park and Ride Electrification 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive 
Director, or designee to enter into an agreement and make minor modifications as 
necessary with an electrical contractor(s), to be determined, and Pacific Gas and Electric 
(PG&E) for electrification of the Imola Park & Ride in amount not to exceed $170,000 
which will include electrical infrastructure to bring adequate power to the site, purchase 
and installation of electric vehicle charging stations. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The NVTA Board awarded Kimley-Horn Associates (KHA) a work order for the design of 
the improvements at SR 29 and Imola Avenue Park & Ride on March 20, 2019. The 
design team made assumptions in the initial design that there was sufficient power for the 
planned 6 electric vehicle charging stations and infrastructure for 34 future electric vehicle 
charging stations.  During construction, it was determined that the power to the site was 
deficient to fuel the proposed stations.  On April 20, 2022, NVTA approved Amendment 
#3 to the KHA contract to include design to upgrade the power source at the Imola Park 
and Ride.  The engineer’s estimate to upgrade the power source, to procure and install 
the 6 electric vehicle charging stations is $170,000 including a 20% contingency.   

NVTA received a Transportation For Clean Air (TFCA) grant from the Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District in the amount of $20,000 which will offset the cost of the 6 electric 
vehicle chargers.    

FISCAL IMPACT 

Is there a Fiscal Impact? Yes.  The cost of the changes is estimated to be $170,000.  A 
$20,000 TFCA grant will offset the impact to the agency’s Transportation Development 
Act Funds. 

380



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.4 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:  NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:   Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Alberto Esqueda, Senior Program Planner 

(707) 259-5976 / Email: aesqueda@nvta.ca.gov

SUBJECT: Imola Park and Ride Electrification 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive 
Director, or designee to enter into an agreement and make minor modifications as 
necessary with an electrical contractor(s), to be determined, and Pacific Gas and Electric 
(PG&E) for electrification of the Imola Park & Ride in amount not to exceed $170,000 
which will include electrical infrastructure to bring adequate power to the site, purchase 
and installation of electric vehicle (EV) charging stations. 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 

None 

BACKGROUND 

The current infrastructure at the Park and Ride will not support EV chargers. The facility 
needs to be upgraded to accommodate the 6 planned EV station and 34 future charging 
stations.  The electrification of the Park and Ride is being considered as a separate project 
from the completion of construction. NVTA is proposing to install six electric vehicle-
charging stations now, which will accommodate 11 vehicles. 

Table 2. Park & Ride Electrification Costs: 
Item Description Category Amount 
PG&E Engineering Design Design $2,500 
600 AMP, Distribution Board Materials 13,000 
6 ChargePoint 4000CT EVCS Materials 66,000 
PG&E Infrastructure Upgrade Construction 28,500 

381

mailto:aesqueda@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority   Agenda Item 8.4 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________  

Distribution Board Installation Construction 14,000 
Construction Management and 
Design 

Construction 
Management $20,000 

Sub Total $124,000 
Contingency $26,000 
Total $170,000 

ALTERNATIVES 

The Board could deny the request and the agency could pursue EV 
charging/electrification in the future. It would result in increased costs and losing the 
TFCA funds.  Not providing EV infrastructure would run counter to the agency’s goal to 
minimize the energy and other resources required to move people and goods. .   

STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 

Goal 5:  Minimize the energy and other resources required to move people and goods. 

Providing EV charging stations encourages that transition to cleaner fuel vehicles.  

ATTACHMENT(S) 

None   

382



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.5 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution 22-22 
endorsing the Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Fare Integration Task Force comprised of public transit leaders around the region 
and convened by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) voted unanimously 
to adopt a pilot program to create transit passes that will work across all 27 transit 
agencies in the Bay Area. 

The pilot program is anticipated to launch in August 2022, starting with up to 50,000 
students at San Francisco State University, San Jose State University, the University of 
California at Berkeley and Santa Rosa Junior College as well as residents of three 
housing developments run by MidPen Housing which are located outside of Napa County. 
The pilot program is intended to understand how targeted subsidized fare strategies might 
encourage new riders and increased ridership to the region’s transit systems.  The task 
force also adopted a plan to provide no-cost/reduced cost transfers between agencies 
commencing in 2023. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None for this action. MTC has identified initial funding for the pilot program and all public 
transit systems are eligible to receive a portion of these funds.   

383



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.5 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:  NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:   Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Antonio Onorato, Director - Administration, Finance and Policy 

(707) 259-8779 / Email: aonorato@nvta.ca.gov

SUBJECT: Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution 22-22 
endorsing the Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program.  

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 

None 

BACKGROUND 

The Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) convened the Transit Integration 
Task Force, a body made up of the region’s public transit executive managers, to identify 
mechanisms that would help make fares among transit operators in the region consistent 
and seamless between systems and to understand how fare subsidies would encourage 
additional ridership.  While the task force predates the work that has come out of the Blue 
Ribbon Task Force, fare integration was central in the Task Force discussions and 
recommendations and is integral for improving coordination between the region’s public 
transit systems.   

The Blue Ribbon Task Force was convened by MTC to address the crisis that occurred 
when the pandemic dramatically altered where people worked and how they traveled to 
work.  This policy window also provided the opportunity to take a harder look into inter-
system coordination as ridership had been declining on many systems for several years 
prior to the pandemic.  MTC published the Blue Ribbon Task Force’s recommendations 
in the Bay Area Transit Transformation Action Plan which outlined 27 specific near-term 
actions; one of which is fare integration. 

The ten largest Bay Area transit agencies unanimously voted to adopt a Fare Policy Vision 
Statement recognizing that the implementation of more coordinated and integrated transit 

384

mailto:aonorato@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority             Agenda Item 8.5 
July 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
fare policies may offer cost-effective options for improving the transit customer experience 
and drawing new riders to the region’s transit systems.  As part of this initiative, the Bay 
Area Transit Fare Coordination & Integration Draft Business Case Study  developed goals 
for a regional fare system that will improve the passenger experience and promote higher 
ridership across the region’s 27 different transit operators. 
 
Work on various objectives has been underway to advance the Transit Fare Policy Vision 
Statement approved by the Fare Integration Task Force in November 2021 including the 
proposed Institutional Transit Pass Pilot Program to be piloted at educational institutions, 
affordable housing properties starting in August 2022, and the implementation of no-cost 
and reduced cost transfers. 
 
The primary objective of this program is to make paying for a transit trip in the Bay Area 
a seamless experience for riders. Although riders can use a single Clipper card to pay for 
fares currently, the complicated way each agency sets up their fares on Clipper make 
riding transit, and transferring between agencies, is confusing and costly for riders. 
 
The first phase of the pilot program is planned to begin in August and would offer up to 
50,000 transit passes to students at San Francisco State University, San Jose State 
University, the University of California at Berkeley, and Santa Rosa Junior College as well 
as residents of three housing developments run by MidPen Housing.  The four schools 
and MidPen Housing were chosen in part because they each offer an existing transit pass 
that reduces fare costs or makes them free for at least one public transit system. 
 
Data will be used to evaluate the creation of a permanent program.  The main objective 
of the pilot is to see if this type of product will encourage greater ridership though a better 
customer service experience while breaking down barriers which currently prevent 
potential riders from using bay area transit options. 
 
The two-year program is expected to cost roughly $6 million, including $4.5 million which 
MTC will use to reimburse transit agencies for fares that are waived by using the pass 
during phase one. The second phase, planned for early next year, would make transit 
passes available at up to 10 employers across the Bay Area, with a focus on employers 
in parts of the region with several transit options. 
 
If the pilot program is successful, a potential permanent regional transit pass could be 
made available when the next generation Clipper Card system launches, tentatively 
scheduled for the second half of 2023. 
 
While NVTA is not likely to have any riders coming from the institutions where riders will 
receive subsidies, NVTA staff strongly supports the region’s efforts to tackle any barriers 
that may exist that prevent a smooth rider transition from system to system, and 
recommends that the NVTA Board show solidarity with the other regional transit operators 
and enthusiastically support the agency’s participation in the program. 
  

385

https://mtc.ca.gov/digital-library/5021066-bay-area-fare-coordination-and-integration-study-draft-business-case-study
https://mtc.ca.gov/digital-library/5021066-bay-area-fare-coordination-and-integration-study-draft-business-case-study


Napa Valley Transportation Authority             Agenda Item 8.5 
July 20, 2022 
Page 3 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
NVTA could opt-out of the program.  However, the institutional pass pilot program is only 
viable if all 27 bay area transit operators consent to the program’s implementation. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 1: Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, income 
or ability.  
 
The objective of the pilot will be to demonstrate the degree to which a product like this 
can promote greater ridership and meet the needs of riders, institutions and agencies.  If 
successful, a roll-out to all Bay Area transit agencies will occur with the Clipper 2 
integration.   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 

(1) Resolution 22-22 
(2) MTC Institutional Pass Pilot and Advancement of the Transit Fare Policy Vision 

Statement Update Powerpoint Presentation 

386



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 8.5  

JULY 20, 2022 
 

RESOLUTION No. 22-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

ENDORSING THE INSTITUTIONAL TRANSIT PASS PILOT PROGRAM 
 

WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is designated the 
countywide transportation planning agency responsible for Highway, Streets and Roads, 
transit planning and programming, public transit, capital development, and project 
delivery within Napa County; and 

 
WHEREAS, the NVTA regularly partners with the Metropolitan Transportation 

Commission (MTC) on various projects and programs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, MTC provides planning, funding, coordination, and technical 

assistance to cities, counties, transit agencies, and other partners to bring the region 
together; and 

 
WHEREAS, MTC is actively considering several key policy and funding decisions 

that affect NVTA, and staff wants to ensure the Board is apprised of these decisions as 
well as other regional efforts; and 

 
WHEREAS,  In November 2021, the Bay Area Fare Integration Task Force (FITF) 

adopted a Policy Vision Statement for fare integration in the 9-county region that focuses 
on delivering the first identified action, an Institutional Transit Pass Pilot Program with a 
focus on educational institutions, affordable housing properties, and employers of various 
sizes; and 

   
WHEREAS, the program is funded with $6 million identified by the MTC 

Commission to advance delivery of the Transit Transformation Action Plan, adopted last 
summer by the Blue Ribbon Transit Recovery Task Force. The Institutional Transit Pass 
Pilot is intended to be revenue neutral (or revenue positive) for transit operators; and 

 
WHEREAS, an actual funding allocation to NVTA will be determined by the MTC 

commission at a later date. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the NVTA Board hereby endorses 
the Institutional Pass Pilot Program. Passed and Adopted the 20th day of July 2022.  
 
 
______________________ 
Liz Alessio, NVTA Chair               Ayes: 
 
 
 
 

387



ATTACHMENT 1 
AGENDA ITEM 8.5  

JULY 20, 2022 
 
 
 
                Nays: 
 
 
    
 
                      Absent: 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Osman Mufti, NVTA Legal Counsel 

388



Clipper® Executive Board Fare Integration Task Force 
April 18, 2022 Agenda Item 4a 

Institutional Pass Pilot and Advancement of the Transit Fare Policy Vision Statement Update 

Subject: 

Update on the funding plan and work underway to advance the Transit Fare Policy Vision 

Statement approved by the Task Force in November 2021. Including the proposed Institutional 

Transit Pass Pilot Program to be piloted at educational institutions, affordable housing properties 

starting in the late summer of 2022, and the implementation of no-cost and reduced cost 

transfers. 

Background: 

Since the Task Force endorsed a Bay Area Transit Fare Policy Vision Statement in November 

2021, BART and MTC staff on the project team have been primarily focused on advancing the 

first two of its most proposed policy initiatives. One is the proposed Institutional Transit Pass 

Pilot Program, which set a goal of “deployment of an all-transit agency institutional/employer 

pass demonstration pilot in 2022, with a focus on educational institutions, affordable housing 

properties, and employers of various sizes, pending available resources/technical 

considerations.” While the other is the “implementation of no-cost and reduced cost transfers.” 

The attached presentation will facilitate a discussion by providing more details about this work, 

its roadmap for advancement, and the funding plan required to support the pilot program launch, 

as well as transfer discount implementation. 

Recommendations: 

Information. 

Attachments: 

• Attachment A: Presentation

_________________________________________ 

Michael Eiseman, Co-Project Manager, BART 

_________________________________________ 

William Bacon, Co-Project Manager, MTC 

ATTACHMENT 2 
AGENDA ITEM 8.5
 JULY 20, 2022

389



Fare Integration Task Force

(C
hr

ist
op

he
r 

C
hu

ng
/ 

Th
e 

Pr
es

s 
D

em
oc

ra
t)

April 18, 2022
1

Agenda Item 4a 390



Reminder of scope and pilot program goals
Overview of institutional participants
Funding proposal
Next steps and necessary transit agency board approvals
Title VI Update

Institutional Pass Pilot

Overview

Delivery of Policy Vision Statement Recommendations

Questions

2

Transfer Policy Change in 2023

391



Objectives: 
Demonstrate that an institutional transit pass covering all operators may increase transit ridership by better 
meeting the needs of users, who may not gain much value from a single agency transit pass. Evaluate program 
performance and collect data that could be used as the basis of a revenue model for permanent program. 

Proposed Participants: 
Phase 1: Public community colleges + universities and affordable housing property managers that are existing 
customers of transit agency institutional passes.
Phase 2: Employers, especially in transit rich locations like downtown San Jose, San Francisco, and Oakland

Financial Considerations: 
Phase 1: Pass offered to educational institutions and affordable housing property managers at no additional cost, 
beyond existing transit agency institutional passes, for pilot period. 
Phase 2: Price per pass during pilot will be negotiated based on size/location of employer

Pilot Budget:
MTC Commission identified $28 million for fare integration activities at an October 2021 Commission Workshop -
$6 million was targeted for the Institutional Pass Pilot, including to offset possible revenue losses at operators. 
Target is for pilot to last two years.3

Institutional Pass Pilot
Reminder on Scope and Goals

392



Institutional Pass Pilot – Status Update

During March, the project team continued discussions with pilot partner institutions 
and secured “statements of interest” to participate in the pilot 

Brought onboard behavioral economist consultant support (The Behaviouralist) to 
assist the project team in designing the research and evaluation approach for each 
pilot participant institution 

Preparing template materials for transit agency boards to consider approving 
participation in the pilot in May/June

Focus currently remains on Phase 1, work on Phase 2 will begin this summer/fall

Monitoring the Governor’s proposed “ 3 months of fare free transit” proposal for 
possible impacts on the pilot schedule

④

①

②

③

4

⑤
393



Institutional Pass Pilot - Phase 1
Overview

Phase 1 
Launch Date: August 2022

Scale: Up to 50,000 participants
Cost to Participants: None during pilot

5

12,000

Estimated # of Passes*

9,000

7,000

5,000

500 - 1,000

*Amounts subject to change based on final discussions with institutions.

Key Considerations

Exploring option of offering the pass 
on a “first come, first served” basis to 
any SRJC student given lower level of 

transit use in Sonoma County

All residents of participating 
affordable housing properties will be 
offered a pass. Exploring including 

additional properties in Alameda and 
Santa Clara Counties

Existing VTA SmartPass offered 
requires students to pick up a physical 
Clipper Card - exploring how best to 
distribute pilot product to students

SFSU student ID serves as Clipper 
Card, working to determine the most 
appropriate pilot population at SFSU 

for research design and administration

UC Berkeley students automatically 
receive a customized Clipper Card 

with their AC Transit EasyPass, 
working 

394



Institutional Pass Pilot
Overall Funding Proposal

Existing business relationships: 
For pre-existing Phase 1 

institution/agency pairs, business 
relationship not impacted by the pilot.

All transit agency pass would be 
layered on top of single agency 

product(s)

$

$

$

$

Funding for Phase 1

Up to $4.5 million over 2 years

Concept Proposal:

Distribute $2.2 million of funding to 
operators up-front based on share of 
regional fare revenue in FY 2018-19 

(minimum of $5,000 to each transit operator)

--------------------------------------
Hold $2.2 million in reserve as a “top 
up” to distribute in year 2 of the pilot

Funding for Phase 2

$1 million over 2 years 
(placeholder)

Proposal:

Amount represents a placeholder 
reserve pending the design of 

Phase 2. While Phase 2 will bring 
in new dollars, given novel 

nature of program some revenue 
uncertainty exists

Staffing Costs: 1.5 FTE - Staff hired at BART (+1) and MTC (+0.5), funded from Transformation Action Plan staffing funds

Other Administrative Costs: $0.5 million - Consulting support, Clipper 
card purchases, communications  

Total = 
$6 million

6

395



Institutional Pass Pilot – Phase 1
Funding Concept Methodology

7

 Estimate based on October 2019 Clipper data from the selected pilot 
participant institutions as well the proposed scale of Phase 1

 Assumes existing financial and business relationships between pilot 
participant institutions continue

 Majority of funding risk is at BART which does not currently offer an “all 
you can use” pass product and provides service in each county with a 
pilot participant institution except for Sonoma County 

 Given shifting ridership patterns due to the pandemic, the project team 
recommends distributing the $4.5 million in funding for Phase 1 in two 
tranches, including a “top up” in Year 2 of the pilot to reduce/eliminate 
any revenue risk to operators from participating in the pilot

Funding for Phase 1

Up to $4.5 million over 2 years

Concept Proposal:

Distribute $2.2 million of funding to 
operators up-front based on share of 
regional fare revenue in FY 2018-19 

(minimum of $5,000 to each transit operator)

--------------------------------------
Hold $2.2 million in reserve as a “top 
up” to distribute in year 2 of the pilot

$3.8 million
Estimated possible foregone fare revenue from Phase 1

396



Institutional Pass Pilot – Phase 1
Allocation Concept

8

Funding for Phase 1

Up to $4.5 million over 2 years

Concept Proposal:

Distribute $2.2 million of funding to 
operators up-front based on share of 
regional fare revenue in FY 2018-19* 

(minimum of $5,000 to each transit operator)

--------------------------------------
Hold $2.2 million in reserve as a “top 
up” to distribute in year 2 of the pilot

*FY 2018-19 Transit Fare Revenues Reported to State Controller's Office (SCO)

Operator
Share of FY 2018-19 

Bay Area Fare Revenue*

Pilot Phase 1 
Allocation 
Concecpt

AC Transit 7.16% $161,039
BART 47.89% $1,077,624
Caltrain 10.19% $229,232
CCCTA 0.34% $7,554
ECCTA 0.19% $5,000
FAST 0.22% $5,000
GGBHTD 3.56% $80,072
LAVTA 0.25% $5,661
Marin Transit 0.35% $7,962
NVTA 0.12% $5,000
Petaluma Transit 0.03% $5,000
SamTrans 1.54% $34,756
Santa Rosa CityBus 0.15% $3,461
SFMTA 19.56% $440,079
SMART 0.41% $9,142
SolTrans 0.33% $7,500
Sonoma County Transit 0.18% $4,029
Union City Transit 0.03% $5,000
Vacaville City Coach 0.04% $5,000
VTA 3.91% $87,883
WestCAT 0.24% $5,331
WETA 2.23% $50,092

$2,241,417

$2,258,583
$4,500,000

Phase 1 - Year 1 Allocation

Phase 1 - Year 2 "Top Up"
Phase 1 - Grand Total

 Amounts are shown as an 
illustration of the concept proposal

 Actual allocation amounts would be 
determined by the MTC Commission 
in a future action 

 “Top up” funds would be allocated 
in Year 2 of the pilot, with Task 
Force review/input, to allow 
capacity to align funding with actual 
revenue impacts based on usage 
and reduce/eliminate any revenue 
risk to operators from participating 
in the pilot

397



Institutional Pass Pilot
Title VI Update
• Reminder: The project is proposed to launch as a ‘pilot’ under Title VI, 

meaning agency boards will approve Title VI analyses after the pilot project is 
underway but before any permanent successor program is launched

 MTC is lead agency for pilot program Title VI process

 Staff met with FTA in March and are working to finalize a Title VI approach for 
the full duration of the pilot

 FTA is currently updating its Title VI Circular, which may allow for more 
flexibility for ‘pilot’ projects starting later this year

9

398



Pilot Project 
Path to August 2022 Launch

Task 2022 (by Month)
1. Finalize Management Structure 
2. Secure statements of interest from participants Institutions 
3. FITF reviews Phase 1 project budget/funding plan April 6th

4. Finalize Title VI plan with FTA and agency civil rights staff April - May
5. Board Approvals May - June
6. Work with institutional partners on site-specific administrative 
requirements & protocols (participant list, card distribution, etc.)

March - July

7. Develop communications/collateral May - June
8. Establish research & evaluation plan May - July
9. Card distribution/launch July - August
10

399



Delivery of Policy Vision Statement 
Recommendations – Next Steps
 Next action in Policy Vision Statement is “no-cost and reduced cost transfers”

“Implement no-cost and reduced cost transfers for transit users transferring 
between different transit agencies beginning in 2023, coinciding with the 

rollout of the Next Generation Clipper® system /Clipper® 2.”

Bay Area Transit Fare Policy Vision Statement
Adopted by Fare Integration Task Force, November 15, 2021

11

Example Trip 1 
Alum Rock, SJ to Redwood City

Fare = $2.50

Local 
Agency #1

3 Zones
Fare = $7.70 - $2.50

Regional
Agency #1

Example Trip 2 
Excelsior District, SF to San Bruno

Fare = $2.50

Local 
Agency #1

Fare = $0

Local 
Agency #2

400



“No-cost / Reduced Cost Transfers”

“Implement no-cost and reduced cost transfers 
for transit users transferring between different 
transit agencies beginning in 2023, coinciding 

with the rollout of the Next Generation 
Clipper® system/Clipper® 2.”

12

Considerations for the Task Force

 Approximately $22 million in funding from BRTRTF 
set aside

 Most cost-effective fare policy action identified in 
the FCIS
 +26,000 new daily transit trips

 Still time to deliver at Clipper 2 launch, but work 
will need to start soon

 Synergies with promoting ridership recovery and 
customer information about Clipper 2

 SB 917 

401



July – Oct. 2022

Develop specific transfer 
policy proposal including 
discount level and fare rules

Circulate policy proposal for 
comments

Oct. – Dec. 2022

Task Force considers 
endorsement of policy 
proposal

Begin Title VI Analysis

Jan. – Feb. 2023

Finalize transfer discount 
amounts for inclusion in 
Clipper 2 system

Draft inter-agency MOU

Early Spring 2023

Finalize inter-agency MOU

MTC Commission approves 
funding allocation from Blue 
Ribbon implementation funds

Spring 2023

Transit agency boards 
approve Title VI and transfer 
policy changes

Summer 2023

Customer education/ 
information campaign about 
new transfer policy and 
Clipper 2

Summer/Fall 2023+

Clipper 2 account-based 
system launch with no-cost 
and reduced cost inter-
agency transfer policy

Begin evaluation work on new 
transfer policy

Steps to Deliver “No-cost / Reduced Cost Transfers”
Conceptual Timeline 

13

402



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Board Agenda Item 8.6 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Federal and State Legislative Update 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board receive the Federal 
Legislative update prepared by K&L Gates and Platinum Advisors and the State 
Legislative update prepared by Platinum Advisors. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The attached memos from Platinum Advisor/K&L Gates and Platinum Advisors 
summarize the federal and state legislative activities respectively.     

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

403



July 20, 2022 
NVTA Board Agenda Item 8.6 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY:  Kate Miller, Executive Director  

(707) 259-8634 / Email: kmiller@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Federal and State Legislative Update 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board receive the Federal 
Legislative update prepared by K&L Gates and Platinum Advisors (Attachment 1) and the 
State Legislative update prepared by Platinum Advisors (Attachment 2) and State Bill 
Matrix (Attachment 3). 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Federal Update:  
The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) released a Notice of Funding Opportunity 
(NOFO) for the competitive Bridge Investment Program established by the President’s 
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), which provides $12.5 billion over five years, with 
nearly $2.4 billion available in FY22 to help plan, replace, rehabilitate, protect, and 
preserve bridges. The large bridge program has been prioritized for certain Bay Area 
bridges by MTC but the set aside for small bridges is available for rehabilitation and 
replacement of bridges on the National Bridge Registry.   
 
State Update: 
Legislators passed a budget by the statutory June 15th deadline (SB 154) but details were 
hashed out between the Governor and legislative leaders behind closed doors with some 
details such as the climate package was left to address after the summer break.  The 
budget includes record breaking reserves of which $23.3 billion will flow to the Rainy Day 
Fund. Based on the approved spending plan, the Governor managed to dodge the Gann 
Limit for the two year period ending June 30, 2022. 
 
There is $9.5 billion in taxpayer rebates.  There is also a business relief program which 
will suspend sales tax on diesel fuels for one year beginning on October 1, 2022.  The 

404

mailto:kmiller@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority  Agenda Item 8.6 
Julye 20, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 

______________________________________________________________________ 

governor’s proposal backfills this with general funds so it will not impact State Transit 
Assistance – revenues that flow to public transit systems for operating and capital. 

There is a $14.8 billion multiyear funding package for transportation including: 
• $100 million for zero emission demonstration programs
• $350 million for high priority grade crossings
• $300 million for Metropolitan Planning Organizations for rail project development
• $4.65 billion for transit capital investments of which $1.83 is earmarked for

southern California regions and the balance distributed around the state.
• $50 million for Transportation infrastructure climate adaptation
• $50 million for the Transportation Infrastructure Climate Adaptation Strategy Grant

Program.
• $148 million for the Local Infrastructure Climate Adaptation Project Program.
• $1.2 billion over two years for freight-related infrastructure at and around the

state’s ports
• $1.2 billion for Active Transportation Program projects.
• $4.2 billion in High-Speed Rail bond funds

There is also a signficant set aside for Climate Adaptation and $676 million for zero 
emission vehicles, including buses. 

ATTACHMENTS 

(1) June 30, 2022 Federal Update (K&L Gates and Platinum Advisors)
(2) June 30, 2022 State Budget Update (Platinum Advisors)
(3) June 30, 2022 State Bill Matrix (Platinum Advisors)

405



ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.6 

July 20, 2022 
 

 

 
   

 

 MEMO 
 

TO: Kate Miller, Executive Director 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) 

FROM: George Riccardo, K&L Gates 
Jess Aune, Platinum Advisors 

DATE: June 30, 2022 

RE: June Monthly Report  

State of Play and Congressional Update 
 
June was a busy month on Capitol Hill with many pressing priorities and limited legislative days 
before Congress returned home for the 4th of July recess, the unofficial start of the campaign 
season. In response to a string of mass shootings throughout the country including a devastating 
school shooting in Uvalde, Texas, the Senate spent most of June negotiating the Bipartisan Safer 
Communities Act. After weeks of negotiations, the Senate passed the bill with 15 Republicans 
joining the entire Democratic Caucus. The House quickly passed the bill and President Biden 
signed it into law on June 25th. The package includes incentives for states to include red flag 
laws, closes the boyfriend loophole, increased background checks for buyers that are under 21 
and reduces illegal gun purchases and trafficking. This legislation falls short of what President 
Biden and many Democrats on Capitol Hill have called for, but it is the first significant gun reform 
legislation that has passed Congress in almost 30 years. 
 
Inflation continues to increase and remains a serious challenge for President Biden and 
Democratic leadership. With limited tools at his disposal, President Biden has called on Congress 
to pass a gas tax holiday. However this plan has been met with resistance on Capitol Hill with 
many expressing that this will do little to help consumers and that it is not wise to take funds away 
from the Highway Trust Fund when the administration is making such significant investments in 
infrastructure. Despite President Biden’s requests, he currently does not have the votes to move 
this plan forward.  
 
Congressional Leadership had hoped to reach an agreement on an anti-China competitiveness 
package that will significantly increase investments in advanced manufacturing, especially the 
production of semiconductors. Recently, Congressional leadership agreed to strip out the climate 
provisions and Secure and Fair Enforcement Act (SAFE Banking Act), which would prohibit 
federal regulators from punishing financial institutions that provide services to cannabis 
companies. House Leadership understands that if this package is to pass it must look very similar 
to the version that passed the Senate with bipartisan support last summer. However the prospects 
for passage decrease each day as Congress inches closer to the midterm elections. Additionally, 
Republican leadership is not interested in granting President Biden a bipartisan victory.   
 
The House and Senate Appropriations Committees also spent much of June working on the FY23 
appropriation bills. However, the “four corners” (i.e. Senate Appropriations Chair Leahy, Ranking 
Member Shelby, House Appropriations Chair DeLauro and Ranking Member Granger) have still 

406



 2  
  
 

not reached an agreement on a top line spending number, which makes it unlikely they will be 
able to come to an agreement on a budget before the September 30th deadline. 
 
On June 23rd, the Supreme Court officially released their opinion on Dobbs v. Jackson Women’s 
Health Organization overturning Roe v. Wade. This opinion had been widely anticipated since the 
draft opinion was leaked in May. On Capitol Hill, the House passed The Women’s Health 
Protection Act which would codify Roe V. Wade, however this legislation does not have the 
support necessary in the Senate to overcome a filibuster. President Biden spoke after the decision 
was released and remains committed to protecting abortion rights, but he is severely limited in 
what he can achieve unilaterally.  
 
Senator Manchin and Leader Schumer also continue to negotiate the details for a potential 
compromise on the $1 trillion reconciliation deal with a goal of attempting to pass this package 
before the August recess. This compromise could include repealing the Trump tax cuts, lowering 
the costs of prescription drugs, and potentially some climate provisions. Democratic leadership is 
also concerned about raising health care costs when the Affordable Care Act (ACA) subsidies 
expire this fall and would like that included in a package as well, but it is unclear if Senator Manchin 
will agree to this.   
 
Pending Legislation of Interest 
 

S.3011 - State, Local, Tribal, and Territorial Fiscal Recovery, Infrastructure, and 
Disaster Relief Flexibility Act 
Sponsor: Senator John Cornyn (R-TX) 
Cosponsors: 11 
Status: Passed Senate 
Summary: This bill allows states, tribes, territories, and localities to use certain COVID-
19 relief funds for new categories of spending, including for natural disasters and 
infrastructure projects. Specifically, recipients may use funds for emergency relief from 
natural disasters and associated negative economic impacts of natural disasters. In 
addition, recipients may use a portion of their COVID-19 relief funds for designated 
infrastructure projects, such as nationally significant freight and highway projects. 
Furthermore, the bill allows recipients to expend COVID-19 relief funds on these types of 
infrastructure projects until September 30, 2026.  
Outlook: The House companion (H.R.5735) has been introduced and is gaining 
cosponsors, though there has not been any movement. 

 
White House Executive Office of the President  
 
This month, President Biden called for Congress to suspend the 18 cent tax per gallon of gasoline 
for three months, while ensuring that a gas tax holiday has no negative effect on the Highway 
Trust Fund, and calling on state and local governments to provide additional consumer relief. The 
proposal has been panned on both sides of the aisle, with key Democratic leaders like House 
Transportation & Infrastructure (T&I) Chair Peter DeFazio calling the idea “short-sighted”, and 
Senate Environment & Public Works (EPW) Chair Tom Carper saying that “suspending the 
primary way that we pay for infrastructure projects on our roads is a short-sighted and inefficient  
way to provide relief.” 
  
 
Also this month, the Administration announced new steps to meet President Biden’s goal to build 
out the first-ever national network of 500,000 electric vehicle chargers along America’s highways 

407

https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/senate-bill/3011?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22State%2C+Local%2C+Tribal%2C+and+Territorial+Fiscal+Recovery%2C+Infrastructure%2C+and+Disaster+Relief+Flexibility+Act%22%2C%22State%2C%22%2C%22Local%2C%22%2C%22Tribal%2C%22%2C%22and%22%2C%22Territorial%22%2C%22Fiscal%22%2C%22Recovery%2C%22%2C%22Infrastructure%2C%22%2C%22Disaster%22%2C%22Relief%22%2C%22Flexibility%22%2C%22Act%22%5D%7D&s=1&r=1
https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/5735?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22State%2C+Local%2C+Tribal%2C+and+Territorial+Fiscal+Recovery%2C+Infrastructure%2C+and+Disaster+Relief+Flexibility+Act%22%2C%22State%2C%22%2C%22Local%2C%22%2C%22Tribal%2C%22%2C%22and%22%2C%22Territorial%22%2C%22Fiscal%22%2C%22Recovery%2C%22%2C%22Infrastructure%2C%22%2C%22Disaster%22%2C%22Relief%22%2C%22Flexibility%22%2C%22Act%22%5D%7D&s=1&r=2
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=1fea120063&e=3e8de9a970


 3  
  
 

and in communities, a key piece of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL). The Department of 
Transportation (DOT), in partnership with the Department of Energy, is proposing new standards 
to make charging electric vehicles (EV) a convenient, reliable, and affordable for all Americans. 
The $7.5 billion for EV charging infrastructure in President Biden’s BIL will build a convenient and 
equitable charging network through two programs. The National Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
program will provide $5 billion in formula funding to States to build out charging infrastructure 
along highway corridors. The BIL also provides $2.5 billion in competitive grants to support 
community and corridor charging, improves local air quality, and increases EV charging access 
in underserved and overburdened communities. DOT will open applications for this program later  
this year. More details can be found here. 
 
The Biden-Harris Administration also announced a National Initiative to Advance Building Codes 
that will help state, local, Tribal, and territorial governments adopt the latest, current building 
codes and standards, enabling communities to be more resilient to hurricanes, flooding, wildfires, 
and other extreme weather events that are intensifying due to climate change. Through this 
initiative, the Administration will: comprehensively review federal funding and financing of building 
construction; harness $225 million in BIL funding for the Department of Energy to support 
implementation of updated building energy codes; provide incentives and support for communities 
to adopt current building codes and standards; and seize opportunities to advance “above-code” 
resilience and energy efficiency standards in new projects. More details can be found here. 
 
The White House and the DOT announced that Retired General Stephen Lyons, former 
Commander of the U.S. Transportation Command, will be the new Port and Supply Chain Envoy 
to the Biden-Harris Administration Supply Chain Disruptions Task Force. Retired General Lyons 
will take over the role from John Porcari. General Lyons will work with the DOT, the White House 
National Economic Council, ports, rail, trucking, and other private companies across our supply 
chains to continue to address bottlenecks, speed up the movement of goods, and help lower costs 
for American families. More details can be found here. 
  
Department of Transportation (DOT) Updates 
 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) 
 
The FHWA is proposing to establish regulations setting minimum standards and requirements for 
projects funded under the National Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (NEVI) Formula Program and 
projects for the construction of publicly accessible electric vehicle chargers under certain statutory 
authorities. The standards and requirements proposed would apply to the installation, operation, 
or maintenance of EV charging infrastructure; the interoperability of EV charging infrastructure; 
traffic control device or on-premises signage acquired, installed, or operated in concert with EV 
charging infrastructure; data, including the format and schedule for the submission of such data; 
network connectivity of EV charging infrastructure; and information on publicly available EV 
charging infrastructure locations, pricing, real-time availability, and accessibility through mapping 
applications. More on this announcement can be found here. 
 
Additionally, FHWA opened a call for applications through a Notice of Funding Opportunity 
(NOFO) for the competitive Bridge Investment Program established by the President’s BIL, which 
includes the single largest dedicated investment in bridges since the construction of the Interstate 
highway system. The program will provide $12.5 billion over five years, with nearly $2.4 billion 
available in FY22 to help plan, replace, rehabilitate, protect, and preserve some of the nation’s 
largest bridges. This competitive grant program comes on top of more than $27 billion in formula 
bridge funding the Department of Transportation announced earlier this year. This investment will 

408

https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=f9ad6539de&e=3e8de9a970
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=5a6f70d1a9&e=3e8de9a970
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=4c059d607b&e=3e8de9a970
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=e06d542ea1&e=3e8de9a970


 4  
  
 

help ensure that some of the nation’s most important bridges remain operational, support local 
economies, strengthen our supply chains, improve safety, and create good-paying jobs across 
the country. More details can be found here. 
 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA)  
 
The FTA has awarded grants totaling approximately $16.2 million to fund 40 projects in 32 states 
and two territories through FTA's Areas of Persistent Poverty (AoPP) program. FTA grants the 
awards on a competitive basis to state and local governments, transit agencies, and nonprofit 
organizations to create better transit for residents who have limited or no transportation options. 
AoPP grants are awarded for planning, engineering, and technical studies or financial plans to 
improve transit in Census-defined low-income areas. FTA received applications totaling close to 
$63 million in funding requests. Projects were selected based on criteria described in the Notice 
of Funding Opportunity. More details can be found here. 
 
The FTA announced awards of approximately $8.4 million to 17 projects in 16 states to improve 
public transportation for underserved groups, with a focus on health and wellness. FTA's 
Innovative Coordinated Access & Mobility Pilot Program, which received millions more in funding 
from the President's BIL, increases access for Americans all over the country, particularly to 
health care appointments, by building partnerships among health, transportation, and other 
service providers. A list of all selected projects is available online. In response to the NOFO, FTA 
received 26 eligible proposals. Projects were selected based on criteria described in the NOFO. 
More details can be found here. 
 
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) 
 
NHTSA has issued a final rule that updates testing requirements for child safety seats to improve 
the protection of children during side-impact crashes. The rule is a major advance in protecting 
children from serious injury in traffic crashes. This final rule amends Federal Motor Vehicle Safety 
Standard No. 213, “Child restraint systems,” by adding side impact performance requirements for 
child safety seats. The current standard requires child seats to meet performance criteria in a test 
simulating a 30-mph frontal impact. The final rule establishes a side impact test that replicates a 
30-mph side collision, commonly known as a T-bone crash. More information about the 
rulemaking process can be found here.  
 
Goodyear is recalling more than 170,000 tires that were produced between 1996 and 2003 and 
sold for use on trucks and recreational vehicles after NHTSA found that these tires experienced 
a high rate of failure on RVs when compared to similar tires. The recall specifically applies to 
G159 tires size 275/70R22.5, commonly found on RVs. While these tires are no longer being 
produced, some RV owners may have the tires on their vehicle, or set aside as a spare, and do 
not know. NHTSA urges anyone who owns, rents, or uses an RV or truck with 22.5-inch rims to 
ensure these tires are not in use on their vehicle. More info can be found here. 
 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
 
To replace the nation’s fleet of school buses with clean, American-made, zero-emission buses, 
the EPA is currently accepting applications from school districts as part of a $500 million funding 
effort under the BIL. This is only the first round of funding from the BIL, where an unprecedented 
$5 billion is being invested over the next five years. EPA will prioritize applications that will replace 
buses serving high-need local education agencies, Tribal Schools, and rural areas, and it supports 
President Biden’s Justice40 initiative. Applications are being accepted until August 19, 2022. 

409

https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=03aff7c1ad&e=3e8de9a970
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=83a287829a&e=3e8de9a970
https://secure-web.cisco.com/1Rw10rw8PfXKBAgvkLfZx3zqIlKcvCk4l2q5lIT996ia_uTS3RX5q4Kxxrap2vHLHwLCjznY7aOns7QvTv76KeIB_5wZcK60UqoXNoDu8vBblOTyLqyHfz1njnOLaBKtNvlntyQ7rJHbMIFcfWXoyH16QEas76TyGw9KrfOJpuruMoQF0T4XWBRt6yy4sKUg-uEQCpyxKX3Lgck8VLC_dy3Oy_GZvs7CcKgnsUe7avhGxPaorDM2UfkSiGJkfDZkt0d392yNkNFAF6bKhWha2EA/https%3A%2F%2Fklgates.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3Dcfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6%26id%3Ddb952d9334%26e%3D3e8de9a970
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=abd58b7728&e=3e8de9a970
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=38564c3f9c&e=3e8de9a970
https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=7ae57adc65&e=3e8de9a970


 5  
  
 

More details can be found here. 
  
Additionally, the EPA announced the 2022 notices of funding availability for the agency’s Water 
Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) program and the State Infrastructure 
Financing Authority WIFIA program. This year’s funding will provide up to $6.5 billion in total 
funding to support $13 billion in water infrastructure projects while creating more than 40,000 
jobs. The notices of funding availability include $5.5 billion for the WIFIA program and an 
additional $1 billion for the SWIFIA program. Letters of interest may be submitted by prospective 
borrowers and received by EPA at any time on or after September 6, 2022. The submission 
period will close when all available funds are committed to prospective borrowers. To date, EPA 
has closed 88 WIFIA loans that are providing over $15 billion in credit assistance to help finance 
nearly $33 billion for water infrastructure while creating nearly 100,000 jobs and saving  
ratepayers over $5 billion. More details can be found here. 
 
 
 
 

410

https://klgates.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=cfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6&id=c0fcea778b&e=3e8de9a970
https://secure-web.cisco.com/11MxEqXDx2A7DppGVUefCYwVKfkWdf88Kl6qIxuBzuOfDP8QGTQdAHa3gikQV_xOTRLT8LomWBBVJ-M6i7y2QUo5J-Si7y-wQIMeUpsI-0BBSujdbdpye4IJBkGtXDCpWCVXMIofOgocEXhXH7LEvqDQJ8R-U0GNMQr7KNw4DIsj9pvHI8lEEnu4cyKRuTT6zxvRQZXR8hLUtli9Tn5bvk-BG_wH3xLDGZDvQvggNIpWO6a7a6FiK2c5YT3zt5b3VTVAe9n9kwFhWII-JM49dHg/https%3A%2F%2Fklgates.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3Dcfce82f960fc6619ca6db3fc6%26id%3Dd68ad4ff0c%26e%3D3e8de9a970


1 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 
NVTA AGENDA ITEM 8.6 

JULY 20, 2022 

 
 
June 30, 2022 
 
TO: Kate Miller, Executive Director 
 Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
 
FR: Steve Wallauch 
 Platinum Advisors 
 
RE: Legislative Update          
 
The budget process diverged from tradition this year, foregoing the usual process where 
budget subcommittees vote on each budget item and the budget conference committee 
then meets to hash out differences between the Senate and Assembly.  Instead, the two 
houses of the legislature worked out their differences behind closed doors, releasing an 
overview document as well as an item-by-item report June 1st.  The legislature then 
approved the primary budget bill, SB 154, on Monday June 13th, in order to meet the June 
15th Constitutional deadline.  Since that time, legislative leadership met with the Governor 
behind closed doors to hash out the details of the 2022-23 spending plan.  
Late last week, an agreement was announced, and numerous bills were amended over 
the weekend in order to meet the “in print” rules to pass these measures before they 
adjourn for Summer Recess on June 30th.  Both the Senate and Assembly scheduled 
floor session last night, June 29th, and approved the budget bill juniors and several trailer 
bills.  While the bulk of the budget is complete, there will remain a few elements, such as 
the climate package, that will be negotiated over the summer recess and enacted after 
the legislature reconvenes on August 1st. 
 
Reserves:  The budget contains $37.2 billion in reserves.  This is almost double the 
amount of reserves on hand in prior years.  This includes $23.3 in Rainy Day Fund, $9.5 
billion in Prop 98 reserves, almost $1 billion in safety net reserves, and $3.5 billion regular 
reserves. 
 
Appropriations Limit:  The State Appropriations Limit (SAL), also known as the Gann 
Limit, is not exceeded based on the approved spending plan.  According to initial 
estimates, the state is $11 billion under the Gann Limit for the two-year period ending on 
June 30, 2022, and $11 billion under the Gann Limit for the 2022- 23 fiscal year. 
The budget package includes statutory changes to exclude added local subventions from 
the State Appropriations Limit, thereby counting some additional expenditures within local 
government appropriations limits when capacity exists at the local level.   

411

https://sbud.senate.ca.gov/sites/sbud.senate.ca.gov/files/Legislative%20Version%20Summary%20Final.pdf
https://sbud.senate.ca.gov/sites/sbud.senate.ca.gov/files/2022-23%20Legislative%20Budget%20Package%20Actions.pdf


2 
 

Economic Relief:  One of the key items of negotiations was on how to provide fiscal 
relief to Californians from the high cost of fuel, and growing inflation.  The agreement 
reached encompasses $17 billion in fiscal relief measures.  The agreement foregoes the 
Governor’s proposal to provide 3 months of free public transit, but it does include his 
proposal to suspend the state general fund share of the diesel fuel sales tax.  This partial 
sales tax suspension should not impact State Transit Assistance (STA) funding.  The 
fiscal relief package includes the following elements: 
Refunds:  The budget includes $9.5 billion in rebates to taxpayers that will be allocated 
based on income tiers.   

• Tier 1 would provide $350 for each filer with an income of up to $75,000 single and 
$150,000 join, and an additional $350 for a dependent. 

• Tier 2 would provide rebates of $250 for filers with incomes up to $125,000 single 
and $250,000 joint and $250 for a dependent. 

• Tier 3 would provide rebates of $200 per filer with incomes above the Tier 2 limits 
but below $250,000 single and $500,000 joint, and $200 for a dependent.  Incomes 
above the Tier 3 amounts will not receive a rebate. 

Vulnerable Californians:  Provides additional relief to vulnerable Californians enrolled in 
the SSI/SPP program and the CalWORKs program and to provide relief from unpaid utility 
bills, 
Targeted Tax Relief:  Includes key targeted tax relief measures, including the following: 

• Develops the Workers Tax Fairness Credit to turn union dues from being tax 
deduction into a tax credit. 

• Adopts the Governor’s proposed $95 million to provide the existing Young Child 
Tax Credit to zero-income filers and to create a Foster Youth Tax Credit to provide 
a $1,000 credit to young adults who were in the foster care system. 

Business and Non-Profits Relief: Provides $2.3 billion in fiscal relief to small businesses 
and non-profits, including the following: 

• Diesel Sales Tax Relief: $439 million to suspend the General Fund portion of the 
sales tax on diesel fuel from October 1, 2022, to October 1, 2023.  This is estimated 
to reduce costs by about 23 cents per gallon.  This suspension does not affect the 
diesel sales tax dedicated to transportation programs, such as STA. 

 
Transportation Funding: The budget agreement includes a $14.8 billion multiyear 
transportation package, including funding for transit, freight, active transportation, climate 
adaptation, and other purposes across the state.  The transportation package includes 
the following funding augmentations: 

• $100 million for zero emission rail and transit demonstration projects to be 
administered by California State Transportation Agency (CalSTA). 

412



3 
 

• $350 million for High Priority Grade Crossing Improvement and Separation 
Projects. 

• $300 million for Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) for project 
development activities related to rail realignment projects for high-priority intercity 
rail corridors located primarily in the coastal zone that have been identified in the 
State Rail Plan for being at risk of sea-level rise. 

• Transit Capital Investments:  Totals $3.65 billion in the 2022-23 fiscal year, and an 
additional $4 billion committed in future budget years. 

o $1.83 billion for high priority transit projects in Southern California, which 
includes the Counties of Imperial, Los Angeles, Orange, Riverside, San 
Bernardino, San Diego, and Ventura.  Not less than $900 million of these 
funds shall be used to leverage existing  Transit and Intercity Rail Capital 
Program (TIRCP) Projects Leveraging Federal & Local Funds Reserve.” 

o $1.498 billion for high priority transit projects in all other geographic areas.  
Not less than $900 million of these funds shall be used to leverage existing 
TIRCP Projects Leveraging Federal & Local Funds Reserve.” 

o An amount up to $150 million combined from the Southern California and 
Northern California transit funds shall be set aside for the “Major Projects 
Project Development Reserve” and shall be available for multiyear grants 
to support the delivery of capital projects and programs of projects that have 
entered or have applied to enter federal project development processes 

o $4 billion is committed for transit capital projects over the 2023-24 and 
2024-25 fiscal years.  Under this allocation all transit operators would 
receive a minimum of $300,000 each with the balance being distributed on 
the population based formula. 

• $50 million for the Transportation Infrastructure Climate Adaptation Strategy Grant 
Program. 

• $148 million for the Local Infrastructure Climate Adaptation Project Program. 
• $1.2 billion over two years for freight-related infrastructure at and around the 

state’s ports 
• $1.2 billion for Active Transportation Program projects.  Of this amount $1.049 

billion is dedicated to ATP projects, and $149 million shall be used for the 
Highways to Boulevards Program. 

• $4.2 billion in High-Speed Rail bond funds are appropriated, but cannot be 
encumbered prior to the Authority submitting a detailed funding plan for the 
projects.  In addition, the budget establishes an independent Office of Inspector 
General for the high-speed rail project, with legislative direction to prioritize 
construction of a Merced-Bakersfield segment. 

 
 
Climate-Energy Package. Approves a total of $19.3 billion General Fund for the Climate-
Energy Package ($4.89 billion in 2021-22, $4.83 billion in 2022-23, and $9.59 billion for 
the outyears), with details to be determined in future legislation, as follows:  

• $8.09 billion Energy 

413



4 
 

• $800 million Wildfire and Forest Resilience 
• $2.7 billion Drought Response and Resilience 
• $300 million Extreme Heat 
• $773 million Nature-Based Solutions 
• $3.53 billion 2022 Zero Emission Vehicles (ZEV) 
• $5 million Lithium Valley 
• $3.11 billion Flexible Climate Set-Aside 

 
Zero Emission Vehicles: Provides $676 million from the Greenhouse Gas Reduction 
Fund to support Clean Trucks, Buses, and Off-Road Equipment and Clean Cars for All, 
and $1.5 billion Proposition 98 General Fund to support ZEV school buses and charging 
infrastructure. 
 
Transportation Trailer Bill:  Among the numerous budget trailer bills, SB 198 was 
approved to enact the statutory changes need to implement portions of the transportation 
funding agreement.  SB 198 includes the following provisions, please contact us if you 
need more details about any of these programs: 

• Authorizes the California Department of Transportation to advance payments to 
recipients of TIRCP grants when certain conditions are met. Specifically, this bill 
expands and clarifies the authority for Caltrans to advance funds to public agencies 
for transit and passenger rail projects funded by the State Transportation 
Improvement Program or the Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Improvement 
Program. 

• Authorizes the Department of Transportation to use the Design-Build procurement 
method for construction contracts on six additional projects per year in both 2022-
23 and 2023-24. 

• Creates the Highways to Boulevards program at Caltrans to provide grants to local 
governments to plan and implement projects move toward future conversion of key 
underutilized highways into multimodal corridors that serve existing residents by 
developing affordable housing and complete streets features. The program would 
provide 25 percent of available funds for planning activities, and 75 percent for 
projects. 

• Establishes three programs that are intended to fund activities necessary to help 
the state and local governments identify and fund projects to adapt transportation 
infrastructure to climate change. 

o Transportation Infrastructure Climate Adaptation Strategy Grant Program, 
which is designed to provide competitive planning grants to local agencies 
to address climate adaptation.  Caltrans will administer this program. 

o Local Transportation Infrastructure Climate Adaptation Project Program, 
which would provide competitive grants to local agencies to support the 
development and implementation of projects adapting local transportation 

414



5 
 

infrastructure to climate change.  The California Transportation Commission 
(CTC) will administer this program. 

o State Transportation Infrastructure Climate Adaptation Program, which 
would be designed to support the planning, developing, and implementing 
projects adapting state transportation infrastructure to climate change.  
Caltrans is required to submit the list of projects to the CTC for approval. 

• Makes several major adjustments to the High-Speed Rail Authority’s statutory 
direction and authority, including the creation of an independent Inspector General. 

• Freight and Goods Movement funding program authorizes CalSTA in consultation 
with other departments to provide grants or other funding mechanisms to invest in 
port-specific high-priority projects that increase goods movement capacity on rail 
and roadways serving ports and at port terminals. This bill sets aside 70 percent 
of the $1.2 billion appropriated in the budget for projects related to the Port of Los 
Angeles, the Port of Long Beach. 

• SB 198 includes language stating the Legislature’s goal to provide $2 billion per 
year in both 2023-24 and 2024-25 for transit and intercity rail capital projects. 
Specifically, it states that the goal of the Legislature is to provide each transit entity 
a minimum of $300,000, with the remainder of the funding allocated by a 
population-based formula. 

415



1 
 

 
 

June 30, 2022 
June 30th is the deadline for all policy committees move bills in their second house to the fiscal committee or 

floor.  All bills that remain in a policy committee after this date are dead, although there are always rule 
waivers to resurrect them.   

The Legislation has adjourned for its Summer Recess and will reconvene on August 1st.   
 
TABLE 1: BOARD ACTION ITEMS 

 Subject Status Recommended 
Position 

AB 1919 
(Holden D) 
Transportation: 
free student 
transit passes. 

As amended, AB 1919 creates a five-year Youth 
Transit Pass Pilot Program to provide grants to 
transit agencies to create or expand free fare 
transit programs for college and K-12 students. 
 
NVTA currently has an Oppose position on this 
bill.  However, as amended the California Transit 
Association now supports and other operators 
have either removed their opposition or adopted 
a Support position.  Given the current content, 
NVTA should consider changing its position to 
Support or neutral. 
 
Contingent upon funds being appropriated, AB 
1919 would allow transit operators to apply to 
Caltrans for funds to create or expand existing 
free fare programs.  The funds would be 
awarded based on the operator’s proportional 
share fare box revenues based on the 2018-19 
fiscal year.  The bill also stipulates that an 
educational institution may not participate if the 
receipt of the funds would invalidate an existing 
free fare funding program. 
 
AB 1919 directs Caltrans to submit a report by 
January 1, 2027, that will be prepared in 
consultation with transit operators on the 
outcome of the program. 
 
 

SENATE 
DESK 

Current 
Position: 
OPPOSE 

SB 917 
(Becker D) 

SB 917 directs the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC) to work with transit 

ASSEMBLY 
APPR 

Current 
Position: 

ATTACHMENT 3 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.6 

July 20, 2022 
 

416

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%201919');
https://a41.asmdc.org/
https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=dlybNgHmX7iUaV5UqxOBPnS3YvKf0Kl2vHXBU%2bciDsgaxn8Xzbp7tsYvOh4x9ikn
http://sd13.senate.ca.gov/


2 
 

 Subject Status Recommended 
Position 

Seamless 
Transit 
Transformation 
Act. 

operators to develop the Connected Network 
Plan, adopt an integrated transit fare structure, 
develop a comprehensive regional transit 
wayfinding system, and establish an open-
source real-time transit information system.   
 
NVTA currently has a Support If Amended 
position on SB 917.  Given the recent 
amendments, NVTA should determine if the 
amendments are sufficient to change its position 
to Support. 
 
Recent amendments address the concerns 
expressed by Bay Area operators with respect to 
the time deadlines, concerns regarding the 
integrated fare plan requirements, and 
establishing the Regional Transit Coordinating 
Council.  
 
Based on the recent amendments, the Assembly 
Transportation Committee approved SB 917, 
and it now moves to the Appropriations 
Committee. 

SUPPORT IF 
AMENDED 

 
Table 2: BOARD POSITION ITEMS 

 
Bills 

Subject Status Client 
Positions 

AB 1638 
(Kiley R) 
Motor Vehicle 
Fuel Tax Law: 
suspension of 
tax. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AB 1638 originally proposed to suspend 
the excise tax on gasoline for six months and then 
backfills the loss of revenue with General Fund 
dollars equivalent to one-half of the amount of 
gasoline taxes collected in the 2020-21 fiscal 
year. 
After a contentious hearing full of outrage, AB 
1638 was amended and approved by the 
Assembly Transportation Committee over the 
objections of the author, and the Republican 
members of the committee.  While the 
amendments are still not in print, the changes 
would remove the current content and insert 
language imposing an excess profits tax on the 
petroleum industry.  The t=new tax revenue would 
then be rebated back to consumers. 

ASSEMBLY 
APPR 
 
DEAD 

OPPOSE 

417

https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=xCGKriITpGcw5l%2fJxT4nLGL%2f2v08mH29o0ieJsF%2bc77OvPxEYdtNm6J8BIkNp80e
https://ad06.asmrc.org/


3 
 

AB 1713 
(Boerner 
Horvath D) 
Vehicles: 
required stops: 
bicycles. 

AB 1713 would permit a person over 18 years of 
age riding a bicycle approaching a stop sign on a 
two lane road with stop signs at all intersections 
to yield the right-of-way to any vehicles that have 
stopped at the entrance of the intersection, have 
entered the intersection, or are approaching the 
intersection, and to continue to yield the right-of-
way until it is reasonable to proceed.   
This allows a cyclist to treat a stop sign as a yield 
sign if the intersection is clear and the cyclist has 
the right-of-way.  This change does not allow a 
cyclist to ignore a stop sign, but simply allows a 
cyclist to maintain some momentum and avoid a 
foot down stop. 
AB 1713 would sunset on January 1, 2029.  The 
bill requires the CHP to submit by January 1, 
2028, a report on the effects of cyclists using the 
safety stop. 

SENATE APPR WATCH 

AB 1778 
(Garcia, 
Cristina D) 
State 
transportation 
funding: 
freeway 
widening: 
poverty and 
pollution: 

AB 1778 would prohibit state funds or personnel 
time from being used to fund or permit freeway 
projects, as specified, within or adjacent to 
census tracts that fall within the zero to 40th 
percentile on the “California Healthy Places 
Index” as calculated using certain housing and 
environmental variables.  This would essentially 
halt freeway expansion projects in most urbanized 
areas.   

SENATE TRANS 
Failed Passage 

WATCH 

AB 1909 
(Friedman D) 
Vehicles: 
bicycle omnibus 
bill. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AB 1909 is titled the Bicycle Omnibus Bill, which 
is intended to include various non-controversial 
provisions relating to operating a bicycle.  AB 
1909 includes the following provisions: 

• Existing law prohibits class 3 electric 
bicycles from operating on a bicycle path 
or trail, bikeway, bicycle lane, equestrian 
trail, or hiking or recreation trail.  AB 1909 
eliminates the statewide ban of class 3 
electric bicycles on a bicycle path or trail, 
bikeway, bicycle lane, equestrian trail, or 
hiking or recreational trail, and eliminates 
local authority to ban the use of Class 1 
and 2 electric bikes on bike paths.  AB 
1909, however, would authorize a local 
authority having jurisdiction over an 
equestrian trail or hiking or recreational trail 

SENATE APPR WATCH 

418

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%201713');
https://a76.asmdc.org/
https://a76.asmdc.org/
https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=KypmvM9tLoZ3AJm0OEpDQtbYwpRhh0Hza63XleaCl4J%2fJ7cdwXWFLfHxJFeb6Idd
https://a58.asmdc.org/
https://a58.asmdc.org/
https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=jnd7oKR5S3nXPqxPX2ieNnQK5%2faLFGzJGcZsO9%2bZVz%2boL8b8jURLcATzlSAB4Hmz
https://a43.asmdc.org/


4 
 

AB 1909 
(Continued) 

to prohibit the operation of an electric 
bicycle of any class on that trail. 

• AB 1909 would allow the operator of a 
bicycle facing a pedestrian control signal 
displaying a “WALK” or approved “Walking 
Person” symbol may proceed across the 
roadway in the direction of the signal. 

• Require the driver of a motor vehicle 
overtaking or passing a bicycle that is 
proceeding in the same direction and in the 
same lane of travel shall make a lane 
change if another lane of traffic if available. 

• A local government that operates a bicycle 
license program shall not prohibit the use 
of unlicensed bicycles. 

 

AB 1938 
(Friedman D) 
Transit and 
Intercity Rail 
Recovery Task 
Force. 

AB 1938 was recently gutted and amended to 
now allow local governments to round down to 
the nearest 5 miles per hour increment based on 
the 85th percentile speed survey. 

Previously, AB 1938 proposed to create the 
Transit Recovery Task Force.  The Task Force 
would be comprised of representatives from the 
University of California, local governments, 
MPOs, transit operators, labor, bike and 
pedestrian groups, and transportation advocacy 
groups. 

SENATE DESK WATCH 
 
(Prior 
Version) 

AB 1944 
(Lee D) 
Local 
government: 
open and public 
meetings. 
 

AB 1944 remains in the Senate Committee on 
Governance & Finance and is unlikely to move 
forward this year.  The Committee had concerns 
about the significant flexibility granted the 
members of local legislative bodies to participate 
remotely.   

The Committee did approve AB 2449 (Rubio), 
which is similar, but this bill requires at least a 
majority of the governing board participate at a 
single location. 

AB 1944 would allow members of legislative body 
to continue to participate in a Brown Act meeting 
remotely, and if from a non-public location the 
member is not required to disclose the address. In 
addition, AB 1944 requires the governing body if it 
chooses to allow for remote participation of its 
members, to also provide video streaming and 
offer public comment via video or phone. 

SENATE GOV & 
F 

WATCH 

419

https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=jnd7oKR5S3nXPqxPX2ieNnQK5%2faLFGzJGcZsO9%2bZVz%2boL8b8jURLcATzlSAB4Hmz
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%201938');
https://a43.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%201944');
https://a25.asmdc.org/


5 

AB 1993 
(Wicks D) 
Employment: 
COVID-19 
vaccination 
requirements. 

Assemblywoman Wicks has announced that she 
will not be moving AB 1993 forward this year. 

This bill would require an employer to require 
each of their employees or independent 
contractors that is eligible to receive the COVID-
19 vaccine to demonstrate that they have been 
vaccinated against COVID-19. Employees or 
independent contractors that have been deemed 
ineligible to receive the vaccine for either medical 
or religious reasons are exempted from the bill. 
Starting on January 1, 2023, each employer is 
required to affirm, in a form and manner provided 
by the state, that each employee or independent 
contractor complied with these provisions 

ASSEMBLY L & 
E 

DEAD 

WATCH 

AB 2097 
(Friedman D) 
Residential and 
commercial 
development: 
remodeling, 
renovations, 
and additions: 
parking 
requirements. 

AB 2097 would prohibit public agencies from 
enforcing minimum automobile parking 
requirements for residential, commercial, and 
other developments if the parcel is located within 
one-half mile walking distance of either a “high 
quality transit corridor” or a “major transit stop.” 

AB 2097 was amended to add population 
thresholds to the bill.  The thresholds would limit 
the bill only to those counties with a population 
of 600,000 or more.  It would also apply to any 
city with a population over 75,000  but is in a 
county with less than 600,000.  All other areas 
may adopt the limits in the bill. 

• “Major transit stop” includes an existing rail
or BRT station, ferry terminal, or the
intersection of two or more bus routes with
peak commute period headways of 15
minutes or less.

• “High-quality transit corridor” includes a
corridor with fixed route bus service with
peak commute headways of less than 15
minutes.

If a development voluntarily includes parking a 
local entity may require spaces for car share 
vehicles, require the spaces to be shared with 
the public, or require owners of parking spaces 
to charge for parking. 

SENATE APPR SUPPORT 

420

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%201993');
https://a15.asmdc.org/
https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=gGZxzFG9zDm4MpM37qWITz9N%2fgnoGau%2b%2fMWhqNecsLCCWtXwGQ56%2b9X%2bIv%2fJz%2bV6
https://a43.asmdc.org/


6 
 

AB 2120 
(Ward D) 
Transportation 
finance: federal 
funding: 
bridges. 

AB 2120 restores a previously used formula to 
distribute dedicated federal bridge funding from 
the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) 
to state and local projects. It ensures continued 
investment in local bridges and flexible highway 
funds.  
In addition, the bill will help close the funding gap 
for needed repairs and replacement of local 
bridges and prevents further deterioration and 
funding projects that add safe multimodal access 
to local bridges. 

ASSEMBLY 
APPR – HELD on 
SUSPENSE FILE 
 
DEAD 

SUPPORT 

AB 2147 
(Ting D) 
Pedestrians 

AB 2147 amends existing law to direct that a 
peace officer shall not stop a pedestrian for a 
violation involving an illegal crossing the street 
unless a reasonably careful person would realize 
there is an immediate danger of a collision with a 
moving vehicle or other device moving exclusively 
by human power. 

SENATE APPR WATCH 

AB 2237 
(Friedman D) 
Transportation 
planning: 
regional 
transportation 
improvement 
plan: 
sustainable 
communities 
strategies: 
climate goals. 

AB 2237 remains in the Senate Transportation 
Committee and the author has decided to not 
move this bill forward.   

This bill would require regional transportation 
planning agencies (RTPA) to include in its 
regional transportation improvement program 
projects to be funded in whole or in part that are 
consistent with its most recently prepared 
sustainable communities strategy and the state’s 
climate goals.  The bill would also require projects 
funded with local transportation sales tax funds to 
also be included in SCS. 

SENATE TRANS WATCH 

AB 2336 
(Friedman D) 
Vehicles: 
Speed Safety 
System Pilot 
Program. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AB 2336 would establish a five-year pilot program 
to give local transportation authorities in the Cities 
of San Jose, Oakland, Los Angeles, Glendale, 
Palm Springs, and the City and County of San 
Francisco the authority to install speed safety 
systems.   
AB 2336 would allow the placement of a speed 
safety system in school zones, and on streets 
with the highest injuries and fatalities, or on street 
determined to have a high number of vehicle 
speed exhibitions.  In addition, the speed safety 
system may not continue if after 18 months the 
percentage of violations has not dropped by 25%.   

ASSEMBLY 
APPR  
HELD on 
SUSPENSE FILE 
 
DEAD 

SUPPORT 

421

https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=iFURmY2K5EywG1J4Zv8lAdJSeFmiB42IVWaUT7cTVC35jGOSyOZJvVgBLSwX%2b3rF
https://a78.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%202147');
https://a19.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%202237');
https://a43.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%202336');
https://a43.asmdc.org/


7 
 

AB 2336 
(Continued) 

On April 21st AB 2336 was amended to make the 
following changes to address concerns expressed 
by opponents regarding privacy and equity impact 
of the pilot program. 

• Data about the number of violations issued 
and the speeds at which they were issued 
are not “administrative records” under the 
bill, and therefore do not have to be 
deleted within 120 days. 

• Section 4 and 5 are removed from the bill, 
which authorized a lien to be placed on a 
vehicle for failure to pay for offenses 
detected by a speed safety system. 

• Requires flashing beacons on the school 
zone speed limit signs to indicate the times 
during which the school zone speed limit is 
enforced with a speed safety system, and 
clarifies that the cameras may be in use up 
to two hours before and after school. 

• Extends from 30 to 60 days when warning 
citation must be issued rather than notices 
of violation when speed safety systems are 
first installed. 

AB 2438 
(Friedman D) 
Transportation 
funding: 
alignment with 
state plans and 
greenhouse 
gas emissions 
reduction 
standards. 

AB 2438 requires various state transportation 
programs to incorporate strategies from the 
Climate Action Plan for Transportation 
Infrastructure (CAPTI) into program guidelines.  
Also requires various state agencies to establish 
new transparency and accountability guidelines 
for certain transportation funding programs 

SENATE APPR Watch 

AB 2449 
(Rubio, 
Blanca D) 
Open meetings: 
local agencies: 
teleconferences 

AB 2449 would authorize the use of 
teleconferencing without noticing and making 
available to the public teleconferencing locations 
if a quorum of the members of the legislative body 
participates in person from a singular location that 
is noticed and open to the public and require the 
legislative body to offer public comment via video 
or phone. 
The provisions made in AB 2449 would sunset on 
January 1, 2028. 

SENATE APPR WATCH 

422

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%202336');
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%202438');
https://a43.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%202449');
https://a48.asmdc.org/
https://a48.asmdc.org/


8 

AB 2622 
(Mullin D) 
Sales & use 
taxes: 
exemptions: 
California 
Hybrid & Zero-
Emission Truck 
& Bus Voucher 
Incentive 
Project: transit 
buses. 

AB 2622 would extend the exemption from the 
state portion of the sales tax the purchase zero 
emission transit vehicles.  This bill is sponsored 
by the California Transit Association and would 
extend the sunset date on the sales tax 
exemption from January 1, 2024, to January 1, 
2026. 

SENATE APPR SUPPORT 

ACA 1 
(Aguiar-
Curry D) 
Local 
government 
financing: 
affordable 
housing and 
public 
infrastructure: 
voter approval. 

Identical to last session’s proposal, which NVTA 
supported, ACA 1 would lower the voter threshold 
for property tax increases, parcel taxes and sales 
taxes to 55% if the funds are used for affordable 
housing and infrastructure projects.  This includes 
capital improvements to transit and streets and 
highways.   
However, ACA 1 does not allow for the 55% local 
measure to use the tax revenue for transit 
operations. 

ASSEMBLY LOC 
GOV 

(Hearing 
deadlines do not 
apply to 
Constitutional 
amendments) 

Support 

SB 674 
(Durazo D) 
Public 
Contracts: 
workforce 
development: 
transportation-
related 
contracts. 

SB 674, until January 1, 2027, requires the Labor 
and Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) to 
create the California Jobs Plan Program and the 
United States Jobs Plan Program.  The intent of 
the bill is to incentivize more high-quality 
transportation, manufacturing, and infrastructure 
jobs through the public contracting process. 
The Assembly Appropriations Committee 
amended SB 674 to specify participation by local 
transportation entities would be optional.  
However, the bill would still apply to purchases 
made by Caltrans.  These amendments and 
concerns likely expressed by the Administration 
resulted in the author making it a two-year bill.  
Senator Durazo intends to work with opposition 
during the interim to reach a consensus on the 
bill. 
Previously, the author has accepted several 
amendments to address concerns expressed by 
CalACT and CTA, such as requiring FTA approval 
before the new requirements start.  However, 
significant concerns remain regarding how this 
program would be implemented, the ability to 
verify the promises made are achieved, and the 

ASSEMBLY 
FLOOR 

Inactive File 

WATCH 

423

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%202622');
https://a22.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('ACA%201');
https://a04.asmdc.org/
https://a04.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20674');
http://sd24.senate.ca.gov/


9 

SB 674 
(Continued) 

likelihood of procurement delays due to a rise in 
award protests. 

SB 852 
(Dodd D) 
Climate 
resilience 
districts: 
formation: 
funding 
mechanisms. 

SB 852 would create the Climate Resilience 
Districts Act.  The intent of this bill is to provide 
the ability for local governments to create districts 
for the purpose of addressing climate change 
effects and impacts through activities and actions 
that include mitigation and adaptation,  
This bill would allow cities, counties, and special 
districts to create a district to finance a wide range 
of climate resilience projects, including 
addressing sea level rise, wildfire, and drought.  
These districts would be authorized to utilize tax 
increment financing, as well as existing benefit 
assessment financing tools. 

ASSEMBLY 
APPR 

SUPPORT 

SB 878 
(Skinner D) 
School 
transportation. 

SB 878 would create a program to provide home-
to-school transportation to all students, and it was 
approved by the Senate Education Committee.  
The bill is sponsored by the California School 
Employees Association.   
Under this bill school agencies that do not provide 
transportation services are directed to work with 
parents, teachers, transit operators, and air 
districts and others on developing a transportation 
plan that ensures all students have free 
transportation to school.  Funding for this program 
is dependent on a budget appropriation, and the 
allocation formula is not specified but would be 
based on a per mile reimbursement.   

ASSEMBLY 
APPR 

WATCH 

SB 922 
(Wiener D) 
California 
Environmental 
Quality Act: 
exemptions: 
transportation-
related projects. 

SB 922 expands the application of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) exemptions for 
various transportation-related projects and 
sunsets those exemptions on January 1, 2030. 
Specifically, the bill makes the following changes: 

• Exempts from CEQA, until January 1,
2030, active transportation plans
and pedestrian plans, if the lead agency
holds noticed public hearings

• For the SB 288 projects, this bill extends
the January 1, 2023, sunset until 2030, but
these projects shall not add infrastructure
or striping that increases automobile
capacity.

Expands the type of transit prioritization projects. 

ASSEMBLY 
FLOOR 

SUPPORT 

424

javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20674');
https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=nDorpB1QNLMoRlNjXmzjKo8JmoBDpjCYon7x8WKnZyn%2bGUbcAZP8aI2SIhZ3Kfa5
http://sd03.senate.ca.gov/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20878');
http://sd09.senate.ca.gov/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20922');
http://sd11.senate.ca.gov/


10 
 

SB 942 
(Newman D) 
Low Carbon 
Transit 
Operations 
Program: free 
or reduced fare 
transit program. 

SB 946 would allow transit agencies who use Low 
Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) 
moneys to fund free or reduced fare transit 
programs to continue using those moneys for 
ongoing operating costs.  

As amended in the Assembly Transportation 
Committee, operators would be required to submit 
the initial allocation request and then provide for 
the next three year annually submit 
documentation that the program is meeting the 
GHG reduction requirements. 

ASSEMBLY 
APPR 
 

SUPPORT 

SB 1049 
(Dodd D) 
Transportation 
Resilience 
Program. 

Similar to proposed budget trailer bill language, 
SB 1049 would establish the Transportation 
Resilience Program within Caltrans.  SB 1049 
remains in the Assembly Transportation 
Committee and will not be moving forward. 
This program would be funded in the annual 
Budget Act from 15% of the available federal 
National Highway Performance Program funds 
and 100% of the available federal Promoting 
Resilient Operations for Transformative, Efficient, 
and Cost-Saving Transportation program funds.  
The Governor’s budget proposes allocating $400 
million in general fund revenue for the Climate 
Adaptation Grant Program. 

ASSEMBLY 
TRANS 

SUPPORT 

SB 1050 
(Dodd D) 
State Route 37 
Toll Bridge Act. 

SB 1050 would create the SR-37 Toll  Authority 
that would be administered by the Bay Area 
Infrastructure Financing Authority.  Amendments 
accepted in the Assembly Transportation 
Committee require MTC/BATA to submit an 
application to the CTC to operate a toll facility on 
Hwy 37. 
In short, the bill would require the Authority to 
operate and maintain tolling infrastructure, 
including installing toll facilities, and collect tolls 
for the use of the Sonoma Creek Bridge.  The 
revenues from the toll bridge would be used for 
capital improvements to repair or rehabilitate the 
toll bridge, to expand toll bridge capacity, to 
improve toll bridge or corridor operations, and to 
increase public transit, carpool, vanpool, and 
nonmotorized options on the toll bridge or in the 
segment of State Route 37 corridor. 
 

ASSEMBLY 
APPR 

SUPPORT 

425

javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20942');
https://sd29.senate.ca.gov/
https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=y0vY3beiKJ%2baZ8SiMHwEUB3bn1VPgOnm%2fSPu%2bd%2bFvIn%2bx3zGde7QHSAWGkBUu9wa
http://sd03.senate.ca.gov/
https://ctweb.capitoltrack.com/public/publishbillinfo.aspx?bi=QtMIB9GyjrzE13DLVyx0njiRaiZjZPWKWQvH5DMtusfjGOQ8YCii%2f5BI4lDE6V1h
http://sd03.senate.ca.gov/


11 

SB 1100 
(Cortese D) 
Open meetings: 
orderly conduct. 

SB 1100 would authorize the removal of an 
individual from a public meeting who is “willfully 
interrupting” the meeting after a warning and a 
request to stop their behavior. “Willfully 
interrupting” is defined as intentionally engaging 
in behavior during a meeting of a legislative body 
that substantially impairs or renders infeasible the 
orderly conduct of the meeting in accordance with 
law. 

ASSEMBLY 
FLOOR 

WATCH 

SB 1121 
(Gonzalez D) 
State and local 
transportation 
system: needs 
assessment. 

SB 1121 would require the California 
Transportation Commission (CTC) to biennially 
develop a needs assessment of the cost to 
operate, maintain, and provide for the future 
growth and resiliency of the state and local 
transportation system.  The bill defines “state and 
local transportation system” to include public 
transit systems, including operations, as well as 
bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  The CTC would 
also be required to consult with transit operators, 
transportation planning agencies, and local 
governments in developing the assessment. 

ASSEMBLY 
APPR 

SUPPORT 

426

javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%201100');
http://sd15.senate.ca.gov/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%201121');
https://sd33.senate.ca.gov/

	Agenda Cover
	Pg 3
	Pg 4
	Pg 5
	Pg 6
	Pg 7
	Acronyms Updated 
	7.1 AB 361 Cover
	7.1 AB 361 Memo
	7.1 ATTACH 1 Resolution 22-20

	Draft Minutes
	0003_1_Staff Report
	7.3_EEO Program Cover_ls ao-KM changes
	SUBJECT
	Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Program
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	FISCAL IMPACT

	7.3_EEO Program Memo_ls ao.SSYW-KM changes
	Action Requested: APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION


	7.3_Attch 1_Resolution 22-21 EEO Policy.SSYW
	A RESOLUTION OF THE
	NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA)
	ADOPTING THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY PROGRAM
	(EEO PROGRAM) FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022 THROUGH FISCAL YEAR 2025

	7.3_Attch 1 Exhibit A EEO 2022_Transdev Napa

	0004_1_Staff Report
	7.4_NVTA Policy Updates_Cover_ls ao-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	Revised Policies, Practices, and Procedures Manual: Personnel
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	FISCAL IMPACT


	7.4_NVTA Policy Updates_Memo_ls ao-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	7.4_Attch 1 Personnel Policies_Approved 07-15-2020 Clean version
	CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
	Section 1.1. Overview of Personnel Policies
	1.1.1 Statement of Policy
	1.1.2 Construction and Limitations
	1.1.3 Implementation of the Policies


	CHAPTER 2 EMPLOYMENT STATUS
	Section 2.1. Definitions
	Section 2.2. Hiring Process
	2.2.1 Statement of Policy
	2.2.2 Personnel Request
	A. Initiation

	2.2.3 Employee Selection
	A. Job Vacancy Posted
	B. Advertising
	C. Employment Application
	D. Screening Applicants
	E. Interviewing
	F. Documenting the Interview
	G. Selection
	H. Notification.

	2.2.4 Placing Employee on the Payroll
	A. Duties of the Executive Director or Designee:
	1. The prospective employee will be given a conditional offer of employment conditioned upon the successful completion of a background check.
	2. A background check may be conducted.  If the prospective employee passes this part of the screening process, he or she may be required to take a medical exam
	3. Upon successful completion of the background check and medical exam, the following steps will be taken:
	(a) The ED will send an offer letter to the prospective employee, which must be signed and returned.
	(b) A start date is coordinated with the Human Resources department.
	(c) The prospective employee will be given an orientation interview covering the information identified in Section 2.3.2 of these Policies and Procedures.




	Section 2.3. New Employee Orientation
	2.3.1 Statement of Policy
	2.3.2 Content of Orientation
	A. Information to Be Covered By Administration
	B. Information to Be Covered Regarding Benefits:
	C. Information to Be Covered By Human Resources


	Section 2.4. Probationary Period
	2.4.1 Statement of Policy
	2.4.2 Duration of Probationary Period
	2.4.3 Termination of Probationary Period
	2.4.4 Rejection of Probationer Following Promotion
	2.4.5 Effect of Leaves of Absence on Probationary Period

	Section 2.5. Job Classification
	Section 2.6. Job Descriptions
	Section 2.7. Assignment and Transfer
	2.7.1 Statement of Policy
	2.7.2 Temporary Assignments

	Section 2.8. Promotion
	2.8.1 Statement of Policy
	2.8.2 Application Procedure
	2.8.3 Criteria for Selection
	A. Minimum Qualifications
	B. Other Qualifications

	2.8.4 Probationary Period
	2.8.5 Procedure When Employee Does Not Pass Probation
	A. If a Vacancy Exists
	B. If a Vacancy Does Not Exist in the Former Position
	1. The employee will be afforded the opportunity to compete in a vacancy for another position for which the Agency determines he or she is qualified.
	2. If no other vacancy exists, or if the employee is unsuccessful in the bidding process for a vacant position, the employee may be laid off.  Layoff; however, for a period of one year following layoff, the employee will be eligible to be rehired in t...



	Section 2.9. Anti-Nepotism Policy and Non-Fraternization Policy
	2.9.1 Statement of Policy
	2.9.2 Relatives, Spouses or Domestic Partners in Same Department, Work Area or Facility
	1. Such employment does not adversely affect safety, morale, security, internal financial control, or supervision and the individuals involved do not work in direct supervision of each other.
	2. An employee neither initiates nor participates in making institutional recommendations or decisions which would directly affect employment status of their spouse, registered domestic partner or relative(s).  These recommendations/decisions include,...

	2.9.3 Application of the Policy
	1. "Relatives” refer to persons related by blood or marriage, or any relative residing in the immediate household of the employee (including, but not limited to: wife, husband, parent, child, grandparent, brother, sister, in-laws, aunt, uncle, step re...
	2. This policy also applies to persons who are registered domestic partners as defined under state law.
	2.9.4 Marriage or Registered Domestic Partnership Arising Between Employees While Employed
	1. Should two employees marry or form a registered domestic partnership while both are employed by the Agency, they may continue their employment in the same jobs provided that the criteria set forth in Section 2.9.2 are met.
	2. If the criteria are not met, one of the employees in the marriage, or registered domestic partnership, must change jobs, work locations or leave the Agency.  The couple will make a decision within thirty (30) days of the marriage or partnership, as...



	Section 2.10. Performance Evaluation
	1. A discretionary leave of absence will be granted only to an employee whose last evaluation was at least satisfactory.
	2. The general record of service as well as specific and immediate disciplinary charges will be taken into account when disciplinary action against an employee is proposed and the discipline, if any, is assessed.
	3. Merit salary increases will be determined by the Executive Director and can be awarded only to those employees whose current overall evaluation is at least “Fully Exhibits” or above for management positions, and at least a “Meets Standards” or abov...

	Section 2.11. Resignation
	Section 2.12. Layoff
	2.12.1 Statement of Policy
	1. Employees who have temporary status.
	2. Employees who are probationary.
	3. Part-time regular employees.
	4. Full-time regular employees.

	2.12.2 Layoff Order
	2.12.3 Notice
	2.12.4 Reinstatement from Layoff
	2.12.5 Benefits

	Section 2.13. Personnel Files
	2.13.1 Statement of Policy
	2.13.2 Employee Responsibility to Ensure Accuracy of Personnel Records
	1. Address
	2. Telephone Number (Note: As a condition of employment, it is necessary that the employee present a telephone number where he/she can be reached by his/her Supervisor directly without having to go through other parties.)
	3. Person to notify in the event of an emergency.
	4. Name, through marriage or otherwise.
	5. Marital status
	6. Number of dependents
	7. Insurance beneficiary
	8. Military Status
	9. Driver’s license number and date of expiration when a condition of employment.

	2.13.3 Duty to Provide Accurate Information
	2.13.4 Access to Personnel Files


	CHAPTER 3 HOURS OF WORK AND COMPENSATION
	Section 3.1. Work Schedules
	3.1.1 Work Schedules
	3.1.2 Standard Work Schedule
	3.1.3 Standard Work Week
	3.1.4 Flex Time

	Section 3.2. Meal and Rest Breaks
	3.2.1 Meal Breaks
	3.2.2 Rest Periods
	3.2.3 Meal and Rest Breaks May Not Be Combined or Postponed

	Section 3.3. Compensation
	3.3.1 Statement of Policy
	1. The impact of compensation on the cost of services, financial position of the Agency, and overall operational cost.
	2. Compensation paid for similar work in other public and private organizations.
	3. The relative value of individual employee’s services to the success of the Agency.
	4. The general and specific performance of employees.
	5. Status of the labor force, economic conditions, recruitment and retention experience, and other factors influencing the maintenance of a stable and efficient work force.

	3.3.2 Wage Rates
	3.3.3 Pay Schedule
	3.3.4 Payroll Deductions
	A. Mandatory Deductions
	1. Federal Income Tax (Withhold Tax)
	2. State Income Tax
	3. State Disability Insurance (S.D.I.)
	4. Garnishments/Wage Attachments

	B. Employee Authorized Deductions
	1. Employee deferred compensation contributions
	2. Medical and dental insurance contributions
	3. Jury duty payments to an employee who was provided paid time off for jury service
	4. Other Deductions Agreed Upon in Writing by the Employee and permitted by law.


	3.3.5 Updating Payroll Information

	Section 3.4. Timekeeping
	3.4.1 Employees
	A. Time Sheet
	1. Work locations such as lateral name or improvement Agency number.
	2. Job or task number.

	B. Submission of Time Sheets

	3.4.2 Consequences of Falsifying Time Records

	Section 3.5. Overtime
	3.5.1 Statement of Policy
	3.5.2 Exclusion from Policy


	CHAPTER 4 STANDARDS OF CONDUCTS
	Section 4.1. Equal Employment Opportunity
	4.1.1 Statement of Policy
	4.1.2 Employee, Supervisor and Management Responsibilities

	Section 4.2. Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy
	4.2.1 Statement of Policy
	4.2.2 Definitions
	A. “Discrimination”
	1. Treating members of a protected class less favorably because of their membership in that class.  The protected groups are based upon race, age, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital st...
	2. Having a policy or practice that has a disproportionately adverse impact on protect class members.

	B. “Harassment”
	1. Making or using derogatory comments, slurs, jokes or epithets which are related to an individual’s race, religion, gender, self-identified gender, sex, or is of a sexual nature, or are based on any other identified protected category, as set forth ...
	1. For purpose of this policy, sexual harassment is any behavior that includes unwelcome sexual advances and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:



	4.2.3 Zero Tolerance
	4.2.4 Complaint and Investigation Procedure
	4.2.5 Prohibition on Retaliation
	4.2.6 Prevention

	Section 4.3. Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule
	Section 4.4. Reasonable Accommodation
	4.4.1 Statement of Policy
	4.4.2 Conditions Covered By This Policy
	A. Disability
	1. A physical or mental disorder or condition that limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual; or
	2. A record of disorder or condition; or
	3. Being regarded as having such a disorder or condition.

	B. Conditions Excluded

	4.4.3 Examples of Reasonable Accommodation
	4.4.4 Requests for Reasonable Accommodation
	1. Any special methods, skills or procedures which would enable him or her to perform tasks or functions that he or she otherwise might not be able to perform because of his or her disability;
	2. The potential accommodations the Agency might make that would enable him or her to perform the essential functions of the job, properly and safely, including special equipment, changes in the physical layout of the job or other accommodation; and
	3. Any equipment aids or services that the applicant or employee is willing to provide and utilize that the Agency is not required to provide.

	4.4.5 Medical Information
	1. To inform the supervisors and managers of the disabled employee regarding any restrictions on the work or duties of the employee or accommodations necessary;
	2. To inform first aid and safety personnel, when appropriate, if the disability may require emergency treatment;
	3. To respond to requests from governmental officials investigating compliance with the disability laws; and
	4. To workers’ compensation offices and second injury funds as required by law or for insurance purposes under certain conditions for those who establish, sponsor or administer health or life insurance benefit plans.

	4.4.6 The Interactive Process
	4.4.7 Miscellaneous Guidelines
	1. Reasonable accommodation does not negate requirements for good job performance, successful completion of assigned training, adherence to generally accepted standards of behavior and adherence to supervisory instructions.
	2. An employee with a disability who is reassigned to a vacant, lower classified position as an accommodation will receive the lower salary of that position.
	3. If the essential job functions and/or duties of a position occupied by an employee with a disability are expanded, revised or modified, the conditions and procedures stated shall apply to any evaluation of the employee’s ability to perform the esse...
	4. An employee who has a question regarding the application of the policy and procedure should contact the Executive Director.


	Section 4.5. Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene
	4.5.1 Statement of Policy
	4.5.2 Guidelines on Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene
	1. All employees are expected to exercise good hygiene and be well groomed.
	2. All employees having long hair or wearing a moustache or beard must keep them clean, trimmed, combed, and otherwise groomed so as not to interfere with worker safety.  Those employees who normally do not wear a beard or moustache and who normally s...
	3. Employees must dress in a manner that is professional, functional, and affords them safety from unnecessary risk of injury.  Office employees should not wear shorts, sweat pants, tank tops, shabby denims, or suggestive or inappropriate clothing.
	4. When, on occasion, employees have to deal with discourteous persons, it is especially important for them to maintain their friendly attitude.  Continuing courtesy on the part of employees will do much to promote an excellent relationship between th...


	Section 4.6. Attendance and Punctuality
	4.6.1 Statement of Policy
	4.6.2 Reporting Requirements
	1. Employees are expected to report to work on time and ready for duty at the time prescribed.
	2. Employees may not leave work without prior supervisory approval during working hours or prior to the end of a scheduled work time.
	3. Employees who foresee the need to be absent, tardy or leave early from work should notify their supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, the Administrative Assistant and the Executive Director of the anticipated absence as far in advance as pra...
	4. An employee who will be absent or late to work must notify their supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, the Administrative Assistant and Executive Director prior to the start of the employee’s shift.  This process must be repeated daily unles...
	5. An employee who is physically unable to provide notice of an absence prior to the start of the employee’s work day must provide notice as soon as practicably possible.
	6. Absences, including tardiness, must be accurately reported on time sheets in 15 minute increments.  Employees who are tardy will not be paid for the time they are absent.

	4.6.3 Discipline

	Section 4.7. Secondary Employment
	4.7.1 Statement of Policy
	1. Actual conflict in hours of employment;
	2. Being tired or unfit for duty because of outside employment;
	3. Where the secondary employment creates an actual or apparent conflict of interest in regard to Agency employment.

	4.7.2 Notification and Approval
	1. Receive the written permission of the Executive Director prior to accepting secondary employment.  In the case of the Executive Director, he/she must receive authorization from the Board of Directors;
	2. When requested by the Executive Director, obtain from the secondary employer a waiver of liability for the Agency;
	3. It is incumbent on the employee to make it clear to the secondary employer that he, the employee, is not performing any duties as a representative of NVTA;
	4. Once approval is granted by the Executive Director, immediately notify the ED if the secondary employment poses an actual or potential conflict with regards to the employee’s Agency employment.


	Section 4.8. Causes for Discipline
	4.8.1 Statement of Policy
	4.8.2 Standards of Conduct
	1. Poor performance; unsatisfactory work quality or quantity;
	2. Neglect of duty, including sleeping on the job;
	3. Insubordination;
	4. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness;
	5. Unexcused absences, failing to properly report absences, or leaving work early without permission;
	6. Failure to keep supervisor aware of employee’s whereabouts during duty time when availability may be required;
	7. Misuse of or damage to Agency tools, vehicles, equipment or other property;
	8. Moving violations or accidents in an Agency vehicle;
	9. Violation of safety rules or practices;
	10. Falsifying, altering or making a material omission on employment, medical, financial, payroll, timekeeping, or other Agency records;
	11. Performing non-Agency work during work hours;
	12. Dishonesty;
	13. Special treatment or favoritism of one customer over another;
	14. Use, possession, sale or being under the influence of alcoholic beverages or illegal drugs during work hours or on Agency premises (including vehicles) or other violation of the drug and alcohol policy;
	15. Violation of the anti-harassment or discrimination policies;
	16. Fighting, engaging in violent or threatening behavior or other conduct in violation of the Agency’s workplace violence policy;
	17. Discourteous treatment of the public or other employees, as defined by the Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule (Section 4.3);
	18. Conviction of a crime that reflects unfitness for the employee’s position or unfitness to work around the Agency’s employees, property or the public;
	19. Other failure of good behavior during or outside of duty hours which is of such a nature that it causes discredit to the Agency and his or her employment; and
	20. Other violation of Agency policies or rules.


	Section 4.9. Discipline
	4.9.1 Statement of Policy
	4.9.2 Progressive Discipline
	A. Suspension without Pay
	B. Demotion
	C. Discharge

	4.9.3 Administrative Leave
	4.9.4 Procedures for Disciplinary Action of a Permanent Employee
	Where discipline of a permanent employee involves disciplinary actions that result in loss of salary or change in employment status (such as suspension without pay or demotion or discharge), the following provisions shall apply:
	A. Notice of Proposed Discipline
	The employee’s supervisor shall inform the employee in writing of the proposed disciplinary action, which shall not be effective until at least five days from the date the notice of proposed action is served on the employee.  This notice shall include...
	B. Skelly Meeting
	The employee may request a meeting to respond to the proposed disciplinary action.  The meeting shall be held with the appropriate manager.  Following the meeting or employee’s written response, the ED or manager shall determine whether to proceed, mo...
	C. Notice of Discipline
	The employee shall be informed in writing of the final disciplinary action.  A copy of the Notice of Discipline shall be placed in the employee’s personnel file.  This notice shall include a copy of the charges, the reasons for disciplinary action, an...
	D. Right to Appeal
	Within five days of service of the Notice of Disciplinary Action, a permanent employee may request to appeal the disciplinary action in writing to the ED.  An employee may only appeal a disciplinary action that results in loss of salary or change in e...



	CHAPTER 5 HEALTH AND SAFETY ON THE JOB
	Section 5.1. Job Safety
	5.1.1 Statement of Policy
	5.1.2 Employee Responsibility
	5.1.3 Injury Reporting
	Prompt Reporting


	Section 5.2. Workplace Violence Prevention
	5.2.1 Statement of Policy
	5.2.2 Employee Responsibilities
	5.2.3 Conduct Prohibited By This Policy
	5.2.4 Reporting Procedure
	A. Emergencies
	B. Non-Emergencies

	5.2.5 Corrective Actions

	Section 5.3. Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace
	5.3.1 Statement of Policy
	5.3.2 Definitions
	A. Legal Drug
	B. Illegal Drug
	C. Under the Influence
	D. Agency Property
	E. Reasonable Suspicion

	5.3.3 Pre-Employment Drug and Alcohol Screening
	The Agency may maintain a pre-employment drug and alcohol screening practice designed to prevent the hiring of persons who use illegal drugs, or who use legal drugs or alcohol to the extent that safe job performance would be impaired on safety sensiti...
	A. Notification to Prospective Employees
	B. Time of Test
	C. Consent to Test
	D. Disqualification from Employment
	1. Refusal to consent to a drug and alcohol screening test or refusal to authorize the release of the results to the Agency.
	2. A positive test for illegal drugs or alcohol.
	3. A positive test for legal drugs which, after medical consultation, the Agency determines will impair the candidate’s ability to safely perform the job in question or will jeopardize the well-being of others.


	5.3.4 Prohibition on Possession, Use, Sale or Transport of Alcohol or Drugs
	A. Illegal Drugs and Alcohol
	B. Notification of Criminal Drug Conviction
	C. Legal Drugs
	D. Notification

	5.3.5 Reasonable Suspicion Testing
	A. Conduct of Test
	B. Valid Prescriptions
	C. Refusal to Take Test

	5.3.6 Search or Inspection of Agency Property for Illegal Drugs or Alcohol
	5.3.7 Disciplinary Action
	5.3.8 Drug and Alcohol Assistance Programs
	A. Voluntary Assistance
	B. Seeking Assistance After Alcohol or Drug Related Misconduct


	Section 5.4. Fitness for Duty
	5.4.1 Statement of Policy
	5.4.2 Employee Responsibility
	5.4.3 Pre-Employment Medical Examinations
	A. Notice
	B. Consent
	C. Examination
	D. Examination Results

	5.4.4 Post-Employment Fitness for Duty Examinations
	A. Reasonable Cause
	B. Examination
	C. Examination Results

	5.4.5 Confidentiality of Examination Records

	Section 5.5. Driving
	5.5.1 Statement of Policy
	5.5.2 Driver’s License Requirements
	5.5.3 Good Driving Record
	5.5.4 Compliance with Traffic Laws
	5.5.5 Use of Seatbelts

	Section 5.6. Smoking

	CHAPTER 6 EQUIPMENT AND PROPERTY
	Section 6.1. Use and Care of Agency Property
	6.1.1 Statement of Policy
	6.1.2 Damage or Loss of Agency Equipment
	6.1.3 Key/Access Card Distribution
	6.1.4 Personal Use of Agency Property
	6.1.5 Personal Tools or Property
	6.1.6 Agency Access to Property
	6.1.7 Entry onto Private Property
	6.1.8 Purchasing

	Section 6.2. Phones, Computers, and Other Electronic Equipment
	6.2.1 Statement of Policy
	6.2.2 Phone Usage for Personal Reasons
	6.2.3 Internet Usage
	6.2.4 Decorum of Communications
	6.2.5 Installation or Duplication of Software
	6.2.6 Discipline

	Section 6.3. Agency Vehicles
	Section 6.4. Employee Purchase Program
	6.4.1 Mobile Device
	A. Purpose & Reimbursement
	B. Device Ownership/Program Limitations



	CHAPTER 7 TIME OFF AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	Section 7.1. Holidays
	7.1.1 Eligible Employees
	7.1.2 Recognized Holidays
	7.1.3 Personal Leave
	7.1.4 Board Ordered Holiday
	7.1.5 Holidays Occurring During Unpaid Leave
	7.1.6 Working on Holidays

	Section 7.2. Vacation
	7.2.1 Purpose
	7.2.2 Eligibility
	7.2.3 Accrual
	A. Accrual Rates
	B. Management Employees

	7.2.4 Scheduling
	A. Notice
	B. Intervening Holidays
	C. Intervening Illness or Injury

	7.2.5 Termination or Retirement from Agency
	A. Termination
	B. Retirement
	1. Continue to work until the date of retirement and be paid for accrued and unused vacation; or
	2. Discontinue working and take accrued and unused vacation time that would extend from last day worked up to the date of retirement.



	Section 7.3. Sick Leave
	7.3.1 Purpose
	7.3.2 Eligibility
	7.3.3 Accrual
	7.3.4 Conversion of Vacation to Sick Leave
	7.3.6 Employee Notice and Communication

	Section 7.4. Workers’ Compensation Leave
	7.4.1 Purpose
	7.4.2 Sick or Vacation Leave Supplementation
	7.4.3 Accrual of Benefits during Leave

	Section 7.5. Pregnancy Leave
	7.5.1 Purpose
	7.5.2 Covered Employees
	7.5.3 Leave Rights
	7.5.4 Pay and Benefits
	7.5.5 Employee Notice Obligations
	7.5.6 Medical Certification
	7.5.7 Other Forms of Pregnancy-Related Disability Accommodation

	Section 7.6. Family and Medical Care Leave Act
	7.6.1 Statement of Policy
	7.6.2 Definitions
	7.6.3 Family and/or Medical Care Leave
	7.6.4 Status of Prior Policies

	Section 7.7. Funeral and Bereavement Leave
	7.7.1 Purpose
	7.7.2 Conditions of Leave
	A. Amount
	B. Covered Family Members
	C. Deceased Employees


	Section 7.8. Jury Duty and Witness Leave
	7.8.1 Purpose
	7.8.2 Jury Duty Leave
	A. Full-time and Seasonal Employees
	B. Part-Time and Temporary Employees
	C. Notice Requirements
	D. Return to Work

	7.8.3 Witness Duty
	7.8.4 Overtime Exempt Employees

	Section 7.9. Military Leave
	7.9.1 Purpose
	7.9.2 Leave of Absence
	7.9.3 Employee Notice Requirements
	7.9.4 Pay and Benefits While On Leave
	A. Pay
	B. Health Care Coverage
	C. Seniority

	7.9.5 Reinstatement

	Section 7.10. Leaves of Absence without Pay–Accrual of Vacation and Sick Leave
	Section 7.11. Outside Employment

	CHAPTER 8 BENEFITS
	Section 8.1. Insurance
	8.1.1 Purpose
	8.1.2 Terms of Coverage
	8.1.3 Eligibility
	8.1.4 Medical, Dental and Vision Coverage
	A. Payment of Premiums
	B. Long Term Disability
	C. Continuation of Health Benefits - COBRA
	D. Temporary Employees

	8.1.5 Life Insurance Coverage

	Section 8.2. Retirement
	8.2.1 Purpose
	8.2.2 Plan Overview
	8.2.3 Contributions

	Section 8.3. Education, Membership and Professional Affiliation Fees
	8.3.1 Purpose
	8.3.2 Eligibility
	8.3.3 Education Fees
	8.3.4 Membership and Professional Affiliations Fees



	7.4_Attch 2 Personnel Policies_Approved 07-15-2020 with Redline change
	CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
	Section 1.1. Overview of Personnel Policies
	1.1.1 Statement of Policy
	1.1.2 Construction and Limitations
	1.1.3 Implementation of the Policies


	CHAPTER 2 EMPLOYMENT STATUS
	Section 2.1. Definitions
	Section 2.2. Hiring Process
	2.2.1 Statement of Policy
	2.2.2 Personnel Request
	A. Initiation

	2.2.3 Employee Selection
	A. Job Vacancy Posted
	B. Advertising
	C. Employment Application
	D. Screening Applicants
	E. Interviewing
	F. Documenting the Interview
	G. Selection
	H. Notification.

	2.2.4 Placing Employee on the Payroll
	A. Duties of the Executive Director or Designee:
	1. The prospective employee will be given a conditional offer of employment conditioned upon the successful completion of a background check.
	2. A background check may be conducted.  If the prospective employee passes this part of the screening process, he or she may be required to take a medical exam
	3. Upon successful completion of the background check and medical exam, the following steps will be taken:
	(a) The ED will send an offer letter to the prospective employee, which must be signed and returned.
	(b) A start date is coordinated with the Human Resources department.
	(c) The prospective employee will be given an orientation interview covering the information identified in Section 2.3.2 of these Policies and Procedures.




	Section 2.3. New Employee Orientation
	2.3.1 Statement of Policy
	2.3.2 Content of Orientation
	A. Information to Be Covered By Administration
	B. Information to Be Covered Regarding Benefits:
	C. Information to Be Covered By Human Resources


	Section 2.4. Probationary Period
	2.4.1 Statement of Policy
	2.4.2 Duration of Probationary Period
	2.4.3 Termination of Probationary Period
	2.4.4 Rejection of Probationer Following Promotion
	2.4.5 Effect of Leaves of Absence on Probationary Period

	Section 2.5. Job Classification
	Section 2.6. Job Descriptions
	Section 2.7. Assignment and Transfer
	2.7.1 Statement of Policy
	2.7.2 Temporary Assignments

	Section 2.8. Promotion
	2.8.1 Statement of Policy
	2.8.2 Application Procedure
	2.8.3 Criteria for Selection
	A. Minimum Qualifications
	B. Other Qualifications

	2.8.4 Probationary Period
	2.8.5 Procedure When Employee Does Not Pass Probation
	A. If a Vacancy Exists
	B. If a Vacancy Does Not Exist in the Former Position
	1. The employee will be afforded the opportunity to compete in a vacancy for another position for which the Agency determines he or she is qualified.
	2. If no other vacancy exists, or if the employee is unsuccessful in the bidding process for a vacant position, the employee may be laid off.  Layoff; however, for a period of one year following layoff, the employee will be eligible to be rehired in t...



	Section 2.9. Anti-Nepotism Policy and Non-Fraternization Policy
	2.9.1 Statement of Policy
	2.9.2 Relatives, Spouses or Domestic Partners in Same Department, Work Area or Facility
	1. Such employment does not adversely affect safety, morale, security, internal financial control, or supervision and the individuals involved do not work in direct supervision of each other.
	2. An employee neither initiates nor participates in making institutional recommendations or decisions which would directly affect employment status of their spouse, registered domestic partner or relative(s).  These recommendations/decisions include,...

	2.9.3 Application of the Policy
	1. "Relatives” refer to persons related by blood or marriage, or any relative residing in the immediate household of the employee (including, but not limited to: wife, husband, parent, child, grandparent, brother, sister, in-laws, aunt, uncle, step re...
	2. This policy also applies to persons who are registered domestic partners as defined under state law.
	2.9.4 Marriage or Registered Domestic Partnership Arising Between Employees While Employed
	1. Should two employees marry or form a registered domestic partnership while both are employed by the Agency, they may continue their employment in the same jobs provided that the criteria set forth in Section 2.9.2 are met.
	2. If the criteria are not met, one of the employees in the marriage, or registered domestic partnership, must change jobs, work locations or leave the Agency.  The couple will make a decision within thirty (30) days of the marriage or partnership, as...



	Section 2.10. Performance Evaluation
	1. A discretionary leave of absence will be granted only to an employee whose last evaluation was at least satisfactory.
	2. The general record of service as well as specific and immediate disciplinary charges will be taken into account when disciplinary action against an employee is proposed and the discipline, if any, is assessed.
	3. Merit salary increases will be determined by the Executive Director and can be awarded only to those employees whose current overall evaluation is at least “Fully Exhibits” or above for management positions, and at least a “Meets Standards” or abov...

	Section 2.11. Resignation
	Section 2.12. Layoff
	2.12.1 Statement of Policy
	1. Employees who have temporary status.
	2. Employees who are probationary.
	3. Part-time regular employees.
	4. Full-time regular employees.

	2.12.2 Layoff Order
	2.12.3 Notice
	2.12.4 Reinstatement from Layoff
	2.12.5 Benefits

	Section 2.13. Personnel Files
	2.13.1 Statement of Policy
	2.13.2 Employee Responsibility to Ensure Accuracy of Personnel Records
	1. Address
	2. Telephone Number (Note: As a condition of employment, it is necessary that the employee present a telephone number where he/she can be reached by his/her Supervisor directly without having to go through other parties.)
	3. Person to notify in the event of an emergency.
	4. Name, through marriage or otherwise.
	5. Marital status
	6. Number of dependents
	7. Insurance beneficiary
	8. Military Status
	9. Driver’s license number and date of expiration when a condition of employment.

	2.13.3 Duty to Provide Accurate Information
	2.13.4 Access to Personnel Files


	CHAPTER 3 HOURS OF WORK AND COMPENSATION
	Section 3.1. Work Schedules
	3.1.1 Work Schedules
	3.1.2 Standard Work Schedule
	3.1.3 Standard Work Week
	3.1.4 Flex Time

	Section 3.2. Meal and Rest Breaks
	3.2.1 Meal Breaks
	3.2.2 Rest Periods
	3.2.3 Meal and Rest Breaks May Not Be Combined or Postponed

	Section 3.3. Compensation
	3.3.1 Statement of Policy
	1. The impact of compensation on the cost of services, financial position of the Agency, and overall operational cost.
	2. Compensation paid for similar work in other public and private organizations.
	3. The relative value of individual employee’s services to the success of the Agency.
	4. The general and specific performance of employees.
	5. Status of the labor force, economic conditions, recruitment and retention experience, and other factors influencing the maintenance of a stable and efficient work force.

	3.3.2 Wage Rates
	3.3.3 Pay Schedule
	3.3.4 Payroll Deductions
	A. Mandatory Deductions
	1. Federal Income Tax (Withhold Tax)
	2. State Income Tax
	3. State Disability Insurance (S.D.I.)
	4. Garnishments/Wage Attachments

	B. Employee Authorized Deductions
	1. Employee deferred compensation contributions
	2. Medical and dental insurance contributions
	3. Jury duty payments to an employee who was provided paid time off for jury service
	4. Other Deductions Agreed Upon in Writing by the Employee and permitted by law.


	3.3.5 Updating Payroll Information

	Section 3.4. Timekeeping
	3.4.1 Employees
	A. Time Sheet
	1. Work locations such as lateral name or improvement Agency number.
	2. Job or task number.

	B. Submission of Time Sheets

	3.4.2 Consequences of Falsifying Time Records

	Section 3.5. Overtime
	3.5.1 Statement of Policy
	3.5.2 Exclusion from Policy


	CHAPTER 4 STANDARDS OF CONDUCTS
	Section 4.1. Equal Employment Opportunity
	4.1.1 Statement of Policy
	4.1.2 Employee, Supervisor and Management Responsibilities

	Section 4.2. Anti-Harassment/Discrimination Policy
	4.2.1 Statement of Policy
	4.2.2 Definitions
	A. “Discrimination”
	1. Treating members of a protected class less favorably because of their membership in that class.  The protected groups are based upon race, age, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital st...
	2. Having a policy or practice that has a disproportionately adverse impact on protect class members.

	B. “Harassment”
	1. Making or using derogatory comments, slurs, jokes or epithets which are related to an individual’s race, religion, gender, self-identified gender, sex, or is of a sexual nature, or are based on any other identified protected category, as set forth ...
	1. For purpose of this policy, sexual harassment is any behavior that includes unwelcome sexual advances and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:



	4.2.3 Zero Tolerance
	4.2.4 Complaint and Investigation Procedure
	4.2.5 Prohibition on Retaliation
	4.2.6 Prevention

	Section 4.3. Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule
	Section 4.4. Reasonable Accommodation
	4.4.1 Statement of Policy
	4.4.2 Conditions Covered By This Policy
	A. Disability
	1. A physical or mental disorder or condition that limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual; or
	2. A record of disorder or condition; or
	3. Being regarded as having such a disorder or condition.

	B. Conditions Excluded

	4.4.3 Examples of Reasonable Accommodation
	4.4.4 Requests for Reasonable Accommodation
	1. Any special methods, skills or procedures which would enable him or her to perform tasks or functions that he or she otherwise might not be able to perform because of his or her disability;
	2. The potential accommodations the Agency might make that would enable him or her to perform the essential functions of the job, properly and safely, including special equipment, changes in the physical layout of the job or other accommodation; and
	3. Any equipment aids or services that the applicant or employee is willing to provide and utilize that the Agency is not required to provide.

	4.4.5 Medical Information
	1. To inform the supervisors and managers of the disabled employee regarding any restrictions on the work or duties of the employee or accommodations necessary;
	2. To inform first aid and safety personnel, when appropriate, if the disability may require emergency treatment;
	3. To respond to requests from governmental officials investigating compliance with the disability laws; and
	4. To workers’ compensation offices and second injury funds as required by law or for insurance purposes under certain conditions for those who establish, sponsor or administer health or life insurance benefit plans.

	4.4.6 The Interactive Process
	4.4.7 Miscellaneous Guidelines
	1. Reasonable accommodation does not negate requirements for good job performance, successful completion of assigned training, adherence to generally accepted standards of behavior and adherence to supervisory instructions.
	2. An employee with a disability who is reassigned to a vacant, lower classified position as an accommodation will receive the lower salary of that position.
	3. If the essential job functions and/or duties of a position occupied by an employee with a disability are expanded, revised or modified, the conditions and procedures stated shall apply to any evaluation of the employee’s ability to perform the esse...
	4. An employee who has a question regarding the application of the policy and procedure should contact the Executive Director.


	Section 4.5. Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene
	4.5.1 Statement of Policy
	4.5.2 Guidelines on Appearance, Conduct and Hygiene
	1. All employees are expected to exercise good hygiene and be well groomed.
	2. All employees having long hair or wearing a moustache or beard must keep them clean, trimmed, combed, and otherwise groomed so as not to interfere with worker safety.  Those employees who normally do not wear a beard or moustache and who normally s...
	3. Employees must dress in a manner that is professional, functional, and affords them safety from unnecessary risk of injury.  Office employees should not wear shorts, sweat pants, tank tops, shabby denims, or suggestive or inappropriate clothing.
	4. When, on occasion, employees have to deal with discourteous persons, it is especially important for them to maintain their friendly attitude.  Continuing courtesy on the part of employees will do much to promote an excellent relationship between th...


	Section 4.6. Attendance and Punctuality
	4.6.1 Statement of Policy
	4.6.2 Reporting Requirements
	1. Employees are expected to report to work on time and ready for duty at the time prescribed.
	2. Employees may not leave work without prior supervisory approval during working hours or prior to the end of a scheduled work time.
	3. Employees who foresee the need to be absent, tardy or leave early from work should notify their supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, the Administrative Assistant and the Executive Director of the anticipated absence as far in advance as pra...
	4. An employee who will be absent or late to work must notify their supervisor/Department Head, Human Resources, the Administrative Assistant and Executive Director prior to the start of the employee’s shift.  This process must be repeated daily unles...
	5. An employee who is physically unable to provide notice of an absence prior to the start of the employee’s work day must provide notice as soon as practicably possible.
	6. Absences, including tardiness, must be accurately reported on time sheets in 15 minute increments.  Employees who are tardy will not be paid for the time they are absent.

	4.6.3 Discipline

	Section 4.7. Secondary Employment
	4.7.1 Statement of Policy
	1. Actual conflict in hours of employment;
	2. Being tired or unfit for duty because of outside employment;
	3. Where the secondary employment creates an actual or apparent conflict of interest in regard to Agency employment.

	4.7.2 Notification and Approval
	1. Receive the written permission of the Executive Director prior to accepting secondary employment.  In the case of the Executive Director, he/she must receive authorization from the Board of Directors;
	2. When requested by the Executive Director, obtain from the secondary employer a waiver of liability for the Agency;
	3. It is incumbent on the employee to make it clear to the secondary employer that he, the employee, is not performing any duties as a representative of NVTA;
	4. Once approval is granted by the Executive Director, immediately notify the ED if the secondary employment poses an actual or potential conflict with regards to the employee’s Agency employment.


	Section 4.8. Causes for Discipline
	4.8.1 Statement of Policy
	4.8.2 Standards of Conduct
	1. Poor performance; unsatisfactory work quality or quantity;
	2. Neglect of duty, including sleeping on the job;
	3. Insubordination;
	4. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness;
	5. Unexcused absences, failing to properly report absences, or leaving work early without permission;
	6. Failure to keep supervisor aware of employee’s whereabouts during duty time when availability may be required;
	7. Misuse of or damage to Agency tools, vehicles, equipment or other property;
	8. Moving violations or accidents in an Agency vehicle;
	9. Violation of safety rules or practices;
	10. Falsifying, altering or making a material omission on employment, medical, financial, payroll, timekeeping, or other Agency records;
	11. Performing non-Agency work during work hours;
	12. Dishonesty;
	13. Special treatment or favoritism of one customer over another;
	14. Use, possession, sale or being under the influence of alcoholic beverages or illegal drugs during work hours or on Agency premises (including vehicles) or other violation of the drug and alcohol policy;
	15. Violation of the anti-harassment or discrimination policies;
	16. Fighting, engaging in violent or threatening behavior or other conduct in violation of the Agency’s workplace violence policy;
	17. Discourteous treatment of the public or other employees, as defined by the Mutual Respect and Courtesy Rule (Section 4.3);
	18. Conviction of a crime that reflects unfitness for the employee’s position or unfitness to work around the Agency’s employees, property or the public;
	19. Other failure of good behavior during or outside of duty hours which is of such a nature that it causes discredit to the Agency and his or her employment; and
	20. Other violation of Agency policies or rules.


	Section 4.9. Discipline
	4.9.1 Statement of Policy
	4.9.2 Progressive Discipline
	A. Suspension without Pay
	B. Demotion
	C. Discharge

	4.9.3 Administrative Leave
	4.9.4 Procedures for Disciplinary Action of a Permanent Employee
	Where discipline of a permanent employee involves disciplinary actions that result in loss of salary or change in employment status (such as suspension without pay or demotion or discharge), the following provisions shall apply:
	A. Notice of Proposed Discipline
	The employee’s supervisor shall inform the employee in writing of the proposed disciplinary action, which shall not be effective until at least five days from the date the notice of proposed action is served on the employee.  This notice shall include...
	B. Skelly Meeting
	The employee may request a meeting to respond to the proposed disciplinary action.  The meeting shall be held with the appropriate manager.  Following the meeting or employee’s written response, the ED or manager shall determine whether to proceed, mo...
	C. Notice of Discipline
	The employee shall be informed in writing of the final disciplinary action.  A copy of the Notice of Discipline shall be placed in the employee’s personnel file.  This notice shall include a copy of the charges, the reasons for disciplinary action, an...
	D. Right to Appeal
	Within five days of service of the Notice of Disciplinary Action, a permanent employee may request to appeal the disciplinary action in writing to the ED.  An employee may only appeal a disciplinary action that results in loss of salary or change in e...



	CHAPTER 5 HEALTH AND SAFETY ON THE JOB
	Section 5.1. Job Safety
	5.1.1 Statement of Policy
	5.1.2 Employee Responsibility
	5.1.3 Injury Reporting
	Prompt Reporting


	Section 5.2. Workplace Violence Prevention
	5.2.1 Statement of Policy
	5.2.2 Employee Responsibilities
	5.2.3 Conduct Prohibited By This Policy
	5.2.4 Reporting Procedure
	A. Emergencies
	B. Non-Emergencies

	5.2.5 Corrective Actions

	Section 5.3. Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace
	5.3.1 Statement of Policy
	5.3.2 Definitions
	A. Legal Drug
	B. Illegal Drug
	C. Under the Influence
	D. Agency Property
	E. Reasonable Suspicion

	5.3.3 Pre-Employment Drug and Alcohol Screening
	The Agency may maintain a pre-employment drug and alcohol screening practice designed to prevent the hiring of persons who use illegal drugs, or who use legal drugs or alcohol to the extent that safe job performance would be impaired on safety sensiti...
	A. Notification to Prospective Employees
	B. Time of Test
	C. Consent to Test
	D. Disqualification from Employment
	1. Refusal to consent to a drug and alcohol screening test or refusal to authorize the release of the results to the Agency.
	2. A positive test for illegal drugs or alcohol.
	3. A positive test for legal drugs which, after medical consultation, the Agency determines will impair the candidate’s ability to safely perform the job in question or will jeopardize the well-being of others.


	5.3.4 Prohibition on Possession, Use, Sale or Transport of Alcohol or Drugs
	A. Illegal Drugs and Alcohol
	B. Notification of Criminal Drug Conviction
	C. Legal Drugs
	D. Notification

	5.3.5 Reasonable Suspicion Testing
	A. Conduct of Test
	B. Valid Prescriptions
	C. Refusal to Take Test

	5.3.6 Search or Inspection of Agency Property for Illegal Drugs or Alcohol
	5.3.7 Disciplinary Action
	5.3.8 Drug and Alcohol Assistance Programs
	A. Voluntary Assistance
	B. Seeking Assistance After Alcohol or Drug Related Misconduct


	Section 5.4. Fitness for Duty
	5.4.1 Statement of Policy
	5.4.2 Employee Responsibility
	5.4.3 Pre-Employment Medical Examinations
	A. Notice
	B. Consent
	C. Examination
	D. Examination Results

	5.4.4 Post-Employment Fitness for Duty Examinations
	A. Reasonable Cause
	B. Examination
	C. Examination Results

	5.4.5 Confidentiality of Examination Records

	Section 5.5. Driving
	5.5.1 Statement of Policy
	5.5.2 Driver’s License Requirements
	5.5.3 Good Driving Record
	5.5.4 Compliance with Traffic Laws
	5.5.5 Use of Seatbelts

	Section 5.6. Smoking

	CHAPTER 6 EQUIPMENT AND PROPERTY
	Section 6.1. Use and Care of Agency Property
	6.1.1 Statement of Policy
	6.1.2 Damage or Loss of Agency Equipment
	6.1.3 Key/Access Card Distribution
	6.1.4 Personal Use of Agency Property
	6.1.5 Personal Tools or Property
	6.1.6 Agency Access to Property
	6.1.7 Entry onto Private Property
	6.1.8 Purchasing

	Section 6.2. Phones, Computers, and Other Electronic Equipment
	6.2.1 Statement of Policy
	6.2.2 Phone Usage for Personal Reasons
	6.2.3 Internet Usage
	6.2.4 Decorum of Communications
	6.2.5 Installation or Duplication of Software
	6.2.6 Discipline

	Section 6.3. Agency Vehicles
	Section 6.4. Employee Purchase Program
	6.4.1 Mobile Device
	A. Purpose & Reimbursement
	B. Device Ownership/Program Limitations



	CHAPTER 7 TIME OFF AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	Section 7.1. Holidays
	7.1.1 Eligible Employees
	7.1.2 Recognized Holidays
	7.1.3 Personal Leave
	7.1.4 Board Ordered Holiday
	7.1.5 Holidays Occurring During Unpaid Leave
	7.1.6 Working on Holidays

	Section 7.2. Vacation
	7.2.1 Purpose
	7.2.2 Eligibility
	7.2.3 Accrual
	A. Accrual Rates
	B. Management Employees

	7.2.4 Scheduling
	A. Notice
	B. Intervening Holidays
	C. Intervening Illness or Injury

	7.2.5 Termination or Retirement from Agency
	A. Termination
	B. Retirement
	1. Continue to work until the date of retirement and be paid for accrued and unused vacation; or
	2. Discontinue working and take accrued and unused vacation time that would extend from last day worked up to the date of retirement.



	Section 7.3. Sick Leave
	7.3.1 Purpose
	7.3.2 Eligibility
	7.3.3 Accrual
	7.3.4 Conversion of Vacation to Sick Leave
	7.3.6 Employee Notice and Communication

	Section 7.4. Workers’ Compensation Leave
	7.4.1 Purpose
	7.4.2 Sick or Vacation Leave Supplementation
	7.4.3 Accrual of Benefits during Leave

	Section 7.5. Pregnancy Leave
	7.5.1 Purpose
	7.5.2 Covered Employees
	7.5.3 Leave Rights
	7.5.4 Pay and Benefits
	7.5.5 Employee Notice Obligations
	7.5.6 Medical Certification
	7.5.7 Other Forms of Pregnancy-Related Disability Accommodation

	Section 7.6. Family and Medical Care Leave Act
	7.6.1 Statement of Policy
	7.6.2 Definitions
	7.6.3 Family and/or Medical Care Leave
	7.6.4 Status of Prior Policies

	Section 7.7. Funeral and Bereavement Leave
	7.7.1 Purpose
	7.7.2 Conditions of Leave
	A. Amount
	B. Covered Family Members
	C. Deceased Employees


	Section 7.8. Jury Duty and Witness Leave
	7.8.1 Purpose
	7.8.2 Jury Duty Leave
	A. Full-time and Seasonal Employees
	B. Part-Time and Temporary Employees
	C. Notice Requirements
	D. Return to Work

	7.8.3 Witness Duty
	7.8.4 Overtime Exempt Employees

	Section 7.9. Military Leave
	7.9.1 Purpose
	7.9.2 Leave of Absence
	7.9.3 Employee Notice Requirements
	7.9.4 Pay and Benefits While On Leave
	A. Pay
	B. Health Care Coverage
	C. Seniority

	7.9.5 Reinstatement

	Section 7.10. Leaves of Absence without Pay–Accrual of Vacation and Sick Leave
	Section 7.11. Outside Employment

	CHAPTER 8 BENEFITS
	Section 8.1. Insurance
	8.1.1 Purpose
	8.1.2 Terms of Coverage
	8.1.3 Eligibility
	8.1.4 Medical, Dental and Vision Coverage
	A. Payment of Premiums
	B. Long Term Disability
	C. Continuation of Health Benefits - COBRA
	D. Temporary Employees

	8.1.5 Life Insurance Coverage

	Section 8.2. Retirement
	8.2.1 Purpose
	8.2.2 Plan Overview
	8.2.3 Contributions

	Section 8.3. Education, Membership and Professional Affiliation Fees
	8.3.1 Purpose
	8.3.2 Eligibility
	8.3.3 Education Fees
	8.3.4 Membership and Professional Affiliations Fees




	0005_1_Staff Report
	7.5_Public Transit Agency Safety Plan Annual Annual Cert_Cover_.des.lp-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	______________________________________________________________________
	SUBJECT
	Revised Resolution No. 20-15 Recertifying Napa Valley Transportation Authority’s Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP)
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Revised Resolution No. 20-15 recertifying NVTA’s Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP).
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	FISCAL IMPACT


	7.5_Public Transit Agency Safety Plan_Memo_Annual Cert.des.lp-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Revised Resolution No, 20-15 (Attachment 1) recertifying the NVTA Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP).
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	7.5_Revised Resolution 20-15 - Public Transit Agency Safety Plan.SSYW
	7.5_Attch 1 Exhibit A Safety Plan 2022
	7.5_Attch 1 Exhibit A Safety Plan 2022
	Attch D MONTHLY SAFETY MEETING AND TRAINING SCHEDULE - FY22


	0006_1_Staff Report
	7.6 Amendment to Design and Install Chargers_Cover_rs_des-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	7.6 Amendment to Design and Install Chargers_Memo_rs_des-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	7.6_Attch 1 Amendment to Design and Install Chargers_CCO01 EV Install Jax

	0007_1_Staff Report
	7.7 Amendment to Proterra Bus Purchase_Cover_ao des-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	7.7 Amendment to Proterra Bus Purchase Order_Memo_ao des-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	7.7_Attch 1 Amendment to Proterra Bus Purchase Order
	A4_(1)
	A3_21002_PROTERRA

	A4_(2)
	A4_(3)
	NVTA Amendment 4 - Price Summary + Option Tracker
	Summary




	0008_1_Staff Report
	7.8 01 PCC Member Reappointment Cover-kaS
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	Paratransit Coordinating Council (PCC) Member Appointments
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	FISCAL IMPACT


	7.8 02 PCC Member  Appointment Memo ka
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION


	7.8 3 Attach 1 Jeannie Smith PCC Application_Redacted
	7.8 4 Attach 2 Ellen Sweigert PCC Application Redacted ka

	0009_1_Staff Report
	8.1_Ordinance_ Cover.rs.SSYW-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	Motion to 1) Introduce Ordinance 2022-01 of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority Regulating Parking, Camping, and Smoking at Transit Facilities and Parking Areas, by title only, and waive reading of the full ordinance and 2) Approve the designatio...
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	On July 17, 2013 the NVTA Board adopted Ordinance 2013-01 regulating parking and smoking authorizing the City of Napa to Issue Citations on NVTA Property. Due to changes at the City of Napa related to parking enforcement and that there are increasing ...
	FISCAL IMPACT


	8.1_Ordinance_Memo.rs.SSYW-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT:   Motion to 1) Introduce Ordinance 2022-01 of the Napa Valley           Transportation Authority Regulating Parking, Camping, and Smoking        at Transit Facilities and Parking Areas, by title only, and waive reading        of the full ordi...
	RECOMMENDATION
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	8.1_Attch 1 Amended Parking Ordinance
	8.1_Attch 2 Redlines 2013-01 Parking Ordinance

	0010_1_Staff Report
	8.2_Board OBAG 3 Project List_Cover_ae_des-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	8.2_OBAG 3 Board_Memo_ae_des-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND
	NVTA solicited project applications and conducted an initial screening of projects. For Napa County, OBAG 3 requests must meet the 50% PDA investment requirement. In addition, NVTA prioritized projects that align with regional plans and policies:
	1. Are located in PDAs or Transit-Rich Areas (TRAs), identified in locally adopted plans for PDAs, or support preservation of Priority Production Areas (PPAs)


	8.2_OBAG3_Attch 1 NVTA OBAG 3 County  Local Program Application
	8.2_OBAG3_Attch 2 OBAG 3 Appendix A-1 Reso-4505 - OBAG 3 Revisions
	3a: MTC Resolution No. 4504, Attachment A, Appendix A-1

	8.2_Attch 3 OBAG 3 Applications and Checklist Package
	8.2_OBAG 3 Resolution Attch 4  Resolution 22-23

	0011_1_Staff Report
	8.3_Amendment no 1 to add funds and scope_Imola PR_Cover_des_AE-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive Director, or designee to execute and make minor modifications to Amendment #1 Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. Jones & Sons, Inc. for additional funds not to ...
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	8.3_Amendment no 1 to add funds and scope_Imola PR_Memo_des_1_ae_KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive Director, or designee to execute and make minor modifications to Amendment #1 Construction Agreement No. 21-19 with O.C. Jones & Sons, Inc. for additional funds not to ...
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND



	0012_1_Staff Report
	8.4_Imola Park and Ride Electrificiation-Cover_KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive Director, or designee to enter into an agreement and make minor modifications as necessary with an electrical contractor(s), to be determined, and Pacific Gas and Elect...
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	8.4_Imola Park and Ride Electrification-Memo_KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive Director, or designee to enter into an agreement and make minor modifications as necessary with an electrical contractor(s), to be determined, and Pacific Gas and Elect...
	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND



	0013_1_Staff Report
	8.5_Regional Pass Pilot Program_Cover_ao RS-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution 22-22 endorsing the Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program.
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	The Fare Integration Task Force comprised of public transit leaders around the region and convened by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) voted unanimously to adopt a pilot program to create transit passes that will work across all 27 tra...
	The pilot program is anticipated to launch in August 2022, starting with up to 50,000 students at San Francisco State University, San Jose State University, the University of California at Berkeley and Santa Rosa Junior College as well as residents of...

	FISCAL IMPACT


	8.5_Regional Pass Pilot Program_Memo_RS.SSYW-KM changes.
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT:  Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program
	RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution 22-22 endorsing the Regional Institutional Pass Pilot Program.

	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND
	The Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) convened the Transit Integration Task Force, a body made up of the region’s public transit executive managers, to identify mechanisms that would help make fares among transit operators in the region con...
	The Blue Ribbon Task Force was convened by MTC to address the crisis that occurred when the pandemic dramatically altered where people worked and how they traveled to work.  This policy window also provided the opportunity to take a harder look into i...
	The ten largest Bay Area transit agencies unanimously voted to adopt a Fare Policy Vision Statement recognizing that the implementation of more coordinated and integrated transit fare policies may offer cost-effective options for improving the transit...
	Work on various objectives has been underway to advance the Transit Fare Policy Vision Statement approved by the Fare Integration Task Force in November 2021 including the proposed Institutional Transit Pass Pilot Program to be piloted at educational ...
	The primary objective of this program is to make paying for a transit trip in the Bay Area a seamless experience for riders. Although riders can use a single Clipper card to pay for fares currently, the complicated way each agency sets up their fares ...
	The first phase of the pilot program is planned to begin in August and would offer up to 50,000 transit passes to students at San Francisco State University, San Jose State University, the University of California at Berkeley, and Santa Rosa Junior Co...
	Data will be used to evaluate the creation of a permanent program.  The main objective of the pilot is to see if this type of product will encourage greater ridership though a better customer service experience while breaking down barriers which curre...
	The two-year program is expected to cost roughly $6 million, including $4.5 million which MTC will use to reimburse transit agencies for fares that are waived by using the pass during phase one. The second phase, planned for early next year, would mak...
	If the pilot program is successful, a potential permanent regional transit pass could be made available when the next generation Clipper Card system launches, tentatively scheduled for the second half of 2023.
	While NVTA is not likely to have any riders coming from the institutions where riders will receive subsidies, NVTA staff strongly supports the region’s efforts to tackle any barriers that may exist that prevent a smooth rider transition from system to...



	8.5_Attch 1_Resolution 22-22 Regional Pass Program.SSYW
	A RESOLUTION OF THE
	NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA)
	ENDORSING THE INSTITUTIONAL TRANSIT PASS PILOT PROGRAM

	8.5_Attach 2 - Regional Pass Pilot Program_Update_on_Pilot Policy Vision
	04a_Update on Pilot and Advancement of Policy Vision
	Clipper® Executive Board Fare Integration Task Force
	Institutional Pass Pilot and Advancement of the Transit Fare Policy Vision Statement
	Subject:
	Background:
	Recommendations:
	Attachments:



	04a_Update on Pilot and Advancement of Policy Vision
	Fare Integration Task ForceApril 6, 2022Agenda Item 4a 
	Overview
	Institutional Pass Pilot�Reminder on Scope and Goals
	Institutional Pass Pilot – Status Update
	Institutional Pass Pilot - Phase 1�Overview
	Institutional Pass PilotOverall Funding Proposal
	Institutional Pass Pilot – Phase 1Funding Concept Methodology
	Institutional Pass Pilot – Phase 1Allocation Concept
	Institutional Pass PilotTitle VI Update
	Pilot Project Path to August 2022 Launch
	Delivery of Policy Vision Statement Recommendations – Next Steps
	“No-cost / Reduced Cost Transfers”
	Steps to Deliver “No-cost / Reduced Cost Transfers”Conceptual Timeline 



	0014_1_Staff Report
	8.6_Legislative Update 01_Cover_ka
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	8.6_Legislative Update 02_Memo_ka
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	8.6_Legislative Update 03 Attach 1 Federal Report
	8.6_Legislative Update 04 Attach 2 State Report
	8.6_Legislative Update 05 Attach 3 State Matrix 6-30
	SB 922 expands the application of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) exemptions for various transportation-related projects and sunsets those exemptions on January 1, 2030.


	8.4_Imola_PnR_Electrification_Cover_Errata (003).pdf
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	______________________________________________________________________
	SUBJECT
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive Director, or designee to enter into an agreement and make minor modifications as necessary with an electrical contractor(s), to be determined, and Pacific Gas and Elect...
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	FISCAL IMPACT





